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I.
A.

SUMMARY OF THE PROSPECTUS

INTRODUCTION CONTAINING WARNINGS

Name and international securities identification number ("ISIN") of the securities
This EU growth prospectus (the "EU Growth Prospectus") relates to an offering of shares (as more fully described
below, the "New Shares") of clearvise AG, Wiesbaden, Germany (the "Company", "we", "us" or "our", and, together with consolidated subsidiaries, the "clearvise Group" or "clearvise"). The international securities identification number ("ISIN") of the New Shares is DE000A1EWXA4 (each share of the Company, a "Share"). The issuer
is clearvise AG.
Identity and contact details of the issuer, including its legal entity identifier ("LEI")
The registered office and business address of clearvise AG is Unter den Eichen 7, 65195 Wiesbaden, Federal Republic
of Germany ("Germany"), telephone +49 69 24 74 39 220, website: https://clearvise.de/, legal entity identifier
("LEI") is 391200Y1PCQR9Y3F4C76.
Identity and contact details of the competent authority that approved the EU Growth Prospectus, and date of
approval of the EU Growth Prospectus
On 22 November 2022, the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht) ("BaFin"), Marie-Curie-Str. 24–28, 60439 Frankfurt am Main, Germany (tel.:
+49 228 4108 0; website: www.bafin.de), approved this EU Growth Prospectus as competent authority under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017 on the prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a regulated market, and repealing Directive 2003/71/EC, as amended.
Warnings
This summary should be read as an introduction to this EU Growth Prospectus. Any decision to invest in the securities
should be based on consideration of this EU Growth Prospectus as a whole by the investor. Investors in the Shares
in the Company could lose all or part of their invested capital. Where a claim relating to the information contained
in this EU Growth Prospectus is brought before a court, the plaintiff investor might, under the national law, have to
bear the costs of translating this EU Growth Prospectus before legal proceedings are initiated. Civil liability attaches only to those persons who have tabled the summary including any translation thereof, but only where this summary is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent, when read together with the other parts of this EU Growth Prospectus,
or where it does not provide, when read together with the other parts of this EU Growth Prospectus, key information
in order to aid investors when considering whether to invest in the Shares in the Company.

B.

KEY INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER

1.

Who is the issuer of the securities?

Issuer
information

clearvise AG is a German stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft), incorporated in Germany and operating under the laws of Germany. It has its registered seat in Wiesbaden, Germany, and is registered with the commercial register (Handelsregister) of the local court (Amtsgericht) of Wiesbaden,
Germany, under docket number HRB 25063.

Principal
activities

We are an independent power producer ("IPP") in the renewable energy market with a diversified
European portfolio of wind and solar PV parks and one biogas facility of around 378 MW capacity
(thereof 303 MW operational and 75 MW contracted, but not yet operating) in Germany, France,
Ireland, and Finland (as at 30 June 2022). We aim to make our core direct investments only in
European countries in solar PV and wind parks with a capacity of ideally between 5 MW and
50 MW (our "Core Investments"). We aim for at least 80 % of our assets under management ("Assets Under Management") to comprise Core Investments at any given point in time. Our strategy
allows additional business outside the scope of our Core Investments on an opportunistic basis up
to a maximum of 20 % of our Assets Under Management. Most of the electricity generated by our
solar PV and wind parks is typically sold against payment of guaranteed tariffs. This can be a fixed
feed-in tariff ("FiT") independent from the market-based electricity price, like it is the case in Germany, or a (variable) grant over the difference between the market price and the tariff awarded (socalled contract for difference "CfD", and both FiT and CfD, the "Guaranteed Tariffs"), as it is the
case in Finland. In addition, we increasingly sell our produced power through power purchase
agreements ("PPA") to private electricity purchasers on a business-to-business basis.
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Major
shareholders

To our knowledge, as of the date of this EU Growth Prospectus, Tion Renewables AG, Grünwald,
Germany ("Tion"), holds 21.9 % of the Shares (direct shareholdings pursuant to Section 33 of the
German Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz)), and Union Investment Privatfonds
GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, Germany, holds 5.3 % of the Shares in the Company. According to our
current estimates, due to an intended, but not yet definite, acquisition of the renewable energy asset
portfolio of Tion, the number of Shares held by Tion may increase to between 40 % and 45 %.

Control

Currently, there is no shareholder having control of clearvise AG.

Management
board

The members of the management board (Vorstand) of the Company are Petra Leue-Bahns (chief
executive officer) and Manuel Sieth (chief financial officer) (the "Management Board").

Statutory
auditor

Rödl & Partner GmbH, Äußere Sulzbacher Straße 100, 90491 Nuremberg, Germany (Cologne
Branch).

2.

What is the key financial information regarding the issuer?

The financial information contained in the following tables is taken or derived from the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company as of and for the financial years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021, the
unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial information of the Company as of and for the six-month period
ended 30 June 2022 and the Company's accounting records or internal reporting.
Selected information from the consolidated statements of comprehensive income

Revenue
Profit after tax1
Consolidated net profit/loss
1

As of and for the six-month
period ended 30 June
2022
2021
(in EUR thousands)
(unaudited)
26,545
15,998
4,760
-880
4,013
-1,564

As of and for the financial year
ended 31 December
2021
2020
(in EUR thousands)
(audited)
32,881
36,447
-1,906
3,864
-3,277
2,366

Profit after tax is after income tax but before other taxes

Selected information from the consolidated statements of financial position

Total assets
Total equity

As of 30 June
2022
(in EUR
thousands)
(unaudited)
325,523
72,341

As of 31 December
2021

2020
(in EUR thousands)
(audited )
230,913
56,198

187,909
38,756

Selected information from the consolidated statements of cash flows

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

As of and for the six-month
period ended 30 June
2022
2021
(in EUR thousands)
(unaudited)
17,153
15,807
-49,735
-13,760
46,215
12,542

As of and for the financial year
ended 31 December
2021
2020
(in EUR thousands)
(audited)
18,499
25,903
-30,345
103
17,725
-23,365

Alternative performance measures and other operational performance indicators

Production in GWh
Adjusted EBITDA1
Adjusted EBITDA margin in %
1

As of and for the six-month
period ended 30 June
2022
2021
(in EUR thousands)
(unaudited)
248.1
187.0
20,608
11,465
78 %
72 %

As of and for the financial year ended
31 December
2021
2020
(in EUR thousands)
(unaudited)
366.5
426.3
22,574
27,295
69 %
75 %

Adjusted by nonperiod expenses/income and other expenses that are not related to the operating business
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3.

What are the key risks that are specific to the issuer?

Risks Relating to Our Market and Industry
•

Long-term changes and short-term fluctuations in prevailing weather and climatic conditions in the regions in
which our renewable energy assets are located could adversely affect our profitability.

•

We are exposed to intense competition in a market with low market entry barriers which may hinder our growth
initiative and adversely affect our business.

Risks Relating to Our Business and Operations
•

The assessments of the location of individual renewable energy asset projects and its possible outcome may have
been incomplete or otherwise incorrect in the preparation of the acquisition. Any such misjudgement can adversely affect our revenues.

•

We enter into technical and commercial management contracts with external service providers to operate and
maintain our renewable energy assets after they are completed. Any failure on the part of these external service
providers to properly operate and maintain our renewable energy assets could materially adversely affect our
business.

•

Any failure to find, acquire and integrate suitable investment opportunities for renewable energy assets could
materially adversely affect our growth initiative.

•

If we were unable to attract and retain key management personnel and qualified employees, our ability to compete
could be harmed.

Risks related to Our Financial Position
•

Our further growth depends on the availability of equity capital, corporate debt and project financing, the failure
of which could harm our growth initiative and profitability.

•

If we are not able to pay back the equity-bridge financing in July 2023, the bank may enforce its claim and, in
particular, execute against the assets of the Group.

Risks related to Legal, Regulatory and Tax Implications
•

Any decision by the European Commission to declare the existing renewable energy surcharge and incentive
system to grant financial support for the production of electricity from renewable sources of energy as a violation
of the EU state aid rules could adversely affect our revenues and growth prospects.

•

The countries in which we operate could adopt a so-called excess profits tax or a similar measure, which could
significantly affect our revenues. On 06 October 2022, the EU member states formally adopted the Council Regulation (EU) 2022/1854 of 06 October 2022 on an emergency intervention to address high energy prices for the
time period between 01 December 2022 and 31 March 2023 and to generally cap the market revenues at EUR 180
per MWh for electricity generators, including intermediaries, that use so-called inframarginal technologies to
produce electricity, such as renewables. The Council Regulation leaves EU member states the option to implement measures leading to a more extensive extraction of excess profits. If Germany, France, Ireland, or Finland
made use of such option, this would have a negative impact on our revenues and harm our profitability.

Risks related to the Tion Portfolio transaction
•

It is still possible that the acquisition of the Tion Portfolio will not take place due to several reasons. Such a result
of the negotiations may have an adversely effect on the price of our Shares.

•

The presentation of the negotiations' current status may not be representative for the final cooperation agreement,
or, the cooperation agreement may not be concluded at all.

C.

KEY INFORMATION ON THE SECURITIES

1.

What are the main features of the securities?

Type, class,
ISIN

The New Shares are ordinary bearer shares. The ISIN of the Shares, including the New Shares, is
DE000A1EWXA4; German Securities Identification Number (Wertpapierkennnummer,
"WKN"): A1EWXA; Trading Symbol: ABO. As of the date of this EU Growth Prospectus, the
Company has one class of shares.

Currency

The Shares are denominated in EUR.
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Par value,
number of
securities

Each of our Share represents a notional value of EUR 1.00. At the date of this EU Growth Prospectus, the share capital of the Company amounts to EUR 63,457,289.00 and is divided into
63,457,289 ordinary bearer shares with no-par value (Stückaktien). Subject of the offering are
11,898,240 ordinary bearer shares to be newly issued. Our Shares are issued for an indefinite period. All existing Shares in the Company are fully paid up.

Rights
attached

Each of our Shares, including the New Shares, entitles the shareholder to one vote at the Company's general shareholders' meeting. There are no restrictions on voting rights. All New Shares carry
full dividend rights as from 01 January 2022. In principle, shareholders have the right to subscribe
for New Shares to be issued in a capital increase in proportion to their existing share in our share
capital (Grundkapital).

Seniority

The New Shares, together with our existing Shares, are subordinated to all other securities and
claims in case of an insolvency of the Company.

Restriction on
the free
transferability

All Shares, including the New Shares, are freely transferable in accordance with the legal requirements for ordinary bearer shares (Inhaberaktien). The New Shares will be entitled to a share of
any liquidation proceeds or insolvency surpluses at the ratio of their notional share in our share
capital.

Dividend or
pay-out policy

We did not pay any dividends for the financial years 2020 and 2021, and in light of our ongoing
portfolio expansion, currently, we do not expect to pay any dividend for the financial year 2022,
either. In the mid-term, we target a dividend pay-out of any cashflow available for distribution,
subject to market conditions, investment opportunities and our financial position at the relevant
time. Any future decision to pay dividends will be made in accordance with applicable laws and
will depend upon, among other factors, our results of operations, our financial condition, our contractual restrictions and our capital. Our future ability to pay dividends may be limited by the terms
of any existing and future debt or preferred securities.

2.

Where will the securities be traded?

Upon validation of the global certificate, our New Shares will automatically be tradable in the Open Market (Freiverkehr) of the stock exchanges of Munich (m:access segment) and other stock exchanges in Germany on which our
Shares are already quoted.

3.

Is there a guarantee attached to the securities?

There is no guarantee attached to the Shares.

4.

What are the key risks that are specific to the securities?

Risks attached to the securities
•

The market price of our Shares may deviate significantly from the subscription price, and the share price or the
trading volume of our Shares could fluctuate significantly, and investors could lose all or part of their investment.

•

We do not expect to pay any dividends in the short-term.

•

Due to the inclusion of our Shares in the Open Market, certain investor protection provisions relating to regulated
markets do not apply.

D.

KEY INFORMATION ON THE OFFER OF SECURITIES TO THE PUBLIC

1.

Under which conditions and timetable can I invest in this security?

Offer
Conditions

This offering relates to 11,898,240 New Shares of the Company, each such Share representing a
notional value of EUR 1.00 and with full dividend rights from 01 January 2022. The New Shares
will be offered to our shareholders for subscription by means of indirect subscription rights (mittelbares Bezugsrecht) at a ratio of 16:3 (16 existing Shares entitle to subscribe for three New Shares
at the Subscription Price (as defined below)) (the "Subscription Offer"). The New Shares originate
from a capital increase against contribution in cash from our authorised capital 2022, resolved by
the Management Board on 21 November 2022 with the approval of the supervisory board
(Aufsichtsrat) of the same date, increasing our registered share capital upon full subscription of the
New Shares from EUR 63,457,289.00 to up to EUR 75,355,529.00 through the issue of up to
11,898,240 new ordinary bearer shares with no-par value (the "Capital Increase"). It is expected
that the Capital Increase will be entered in the commercial register at the local court (Amtsgericht)
of Wiesbaden, Germany (the "Commercial Register"), on or around 09 December 2022.
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Scope of the
Offering

The Subscription Offer will include (i) a public offering in Germany and (ii) private placements to
eligible investors outside the United States of America (the "United States") in offshore transactions within the meaning of, and in reliance on, Regulation S under the United States Securities Act
of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"). Any New Shares that are not subscribed for in the
Subscription Offer (the "Rump Shares") will be offered by M.M.Warburg & CO (AG & Co.)
Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien, Ferdinandstraße 75, 20095 Hamburg, Germany ("M.M.Warburg", or the "Sole Global Coordinator"), for sale to eligible investors in Germany and other
selected jurisdictions at a price at least as high as the Subscription Price (as defined below) by way
of private placements (the "Rump Placement" and, together with the Subscription Offer, the "Offering").

Offer Period

24 November 2022 through 07 December 2022 (the "Subscription Period").

Subscription
Rights
Trading

We and the Sole Global Coordinator are interested in reaching a tradability of the subscription
rights in the Open Market, but have no influence on the establishment of the tradability or a liquid
market.

Offer Price

The subscription price per New Share will be EUR 2.10 (the "Subscription Price").

Plan for
Distribution

The New Shares will be offered to our shareholders by way of an indirect subscription right (mittelbares Bezugsrecht). No compensation will be paid for subscription rights not exercised. For each
existing Share one subscription right is granted. Upon expiration of the Subscription Period, subscription rights not exercised will lapse and be of no value. The exercise of 16 subscription rights
enables the purchase of three New Shares, i.e., three New Shares may be purchased for 16 subscription rights. Any New Shares that are not subscribed for in the Subscription Offer will be offered to institutional and qualified investors by way of Rump Placements in certain jurisdictions at
a price at least as high as the Subscription Price. The ultimate decision on the allotment of the Rump
Shares to institutional and qualified investors rests with us after consultation with the Sole Global
Coordinator.

Dilution

Shareholders who exercise their subscription rights with respect to the New Shares in full will
maintain their percentage of ownership in the Company's share capital and voting rights following
the Capital Increase. To the extent that shareholders do not exercise their subscription rights, and
assuming that all New Shares will be issued, each shareholder's participation in our share capital
and voting right will be diluted by approximately 18.7 %.

Total
Expenses

The total expenses of the Company in relation to the Offering will amount to approximately
EUR 1.1 million (assuming the sale of all Shares in the Offering at the Subscription Price).

Expenses
Charged to
Investors

The investors will be charged only customary transaction and handling fees by their brokers.

2.

Why is this EU Growth Prospectus being produced?

Reasons for
the Offering

This EU Growth Prospectus has been prepared for the public offering of the New Shares in Germany.

Use and estimated net
amount of
the proceeds

Assuming the sale of all Shares in the Offering at the Subscription Price, we expect to receive net
proceeds from the Offering of approximately EUR 23.9 million.
Subject to the Company and Tion entering into the cooperation agreement and the closing of the transaction contemplated therein, we intend to use the net proceeds from the Offering to pay, the cash
component of the purchase price for the Tion portfolio, if and to the extent the final valuations of the
Tion portfolio and the shares of the Company result in a cash component payable upon closing. Of the
remainder, if any, we intend to use 55 % to 60 % in order to finance the construction of the solar PV
park Wolfsgarten with a planned capacity of 38 MW, approximately 15 % to 20 % in order to finance
the construction of the solar PV park Heiligenfelde with a planned capacity of 11 MW and the remaining 20 % to 30 % for other development projects. If the Tion transaction or one or more of these
projects is not realised and thus the proceeds attributable thereto are not required, we intend to use the
respective proceeds for other pipeline projects and general corporate purposes. We intend to prioritize
the use of proceeds by the order in which the use purposes are mentioned.

Underwriting The New Shares will be offered to the existing shareholders for subscription by way of indirect subagreement
scription rights pursuant to an underwriting agreement entered into between us and the Sole Global
Coordinator on 21 November 2022.
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Material
conflict of
interest

3.

There are no conflicts of interest with respect to the Offering.

Who is the offeror?

Offerors

The offerors are we, clearvise AG, and the Sole Global Coordinator.

Admission to
Trading

Once admitted to the collective custody at Clearstream Banking Frankfurt AG, the New Shares are
automatically included into trading on the Open Market of the stock exchanges in Munich and other
stock exchanges in Germany.
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II.
A.

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG DES PROSPEKTS

EINLEITUNG MIT WARNHINWEISEN

Bezeichnung und internationale Wertpapier-Identifikationsnummer (ISIN) der Wertpapiere
Dieser EU-Wachstumsprospekt (der "EU-Wachstumsprospekt") bezieht sich auf ein Angebot von Aktien (wie
nachstehend ausführlicher beschrieben, die "Neuen Aktien") der clearvise AG, Wiesbaden, Deutschland (die "Gesellschaft", "wir", "uns" oder "unser", und zusammen mit konsolidierten Tochtergesellschaften, die "clearviseGruppe" oder "clearvise"). Die internationale Wertpapier-Identifikationsnummer ("ISIN") der Neuen Aktien lautet
DE000A1EWXA4 (jede Aktie der Gesellschaft, eine "Aktie"). Emittentin ist die clearvise AG.
Identität und Kontaktdaten des Emittenten, einschließlich der Rechtsträgerkennung (LEI)
Der eingetragene Sitz und die Geschäftsadresse der clearvise AG ist Unter den Eichen 7, 65195 Wiesbaden, Bundesrepublik Deutschland ("Deutschland"), Tel: +49 69 24 74 39 220, Website: https://clearvise.de/, Rechtsträgerkennung ("LEI") lautet 391200Y1PCQR9Y3F4C76.
Identität und Kontaktdaten der zuständigen Behörde, die den EU-Wachstumsprospekt gebilligt hat, und Datum der Billigung des EU-Wachstumsprospekts
Am 22. November 2022 hat die Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht ("BaFin"), Marie-Curie-Str. 24–28,
60439 Frankfurt am Main, Deutschland (Tel.: +49 228 4108 0; Webseite: www.bafin.de), diesen EU-Wachstumsprospekt als zuständige Behörde gemäß Verordnung (EU) 2017/1129 des Europäischen Parlaments und des Rates vom 14. Juni 2017 über den Prospekt, der beim öffentlichen Angebot von Wertpapieren oder bei deren Zulassung
zum Handel an einem geregelten Markt zu veröffentlichen ist und zur Aufhebung der Richtlinie 2003/71/EG in der
jeweils geltenden Fassung gebilligt.
Warnungen
Diese Zusammenfassung sollte als Einleitung zu diesem EU-Wachstumsprospekt verstanden werden. Anleger sollten
sich bei der Entscheidung, in die Aktien der Gesellschaft zu investieren, auf diesen EU-Wachstumsprospekt als Ganzes stützen. Anleger, die in die Aktien der Gesellschaft investieren, könnten ihr gesamtes angelegtes Kapital oder
einen Teil davon verlieren. Für den Fall, dass vor einem Gericht Ansprüche aufgrund der in diesem EU-Wachstumsprospekt enthaltenen Informationen geltend gemacht werden, könnte der als Kläger auftretende Anleger nach
nationalem Recht die Kosten für die Übersetzung des EU-Wachstumsprospekts vor Prozessbeginn zu tragen haben.
Zivilrechtlich haften nur diejenigen Personen, die die Zusammenfassung samt etwaiger Übersetzungen vorgelegt und
übermittelt haben, und dies auch nur für den Fall, dass die Zusammenfassung, wenn sie zusammen mit den anderen
Teilen dieses EU-Wachstumsprospekts gelesen wird, irreführend, unrichtig oder widersprüchlich ist oder sie, wenn
sie zusammen mit den anderen Teilen dieses EU-Wachstumsprospekts gelesen wird, nicht die Basisinformationen
vermittelt, die in Bezug auf Anlagen in die Aktien der Gesellschaft für die Anleger eine Entscheidungshilfe darstellen
würden.

B.

BASISINFORMATIONEN ÜBER DIE EMITTENTIN

1.

Wer ist die Emittentin der Wertpapiere?

Informationen
über die
Emittentin

clearvise AG ist eine deutsche Aktiengesellschaft, die in Deutschland eingetragen ist und deutschem
Recht unterliegt. Sie hat ihren eingetragenen Sitz in Wiesbaden, Deutschland, und ist im Handelsregister des Amtsgerichts Wiesbaden, Deutschland, unter der Registernummer HRB 25063 eingetragen.

Haupttätigkeiten

Wir sind ein unabhängiger Stromerzeuger (auf dem Markt für erneuerbare Energien mit einem
diversifizierten europäischen Portfolio von Wind- und Solarparks und einer Biogasanlage mit einer
Kapazität von insgesamt rund 378 MW (davon 303 MW in Betrieb und 75 MW vertraglich vereinbart, aber noch nicht in Betrieb) in Deutschland, Frankreich, Irland und Finnland (Stand:
30. Juni 2022). Wir streben an, unsere wichtigsten Direktinvestitionen nur in europäischen Ländern
in Photovoltaik- und Windparks mit einer Kapazität von idealerweise jeweils zwischen 5 MW und
50 MW zu tätigen (unsere "Core Investments"). Wir streben an, dass zu jedem Zeitpunkt mindestens 80 % unserer verwalteten Vermögenswerte ("Assets Under Management") aus Core Investments bestehen. Unsere Geschäftsstrategie ermöglicht darüber hinaus zusätzliche Aktivitäten auf
opportunistischer Basis im Bereich der erneuerbaren Energien, bis zu einem Maximum von 20 %
unserer Assets Under Management. Der Großteil des von unseren PV- und Windparks erzeugten
Stroms wird in der Regel gegen Zahlung garantierter Tarife verkauft. Dabei kann es sich um einen
festen Einspeisetarif ("FiT") handeln, der unabhängig vom marktbasierten Strompreis ist, wie dies
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in Deutschland der Fall ist, oder um einen (variablen) Zuschuss als Differenz zwischen dem Marktpreis und dem gewährten Tarif (sogenannter Contract for Difference, "CfD", und FiT und CfD
zusammen die "Garantierten Tarife"), wie dies in Finnland der Fall ist. Darüber hinaus verkaufen
wir unseren erzeugten Strom zunehmend im Rahmen von Stromabnahmeverträgen (sog. power
purchase agreement, "PPA") an Energieversorger oder andere privatwirtschaftliche Stromabnehmer als Firmenkunden.
Hauptanteilseigner

Nach Kenntnis der Gesellschaft werden zum Datum dieses EU-Wachstumsprospekts 21,9 % der
Aktien der Gesellschaft von der Tion Renewables AG, Grünwald, Deutschland ("Tion"), (unmittelbare Beteiligung gemäß § 33 Wertpapierhandelsgesetz ("WpHG")), und 5,3 % von Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, Deutschland, gehalten. Nach unseren derzeitigen Einschätzungen kann sich die Anzahl der von Tion gehaltenen Aktien aufgrund einer beabsichtigten, aber noch nicht endgültigen Übernahme des Portfolios an erneuerbaren Energien von
Tion auf zwischen 40 % bis 45 % erhöhen.

Beherrschung

Derzeit gibt es keinen Aktionär, der einen beherrschenden Anteil über die clearvise AG besitzt.

Vorstand

Die Mitglieder des Vorstands der Gesellschaft sind Petra Leue-Bahns (Chief Executive Officer –
Vorstandsvorsitzende) und Manuel Sieth (Chief Financial Officer – Finanzvorstand).

Abschlussprüfer

Rödl & Partner GmbH, Äußere Sulzbacher Straße 100, 90491 Nürnberg, Deutschland (Niederlassung Köln).

2.

Welches sind die wesentlichen Finanzinformationen über die Emittentin?

Die in den nachfolgenden Tabellen enthaltenen Finanzinformationen wurden den geprüften konsolidierten Konzernabschlüssen der Gesellschaft für die zum 31. Dezember 2020 und 31. Dezember 2021 endenden Geschäftsjahre, dem
ungeprüften verkürzten konsolidierten Konzernzwischenabschluss der Gesellschaft für den zum 30. Juni 2022 endenden Sechsmonatszeitraum sowie der internen Buchhaltung oder dem internen Berichtswesen der Gesellschaft entnommen oder daraus abgeleitet.
Ausgewählte Informationen aus der Konzern-Gesamtergebnisrechnung

Umsatzerlöse
Ergebnis nach Steuern1
Konzern-Jahresüberschuss/Konzern-Jahresfehlbetrag
1

Für den Sechsmonatszeitraum
zum 30. Juni
2022
2021
(in Tausend EUR)
(ungeprüft)
26.545
15.998
4.760
-880
4.013

Für das zum
31. Dezember endende Geschäftsjahr
2021
2020
(in Tausend EUR)
(geprüft)
32.881
36.447
-1.906
3.864

-1.564

-3.277

2.366

Ergebnis nach Steuern ist nach Einkommensteuer, aber vor sonstigen Steuern

Ausgewählte Informationen aus der Konzernbilanz

Summe Vermögenswerte (Aktiva)
Summe Eigenkapital

Zum 30. Juni
2022
(in Tausend EUR)
(ungeprüft)
325.523
72.341

Zum 31. Dezember
2021

2020
(in Tausend EUR)
(geprüft)
230.913
56.198

187.909
38.756

Ausgewählte Informationen aus der Konzern-Kapitalflussrechnung

Cashflow aus laufender Geschäftstätigkeit
Cashflow aus der Investitionstätigkeit
Cashflow aus der Finanzierungstätigkeit

Für den Sechsmonatszeitraum zum
30. Juni
2022
2021
(in Tausend EUR)
(ungeprüft)
17.153
15.807
-49.735
-13.760
46.215
12.542

Für das zum 31. Dezember endende
Geschäftsjahr
2021
2020
(in Tausend EUR)
(geprüft)
18.499
25.903
-30.345
103
17.725
-23.365
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Alternative Leistungskennzahlen und andere operative Leistungsindikatoren

Produktion in GWh
Bereinigtes EBITDA1
Bereinigte EBITDA-Marge in %
1

Für den Sechsmonatszeitraum
zum 30. Juni
2022
2021
(in Tausend EUR) (ungeprüft)
248,1
187,0
20.608
11.465
78 %
72 %

Für das zum 31. Dezember endende Geschäftsjahr
2021
2020
(in Tausend EUR) (ungeprüft)
366,5
22.574
69 %

426,3
27.295
75 %

Bereinigt um periodenfremde Aufwendungen/Erträge sowie Aufwendungen, die nicht dem operativen Betrieb zuzuordnen sind.

3.

Welches sind die zentralen Risiken, die für die Emittentin spezifisch sind?

Risiken in Bezug auf unseren Markt und unsere Branche
•

Langfristige Veränderungen und kurzfristige Schwankungen der vorherrschenden Wetter- und Klimabedingungen in den Regionen, in denen sich unsere Anlagen für erneuerbare Energien befinden, könnten sich negativ auf
unsere Rentabilität auswirken.

•

Wir sind einem intensiven Wettbewerb in einem Markt mit niedrigen Markteintrittsbarrieren ausgesetzt, der unsere Wachstumsinitiative behindern und sich negativ auf unsere Geschäftstätigkeit auswirken könnte.

Risiken in Bezug auf unser Geschäft und unsere Geschäftstätigkeit
•

Die Bewertung des Standorts einzelner Projekte im Bereich der erneuerbaren Energien und der möglichen Resultate kann während der Vorbereitung des Erwerbs unvollständig oder anderweitig falsch gewesen sein. Eine
solche Fehleinschätzung kann sich nachteilig auf unseren Umsatz auswirken.

•

Wir schließen technische und kaufmännische Managementverträge mit externen Dienstleistern ab, um unsere
Anlagen für erneuerbare Energien nach deren Fertigstellung zu betreiben und zu warten. Jedes Versäumnis dieser
externen Dienstleister, unsere Anlagen für erneuerbare Energien ordnungsgemäß zu betreiben und zu warten,
könnte unsere Geschäftstätigkeit erheblich beeinträchtigen.

•

Sollte es uns nicht gelingen, geeignete Investitionsmöglichkeiten für Anlagen im Bereich der erneuerbaren Energien zu finden, zu erwerben und zu integrieren, könnte dies unsere Wachstumsinitiative erheblich beeinträchtigen.

•

Sollten wir nicht in der Lage sein, Führungskräfte in Schlüsselpositionen und qualifizierte Mitarbeitende zu gewinnen und zu halten, könnte dies unsere Wettbewerbsfähigkeit beeinträchtigen.

Risiken in Bezug auf unsere Finanzlage
•

Unser weiteres Wachstum hängt von der Verfügbarkeit von Eigen- und Fremdkapital sowie von Projektfinanzierungen ab, deren Scheitern unsere Wachstumsinitiative und Rentabilität beeinträchtigen könnte.

•

Sollten wir nicht in der Lage sein, die Brückenfinanzierung bis Juli 2023 zurückzuzahlen, kann die Bank ihre
Forderung geltend machen und insbesondere in das Vermögen der Gruppe vollstrecken.

Risiken in Bezug auf rechtliche, regulatorische und steuerliche Auswirkungen
•

Jede Entscheidung der Europäischen Kommission, das bestehende System der Umlage für erneuerbare Energien
und der Anreize zur finanziellen Förderung der Stromerzeugung aus erneuerbaren Energiequellen als Verstoß
gegen die EU-Beihilfevorschriften zu erklären, könnte unseren Umsatz und unsere Wachstumsaussichten beeinträchtigen.

•

Die Länder, in denen wir tätig sind, könnten eine so genannte Übergewinnsteuer oder eine ähnliche Maßnahme
einführen, wodurch unsere Einnahmen erheblich beeinträchtigt werden könnten. Am 06. Oktober 2022 verabschiedeten die EU-Mitgliedsstaaten formell die Verordnung (EU) 2022/1854 des Rates vom 06. Oktober 2022
über Notfallmaßnahmen als Reaktion auf die hohen Energiepreise für den Zeitraum zwischen dem 01. Dezember 2022 und dem 31. März 2023 und zur generellen Begrenzung der Markterlöse auf EUR 180 pro MWh für
Stromerzeuger, einschließlich Zwischenhändlern, die sogenannte inframarginale Technologien zur Stromerzeugung nutzen, wie z. B. erneuerbare Energien. Die Verordnung des Rates lässt den Mitgliedstaaten die Möglichkeit, Maßnahmen zu ergreifen, die zu einer umfassenderen Abschöpfung von Überschussgewinnen führen. Sollten Deutschland, Frankreich, Irland oder Finnland von dieser Möglichkeit Gebrauch machen, hätte dies negative
Auswirkungen auf unsere Einnahmen und würde unsere Rentabilität beeinträchtigen.

Risiken im Zusammenhang mit der Tion-Portfolio-Transaktion
•

Es ist nach wie vor möglich, dass der Erwerb des Tion-Portfolios aus verschiedenen Gründen nicht zustande
kommt. Ein solches Verhandlungsergebnis kann sich nachteilig auf den Kurs unserer Aktien auswirken.
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•

Die Darstellung des aktuellen Stands der Verhandlungen ist möglicherweise nicht repräsentativ für das endgültige Kooperationsabkommen, oder das Kooperationsabkommen kommt gar nicht zustande.

C.

BASISINFORMATIONEN ÜBER DIE WERTPAPIERE

1.

Welches sind die wichtigsten Merkmale der Wertpapiere?

Art, Gattung
und ISIN

Die Neuen Aktien sind auf den Inhaber lautende Stückaktien. Die ISIN der Aktien der Gesellschaft,
einschließlich der Neuen Aktien, lautet DE000A1EWXA4; Wertpapierkennnummer ("WKN"):
A1EWXA; Börsenkürzel: ABO. Zum Datum dieses EU-Wachstumsprospekts verfügt die Gesellschaft
über eine Aktiengattung.

Währung

Die Aktien lauten auf EUR.

Nennwert,
Anzahl der
Wertpapiere

Jede dieser Aktien entspricht einem rechnerischen Wert von EUR 1,00. Zum Datum diese EUWachstumsprospekts beträgt das Grundkapital der Gesellschaft EUR 63.457.289,00 und ist eingeteilt
in 63.457.289 auf den Inhaber lautende Stückaktien ohne Nennbetrag. Gegenstand des Angebots sind
11.898.240 Neue Aktien, die neu auszugebende, auf den Inhaber lautende Stückaktien darstellen. Die
Aktien werden auf unbestimmte Zeit ausgegeben. Alle bestehenden Aktien der Gesellschaft sind voll
eingezahlt.

Verbundene
Rechte

Jede unserer Aktien, einschließlich der Neuen Aktien, berechtigt den Aktionär zu einer Stimme in
der Hauptversammlung der Gesellschaft. Es bestehen keine Stimmrechtsbeschränkungen. Die Neuen
Aktien sind ab dem 01. Januar 2022 gewinnberechtigt. Grundsätzlich haben die Aktionäre bei der
Ausgabe neuer Aktien, die im Rahmen einer Kapitalerhöhung ausgegeben werden, ein Bezugsrecht
im Verhältnis ihrer Beteiligung am Grundkapital der Gesellschaft.

Rang

Die Neuen Aktien, zusammen mit den bestehenden Aktien der Gesellschaft, sind im Fall einer Insolvenz der Gesellschaft gegenüber allen anderen Wertpapieren und Forderungen nachrangig.

Beschränkungen der
freien
Handelbarkeit

Sämtliche Aktien, einschließlich der Neuen Aktien, sind gemäß den gesetzlichen Bestimmungen für
Inhaberaktien frei übertragbar. Die Neuen Aktien vermitteln einen Anspruch am Liquidationserlös
oder Insolvenzüberschuss im Verhältnis ihrer Beteiligung am Grundkapital.

Dividendenbzw. Ausschüttungspolitik

Für die Geschäftsjahre 2020 und 2021 haben wir keine Dividenden gezahlt und gehen unter Berücksichtigung des aktuellen Portfolioausbaus derzeit davon aus, dass wir auch für das Geschäftsjahr
2022 keine Dividende zahlen werden. Mittelfristig wird eine Dividendenausschüttung aus dem für
die Ausschüttung verfügbaren Cashflow angestrebt, abhängig von den Marktbedingungen, Investitionsmöglichkeiten und unserer Finanzlage zum jeweiligen Zeitpunkt. Jede künftige Entscheidung
über die Ausschüttung von Dividenden wird in Übereinstimmung mit den geltenden Gesetzen getroffen und hängt unter anderem von unseren Betriebsergebnissen, unserer Finanzlage, unseren vertraglichen Beschränkungen und unserem Kapital ab. Unsere künftige Fähigkeit, Dividenden zu zahlen, kann durch die Bedingungen bestehender und künftiger Schuldverschreibungen oder Vorzugsaktien eingeschränkt sein.

2.

Wo werden die Wertpapiere gehandelt?

Mit der Valutierung der Globalurkunde werden unsere Neuen Aktien automatisch im Freiverkehr der Börsen München (Segment m:access) und anderer Börsen in Deutschland, an denen unsere Aktien bereits notiert sind, handelbar
sein.

3.

Wird für die Wertpapiere eine Garantie gestellt?

Für die Wertpapiere wird keine Garantie gestellt.

4.

Welches sind die zentralen Risiken, die für die Wertpapiere spezifisch sind?

Risiken im Zusammenhang mit den Wertpapieren
•

Der Marktpreis der Aktien kann erheblich vom Zeichnungspreis abweichen, und der Aktienkurs oder das Handelsvolumen unserer Aktien könnte erheblich schwanken, und Anleger könnten ihr Investment ganz oder teilweise verlieren.

•

Wir erwarten kurzfristig keine Dividendenausschüttung.

•

Aufgrund der Einbeziehung unserer Aktien in den Freiverkehr gelten bestimmte Anlegerschutzbestimmungen,
die für geregelte Märkte gelten, nicht.
Z-4

D.

BASISINFORMATIONEN ÜBER DAS ÖFFENTLICHE ANGEBOT VON WERTPAPIEREN

1.

Zu welchen Konditionen und nach welchem Zeitplan kann ich in dieses Wertpapier investieren?

AngebotsDas Angebot bezieht sich auf 11.898.240 Neue Aktien der Gesellschaft, wobei jede dieser Aktien
bedingungen einen rechnerischen Betrag des Grundkapitals von EUR 1,00 hat und ab dem 01. Januar 2022 voll
dividendenberechtigt ist. Die Neuen Aktien werden unseren Aktionären im Wege des mittelbaren
Bezugsrechts im Verhältnis 16:3 (16 bestehende Aktien berechtigen zum Bezug drei Neuer Aktien
zum Bezugspreis (wie unten definiert)) angeboten (das "Bezugsangebot"). Die Neuen Aktien stammen aus einer Kapitalerhöhung gegen Bareinlage aus unserem genehmigten Kapital 2022, die von
unserem Vorstand am 21. November 2022 mit Zustimmung des Aufsichtsrats vom gleichen Tag
beschlossen wurde und durch die unser Grundkapital bei vollständiger Zeichnung der angebotenen
Neuen Aktien von EUR 63.457.289,00 auf bis zu EUR 75.355.529,00 durch die Ausgabe von
11.898.240 neuen, auf den Inhaber lautenden Stückaktien ohne Nennbetrag erhöht wird (die "Kapitalerhöhung"). Die Kapitalerhöhung wird voraussichtlich am oder um den 09. Dezember 2022 in
das Handelsregister beim Amtsgericht Wiesbaden, Deutschland (das "Handelsregister"), eingetragen.
Umfang des
Angebots

Das Bezugsangebot besteht aus (i) einem öffentlichen Angebot in Deutschland (ii) Privatplatzierungen an qualifizierte Anleger außerhalb der Vereinigten Staaten von Amerika (die "Vereinigten Staaten") im Rahmen von Offshore-Transaktionen im Sinne von und unter Berufung auf Regulation S
des United States Securities Act von 1933 in der jeweils gültigen Fassung (der"Securities Act").
Neue Aktien, die im Rahmen des Bezugsangebots nicht gezeichnet werden (die "Restaktien"), werden von M.M.Warburg & CO (AG & Co.) Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien, Ferdinandstraße 75,
20095 Hamburg, Deutschland ("M.M.Warburg" oder der "Sole Global Coordinator"), im Rahmen
einer Privatplatzierung qualifizierten Anlegern in Deutschland und anderen ausgewählten Rechtsordnungen zu einem Preis zum Kauf angeboten, der nicht unterhalb des Bezugspreises (wie unten
definiert) liegt (die "Restaktienplatzierung", zusammen mit dem Bezugsangebot, das "Angebot").

Angebotszeitraum

24. November 2022 bis 07. Dezember 2022 (die "Bezugsfrist").

BezugsDer Sole Global Coordinator und wir sind daran interessiert, die Handelbarkeit der Bezugsrechte im
rechtshandel Freiverkehr zu erreichen. Es besteht allerdings kein Einfluss auf die Entstehung eines solchen Handels und einen liquiden Markt.
Angebotspreis

Der Bezugspreis pro Neuer Aktie wird EUR 2,10 betragen (der "Bezugspreis").

Plan für den
Vertrieb

Die Neuen Aktien werden unseren Aktionären im Wege eines mittelbaren Bezugsrechts angeboten.
Für nicht ausgeübte Bezugsrechte wird keine Entschädigung gezahlt. Eine Aktie gewährt jeweils ein
Bezugsrecht. Nach Ablauf der Bezugsfrist verfallen die nicht ausgeübten Bezugsrechte wertlos. Die
Ausübung von 16 Bezugsrechten ermöglicht den Kauf von drei Neuen Aktien, d.h., drei Neue Aktien
können für 16 Bezugsrechte gekauft werden. Diejenigen Neuen Aktien, die nicht im Rahmen des
Bezugsangebots gezeichnet werden, werden institutionellen und qualifizierten Anlegern im Wege
von Restaktienplatzierungen in bestimmten Rechtsordnungen zu einem Preis angeboten, der mindestens so hoch ist wie der Bezugspreis. Die endgültige Entscheidung über die Zuteilung der Restaktien an institutionelle und qualifizierte Anleger liegt nach Abstimmung mit dem Sole Global Coordinator bei der Gesellschaft.

Verwässerung

Aktionäre, die ihre Bezugsrechte für die Neuen Aktien vollständig ausüben, behalten ihren prozentualen Anteil am Grundkapital und an den Stimmrechten der Gesellschaft nach der Kapitalerhöhung
bei. In dem Umfang, in dem die Aktionäre ihre Bezugsrechte nicht ausüben, und unter der Annahme,
dass alle Neuen Aktien ausgegeben werden, wird die Beteiligung jedes Aktionärs an unserem Grundkapital und an den Stimmrechten um etwa 18,7 % verwässert.

Gesamtkosten

Die Gesamtkosten der Gesellschaft im Zusammenhang mit dem Angebot werden sich auf ungefähr
EUR 1,1 Millionen belaufen (unter der Annahme des Verkaufs aller Aktien im Rahmen des Angebots zum Bezugspreis).

Kosten, die Es fallen für die Anleger ausschließlich marktübliche Transaktions- und Abwicklungskosten an, die
Anlegern in ihnen durch ihre Depotbanken in Rechnung gestellt werden.
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Rechnung gestellt werden

2.

Weshalb wird dieser EU-Wachstumsprospekt erstellt?

Gründe für
das Angebot

Dieser EU-Wachstumsprospekt wurde für das öffentliche Angebot der Neuen Aktien in Deutschland
erstellt.

Mittelverwendung und
geschätzte
Nettoerlöse

Unter der Annahme des Verkaufs aller Aktien im Rahmen des Angebots zum Bezugspreis erwarten
wir einen Nettoerlös aus dem Angebot in Höhe von etwa EUR 23,9 Millionen.
Vorbehaltlich des Abschlusses der Kooperationsvereinbarung zwischen dem Unternehmen und Tion
und des Abschlusses der darin vorgesehenen Transaktion beabsichtigen wir, den Nettoerlös aus dem
Angebot zur Zahlung der Barkomponente des Kaufpreises für das Tion-Portfolio zu verwenden, falls
und soweit die endgültigen Bewertungen des Tion-Portfolios und der Aktien der Gesellschaft zu
einer bei Abschluss zu zahlenden Barkomponente führen. Von dem verbleibenden Betrag, falls vorhanden, beabsichtigen wir, ca. 55 % bis 60 % des Nettoerlöses aus diesem Angebot zur Finanzierung
des Erwerbs des Solarparks Wolfsgarten mit einer geplanten Leistung von 38 MW, ca. 15 % bis
20 % zur Finanzierung des Erwerbs des Solarparks Heiligenfelde mit einer geplanten Leistung von
11 MW und die verbleibenden 20 % bis 30 % für andere Entwicklungsprojekte zu verwenden. Wenn
die Tion-Transaktion oder eines oder mehrere dieser Projekte nicht realisiert werden und somit die
darauf entfallenden Erlöse nicht benötigt werden, beabsichtigen wir, die entsprechenden Erlöse für
andere Entwicklungsprojekte und allgemeine Unternehmenszwecke zu verwenden. Wir beabsichtigen, die Verwendung der Erlöse in der Reihenfolge der Nennung der Verwendungszwecke zu priorisieren.

Übernahmevertrag

Die Neuen Aktien werden den Altaktionären im Wege mittelbarer Bezugsrechte gemäß einem zwischen uns und dem Sole Global Coordinator am 21. November 2022 abgeschlossenen Übernahmevertrags zum Bezug angeboten.

Wesentliche
Interessenkonflikte

Es bestehen keine Interessenkonflikte in Bezug auf das Angebot.

3.

Wer ist der Anbieter?

Anbieter

Anbieter sind wir, die clearvise AG, und der Sole Global Coordinator.

Zulassung
zum Handel

Mit der Zulassung zur Girosammelverwahrung bei der Clearstream Banking Frankfurt AG werden
die Neuen Aktien automatisch in den Handel im Freiverkehr an den Börsen in München und anderen
Börsen in Deutschland einbezogen.
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1. PERSONS RESPONSIBLE, THIRD-PARTY INFORMATION AND
COMPETENT AUTHORITY APPROVAL
1.1

Responsibility Statement

clearvise AG (the "Company", "we", "us" or "our", and, together with its consolidated subsidiaries, the "clearvise
Group" or "clearvise"), Unter den Eichen 7, 65195 Wiesbaden, Federal Republic of Germany ("Germany"),
telephone +49 69 247439 220, website: https://clearvise.de/, legal entity identifier ("LEI")
391200Y1PCQR9Y3F4C76, registered with the commercial register (Handelsregister) of the local court
(Amtsgericht) of Wiesbaden, Germany (the "Commercial Register"), under docket number HRB 25063, together
with M.M.Warburg & CO (AG & Co.) Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien, Ferdinandstraße 75, 20095 Hamburg,
Germany (telephone +49 40 3282-0, website: www.mmwarburg.com), LEI MZI1VDH2BQLFZGLQDO60
("M.M.Warburg" or the "Sole Global Coordinator"), assume responsibility for the contents of this EU growth
prospectus (the "EU Growth Prospectus") pursuant to article 11(1) sentence 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of
the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017 on the prospectus to be published when securities are
offered to the public or admitted to trading on a regulated market, and repealing Directive 2003/71/EC (the
"Prospectus Regulation") and Section 8 of the German Securities Prospectus Act (Wertpapierprospektgesetz)
and declare that the information contained in this EU Growth Prospectus is, to the best of their knowledge, in
accordance with the facts and that this EU Growth Prospectus makes no omissions likely to affect its import.
If any claims are asserted before a court of law based on the information contained in this EU Growth Prospectus,
the investor appearing as plaintiff may have to bear the costs of translating this EU Growth Prospectus prior to the
commencement of the court proceedings pursuant to the national legislation of the member states of the European
Economic Area (the "EEA").
The information contained in this EU Growth Prospectus will not be updated subsequent to the date hereof except
for any significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy relating to the information included in this
EU Growth Prospectus, which may affect the assessment of the shares of the Company and which arises or is noted
between the time when this EU Growth Prospectus is approved and the completion of the public offering, which
will be disclosed in a supplement to this EU Growth Prospectus pursuant to article 21 of the Prospectus Regulation
without undue delay. The validity of this EU Growth Prospectus will expire upon closing of the subscription period
which is currently scheduled for the end of 07 December 2022.

1.2

Sources of Market Data and Third-Party Information

Unless otherwise specified, the information contained in this EU Growth Prospectus on the market environment,
market developments, growth rates, market trends and competition in the markets in which the clearvise Group
operates are based on the Company's assessments. These assessments, in turn, are based in part on internal market
observations and on various market studies.
The following sources were used in the preparation of this EU Growth Prospectus:
•

Advisory Board to the Federal Ministry of Finance, Übergewinnsteuer, https://www.bundesfinanzministerium.de/Content/DE/Downloads/Ministerium/Wissenschaftlicher-Beirat/Gutachten/uebergewinnsteuer.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=7 (German only), ("Advisory Board BMF"), last
access 18 August 2022;

•

European Commission ("EC"), REPowerEU: A plan to rapidly reduce dependence on Russian fossil fuels and
fast forward the green transition, dated 18 May 2022, https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_22_3131, ("EC, REPowerEU "), last access 15 July 2022;

•

European Council of the European Union ("European Council"), Council formally adopts emergency
measures to reduce energy prices, ("European Council, 06 October 2022"), last access 20 October 2022;

•

EC: REPowerEU: Joint European Action for more affordable, secure and sustainable energy, https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=COM %3A2022 %3A108 %3AFIN, ("EC, Joint Action"), last
access 18 August 2022;

•

Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Climate Action: Überblick Osterpapier, dated 06 April 2022,
https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Downloads/Energie/0406_ueberblickspapier_osterpaket.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=12, (English summary: https://www.bundesregierung.de/bregde/themen/klimaschutz/amendment-of-the-renewables-act-2060448), ("BMWK"), last access 05 August
2022;
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•

Federal Network Agency of Germany (Bundesnetzagentur), Der Strommarkt im Jahr 2021,
https://www.smard.de/page/home/topic-article/444/206664, ("BNetzA"), last access 18 August 2022;

•

Fraunhofer Institute for Solar Energy Systems ISE: Öffentliche Nettostromerzeugung in Deutschland im Jahr
2021, https://www.energy-charts.info/downloads/Stromerzeugung_2021.pdf (German only), ("Fraunhofer
ISE"), last access 18 August 2022;

•

IEA, World Energy Outlook 2021, Annual Report 2020, dated December 2021, https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/4ed140c1-c3f3-4fd9-acae-789a4e14a23c/WorldEnergyOutlook2021.pdf, ("IEA, Energy
Outlook 2021"), last access 13 July 2022;

•

50Hertz Transmission GmbH, Amprion GmbH, TransnetBW GmbH and TenneT TSO GmbH,
Marktwertübersicht,
https://www.netztransparenz.de/Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz/Marktpraemie/Marktwerte ("Netztransparenz"), last access 05 October 2022;

•

Renewable Energy Policy Network for the 21st Century ("REN21"), Renewables 2022 Global Status Report,
2022, https://www.ren21.net/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/GSR2022_Full_Report.pdf, ("REN21, Renewables 2022 Global Status Report"), last access 13 July 2022;

•

The International Renewable Energy Agency ("IRENA"), Renewable Capacity Statistics 2022,
https://irena.org/publications/2022/Apr/Renewable-Capacity-Statistics-2022, ("IRENA, Renewable Capacity Statistics 2022"), last access 13 July 2022;

•

The International Renewable Energy Agency ("IRENA"), Statistical Profiles - Finland,
https://www.irena.org/Statistics/Statistical-Profiles, ("IRENA, Energy Profile Finland "), last access 14 July
2022

•

The International Renewable Energy Agency ("IRENA"), Statistical Profiles - France,
https://www.irena.org/Statistics/Statistical-Profiles, ("IRENA, Energy Profile France "), last access
14 July 2022

•

The International Renewable Energy Agency ("IRENA"), Statistical Profiles - Germany,
https://www.irena.org/Statistics/Statistical-Profiles, ("IRENA, Energy Profile Germany "), last access
14 July 2022;

•

The International Renewable Energy Agency ("IRENA"), Statistical Profiles - Ireland,
https://www.irena.org/Statistics/Statistical-Profiles, ("IRENA, Energy Profile Ireland "), last access
14 July 2022;

•

The International Renewable Energy Agency ("IRENA"), Future of Solar Photovoltaic, Deployment, investment,
technology,
grid
integration
and
socio-economic
aspects,
https://irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2019/Nov/IRENA_Future_of_Solar_PV_2019.pdf, ("IRENA, Future
of Solar Photovoltaic"), last access 14 July 2022;

•

The International Renewable Energy Agency ("IRENA"), Future of Wind, Deployment, investment, technology, grid integration and socio-economic aspects, https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2019/Oct/IRENA_Future_of_wind_2019.pdf, ("IRENA, Future of Wind"), last access
14 July 2022; and

•

Übertragungsnetzbetreiber ("ÜNB"), Marktwertübersicht, Monatsmarktwerte, https://www.netztransparenz.de/EEG/Marktpraemie/Marktwerte, ("ÜNB, Marktwertübersicht"), last access 02 November 2022.

It should be noted, in particular, that reference has been made in this EU Growth Prospectus to information
concerning markets and market trends. Such information was obtained from the aforementioned sources. We have
accurately reproduced such information and, as far as we are aware and able to ascertain from information
published by such third parties, no facts have been omitted that would render the reproduced information inaccurate
or misleading.
Prospective investors are, nevertheless, advised to consider this data with caution. For example, market studies are
often based on information or assumptions that may not be accurate or appropriate, and their methodology is
inherently predictive and speculative. The fact that information from the aforementioned third-party sources has
been included in this EU Growth Prospectus should not be considered as a recommendation by the relevant third
parties to invest in, purchase, or take any other action with respect to our shares.
Irrespective of the assumption of responsibility for the content of this EU Growth Prospectus by the Company and
the Sole Global Coordinator (see section "1.1 Responsibility Statement"), neither we nor the Sole Global
Coordinator have independently verified the figures, market data or other information on which third parties have
based their studies. Accordingly, we and the Sole Global Coordinator make no representation or warranty as to the
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accuracy of any such information provided by third parties or derived from third-party studies included in this EU
Growth Prospectus. In addition, prospective investors should note that our own estimates and statements of opinion
and belief are not always based on studies of third parties.

1.3

Approval of the EU Growth Prospectus

This EU Growth Prospectus has been approved on 22 November 2022 by the German Federal Financial
Supervisory Authority (Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht, "BaFin"), Marie-Curie-Straße 24–28,
60439 Frankfurt am Main, Germany, as competent authority under the Prospectus Regulation.
BaFin has only approved this EU Growth Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility
and consistency imposed by the Prospectus Regulation. Such approval should not be considered as an endorsement
of the issuer or the quality of the securities that are the subject of this EU Growth Prospectus. Investors should
make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the securities. This EU Growth Prospectus has been
drawn up as part of an EU Growth Prospectus in accordance with article 15 of the Prospectus Regulation.
The validity of this EU Growth Prospectus will expire upon closing of the subscription period which is currently
scheduled for the end of 07 December 2022. The obligation to supplement this EU Growth Prospectus in the event
of significant new factors, material mistakes or material inaccuracies does not apply when this EU Growth
Prospectus is no longer valid.

1.4

Purpose of this EU Growth Prospectus

For the purpose of the public offering of new shares in Germany during a period starting on 24 November 2022
and ending on 07 December 2022 (the "Subscription Period"), this EU Growth Prospectus relates to 11,898,240
new ordinary bearer shares with no-par value (auf den Inhaber lautende Stückaktien) from a capital increase
against contributions in cash and with indirect subscription rights (mittelbares Bezugsrecht) for our shareholders
at a subscription price of EUR 2.10 per new share (the "Subscription Price"), resolved upon by the management
board of the Company (Vorstand, the "Management Board") on 21 November 2022 with the approval of the
supervisory board of the Company (Aufsichtsrat, the "Supervisory Board") on the same date, each such share
representing a notional value of EUR 1.00 and with full dividend rights from 01 January 2022 (the "New Shares").

1.5

Forward-looking Statements

This EU Growth Prospectus contains forward-looking statements. A forward-looking statement is any statement
that does not relate to historical facts or events or to facts or events as of the date of this EU Growth Prospectus.
This applies, in particular, to statements in this EU Growth Prospectus containing information on the clearvise
Group's future earnings capacity, plans and expectations regarding its business growth and profitability, and the
general economic conditions to which the clearvise Group is exposed. Statements made using words such as
"predicts", "forecasts", "projects", "plans", "intends", "endeavours", "expects" or "targets" generally indicate
forward-looking statements.
The forward-looking statements contained in this EU Growth Prospectus are subject to opportunities, risks and
uncertainties, as they relate to future events, and are based on estimates and assessments made to the best of our
present knowledge. These forward-looking statements are based on assumptions, uncertainties and other factors,
the occurrence or non-occurrence of which could cause the clearvise Group's actual results, including its financial
condition and profitability, to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements.
These expressions can be found, in particular, in the sections "2. Strategy, Performance and Business
Environment", "4. Risk Factors", "8. Financial Information and Key Performance Indicators KPIs" and wherever
information is contained in this EU Growth Prospectus regarding our plans, intentions, beliefs or current
expectations relating to the clearvise Group's future financial condition and results of operations, plans, liquidity,
business prospects, growth, strategy and profitability, investments and capital expenditure requirements, future
growth in demand for its residential units as well as the economic and regulatory environment which the clearvise
Group is subject to.
In light of these uncertainties and assumptions, future events mentioned in this EU Growth Prospectus may not
occur. In addition, the forward-looking estimates and forecasts reproduced in this EU Growth Prospectus from
third-party sources could prove to be inaccurate (for further information on the third-party sources used in this EU
Growth Prospectus, see section "1.2 Sources of Market Data and Third-Party Information"). Actual results,
performance or events may turn out to be better or worse compared to the results, performance and events described
in the forward-looking statements, in particular due to:

3

•

changes in general economic conditions in the markets in which the clearvise Group operates, including
political changes and inflation;

•

changes affecting interest rate levels;

•

changes in the competitive environment;

•

the occurrence of accidents, terrorist attacks, armed conflicts or wars, global pandemics, natural disasters, fire
or environmental damage;

•

problems in the supply chain, e.g. and without limitation due to embargoes, strikes, lack of availability of
components and other goods;

•

changes in weather conditions;

•

changes affecting taxation;

•

changes in laws and regulations, in particular regarding electricity markets, any subsidised guaranteed tariffs
or market premiums for energy from renewable sources, as well as environmental laws and regulations; and

•

sufficient availability of suitable investment opportunities.

Moreover, it should be noted that all forward-looking statements only speak as of the date of this EU Growth
Prospectus and that neither we nor the Sole Global Coordinator assume any obligation, except as required by law,
to update any forward-looking statement or to conform any such statement to actual events or developments.
Section "4. Risk Factors" contains a detailed description of various risks, the materialisation of which could have
a material adverse effect on the clearvise Group's business, financial condition, cash flows, results of operations
and prospects and the factors that could adversely affect the actual outcome of the matters described in the forwardlooking statements contained in this EU Growth Prospectus.

1.6

Note on Financial Information and Information on Currencies
1.6.1

Information on Currencies

The amounts set forth in this EU Growth Prospectus in "€", "EUR" or "Euro" refer to the single currency of the
participating EU member states in the third stage of the Economic and Monetary Union pursuant to the Treaty on
the Functioning of the EU.
Our principal functional currency is the Euro, and we prepare our financial statements in Euro.

1.6.2

Presentation of Financial Information

Where financial information in the tables included this EU Growth Prospectus is labelled "audited", it has been
taken from our audited financial statements mentioned in section "10. Documents Available for Inspection". The
label "unaudited" indicates financial information that has not been taken from the audited financial statements
mentioned above, but was taken either from our unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial information
mentioned in section "10. Documents Available for Inspection" or our accounting records or internal reporting
systems, or is based on calculations of figures from the aforementioned sources.
Unless indicated otherwise, all financial information presented in the text and tables below is shown in millions of
Euro (in EUR million). TEUR refers to amounts expressed in Euro thousands. Certain financial information
(including percentages) has been rounded according to established commercial standards. As a result, the aggregate
amounts (sum totals or subtotals or differences or if numbers are put in relation) may not correspond in all cases
to the aggregated amounts of the underlying (unrounded) figures appearing elsewhere in this EU Growth
Prospectus. Furthermore, rounded figures in tables may not add up exactly to the totals contained in those tables.
Financial information presented in parentheses denotes the negative of such number presented. A zero ("0" or
"0.0") signifies that the relevant figure is available but has been rounded to zero or equals zero, while a dash ("–")
signifies that the relevant figure is not available.

1.6.3

Alternative Performance Measures

This EU Growth Prospectus contains alternative performance measures, i.e., financial measures and ratios, including adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin, that are not defined or required by or presented in accordance
with the German generally accepted accounting principles of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch,
"HGB"). The Company presents non-HGB financial measures because they are used by management in monitoring clearvise's business and because management believes that they and similar measures are frequently used by
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securities analysts, investors and other interested parties in evaluating companies in its industry.
Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin are alternative performance measures as defined in the guidelines
issued by the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) on 05 October 2015 on alternative performance
measures. Specifically, we use
•

adjusted EBITDA to present the operating performance of the operating portfolio of clearvise;

•

adjusted EBITDA margin to present the efficiency of the operating portfolio of clearvise.

The definitions of the non-HGB financial measures may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of
other companies and have limitations as analytical tools and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute
for analysis of our operating results as reported under German generally accepted accounting principles of the
HGB. Non-HGB measures such as production, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin are not measures
of our performance or liquidity under HGB accounting principles and should not be considered as alternatives to
results for the period or any other performance or liquidity measures derived in accordance with HGB accounting
principles or any other generally accepted accounting principles or as alternatives to cash flow from operating,
investing or financing activities.
Besides the alternative performance measures stated above, we refer to the significance of the development of our
production capacity.

1.7

Auditor

The Company appointed Rödl & Partner GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft Steuerberatungsgesellschaft,
Äußere Sulzbacher Straße 100, 90491 Nuremberg, Germany ("Rödl & Partner"), represented by its Cologne
branch Kranhaus 1, Im Zollhafen, 50678 Cologne, Germany, as the auditor of (i) the Company's unconsolidated
financial statements prepared in accordance with HGB accounting principles as of and for the financial year ended
31 December 2021 and (ii) the Company's consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with HGB
accounting principles as of and for the financial years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.
Rödl & Partner has audited and issued unqualified independent auditor's reports (uneingeschränkte
Bestätigungsvermerke des unabhängigen Abschlussprüfers) with respect to the aforementioned unconsolidated
financial statements of the Company as of and for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 and unqualified
auditor's reports (uneingeschränkte Bestätigungsvermerke) with respect to the aforementioned consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.
Rödl & Partner is a member of the Chamber of Public Accountants (Wirtschaftsprüferkammer), Rauchstraße 26,
10787 Berlin, Germany.

1.8

Interests of Persons involved in the Offering

In connection with the Offering (as defined in this EU Growth Prospectus) and the inclusion of the New Shares
into the Company's existing quotation in the Open Market (Freiverkehr) of the stock exchanges in Munich and of
other stock exchanges in Germany, the Sole Global Coordinator entered into a contractual relationship with the
Company. The Sole Global Coordinator is advising the Company on the Offering, in particular, on the coordination, structuring and execution of the Offering. The Sole Global Coordinator will receive a commission for its
activities upon successful completion of the Offering, the size of which depends on the results of the Offering. The
Sole Global Coordinator therefore has a financial interest in the success of the Offering.
Furthermore, in connection with the Offering, the Sole Global Coordinator may take up a portion of the New
Shares in the Offering and, in that capacity, may retain, purchase or sell for its own account such shares or related
investments and may offer or sell such shares or other investments otherwise than in connection with the Offering.
In addition, the Sole Global Coordinator or its affiliates may enter into financing arrangements (including swaps
or contracts for differences) with investors in connection with which the Sole Global Coordinator (or its affiliates)
may from time to time acquire, hold or dispose of shares in the Company. The Sole Global Coordinator does not
intend to disclose the extent of any such investment or transactions otherwise than in accordance with any legal or
regulatory obligation to do so.
Additionally, the Sole Global Coordinator or companies affiliated with it have and may from time to time in the
future have other business relationships with the Company or its group and render other services to the Company
or its group in the ordinary course of business, for which they may receive customary fees and commissions. Since
the Company will receive the net proceeds from the Offering of the New Shares and these will strengthen the
equity capital basis of the Company, all direct and indirect shareholders with an interest in the Company, in particular the existing shareholders of the Company, have an interest in the implementation of the capital increase to
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which this Offering relates. Other than the interests described above, there are no material interests. None of the
aforementioned interests in the Offering constitute a conflict of interests or a potential conflict of interests. Consequently, there are no conflicts of interest with respect to the Offering.

1.9

Reasons for the Offering, Use of Proceeds and Expenses of the Offering

We will receive the net proceeds from the sale of the New Shares. The net proceeds, which correspond to the gross
proceeds after the deduction of expenses relating to the Offering to be borne by us, depend on the actual number
of New Shares sold, the Subscription Price and the offer price for any unsubscribed shares in a rump placement
(see section "6. Details of the Offer") as well as the expenses related to the Offering.
Assuming a placement of all New Shares at the Subscription Price, we estimate the placement fees incurred vis-àvis the Sole Global Coordinator in connection with the Offering to be about EUR 0.7 million (assuming full payment of the discretionary fee components), with total costs (including placement fees) of approximately EUR 1.1
million and net proceeds received by us of approximately EUR 23.9 million.
Subject to the Company and Tion entering into a cooperation agreement and the closing of the transaction contemplated therein (see "2.2.13 Acquisition of the Tion Portfolio"), we intend to use the net proceeds from the Offering to pay, the cash component of the purchase price for the Tion portfolio, if and to the extent the final valuations of the Tion portfolio and the shares of the Company result in a cash component payable upon closing. Of the
remainder, if any, we intend to use 55 % to 60 % in order to finance the construction of the solar PV park
Wolfsgarten with a planned capacity of 38 MW, approximately 15 % to 20 % in order to finance the construction
of the solar PV park Heiligenfelde with a planned capacity of 11 MW and the remaining 20 % to 30 % for other
development projects. If the Tion transaction or one or more of these projects is not realised and thus the proceeds
attributable thereto are not required, we intend to use the respective proceeds for other pipeline projects and general
corporate purposes. We intend to prioritize the use of proceeds by the order in which the use purposes are mentioned.
We expect the solar PV project Wolfsgarten to reach a "ready-to-build" status in the fourth quarter of 2022 and
the solar PV project Heiligenfelde in the first quarter of 2023 with construction activity commencing shortly hereafter.
Investors will not be charged expenses by us or the Sole Global Coordinator. Investors will have to bear such costs
that may occur in connection with the securities, including possible fees charged by their depository banks in
connection with the subscription and holding of the securities.
The proceeds generated from this Offering align with clearvise's business strategy and strategic objectives (see
section "2.2 Business Overview"). The strengthening of our equity should support the growth initiative
clearSCALE 2025 which we announced in 2021. The intended capital increase should give us more possibilities
to acquire new renewable energy assets for its portfolio growth up to 1 GW comprising 750 MW of operating
assets and 250 MW pipeline in 2025. In addition, a higher equity capital ratio should enable us to additionally fund
our financial needs through debt, e.g. in the form of green bonds.
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2. STRATEGY, PERFORMANCE AND
BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT
2.1 Information about the Company
2.1.1

Incorporation

The Company was formed as an ABO Invest AG with its registered address at Unter den Eichen 7, 65195 Wiesbaden, Germany, and was registered into the Commercial Register of the local court of Wiesbaden on 12 August
2010. The general meeting resolved on 8 October 2020 to change the name of the Company into clearvise AG.

2.1.2

Governing Law

As a company registered in Germany whose shares are quoted on an Open Market (Freiverkehr) in Germany, the
Company is subject to German law applicable to a German stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft), in particular
the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, "AktG"), which, inter alia, governs foundation, corporate governance, post-formation acquisitions, capital measures of the Company (e.g., capital increases and reductions) and
the Company's shareholders' meetings, as well as other laws applicable to German stock corporations such as the
HGB.

2.1.3

Legal and Commercial Name

The Company's legal and commercial name is clearvise AG.

2.1.4

Registration and Duration

The Company is registered with the Commercial Register of the local court of Wiesbaden, Germany, under docket
number HRB 25063. Its registered seat and business address is at Unter den Eichen 7, 65195 Wiesbaden, Germany
(telephone: +49 (0)69 24 74 39 220), and it holds the LEI 391200Y1PCQR9Y3F4C76.
The Company's website address is https://clearvise.de. Information on the Company's website and information
accessible via this website is neither part of nor incorporated by reference into this EU Growth Prospectus.
The Company has been established for an indefinite period.

2.1.5

Information on the Material Changes in our Borrowing and Funding Structure Since
the End of the Interim Period for which Financial Information has been included in
this EU Growth Prospectus

There have been no material changes in our borrowing and funding structure since 30 June 2022.

2.1.6

Information of the Expected Financing of the Issuer's Activities

In general, the financing structure of our activities, including but not limited to pursuing our core investments, will
remain unchanged: investments in wind and solar PV parks will be funded by project financing (see "2.2.5 Investment Focus and Process") and our equity. A strengthened equity base, in which this intended share capital increase
may result in, in particular in conjunction with the portfolio growth, i.e. in case of a successful completion of the
targeted Tion transaction (see section "2.2.13 Acquisition of the Tion Portfolio"), strengthens clearvise's possibilities to access other funding sources such as, inter alia, (green) bonds, convertible bonds, mezzanine and other
hybrid financing instruments. This may lead to less share capital increases in the mid-term future. In anticipation
of funding further portfolio growth, our general shareholder meeting approved both an authorised as well as a
contingent capital on 14 July 2022 which allows for capital increases within a period of five years.

2.2 Business Overview
2.2.1

Introduction

We are an independent power producer ("IPP") in the renewable energy market with a diversified European port-
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folio of wind and solar PV parks of around 378 MW capacity (thereof 303 MW operational and 75 MW contracted1, but not yet operating) in Germany, France, Ireland, and Finland (as at 30 June 2022). The portfolio includes one small biogas facility with less than 1 MW installed capacity.
After a repositioning in the second half of 2020 towards a more aggressive expansion and an active asset management approach, we doubled our operating portfolio capacity from 151 MW to 303 MW within 18 months.
We aim to make our core direct investments only in solar PV and wind parks in European countries with a capacity
of ideally between 5 MW and 50 MW (the "Core Investments"). We aim for at least 80 % to 85 % of our assets
under management (the "Assets Under Management") to comprise Core Investments at any given point in time.
We believe that with our team's many years of experience in projecting and operating parks, our team has an indepth understanding and a large network of regional project developers. This gives us the opportunity to gain
access to interesting projects on attractive terms. We aim to achieve an equity ratio of at least 25 %, secured
revenues of more than EUR 60 million and an operational EBITDA margin of at least 73 % by 2025, inter alia,
by scaling-up our portfolio to an operating capacity of 750 MW and an additional 250 MW pipeline with an equal
production share of wind and solar PV. The revenues shall be generated from electricity sales via FiTs, PPAs or
also merchant prices over stock exchanges and also other income from the operation of assets, e.g. sale of certifications of origins, lease income from antennas, etc. We intend to reach this target by our internal growth initiative
("clearSCALE 2025") which includes three essential pillars:
•

purchasing parks for cash ("clearVALUE");

•

purchasing parks via contribution in kind against new shares in the Company ("clearSWITCH"); and

•

by partnering with project developers ("clearPARTNERS").

Our active asset management approach comprises the constant checking of our parks for technical and commercial
optimisation potential, for example, by making use of the existing location and grid access of existing sites through
hybridisation (e.g. adding PV facilities on the site of an existing wind park) and repowering (e.g. replacing older,
generally smaller wind turbines with newer, generally larger and more efficient ones). Even though we are a longterm buy-and-hold investor with an investment horizon of 25–30 years, we regularly check whether selling a park
could add value or minimise risk for our shareholders.
Our strategy allows additional business outside the scope of our Core Investments on an opportunistic basis (our
so-called "Opportunity Pocket"). This may pertain to strategic investments in the renewable energies sphere,
such as investments into development stage projects (i.e. under our clearPARTNERS acquisition approach), new
technologies, strategic M&A acquisitions alongside the industry value chain (e.g. acquiring a stake in a project
developer) and/or in non-Core Investment countries. Opportunity Pocket investments aim to add a yield pick-up
compared to our Core Investments whilst only exposing us to risk we consider as manageable. We limit investments into the Opportunity Pocket to a maximum of 20 % of our Assets Under Management at any given point in
time.
On 13 July 2022, we entered into a non-binding memorandum of understanding (the "MoU", and the transaction
described therein, the "Tion Transaction") with Tion regarding the potential full acquisition of Tion's portfolio
of solar PV and onshore wind parks in Germany, Italy, the Netherlands and Poland with a total capacity of 159 MW
all operational (as at 30 June 2022 excluding four solar PV parks in the Czech Republic that Tion sold on 08 July
2022) (the "Tion Portfolio") by us. The compensation would mainly comprise new shares in the Company stemming from a capital increase against contribution in kind of the Tion Portfolio which would be characterised as
part of the clearSWITCH pillar. The completion of the Tion Transaction is, inter alia, subject to satisfactory mutual
due diligence, agreement on and conclusion of a business combination agreement, antitrust clearance and approval
from both parties' general shareholders' meetings (see section "2.2.13 Acquisition of the Tion Portfolio", and section "2.2.12 Material Contracts").
In 2021, we generated revenues of EUR 32.9 million (2020: EUR 36.5 million) and an adjusted EBITDA of
EUR 22.6 million (2020: EUR 27.3 million). In the first six months of 2022, our revenues were EUR 26.6 million
(first six months of 2021: EUR 16.0 million) and our adjusted EBITDA was EUR 20.6 million (first six months
of 2021: EUR 11.5 million).
In 2022 and 2023, we additionally put our focus on the preparation of the following issues:
•

the uplisting from the Open Market to the Prime Standard which is targeted for the time period after the
publication of the annual financial statements 2023 in 2024;

•

the change of the reporting standards from GAAP to IFRS reporting, intended for the first time with the 2023

1 Contracted capacity means capacity that is secured by way of a signed sale and purchase agreement, i.e. where conditions precedent are not
fulfilled completely. Contracted capacity may be in different stages, i.e. development, under construction or operating.
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annual financial statements in 2024;
•

the strengthening of our governance and compliance with the German Corporate Governance Codex; and

•

the implementation and publication of regular sustainability reporting, for the first time with the 2022 annual
financial statements in 2023. In addition, we plan to obtain an ESG rating.

2.2.2

History

First Growth Phase (2011 to 2017)
The Company was founded in July 2010 as "Bürgerwindaktie" by wind project developer ABO Wind AG as
"ABO Invest AG" to particularly enable citizens to invest into a 57 MW portfolio of wind parks in Germany,
France and Ireland and one small biogas plant in Germany. Many of our early investors are still shareholders of
the Company. We subsequently entered the Finnish market with acquisitions in 2014 and 2017 and expanded our
portfolio to a total of 151 MW.
The Repositioning in 2020
The year 2020 was a ground-breaking year for us. After former ABO Invest's acquisition activity had come to a
halt after 2017, our shareholders urged for a strategic change towards greater independence from ABO Wind AG
which led to a fundamental organisational and strategic realignment. At an extraordinary general meeting in October 2020, the shareholders approved the change of name from ABO Invest AG to clearvise AG with a large
majority. This name change reflects our repositioning as an independent IPP in the renewable energy market,
operating a European renewable asset portfolio that is diversified both geographically and with regard to power
generation technology, having a clearly defined strategy and growth target and following an active asset management approach.
In 2020, we operated 16 renewable energy assets in 16 Operating SPVs.
Second Growth Phase from 2021
In 2021, we announced the mid-term clearSCALE 2025 growth initiative and executed on our clearVALUE acquisition strategy by diversifying our portfolio into solar PV parks, thus increasing the portfolio's capacity by
approximately 31.8 % to a capacity of around 199 MW in the end of 2021 achieved by 28 renewable energy assets
that are managed by 22 Operating SPVs and by approximately 150 % to a capacity of around 378 MW capacity
as at 30 June 2022. 303 MW thereof are operational and 75 MW contracted, but not yet operating, and 133 MW
pertain to solar PV and 169 MW to wind parks. We have successfully raised equity to fund growth by completing
three cash capital increases in 2021 and 2022 raising total gross proceeds of EUR 32.2 million.
During the first half of 2022, we implemented our clearSWITCH acquisition strategy when acquiring the wind
park Korbersdorf as 25 % of the purchase price was paid by issuing new shares in the Company to the seller and
completed a further increase of our share capital.

2.2.3

Competitive Strengths

We believe that the following strengths have been the primary drivers of our success to date:
•

Well-positioned to benefit from long-term growth trends in renewable energy generation: As a fast growing
IPP in the fragmented European market, we are well-positioned to capitalise on the attractive fundamental
growth trends in the energy market fuelled by the transition to renewable energy, including political pressure
to become independent from natural gas from Russia, to implement climate protection and anti-global warming measures, national targets to reduce dependency on fossil fuel and decrease of CO2 emissions, the transition toward clean energy technologies and a significantly improved cost competitiveness of solar PV and wind
energy. We believe that we will continue to benefit from these trends in the foreseeable future.

•

Established, diversified portfolio in four European countries: We have an established, diversified investment
portfolio in Germany, France, Ireland and Finland. As historically feed-in tariffs ("FiT") have been higher
than in today's auction driven subsidisation systems, quite a number of our wind parks already operating for
many years still benefit from high FiTs providing for a stable floor for our revenues, whereas newer parks
benefit from the strongly increased prices at which we can sell the generated electricity under power purchase
agreements ("PPAs", see section "2.2.6 Operation – Power Purchase Agreements"). In 2020, we have set the
stage for future growth through personnel, organisational and strategic realignment and have doubled our
operating portfolio capacity from 151 to 303 MW (as at 30 June 2022) within 18 months.

•

Additional pipeline: Besides our operating portfolio of 303 MW, we are actively working on a further pipeline
of projects with a total capacity of >230 MW ("Pipeline"). Our Pipeline as of 31 July 2022 is mainly comprising (i) 49 MW contracted capacity in two German solar PV parks in the final project development stage
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where closing of the SPA is to take place once ready-to-built status is achieved, (ii) a total of approximately
33 MW German solar PV under development in various stages identified as part of our site optimisation programme, and (iii) the Tion Portfolio of approximately 159 MW in Poland, Germany, the Netherlands and
Italy. On the basis of a reasonable conservative commercial assessment we have not yet included in the Pipeline repowering potential for our older wind parks, as development cycles in wind are much longer than within
solar PV. Regarding potential repowering, we recently have signed two cooperation agreements providing us
exclusivity on two yet-to-be permitted new wind parks in France and Germany without assuming development
risk, which are not included in the 230 MW Pipeline.
•

Experienced management team with extensive network: Our dedicated and well-connected team of specialists has many years of experience in the industry. The successful diversification of our portfolio into solar PV
and the portfolio expansion demonstrate our capability to achieve profitable growth in a difficult market environment. Our Chief Executive Officer ("CEO"), Petra Leue-Bahns, was born in 1966 and has been working
in positions of responsibility in the renewable energy industry since 2001. She is familiar with all levels of
the value chain. As a director of a New York based investment banking boutique, Global Capital Finance, she
built up the renewable energy business in Europe, joined the management board of the ecolutions group in
2008 and became responsible for the international operational business of China-based Sky Solar Holdings as
Chief Operating Officer in 2012. In November 2014, she returned to Germany and subsequently took over
responsibility for financing and sales at ABO Wind AG as divisional director and member of the management
board. Since 01 March 2020, she has been heading clearvise AG as CEO. Besides, Petra Leue-Bahns is a
member of the management board (Vorstand) of EUROWIND Aktiengesellschaft and managing director of
all our affiliate companies without any additional remuneration. Our CFO, Manuel Sieth, was born in 1987
and holds a Bachelor of Arts (B.A.) from Baden-Wuerttemberg cooperative state university and The Open
University with a focus on banking and finance, where he graduated on 30 September 2011. Furthermore, he
holds a Master of Science with a focus on energy economics from RWTH Aachen University and Westfälische
Wilhelms-Universität Münster where he graduated on 01 January 2019. Manuel Sieth has been working in
various industry-relevant positions since 2011 and has profound financial expertise due to his previous professional experience. He initially worked at Landesbank Baden-Württemberg in the area of project financing
and moved to ABO Wind AG in 2013, where he was responsible for the financing and sale of wind parks to
nationally and internationally active investors. After moving to Ampega Asset Management GmbH in 2017,
he was also responsible for various investments in the infrastructure sector in Europe including but not limited
to renewable energy projects, gas caverns, hospitals, etc. In 2020, he joined clearvise AG as head of finance
and became a member of the Management Board (as Chief Financial Officer, "CFO") in July 2022. We believe that with our many years of experience in project planning and operation in the renewable energy sector,
we know about the sticking points in project development and can weigh up risks well. We meet regional
project developers on eye level. This gives us the opportunity to gain access to projects at an early stage,
investing the majority of funds at ready-to-build stage or later, and on attractive terms. We see ourselves as a
manoeuvrable speedboat in an attractive niche with a high degree of flexibility, decisiveness and the ability
to act allowing us to capitalise on attractive investment opportunities.

•

Active asset management approach: Since our strategic repositioning in 2020, we follow an active asset
management approach. This comprises the constant checking of the projects for optimisation possibilities to
create additional value, for example, by making use of the existing location and grid access of existing sites
through the hybridisation (e.g. adding PV facilities on the site of an existing wind park) and repowering.
Furthermore, we leverage our knowledge of the rapidly growing PPA market to increase revenues. To this
end, we took advantage of recent increases in electricity prices to enter into short-term financial PPAs with a
large European utilities provider with regard to the electricity produced in our wind park Weilrod and our
solar PV parks Alsweiler I, Lohne I and Lohne II in the beginning of July 2022 to hedge part of our portfolio
at the current high price level for six months until the end of 2022. Even though we are a long-term buy-andhold investor, we regularly check whether a sale of parks adds value or minimises risk for our shareholders.
An example is our sale of the Wennerstorf wind park in 2019/2020 on an opportunistic basis resulting in a
significant extraordinary profit. In parallel, we constantly work on establishing effective structures and efficient systems for a sustainably successful operation of our parks, for example, through digitalisation.

2.2.4

Strategy

As an IPP from renewable energies, we aim to make our contribution to an ecologically and economically reasonable energy transition for the benefit of all. To this end, we pursue the following strategic aims:
•

clearSCALE 2025: Our focus is on expanding our portfolio of wind and solar PV parks in Europe. To this
end, we pursue a growth initiative to scale-up our portfolio to an operating capacity of 750 MW and an additional 250 MW pipeline with an equal production share of wind and solar PV by the end of 2025. In our target
region Europe, this translates into roughly two thirds of the production capacity being solar PV which means
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that we intend to mainly expand our portfolio through the acquisition of solar PV parks. For this, we intend to
increase our operating capacity of wind assets to approximately 260 MW while the operating capacity of solar
PV assets is planned to increase to approximately 490 MW. We also aim to diversify our portfolio by entering
three to four additional European countries. We are currently assessing Italy, the Netherlands and Poland (also
independently from the targeted acquisition of the Tion Portfolio) The implementation of clearSCALE 2025
takes place through leveraging on our three acquisition pillars: clearVALUE, clearPARTNERS and
clearSWITCH.
clearVALUE provides for us to grow classically through the acquisition of ready-to-build or operating parks
against cash compensation.
As a second strategic pillar, we offer a liquidity-preserving investment model (clearSWITCH) for operators
of existing parks, i.e. an operating and grid connected park is exchanged fully or partially for shares in the
Company from a capital contribution in kind. While we do not have to finance the acquisition in total by cash,
the seller of the park receives parts or all of the purchase price in form of new clearvise shares. A first proof
of concept for this strategy was our acquisition of the wind park in Korbersdorf at the beginning of 2022, for
which about 25 % of the purchase price was paid with new shares in the Company. The Tion Transaction
would constitute an additional proof-point of our clearSWITCH model as it also includes a share component.
The third pillar clearPARTNERS stands for co-operations with regional developers. These co-operations
would typically pertain to one or more projects with the ultimate aim of leveraging the know-how of both
parties for the benefit of the project(s), i.e. the developer focuses on its development activities and we secure
financing and PPAs. In these cases, we deliberately already invest in the late-stage development phase with
the development risks largely being borne by the development partner. The aim of this concept is to give us
access to attractive business opportunities in the coming years and actively drive our portfolio expansion. In
addition, the clearPARTNERS approach allows us to influence value drivers such as leverage, project finance,
and energy sales structure and to create a good fit on a portfolio level.
•

Investment strategy: We intend to make our Core Investments only in European countries because of (i) their
stable political and regulatory environment, (ii) the fact that the electricity markets of most of these countries
are unbundled (i.e. the activities potentially subject to competition (such as production and supply of electricity) being separated from those where competition is not possible or allowed (such as transmission and distribution of electricity)) and interconnected, and (iii) project development being mainly conducted by regional
small and medium enterprises ("SMEs"). The interconnection of the electricity markets is important as it inter
alia enhances flexibility in energy sales and reduces the risk of outages of the grid. The unbundling on the
other hand makes sure that grid access is available to every party of the energy market and not controlled by
monopolies or oligopolies. We believe to have a good access to SME project developers due to our developer
background and therefore the ability to talk on an equal footing. We also have good access to large scale
developers, however, the bigger the project is the bigger is usually the competition, thus, frequently, driving
the prices in unfavourable heights. We prefer to make our Core Investments only in European countries where
we can see a prospect of investing at least 10 % of our Assets Under Management, as it would otherwise be
inefficient to build up the necessary administrative resources. Parks with a capacity of between 5 MW and
50 MW are in the sweet spot for our Core Investments, as we have to compete less with very large investors
with very low costs of capital for these parks. We only enter new countries in which we are not yet active if
we consider these countries to have economic growth potential, sound political conditions and an established
financing environment. Our investment horizon is normally between 25 years for wind and 30 years for solar
PV.
Our Opportunity Pocket is used for investments on an opportunistic basis within the renewable energies
sphere. We limit investments into the Opportunity Pocket to up to a maximum of 20 % of our Assets Under
Management at any given point in time.

•

Active asset management approach and digitalisation: We intend to apply an active asset management approach which comprises the constant checking of our parks for technical and/or commercial optimisation
potential to improve the risk/reward profile, identifying value-add potential to our portfolio through hybridisation or park sales, and also digitalisation of our operations. We have systems in place that monitor and
analyse our parks, enabling our asset management team to measure the performance of each park on an ongoing basis. We are currently working on a solution that will allow for a higher degree of automatisation in
accounting and a standardised reporting process with the objective to ease controlling based upon financial
and operating KPIs (including certain ESG metrics with a view to future ESG reporting). We intend to implement the new system and processes by the end of the first calendar quarter of 2023. We believe that this and
other digitalisation projects give us high transparency allowing us to take swift action, if necessary.
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2.2.5

Investment Focus and Process

Core Investments: Onshore Wind and PV Parks
The focus of our Core Investment activity is on onshore wind and solar PV parks in European countries. Here, we
typically acquire wind and solar PV parks in a "ready-to-build" or "operating" stage.
A project has reached the "ready-to-build" stage when all relevant public permits have been issued and the right
to use the property has been secured. Normally, the project financing as well as the agreements with the EPC2
constructor are also in place at the time of the acquisition. In these cases, we normally agree on a payment schedule
providing for payments in accordance with the construction progress to limit our exposure to the construction risk.
In addition, we often try to mitigate construction risks by respective contractual arrangements (e.g. contractual
penalty payment in case of delays in the connection to the grid or EPC services at a fixed price). The construction
of the park is normally carried out either by the project developer or a separate EPC partner. With smaller parks,
we normally supervise the construction activity fully internally through our technical asset management team on
the basis of regular progress reports provided by the EPC contractor, whereas for larger parks we seek assistance
from independent third-party engineering experts (so-called "Owner's Engineers") to ensure that the EPC contractors are adhering to the agreed project specification. Site visits by our technical asset managers and the Owner's
Engineer are standard practice.
The term "operating" refers to wind or solar PV parks that are already connected to the electricity grid and produce
electricity.
By acquiring "ready-to-build" and "operating" renewable energy assets for our Core Investments, we avoid typical
project development risks connected with obtaining the necessary public permits and the right to use the land. In
case of "operating" renewable energy assets, we also avoid risks associated with construction and have, depending
on the duration of past operations, historical performance data of the park on which we can base our forecast
allowing for a more accurate valuation.
Generally wind and solar assets are owned and operated by a special purpose company for the specific park (and
as the case may be sometimes also for a bundle of smaller projects, "Operating SPV"). We usually invest in a socalled share deal structure, where we acquire shares of the Operating SPV from the seller. Our aim is to acquire
all shares in the Operating SPV. Although to date all of our Operating SPVs are (directly or indirectly) fully owned
by the Company, our investment strategy also allows for investments of less than 100 % of the share capital. This
is inter alia part of our clearPARTNERS acquisition pillar and could be helpful with regard to increasingly obligatory municipal or regional participations and/or help us to free up parts of the equity investment bound in an
Operating SPV via a partial sale of shareholding in the SPV to other investors and use it to fund further growth.
Opportunity Pocket
Our Opportunity Pocket is used for value-adding investments on an opportunistic basis within the renewable energies sphere which do not fall into our core investment focus. According to our investment strategy, we can invest
up to a maximum of 20 % of Assets Under Management in this category. These Opportunity Pocket investments
may pertain to development stage projects, new renewable energy technologies (for example, Agri-PV parks which
refer to a process for the simultaneous use of land for agricultural crop production (photosynthesis) and PV electricity production (photovoltaics)), strategic acquisitions in the renewables energy sector (e.g., the acquisition of a
stake in a project developer), etc. A strategic investment in a wind or solar PV park in a country in which we do
not or not yet make Core Investments also qualifies for our Opportunity Pocket. Here, we particularly look into
investment opportunities that are linked to an experienced partner (e.g. projects developed by such partner) with
whom we have worked in the past or may co-invest.
Development stage solar PV and wind projects are projects that have not yet reached the ready-to-build stage and
where we accept development risk, but try to limit this risk, e.g. by taking collateral.
Sources of Investment Opportunities
We often acquire our parks from our network which consists of a variety of developers, M&A advisors and operators. With our many years of experience in project planning and operations, we know about the sticking points in
project development and can weigh up risks well. We are flexible, agile and can make decisions comparatively
quickly. We believe smaller regional developers value us very for these reasons. This gives us good access to
projects in our sweet spot with a capacity of between 5 MW and 50 MW which are typically developed by these
small regional developers. For larger projects, there are often bidding processes with intense competition also from
investors that have lower yield expectations than we have. Thus we carefully consider whether we participate in a

2

EPC stands for engineering, procurement, and construction, and the term EPC contract is frequently used as a terminus technicus for the
turnkey installation contract of a wind or a solar PV park including those three crafts.
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bidding process.
Assessment and Selection Process
We assess an investment opportunity based on certain general criteria, including the size of the project, its location,
the regulatory framework (in particular in light of the government incentives and subsidies for renewable energy,
including their duration and expected availability), the economics of the park (yield and cash flow), input factors
(sun/wind), potential former experience with the project developer and EPC contractor, and the general market
environment. We prefer renewable energy assets equipped with high quality components which have manufacturer
guarantees and warranties from reputable suppliers.
In a first stage, our investment team makes an initial assessment of a project on the basis of the information provided by the seller (e.g. investment memorandum containing all relevant information to evaluate a project) in order
to determine whether to make a non-binding offer ("NBO") or not. Prior to agreeing on an exclusivity phase with
the seller (allowing for due diligence and contract negotiations), we introduce the potential investment opportunity to our Supervisory Board and discuss the strategic fit of the project. We seek Supervisory Board approval
for a transaction cost budget to assess the potential investment in detail.
Our due diligence process conducted during exclusivity typically comprises a detailed commercial, legal, financial
and tax due diligence. We examine carefully that all project rights required for construction, grid connection and
long-term operation of the specific park are in place and legally valid, the technique is in accordance with regulations, specifications and industry standards, and that the terms and conditions of operational, maintenance and
finance contracts are market standard. This includes the review and analysis of all legal permits, approvals, authorisations, assessments, contracts, guarantees, warranties, agreements, documents, financial statements and other
information necessary to verify permits, property rights, grid connection and tariff eligibility. We normally have
technical, legal, tax and PPA due diligence conducted by external experts. Our investment team is coordinating
the due diligence process, with our technical and commercial asset managers co-operating with the third-party
experts. Wind or solar resource potential is evaluated based upon independent expert studies, and for periods after
expiration of a tariff scheme or PPAs we use energy price curves published by reputable experts to evaluate energy
sales potential.
Results of the due diligence are addressed in the negotiation of the share purchase agreement ("SPA") and, in cases
where these can be amended and/or supplemented, operative contracts (i.e. EPC contract, operation and maintenance contracts).
For markets which we do not already know very well, the commercial, tax and insurance due diligence are conducted by external experts. For investments in very familiar markets, we conduct the commercial due diligence
ourselves and conduct a less extensive tax and insurance due diligence, while all other components of the due
diligence exercise are basically conducted the same way. In case of projects involving a PPA we also seek for
expert partners' support to conduct a PPA specific commercial and legal due diligence.
We analyse each investment opportunity to determine whether it has an attractive risk/return profile aligned with
our strategy. The Management Board is involved continuously during the due diligence process and contractual
negotiations.
Once all of the project and market specific information has been analysed and satisfactory due diligence reports
have been provided by the mandated external experts, we prepare a detailed resolution memorandum ("Final Investment Decision Resolution"). The Final Investment Decision Resolution forms the basis to discuss with and
obtain the investment approval of the Management Board and, subsequently, the Supervisory Board.
The whole acquisition process usually takes two to four months. We only make Core Investments if the energy
sales revenue is long-term secured (e.g. via guaranteed tariffs or PPAs with a creditworthy counterpart).
Financing
The majority of investments in wind or solar PV parks are financed through non-recourse project financing provided by a bank to the Operating SPV. Various countries offer subsidised loan schemes for renewable energy
projects through their business development banks, e.g. Germany through KfW, which is a public law institution
(Anstalt öffentlichen Rechts). Usually, the project financing is arranged during the development phase by the project developer and at least partially drawn once the project is sold. Depending on the specifics of the project, the
country and the energy sales remuneration structure (FiT, PPA, etc.) between about 50 % and 90 % of the total
investment volume of a solar PV or wind park can be funded by such project finance. clearvise is aiming at a
leverage of up to 75 % only in order to maintain our intended equity ratio of 25 % (whereas the equity ratio as of
30 June 2022 was 22 %). The project-financing bank regularly performs a detailed legal, technical and commercial
due diligence for the project on its own, frequently using external advisors. Banks usually only finance solar PV
and wind parks developed by experienced developers with high quality components from reputable manufacturers.
The term of a project financing typically varies between 15 and 20 years from start of operation, depending on the
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tenor of the remuneration scheme, the debt service cover ratio, the loan life cover ratio and the risk appetite of the
bank. Weighted by the outstanding nominal amount, the average interest rate of our project financing debt was
2.36 % p.a. (as at 30 June 2022). All of our project financing debt is currently denominated in Euro. The repayment
profile of the project financing debt provides for a full repayment of the loans by the end of their term. Where
possible, we have hedged floating interest rate exposure by interest swaps.
Project financing loan agreements do not provide for recourse possibilities against the Company. Collateral is
granted to the bank on a SPV level only. For example, the claim to electricity sales and the components of the
solar PV and wind parks are granted as collateral to the bank. In addition, the shares in the SPVs and the most
important project contracts are pledged or assigned for security purposes. The collateral package also includes
pledged bank accounts such as debt service reserve accounts and maintenance reserve accounts.
Most of the project loan agreements contain typical financial covenants such as debt service cover ratios and loan
life cover ratios as well as qualitative reporting requirements like the actual performance of the park and liquidity
forecasts. The development of the compliance with the covenants is closely monitored by our commercial asset
managers so that an early reaction can be taken in the event of undesirable developments. Low-wind years can
result in the historical or future debt service coverage ratio (DSCR) not being achieved as a prerequisite for distributions to the parent company. If it becomes foreseeable that the covenants will not be met, we initiate discussions
with the bank in good time, and appropriate financing measures are taken.
We typically finance the equity portion of the project's investment volume with the Company's equity. The equity
for our solar PV park Klettwitz-Nord was partially financed by capital of an equity-bridge loan (the "EquityBridge Loan") in an amount of EUR 29.34 million (of which the nominal amount of EUR 29.34 million was
outstanding as at 30 June 2022) which is due for repayment by July 2023 (see "2.2.12 Material Contracts"). There
are several possibilities available to fund the repayment of the Equity-Bridge Loan: cash inflow from operating
portfolio, bank loans on Company level secured by portfolio projects, sales proceeds from full or partial sale of (a)
portfolio asset(s), and/or issuance proceeds from bond or convertible instruments, as the annual general shareholders' meeting has already approved a contingent capital of up to EUR 120.0 million in July 2022).

2.2.6

Operation

Guaranteed Tariffs
Most of the electricity generated by our solar PV and wind parks is typically sold against payment of guaranteed
tariffs. This can be a fixed feed-in tariff ("FiT") independent from the market-based electricity price, like it is the
case in Germany, or a (variable) grant over the difference between the market price and the tariff awarded (socalled contract-for-difference "CfD"), as it is in Finland (FiTs and CFDs together are hereinafter also referred to
as "Guaranteed Tariffs"). In markets with Guaranteed Tariffs, the respective electricity grid operator is obliged
by law to feed the electricity generated into its grid. We receive a legally stipulated rate of remuneration per kWh,
which historically was above the market price for electricity and is guaranteed for a fixed period (e.g. for the first
20 years of operation in Germany). The rates of remuneration, their calculation methodology and the term for
which these rates are guaranteed vary depending on the country, energy generation method and the commissioning
date (see section "2.8 Regulatory and Legal Environment"). The Guaranteed Tariffs for newly built renewable
energy assets were constantly reduced, especially since auction systems were introduced to bid for Guaranteed
Tariffs. As a result, the solar PV and wind parks in our portfolio receive different Guaranteed Tariffs. Parts of our
portfolio are benefiting from high Guaranteed Tariffs providing for a stable floor. An overview of the different
Guaranteed Tariffs of our solar PV and wind parks can be found in section "2.2.7 Our Wind and Solar PV Portfolio".
Power Purchase Agreements (PPA)
PPAs are contracts that are entered into with private electricity purchasers (referred to as "Offtakers"). The generated electricity is usually sold via these contracts at fixed prices per kWh. As of today, we usually conclude
PPAs on a pay-as-produced basis (i.e. without agreed minimum or maximum amounts of electricity to be sold) for
a specific single project and for a defined period of time. However, with a growing portfolio, other forms of PPAs
than pay-as-produced might become more applicable to achieve a well-balanced and optimised risk-reward-structure, in particular, as energy production from wind and solar resources in the northern hemisphere build a natural
hedge: in summer, when wind is low, solar irradiation is strong, and vice versa,in winter, production from wind
energy is high. We place great emphasis on the creditworthiness of our Offtakers. Depending on the PPA terms,
we sometimes have to provide the Offtaker with a guarantee from the Company and/or a bank guarantee which
secures our obligations under the PPA. In return, we try to demand such collateral from energy purchases as well.
As of today, we sell the minority of the electricity we produce under PPAs. With subsidisation of renewable energy
constantly declining, we expect to generate more and more of our future revenues through PPAs. This forms part
of our growth initiative clearSCALE 2025, targeting an equal energy production split between wind and solar.
Especially with a combined wind/solar PV park portfolio, and Guaranteed Tariffs running out for some of our
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wind parks starting end 2024, we then expect to be able to optimise energy sales under PPAs on a portfolio level
by contracting a defined number of MWhs in a defined period and could sell excess energy on the energy exchange.
This should provide for an economic advantage compared to a mere pay-as-produced PPA on a single project
basis.
Electricity Prices/Energy Exchanges
Oil and gas prices, and thus also electricity prices at European Energy exchanges, have strongly increased as a
consequence of the war in Ukraine and the sanctions. We are facing a situation at present where the market price
is substantially higher than the Guaranteed Tariffs. Subject to each country's tariff scheme, operators of renewable
energies can benefit from higher market prices whilst maintaining tariff eligibility.
We use long-term energy price forecast curves provided and regularly updated by reputable research institutes
such as Pyöri or Energy Brainpool to determine acquisition prices and also to verify our portfolio valuation.
Technical and Commercial Management of our Solar PV and Wind Parks
We follow an expert partners' concept. The day-to-day commercial and technical management of our solar PV and
wind parks is largely outsourced to third parties. In most cases, an up to 10 year commercial and technical management contract with an affiliated party of the developer is part of the deal when we acquire a solar PV or wind
park. Upon expiration of the initial contract period, we tender the services on the market to optimise contractual
terms. For our wind parks, the manufacturers of the wind turbines (or an affiliate) typically provide the maintenance services under long-term service agreements.
Commercial Management
We outsource commercial management activities such as (without limitation):
•

monitoring of actual production and revenue against budget;

•

cost controlling;

•

reporting to banks under project financing agreements;

•

accounting and preparing annual financial statements of the SPV holding the facility;

•

monthly liquidity monitoring and planning (SPV level);

•

contract management (monitoring notice periods, warranties and contractual obligations of our counterparts);

•

claim management and enforcement of warranties and guarantees.

In the context of our active asset management approach, we typically conduct the following activities ourselves
(without limitation):
•

performance measurement optimisation;

•

optimisation of debt financing;

•

optimisation of operating costs, e.g. through renegotiating existing contracts or bundling services;

•

communication with project partners and monitoring of all service providers;

•

technical optimisation of the project;

•

site visits;

•

repowering and hybridisation;

•

PPA identification and negotiation.

Technical Management
Day-to-day technical management is outsourced in its entirety. It involves continuous monitoring of the park via
control rooms in which the performance of multiple parks can be observed. The technical manager has to make
sure that the parks are always compliant with the corresponding approvals.
The technical manager regularly conducts performance analyses and submits monthly operations and maintenance
reports to us. We coordinate, support and constantly monitor (also by using digitalised systems) the external technical managers, and our inhouse technical asset managers frequently perform site visits. This includes a review of
the fulfilment of the contractual obligations and screening the volume of electricity produced, the park availability
and the weather corrected performance.
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In order to prevent breakdowns or reductions in performance, inspections of all parks are carried out by the technical manager on a regular basis. Our parks are also monitored via remote diagnosis by external technical management and by our own asset management team using our own online monitoring systems.

2.2.7

Our Wind and Solar PV Portfolio

Operational Portfolio
The table below shows the installed capacity, the tariff as well as the remaining term of the tariff of our operational
portfolio comprising 37 renewable energy assets as of 30 June 2022:
Capacity
(MWp)3

Tariff
(EUR/MWh)3

Remaining Term
of the Tariff 3, 4
(Years)

16.8

89.05

12.5

Korbersdorf

7.2

89.0

13.5

Repperndorf

6.0

101.1

7.5

Losheim

4.5

94.0

2.5

Düngenheim

4.0

101.1

11.5

Framersheim II

3.4

97.6

4.1

Broich

2.4

85.9

5.5

Lohne 1

0.8

66.25

18.0

Lohne 2

7.0

50.95

18.2

Alsweiler 1

10.0

52.85

19.2

Alsweiler 2

12.5

PPA6

9.2

Weisen 1

0.8

53.6

19.3

Weisen 2

3.3

53.6

19.3

Beerwalde

0.8

66.2

18.0

Klettwitz-Nord 1

40.0

53.0

19.8

Klettwitz-Nord 2

50.0

48.9

19.8

Dennheritz

0.5

111.2

16.5

Hartha

0.8

106.4

16.5

Glauchau

0.7

109.7

16.5

Frankfurt (Oder)

0.6

95.3

18.5

Fünfeichen

0.8

80.5

17.50

Klipphausen

0.6

76.4

17.83

Rothselberg

0.6

71.1

18.25

Project
Germany
Weilrod

3

The figures have been rounded to one decimal place.
As of 30 June 2022 and without taking into account any shortening of maturities due to additional production (e.g. possible in France).
5
As part of active asset management, a financial PPA was concluded the price of which is significantly higher than the project tariff. The
financial PPA has an initial term until 31 December 2022.
6
Due to a confidentiality agreement with the power purchaser, the price of the PPA cannot be published.
4
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Capacity
(MWp)3

Tariff
(EUR/MWh)3

Remaining Term
of the Tariff 3, 4
(Years)

Dennheritz II a

0.8

95.0

18.5

Dennheritz II b1

0.8

57.2

18.3

Dennheritz II b2

1.9

57.2

19.1

Samswegen

0.8

234.47

n.a.8

Saint Nicolas des Biefs

14.0

90.79

7.6

Champvoisin

12.0

74.89

19.2

Cuq

12.0

99.79

2.3

Hautes Landes

10.0

90.99

7.4

La Gargasse

8.0

93.19

5.2

Escamps

4.1

91.19

6.6

Glenough

32.5

81.6

4.1

Glenough 14

2.5

81.610

4.1

Hapajärvi 1

6.6

83.511

3.0

Hapajärvi 2

23.1

83.511

7.2

Project

France

Ireland

Finland

All mentioned projects are operated by 26 Operating SPVs which are (directly or indirectly) fully owned by the
Company.
Contracted Portfolio
As at 30 June 2022, we had the following project pipeline of investment projects we are working on at various
stages and where we are conducting an in-depth review and evaluation process:
Expected Additions to Operating Capacity

Capacity MW
(Approximately)

Project

Technology

Country

Status

Tion Renewables Yield
Portfolio

PV and Wind

Germany, Italy,
the Netherlands
and Poland

Exclusivity

159

Project Heiligenfelde

PV

Germany

Contracted

10.75

Project Wolfsgarten

PV

Germany

Contracted

38.20

Weisen III

PV

Germany

Site Optimisation

25

7 Megawatt-weighted-average that may deviate as the amount of some of the received tariffs are based on the amount of megawatt hours
produced.
8 A presentation of the averaged remaining term of the tariff is due to the heterogeneity of the tariffs not possible.
9 Indexed annualy in November.
10 Indexed annualy in February.
11 If the underlying index used for the quarterly reconciliation falls below 32.50 EUR/MWh, the tariff is reduced accordingly. If the index is
higher than the tariff, the difference will be paid to the producer.
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Lohne III

PV

Germany

Total

Site Optimisation

885 kWp
233.84

2.2.8

Past, Ongoing and Future Investments

Investments in 2020
In 2020, we made no investments.
Investments in 2021
In 2021, we made investments (corresponding to the cash outflow from investing activities as per our consolidated
cashflow statements) in a total amount of EUR 30.34 million. The investments related to the acquisition of the
following entities whereas the project name is mentioned in brackets are as follows:
•

ALTUS Dachportfolio 01 GmbH & Co. KG, comprising three rooftop solar PV projects with a total capacity
of ~2.0 MWp (solar PV assets Dennheritz 1, Hartha, Glauchau)

•

ALTUS Dachportfolio 02 GmbH & Co. KG, comprising two rooftop solar PV projects with a total capacity
of ~3.4 MWp (solar PV assets Dennheritz 2a and Dennheritz 2b)

•

ALTUS Dachportfolio 03 GmbH & Co. KG, comprising one rooftop solar PV project with a total capacity of
~0.6 MWp (solar PV asset Frankfurt/Oder)

•

Andengold Solarparks GmbH & Co. KG, comprising two free field solar PV parks with a total capacity of
~22.5 MWp (solar PV parks Alsweiler I and Alsweiler II)

•

Pitsberg Solarparks GmbH & Co. KG, comprising two free field solar PV parks with a total capacity of
~7.8 MWp (solar PV parks Lohne I and Lohne II)

•

Le Champvoisin SAS, comprising one onshore wind park with a total capacity of 12.0 MW (wind PV park
Le Champvoisin)

Investments in the First Half Year of 2022
In the first half year of 2022, we made investments (corresponding to the cash outflow from investing activities as
per our consolidated cashflow statements) in a total amount of EUR 49.74 million. The investments related to the
acquisition of the following entities:
•

Kristall Solarparks GmbH & Co. KG, comprising of three rooftop solar projects with a total capacity of
1,9 MWp (solar PV parks Fünfeichen, Klipphausen and Rothselberg)

•

Energiepark Lausitz GmbH & Co. KG, comprising two free field solar PV parks with a total capacity of
~90.0 MWp (solar PV park Klettwitz Nord)

•

Bürgerwindpark Korbersdorf GmbH & Co. KG, comprising one onshore wind park with a total capacity of
7.2 MW (wind park Korbersdorf)

•

ALTUS Dachportfolio 04 GmbH & Co. KG, comprising two free field solar PV parks with a total capacity of
~4.75 MWp (solar PV assets Weisen and Beerwalde)

Ongoing and Future Investments
In addition to this, there have been no further significant investments in property, park and equipment and intangible assets.
Furthermore, we have resolved to invest in two German solar PV parks (Wolfsgarten (38.2 MW) and Heiligenfelde
(10.75 MW)) with combined 49 MW contractually secured. Both parks are currently in the final development
phase. For the investment amount, we expect the solar PV project Wolfsgarten to reach a "ready-to-build" status
in the fourth quarter of 2022 and the solar PV project Heiligenfelde in the first quarter of 2023 with construction
activity commencing shortly hereafter. The investment amount will be fixed upon achievement of "ready-to-build"
status based upon a yield neutral shared financial model. We intend to use the net proceeds from this Offering in
order to, inter alia, finance the acquisition of the project and the construction of these two solar PV parks.
We have financed our Core Investments in the past and intend to finance our future Core Investments generally
through non-recourse project financing with an equity ratio of at least 25 % of the total investment volume (see
"2.2.5 Investment Focus and Process").
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2.2.9

Intellectual Property Rights and IT

As at 30 June 2022, we did not own any patents, licenses, and trademarks, and we are not dependent on any such
intellectual property rights of third parties for our business.
For our operations, we use standard software.

2.2.10 Real Estate Property
As at 30 June 2022, we owned very minor real estate properties.
clearvise's legal seat is at Unter den Eichen 7, 65195 Wiesbaden, Germany. We operate two offices on leased
office space, one at Gervinusstraße 17, 60322 Frankfurt am Main, Germany, and one at Südliche Münchner Straße
30, 82031 Grünwald, Germany.
The properties on which our wind and solar PV parks are located are usually covered by lease agreements which
normally have a fixed term between 20 and 30 years and in most cases provide for extension options.

2.2.11 Employees
As at 30 June 2022, we employed eleven employees, including three working students, all of which were employed
in Germany. As at 31 December 2020, we employed three and, as at 31 December 2021, four employees, respectively, all of which were employed in Germany. For the further implementation of our growth initiative
clearSCALE 2025, we will successively need to hire additional qualified management personnel in future.
We do not have any works councils (Betriebsräte), and we have not entered into pension agreements or commitments with our active or inactive employees.

2.2.12 Material Contracts
Memorandum of Understanding with Tion Renewables AG
On 13 July 2022, the Company entered into a non-binding MoU with Tion regarding the potential full acquisition
of Tion's existing European approximately 159 MW wind and solar portfolio by clearvise and an investment by
Tion as anchor shareholder of clearvise.
The MoU provides for Tion to carry out a capital increase in kind from authorised capital as a first step in which
shares in the Company (approximately 21.9 % of all shares in the Company) held by Pelion Green Future Alpha GmbH are contributed to Tion. This step has already been carried out.
As a second step, the MoU provides for the Company to acquire Tion's European operating wind and solar portfolio, comprising operating companies in Poland, Germany, the Netherlands and Italy. The purchase price for the
acquisition of 100 % of the share capital in each operating company is to be paid partly in newly issued shares in
clearvise from a capital increase against contribution in kind and partly by way of a cash component. For the
purpose of determining fair valuation ratios, the value of the Tion Portfolio on the one hand and the value of the
clearvise shares for the payment of the equity component on the other hand shall be based on a valuation of the
respective portfolios on equal assumptions. The parties to the MoU intend to agree on a joint expert to perform
these valuations.
The MoU provides for the total consideration to be based on the results of a valuation of the respective portfolios
of the Company and Tion, which shall be carried out by an independent jointly appointed appraiser. The parties to
the MoU intend to determine the volume of the share component and the cash component such that, following
completion of the transaction, Tion intends to hold at least 40 % and maximum 45 % of all shares in the Company
in the mid-term.
The due diligence process on the respective portfolios is expected to take place over several months. The implementation of the further steps up to a possible closing of the overall transaction is also subject to, among other
things, mutually satisfactory due diligence reviews and contract negotiations as well as the approval of the relevant
bodies and the shareholders of both companies.
The MoU has an indefinite term. It may be terminated by either party with 14 calendar days' notice to the end of a
calendar month, but for the first time with effect from 31 December 2022.
Equity-Bridge Loan
In order to interim finance the acquisition of all limited partnership shares in the operating company of the 90 MW
solar PV park Klettwitz-Nord in Eastern Germany, Energiepark Lausitz GmbH & Co. KG ("PVA KlettwitzNord"), and the development and construction costs, clearHOLD 1 GmbH & Co. KG ("clearHOLD"), a whollyowned subsidiary of the Company (as borrower), entered into a loan agreement in the total amount of
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EUR 29.34 million with EB Sustainable Funds Luxembourg S.A., SICAV-SIV (the "Lender"), a subsidiary of EB
– Sustainable Investment Management GmbH, (as lender) on 23 December 2021. The loan is to be repaid by
15 July 2023 at the latest in one single payment together with accrued interest. clearHOLD has the option of voluntary early repayment without early repayment penalty with a notice period of 4.5 months. The loan agreement
contains representations, warranties and undertakings typical for this type of agreement.
Under the Equity-Bridge Loan, there are a number of customary events of default that could trigger the early
termination of this contract, such as non-adherence to representations made in context with the Equity-Bridge
Loan, e.g. with regard to corporate legal issues, and a default on debt service. Should any such event of default
occur and the Lender terminate the existing Equity-Bridge Loan earlier than set forth in the contract, this would
subject us to the obligation to immediately repay the total loan amount of EUR 29.34 million together with accrued
interest and compensate the Lender for damages incurred.
clearHOLD has assigned all its claims and rights vis-á-vis PVA Klettwitz-Nord and pledged all shares in PVA
Klettwitz-Nord to the Lender for security purposes. In addition, the Company has provided a parent company
guarantee for all obligations of clearHOLD arising from the Equity-Bridge Loan.

2.2.13 Acquisition of the Tion Portfolio
The following section contains certain financial and other information on Tion and, in particular, on the PV solar
and wind parks and other assets which we would acquire in case we would enter into and consummate the Tion
Transaction. It should be noted that we have taken all information on Tion from public sources, mainly from the
website of Tion. While we have accurately reproduced such information, we have not taken measures to verify the
correctness or completeness of the information. Prospective investors are therefore advised to consider this data
with caution. For additional information on Tion, investors may refer to their website www.Tion-renewables.com.
The content of this website is not part of this EU Growth Prospectus.
Overview
Pursuant to MoU, the Company and Tion envisage to potentially enter into the Tion Transaction. clearvise intends
to acquire Tion's entire operating European utility-scale wind and solar portfolio via issuance of new shares in the
Company against contribution in kind of said Tion Portfolio and a purchase price component in cash. The envisaged acquisition structure of the Portfolio Acquisition closely follows our acquisition strategy "clearSWITCH"
which provides for operators of existing plants to exchange them in full or in part for shares in the Company. For
further details, see "2.2.12 Material Contracts – MoU".
Tion is an IPP holding a portfolio of operating solar PV and onshore wind parks in Germany, Italy, the Netherlands
and Poland with a total capacity of 159 MW. The shares in Tion are traded on the unregulated market of various
German stock exchanges. In connection with the Tion Transaction, Tion announced that it intends to expand the
scope of its activities to evolve from a renewable energies company into an energy transition investment company.
Tion has defined three strategic initiatives to do so: Join forces with clearvise, explore capital solutions, and invest
in other ready to scale green technologies than wind or PV such as stand-alone batteries or community solar. Upon
an implementation of the Tion Transaction, Tion would increase its stake in the Company to approximately 40 %
and have restructured its IPP business such that interests in operating European utility-scale wind and solar parks
will in the future only be held indirectly through its financial interest in the Company.
In 2021, Tion generated consolidated revenues and EBITDA under IFRS of EUR 21.9 million (2020:
EUR 15.0 million) and EUR 13.7 million (2020: EUR 9.0 million). In the first six months of 2022, Tion's consolidated revenues and EBITDA under IFRS were EUR 17.8 million (first six months of 2021: EUR 6.3 million) and
EUR 11.5 million (first six months of 2021: EUR 3.6 million). The aforementioned revenues were largely generated from the operation of the solar PV and wind parks that would be transferred to us under the Tion Transaction.
Transaction Rational
Our strategy is to grow our IPP business by acquiring smaller and larger wind and solar PV parks or portfolios to
a size of 1 GW by 2025 as set out in our strategic growth initiative clearSCALE 2025. The portfolio of Tion is
complementary to our portfolio in terms of type of power generation, size and location. The acquisition of the Tion
Portfolio would accelerate our growth path and lead to a further diversification of our portfolio within established
European power markets such as Poland, the Netherlands and Italy, enhanced economies of scale and an increased
visibility in the market.
In addition, an implementation of the Tion Transaction would strengthen our financing capability by increasing
our debt capacity. This should, in our view, enable us to finance our clearSCALE growth path primarily via debt
financing means such as green bonds sooner than scheduled. Furthermore, we could also achieve a financial situation allowing for the distribution of a dividend earlier than would otherwise be the case.
As a long-term oriented anchor shareholder, Tion has announced its intention to support the further growth of
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clearvise as an independent and autonomous IPP. The goal of both companies is to increase the attractiveness of
clearvise for investors.
Structure and Milestones of the Transaction
In a non-binding MoU dated 13 July 2022, the Company and Tion reached an agreement on certain elements of
the envisaged transaction. Tion's intention had been to acquire in a first step all shares in the Company held by
Tion's majority shareholder Pelion Green Future Alpha GmbH (approximately 21.9 % of all shares in the Company). Therefore, Tion carried out a capital increase in kind from authorised capital in which the shares in the
Company had been contributed by Pelion Green Future Alpha GmbH. This step did not require our consent and
has already been carried out in the meantime.
In a second step, we intend – subsequent to a satisfactory due diligence process in line with our standard acquisition
process – to acquire all operating assets of which Tion's operating European utility-scale wind and solar portfolio
consists against newly issued shares in the Company and a cash component. For the purpose of determining fair
valuation ratios, the value of the Tion Portfolio on the one hand and the value of the shares in the Company for the
payment of the equity component on the other hand shall be based on a valuation of the respective portfolios on
equal assumptions by a jointly appointed appraiser (the "Appraiser"). At the time being, the parties are in advanced discussions with regards to the underlying assumptions such a market-standard valuation framework (the
"Joint Valuation Framework") can reasonably be based upon. The Appraiser's scope of services has been agreed,
and a procurement (single tender action) is being prepared for retaining the Appraiser as well as clearvise's due
diligence advisors with regards to the technical, legal, PPA, tax and insurance due diligence activities to the extent
necessary.
We began conducting a due diligence review of the Tion Portfolio, while Tion reviews our assets and operations.
For cost reasons, we have jointly decided to verify the assumptions made in a data room due diligence involving
external due diligence advisors only after agreement has been reached regarding the Joint Valuation Framework
and the terms of a cooperation agreement (Kooperationsvereinbarung) (the "Cooperation Agreement"), stipulating a framework for relevant aspects of the transaction including, but not limited to, the Company's future corporate
governance, lock-up and standstill periods, conditions precedent to closing, valuation methodology and transaction
timeline, including convening of extraordinary general meetings.
We have mandated a legal counsel for the envisaged transaction and the Management Boards of both Tion and us
have started to negotiate the terms of the Cooperation Agreement. The Cooperation Agreement would, inter alia,
provide for the obligation of Tion to transfer the Tion Portfolio to us and our obligation to issue new shares and
pay the cash component of the purchase price to Tion.
The obligations under the Cooperation Agreement would be subject to the conditions precedent (aufschiebende
Bedingung) that (i) the shareholders' meetings of the Company and of Tion approve the Tion Transaction, (ii) a
report of a court appointed auditor confirming that the market value of the contributed Tion Portfolio is at least as
high as the statutory capital of the Company to be represented by the new shares to be issued to Tion (Sacheinlageprüfung), (iii) the consent of certain contractual counterparties, e.g. project-financing banks, if required, and
(iv) the appointment of two members to the Company's Supervisory Board nominated by Tion.
Cooperation Agreement
We are still in negotiations about the exact details of the Cooperation Agreement. The envisaged Cooperation
Agreement shall, inter alia, (i) determine the final purchase price for the Tion Portfolio and the number of new
shares in the Company to be issued to Tion and the amount of the cash component, (ii) provide for mutual representations and warranties, and (iii) set out the future corporate governance as well as shareholding and capital
structure at the Company ensuring that Tion's interest in preserving the value of its stake in the Company and our
interest in maintaining an independent stock-exchange listed entity is adequately taken into account.
Tion and we have reached a non-binding understanding on the following points, and the Company deems it likely
that this understanding will be reflected in the Cooperation Agreement should Tion and we decide to enter into it:
Term
Tion and we intend for the Cooperation Agreement to have a minimum term that ends by the end of the month in
which the Company holds its general shareholders' meeting 2025 (regular expiration of Supervisory Board members term), but the latest on 31 August 2025.
Valuation and Tion Target Stake
The mutual understanding of both Tion and clearvise is that Tion with giving up its own IPP activities in utilityscale European wind and solar parks upon consummation of the transaction in turn shall become an anchor shareholder in the Company. It is a fundamental requirement to a successful implementation of the envisaged Tion
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Transaction that the Company is remaining an independent stock-listed company. Tion's shareholding in the Company upon implementation of the Tion Transaction shall be between 40 % and 45 %.
With a view to ensuring the fairness of the valuations, both the Tion Portfolio and the proportional value of the
Company shall be based on a discounted cash flow method applying comparable assumptions (Methodengleichheit). To this end, Tion and we have agreed the main elements of a common valuation framework, applying the
same assumptions for countries in which both parties operate assets and an identical methodology for countries
only one of the parties operates assets ("Valuation Framework"). Tion and we intend to determine both the purchase price for the Tion Portfolio as well as the proportional value of the Company based upon the mutual portfolio
valuations. As of the date of issuance of this EU Growth Prospectus, both Tion and we expect the value of the
Tion Portfolio to be in a range of approximately EUR 145 million to EUR 177 million and the value of the clearvise
portfolio to be in a range of approximately EUR 207 million to EUR 253 million. The Company and Tion do not
intend to provide an indication of the market value of the Tion Portfolio, the clearvise portfolio or of clearvise AG;
the ranges are provided solely to indicate the current status of the negotiations about the consideration for the
acquisition of the Tion Portfolio. The Company and Tion have not yet determined an indication of the relevant
value of clearvise AG, nor finally determined the purchase price. The valuations shall be confirmed by an external
auditor.
Standstill and Lock-up
Tion and we intend for the Cooperation Agreement to provide for an obligation of Tion and/or a person dependent
from Tion within the meaning of Section 17 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) not to increase its shareholdings in the Company during the term of the Cooperation Agreement. At the same time, Tion would enter into
a lock-up obligation for the newly issued shares for the term of the Cooperation Agreement, subject to certain
exemptions, including the use of the shares in the Company as collateral and the option to dispose of the shares in
case of a public takeover bid by an unrelated third party for all shares in the Company.
Corporate Governance
Tion and we intend to provide for the Cooperation Agreement to confirm our joint understanding that the Company
remain an independent stock-exchange listed IPP pursuing a growth strategy in the renewable energy industry.
A potential admission of the shares in the Company to trading on a regulated market of a German stock exchange
would, after consummation of the Tion Transaction, not be subject to Tion's approval.
The Cooperation Agreement would grant Tion the right to nominate two members to the Company's Supervisory
Board which would then need to be elected by the Company's shareholders' meeting. We would aim for the appointment to occur at the extraordinary shareholders' meeting of the Company at which the size of our Supervisory
Board would be expanded to six members and one of the existing members and the elected substitute members
would have to resign or, as the case may be, waive a succession. The new Supervisory Board members shall be
elected for the same remaining term as the current members of Supervisory Board have been appointed. This would
be one of the conditions precedent (aufschiebende Bedingung) to the closing of the Tion Transaction. Tion and we
agreed, that both companies' governance shall be geared to the German Corporate Governance Codex. For the
Company, this means the remaining four members of the Company shall be independent during the term of the
Cooperation Agreement.
Tion and we intend the Cooperation Agreement to provide for the obligation to ensure that an executive committee
of the Supervisory Board of the Company is formed in which two of the three members are the members of the
Supervisory Board nominated by Tion. This committee would, inter alia, be in charge of approving capital increases of the Company against contribution in kind that, alone or in aggregate with other capital increases in kind
implemented during the preceding twelve months, would lead to the capital in the Company being increased by
more than 10 %.
The intention is to sign the Cooperation Agreement shortly before or at the date the invitation to clearvise's extraordinary shareholders' meeting deciding about the Tion Transaction is published in the federal gazette (Bundesanzeiger). Between the signing of the Cooperation Agreement and its consummation (completion of the acquisition of the Tion Portfolio by registration of the issuance of new shares in the Company to Tion in the trade
register), the Company shall refrain from material portfolio divestments, an admission of the shares in the Company to trading on a regulated market, share capital increases and making use of its contingent capital (Bedingtes
Kapital) without prior written consent by Tion.
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Name
Reudelsterz
Kampehl
Berg
Etgersleben
Titz
Süderbrarup
Berthelsdorf
Germany
Vossberg
Auerbach
Staßfurt
Eisfeld
Köthen
Hedersleben I
Hedersleben II
Hohburg
Rosefeld
Neubukow
Süpplingen
Germany
Germany total
Debowa Laka
Swiecie
12W
Poland
Hernen
Oslo
Tilburg
Oud Gastel
Lunteren
Vianen
Netherlands
Ugento
Ferrandina I
Ferrandina II
Bariano
Italy
Total

Support and
Expiry Project Expiry Support Capacity
Technology
Remuneration Scheme12
Debt
Scheme
(MW)
Wind
FiT
Q4/39
Q4/41
15.6
Wind
FiT
Q4/24
Q4/25
6.0
Wind
FiT
Q4/23
Q4/24
4.5
Wind
FiT
Q4/22
4.5
Wind
FiT
Q4/23
4.5
Wind
FiT
Q4/28
Q4/31
3.0
Wind
FiT
Q4/22
3.0
Wind
41.1
PV (ground)
FiT
Q4/29
Q4/32
7.6
PV (ground)
FiT
Q1/30
Q4/31
6.4
PV (ground)
FiT
Q2/30
Q4/31
5.0
PV (ground)
FiT
Q2/31
Q4/31
2.9
PV (ground)
FiT
Q4/29
Q4/30
2.2
PV (roof)
FiT
Q4-28
Q4/30
1.5
PV (roof)
FiT
Q4/38
1.8
PV (ground)
FiT
Q4/30
Q4/31
1.6
PV (roof)
FiT
Q4/29
Q4/30
1.4
PV (roof)
FiT
Q4/26
Q4/28
1.3
PV (roof)
FiT
Q2/27
Q4/28
0.4
PV
32.0
Wind + PV
73.1
13
Wind
CfD
Q2/35
Q4/37
33.3
Wind
CfD
Q2/3614
Q4/37
16.3
Wind
CfD
Q2/3715
Q4/37
2.2
Winds
51.8
PV (ground)
FiT
COD+16yrs
Q4/35
14.1
PV
(ground & roof)
FiT
9.9
PV (roof)
FiT
Q2/35
Q2/35
2.8
PV (roof)
FiT
Q2/35
Q4/34
1.7
PV (roof)
FiT + GC
Q4/36
Q2/35
0.9
PV (roof)
FiT + GC
Q1/35
Q4/34
0.5
PV
30.0
PV (ground)
FiT + DS
Q2/26
Q2/30
1.0
PV (ground)z
FiT + RID
Q4/29
Q4/31
1.0
PV (ground)
FiT + RID
Q4/29
Q4/31
1.0
PV (ground)
FiT + RID
Q4/29
Q2/31
1.0
PV
4.0
158.8

The following table shows the electricity produced, the revenue generated and the revenue per MWh produced in
the years 2020 and 2021 for all solar PV and wind parks that are part of the Tion Portfolio, based upon information
as provided by Tion and subject to verification in a detailed data room due diligence:

Name

Reudelsterz
Kampehl

ReveTotal Produc- nue/ProducTotal Produc- Revenue/ProProduction tion Revenue
tion
Production tion Revenue duction Ratio
2021
2020
(MWh)
(EUR)
(EUR/MWh) (MWh)
(EUR)
(EUR/MWh)
24,004
2,131,341
88.8
5,900
614,440
104.2
6,741
645,972
95.8

12 FiT refers to feed-in tariff, DS refers to direct sale, RID refers to ritiro dedicato, GC refers to green certificates, CfD refers to contract-fordifference, COD refers to commercial operation date.
13 Different for sub-projects and subject to deferred purchase price mechanism.
14 See FN 13.
15 See FN 13.
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Name

Berg
Etgersleben
Titz
Süderbrarup
Berthelsdorf
Germany (Wind)
Vossberg
Auerbach
Staßfurt
Eisfeld
Köthen
Hedersleben I
Hedersleben II
Hohburg
Rosefeld
Neubukow
Süpplingen
Germany (PV)
Debowa Laka
Swiecie
12W
Poland
Hernen
Oslo
Tilburg
Oud Gastel
Lunteren
Vianen
Netherlands
Ugento
Ferrandina I
Ferrandina II
Bariano
Italy
Total

Production
(MWh)
7,318
6,059
4,976
5,377
4,315
57,948
3,279
5,791
4,394
2,540
2,262
2,449
1,451
1,091
967
287
24,512
15,386
6,966
1,215
23,566
80
2,438
1,557
210
424
4,710
1,249
1,012
1,373
1,249
4,884
115,619

ReveTotal Produc- nue/ProducTotal Produc- Revenue/Protion Revenue
tion
Production tion Revenue duction Ratio
2021
2020
(EUR)
(EUR/MWh) (MWh)
(EUR)
(EUR/MWh)
775,848
106.0
9,184
791,681
86.2
715,588
118.1
6,687
628,581
94.0
531,567
106.8
6,612
613,745
92.8
635,487
118.2
5,694
596,780
104.8
471,682
109.3
4,949
465,755
94.1
5,875,954
39,867
3,742,514
312,363
95.3
1,247,430
215.4
4,981
1,071,216
215.1
988,027
224.9
3,516
789,818
224.6
559,215
220.1
1,966
432,288
219.9
646,584
285.8
1,686
486,141
288.3
490,694
312,423
373,125
456,171
125,075
5,511,107
2,068,215
911,876
170,177
3,150,268
22,787
215,172
151,866
28,926
48,488
467,239
522,808
334,928
430,243
527,296
1,815,275
16,819,842

200.4
215.4
341.9
471.9
435.5
134.4
130.9
140.1
88.2
97.6
114.3
418.5
331.1
313.3
422.0

2,545
1,220
877
824
233
17,849
1,559
1,672
465
3,696
1,385
1,433
1,484
1,305
5,607
67,019

485,760
262,230
300,325
384,181
103,473
4,315,431
-

190.9
215.0
342.3
466.0
443.1

122,103
128,326
41,853
292,282
484,462
352,598
358,403
458,326
1,653,789
10,004,016

78.3
76.8
90.0

-

349.8
246.1
241.5
351.2

2.3 Principal Markets
The following section contains forecasts, statistics, data and other information relating to markets, market sizes,
market shares, market positions and other industry data pertaining to our business and markets. We operate in
industries and market segments for which it is difficult to obtain precise industry and market information. Unless
otherwise indicated, such information is based on our own analyses of various sources, including information
obtained from industry publications or reports.
Industry publications or reports generally state that the information they contain has been obtained from sources
believed to be reliable, but the accuracy and completeness of such information is not guaranteed. Neither we nor
the Sole Global Coordinator have independently verified the accuracy of market data that were extracted or derived
from these industry publications or reports. Market data and statistics are inherently predictive and subject to
uncertainty and not necessarily reflective of actual market conditions.
The information provided below on the market environment in which we operate, market developments, growth
rates and market trends is based (to the extent not otherwise indicated) on our assessments. These assessments, in
turn, are based in part on internal observations of the market and on various market studies, third-party data, statistical information and reports and have not been checked or verified externally.
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2.3.1

Overview

We are an IPP in the renewable energy market with a diversified European portfolio of wind and solar PV parks
of around 378 MW capacity (thereof 303 MW operational and 75 MW contracted, but not yet operating) in Germany, France, Ireland and Finland (as at 30 June 2022). The portfolio historically also includes one small biogas
facility with less than 1 MW installed capacity. There are three principal types of energy sources being used in the
world, being fossil fuels, nuclear fuels and renewable energy sources such as wind, solar, biomass and hydropower.
Fossil energy sources are sources which are physically exhaustible, i.e. they will eventually be depleted over a
certain time period. Fossil energy sources include conventional fossil fuels such as natural gas, oil and coal. While
fossil fuels are in general relatively easy to extract, store, pipe and ship, their combustion also releases harmful
particles and carbon dioxide into the atmosphere which can create severe adverse long-term negative effects for
the world's environment. Nuclear fuels are specific metals such as uranium or plutonium used in nuclear power
stations to produce energy by nuclear fission. While combustion of nuclear fuels does not produce carbon dioxide,
the radiation caused by nuclear fuels and the storage of the remaining radioactive waste can create severe adverse
long-term negative effects as well, in particular as a final long-term storage solution for the nuclear waste has not
been found yet. Renewable energy sources, by contrast, denote all types of energy that are collected from renewable, naturally replenishable resources such as sun and wind.
Notwithstanding the fact that in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic lockdowns electricity demand especially in
economically important countries other than China declined (Source: IEA), the global demand for energy is steadily increasing. Key growth drivers of the energy market include, amongst others, global electrification (i.e. the
introduction of electricity as a power source to almost all regions of the earth), a growing world population, advanced digitalisation, expansion of public transportation, the e-mobility revolution as well as global demand for
energy by a growing industrial production.
Not only because fighting climate change is undisputably one of the major tasks today, the importance of renewable energies has strongly increased:
As response to the global energy market disruption caused by the beginning of the war in Ukraine in February 2022, the European Commission published the so-called REPowerEU Plan on 18 May 2022, which aims to
reduce the dependencies on Russian fossil fuels such as oil, gas and coal by fast forwarding the clean transition
and joining forces to achieve a more resilient energy system. The REPowerEU plan's measures include energy
savings, diversification of energy supply, and accelerated deployment of renewables to replace fossil fuels in
households, industry, and power generation. Specific points with regard to renewable energies mentioned include
(Source: EC, REPowerEU):
•

enhancement of long-term energy efficiency measures, including an increase from 9 % to 13 % of the binding
energy efficiency target under the "Fit for 55" package of European Green Deal legislation;

•

massive scaling-up and speeding-up of renewable energy in power generation, industry, buildings and
transport;

•

increase of the headline 2030 target for renewables from 40 % to 45 % under the Fit for 55 package; and

•

a dedicated EU Solar Strategy to double solar photovoltaic capacity by 2025 and install 600 GW by 2030.

In order to enhance the EU's energy supply security, on 26 July 2022, the European Commission announced that
the EU member states reached a political agreement on a voluntary 15 % reduction in natural gas consumption
between 1 August 2022 and 31 March 2023 (Source: EC).

2.3.2

Markets for Renewable Energy

clearvise currently operates its renewable energy assets in Europe. They are located in Germany, France, Ireland
and Finland. In the following section, the global developments of photovoltaic energy as well as wind energy are
presented, with a particular focus on the markets in which we operate.
Overview
Renewable energy sources, including wind energy, solar energy, bioenergy, hydropower, marine energy and geothermal energy, have continued to play an increasingly important role in global power generation over the past
years. At the end of 2021, renewable energy capacity globally reached 3,063 GW, which represented an increase
of 9.1 % compared to the end of the previous year 2020 (2,807 GW). (Source: IRENA, Renewable Capacity Statistics 2022) Newly installed capacity of renewable energy in 2021 globally amounted to about 256.7 GW, a decrease in installations compared to 2020 (around 265.6 GW). (Source: IRENA, Renewable Capacity Statistics
2022)
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The IEA reported that, even while economies bent under the weight of COVID-19 lockdowns, renewable energy
generation such as wind and solar photovoltaic ("Solar PV") continued to increase rapidly in 2020. In most markets, wind or Solar PV now represent the cheapest available source of new electricity generation according to the
IEA. (Source: IEA, Energy Outlook 2021)
As at 31 December 2021, total investments in renewable energy in Europe reached approximately USD 79.7 billion (approximately EUR 70.4 billion as at 31 December 2021 according to the reference rate provided by the ECB
on its publicly available website) (Source: REN21, Renewables 2021 Global Status Report). The largest amounts
were invested in wind energy projects with USD 26.4 billion (approximately EUR 23.3 billion) and in solar energy
projects with USD 34.1 billion (approximately EUR 30.1 billion).
The table below shows the newly installed renewable energy capacity in Europe (excluding Armenia, Azerbaijan,
Georgia, Russian Federation and Turkey, together "Eurasia Countries") and the cumulative installed renewable
energy capacity in 2021 and as at 31 December 2021, respectively, for the top ten countries in Europe (excluding
Eurasia Countries):

Country

Newly Installed Capacity in
2021

Country

Cumulative Installed
Capacity at the End of
2021

Germany..................

6.4 GW

Germany .........................

138.2 GW

Netherlands .............

4.5 GW

Spain ...............................

61.5 GW

France .....................

4.0 GW

France .............................

59.5 GW

Spain .......................

4.0 GW

Italy ................................

57.0 GW

Poland .....................

3.1 GW

United Kingdom .............

50.3 GW

United Kingdom .....

2.9 GW

Norway ...........................

39.8 GW

Sweden ....................

2.6 GW

Sweden ...........................

34.5 GW

Norway....................

1.8 GW

Netherlands.....................

23.0 GW

Italy .........................

1.5 GW

Austria

22.0 GW

Ukraine....................

1.2 GW

Switzerland .....................

18.8 GW

Europe in total .........

390.5 GW

Europe in total ................

647.4 GW

(Source: IRENA, Renewable Capacity Statistics 2022)

In 2021, driven by the increasing cost-competitiveness of renewable power, the shift away from Guaranteed Tariffs, such as FiT, towards mechanisms such as competitive auctions and tenders continued. FiT have been used to
promote both large-scale (centralised) renewable energy and small-scale (decentralised) renewable energy. At the
end of 2021, FiT were in place in 92 (up from 83 at the end of 2020) jurisdictions. France for example, in line with
current EU guidelines, raised its feed-in threshold from 100 kW to 500 kW making procedures easier for this
market segment where projects previously were limited by tendering. Ireland, which had removed its FiT in 2015,
re-introduced it to attract the participation rate in the energy transition. The total number of countries that have
used auctions or tenders increased to 131 (up from 116 at the end of 2020). Market drivers in Germany continued
to be auctions, government tenders, and effective regulatory amendments to support further market investment.
The shift to auctions and the gradual removal of support schemes, which have focused the industry on price reductions, have helped spur technological innovation and efficiencies, among other things, that have reduced costs
across the wind energy value chain over the years. (Source: REN21, Renewables 2022 Global Status Report)
Renewable Energy in our Markets
Between 2019 and 2021, the available capacity of renewable energies in our current markets Germany, France,
Ireland and Finland increased. The following chart shows the development of renewable energies in terms of
capacity in the countries where we are currently active for the years 2019 to 2021.
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Source: IRENA, Renewable Capacity Statistics 2021

In recent years, not only renewable energies capacity has increased, but the share compared to non-renewable
energies has also grown in all of our markets in 2020 compared to the previous year. While the share of nonrenewables is still larger in almost all of our markets, the trend in capacity change highlights the positive development. The following overview reflects the development in 2020 in the markets where we currently operate:
Electricity Capacity in our Markets

Germany1
France2
Ireland3
Finland4

GW Capacity in 2020

Share in %

102.3
131.7
81.5
55.4
6.6
4.7
9.0
8.7

44
56
60
40
58
42
51
49

Non-renewable
Renewable
Non-renewable
Renewable
Non-renewable
Renewable
Non-renewable
Renewable

Capacity Change (in %)
2019-2020
-4.1
+5.2
-1.6
+3.6
+/-0
+3.3
-7.9
+8.7

1

Source: IRENA, Energy Profile Germany
Source: IRENA, Energy Profile France
3
Source: IRENA, Energy Profile Ireland
4
Source: IRENA, Energy Profile Finland
2

Trend for the Renewable Energy Market
While climate change is a global threat, transforming the energy sector takes different paths in different regions.
But energy transition measures at the regional and country levels must be aligned and consistent with global climate objectives. All major economies are expected to increase the share of renewable energy in the coming years.
The federal government of Germany recently announced that the share of renewable energy sources in gross electricity consumption shall increase to 80 % by 2030 already (Source: BMWK).
While more and more energy is to be generated from renewable sources and fossil fuels are, therefore, to lose
importance, energy demand will continue to rise until 2050. In particular, due to the increase of electrification, that
offsets more than 70 % of demand reduction through an increase of energy efficiency, an increase of almost 80 %
compared to 2020 is assumed (Source: IEA, Energy Outlook 2021).

2.3.3

Photovoltaics (Solar Power)

Technological Background
Solar power facilities can be constructed as distributed generation (located at or near the point of use) or as a
central utility-scale power plant.
Solar energy can be converted either into thermal or electrical energy for a variety of applications. There are several
ways to utilise solar energy, i.e., photovoltaics ("PV"), solar heating and cooling, concentrated solar power, using
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mechanical or electrical devices that convert the sun's heat or light. Furthermore, passive solar systems are produced to collect, store, and distribute the heat energy from sunlight.
PV systems use cells to convert solar radiation into electricity. The cell consists of layers of a semi-conducting
material. When light shines on the cell, the cell creates an electric field across the layers, causing electricity to
flow. The performance of a cell is measured in terms of efficiency at converting sunlight into electricity.
Global Development
In 2021, the global PV market grew stronger than in the previous year. In 2021, the increase in newly installed PV
systems was 132.8 GW compared to 125.6 GW in 2020. The cumulative PV capacity at the end of 2021 amounted
to 843.1 GW compared to about 710.3 GW at the end of 2020. (Source: IRENA, Renewable Capacity Statistics
2022) It is forecast that the cumulative installed capacity will increase to 2,841 GW by the end of 2030 and to
8,519 GW by the end of 2050. (Source: IRENA, Future of Solar Photovoltaic)
In terms of cumulative installed PV capacity at the end of 2021, China was the global market leader with around
306.4 GW and newly installed capacity of approximately 53 GW. The second largest market in 2021 was the US
with 93 GW of cumulative installed PV capacity. The world's top five markets in 2021 of cumulative installed PV
capacity are China, the United States, Japan, Germany and India, collectively accounted for around 69 % of the
world's cumulative installed PV capacity. (Source: IRENA, Renewable Capacity Statistics 2022)
European Development
The cumulative installed PV capacity in Europe (excluding Eurasia Countries) at the end of 2021 was about
183.6 GW, an increase of around 14.4 % compared to 2020 (about 160.5 GW). The newly installed PV capacity
in Europe at the end of 2021 amounted to about 23 GW, an increase of around 13 % compared to the end of 2020
(20 GW). (Source: IRENA, Renewable Capacity Statistics 2022) The largest European markets measured by newly
installed capacity in 2020 were Germany (4.7 GW), followed by Spain (3.4 GW), the Netherlands (3.1 GW),
France (2.7 GW) and Poland (2.3 GW). (Source: IRENA, Renewable Capacity Statistics 2022)
The following table below shows the ten countries that had the most cumulative installed PV capacity in Europe
(excluding Eurasia Countries) in 2021:
Country

Cumulative Installed Capacity at the End of 2021

Germany ..........................

58.5 GW

Italy..................................

22.7 GW

France ..............................

14.7 GW

Netherlands ......................

14.2 GW

United Kingdom ..............

13.7 GW

Spain ................................

13.6 GW

Ukraine ............................

8.1 GW

Belgium ...........................

6.6 GW

Poland ..............................

6.3 GW

Greece..............................

3.5 GW

Europe in total .................

183.6 GW

(Source: IRENA, Renewable Capacity Statistics 2022)

Development in our Markets
On the date of this EU Growth Prospectus, we are operating Solar PV parks only in Germany. The following table
below shows the PV energy capacity (in GW) newly installed in 2020 and 2021 and the cumulative installed PV
energy capacity (in GW) at the end of 2020 and 2021 for our current market in Germany:
Cumulative Installed
Capacity at the End of

Newly Installed Capacity in
Country
Germany.....................

2020

2021

4.8 GW

4.7 GW

Country
Germany ................

2020
53.7 GW

2021
58.5 GW

(Source: IRENA, Renewable Capacity Statistics 2021)

A long-term development of the total installed PV capacity in Germany also shows a constant increase. The following chart shows the development of the total installed PV capacity in Germany for the years 2012 to 2021:
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(Source for the period 2012 to 2021: IRENA, Renewable Capacity Statistics 2022)

2.3.4

Wind Energy

Technological Background
Renewable energy is generated by wind parks through the extraction of kinetic energy from wind and its conversion into a useful type of energy; primarily electrical energy, but also mechanical or thermal energy. This can be
achieved through the use of wind parks to generate electricity, windmills for mechanical power or wind pumps for
water pumping. Small wind facilities are used to provide electricity to isolated locations and utility companies are
increasingly buying back surplus electricity produced by small domestic wind facilities. A large wind park may
consist of numerous individual wind facilities which are connected to the grid system and can be located either
onshore or offshore.
Global Development
The cumulative installed onshore wind energy capacity at the end of 2021 was about 769.2 GW globally, an increase of around 10.3 % compared to 2020 (about 697.4 GW). The total capacity of installations of onshore wind
parks at the end of 2021 amounted to about 98.8 GW, a small decrease of new installations compared to approximately 104.5 GW newly installed capacity at the end of 2020. (Source: IRENA, Renewable Capacity Statistics
2022) It is forecasted that the cumulative installed capacity will increase to 1,787 GW by the end of 2030 and to
5,044 GW by the end of 2050. (Source: IRENA, Future of Wind)
Since 2009, China has been the largest overall market for wind energy. In 2021, China added 29.5 GW of new
onshore energy capacity, more than twice as much as any other market. The second largest market in 2021 was
the US with 14 GW new onshore wind energy capacity. The world's top five markets in 2021 in new onshore
installations, China, the United States, Brazil, Sweden and Turkey, collectively accounted for around 71.6 % of
the world's newly installed onshore wind energy capacity. (Source: IRENA, Renewable Capacity Statistics 2022)
European Development
The cumulative installed onshore wind energy capacity in Europe (excluding Eurasia Countries) at the end of 2021
was about 194.2 GW, an increase of around 6.2 % compared to 2020 (about 183 GW). The total capacity of installations of onshore wind parks in Europe at the end of 2021 amounted to about 11.3 GW, an increase of around
30 % compared to the end of 2020 (8.7 GW). (Source: IRENA, Renewable Capacity Statistics 2022) It is forecasted
that in Europe the cumulative installed capacity will increase to 215 GW by the end of 2030 and to 483 GW by
the end of 2050. (Source: IRENA, Future of Wind)
In 2021, Germany has been the largest market for wind energy in Europe (excluding Eurasia Countries) with a
cumulative installed wind energy capacity of 56.0 GW. After Sweden, Germany with its 1.6 GW had the largest
addition of newly installed onshore wind energy capacity in Europe in 2021, followed by France and the Netherlands, both with about 1.2 GW each.
The following table below shows the ten countries that had the most cumulative installed onshore wind energy
capacity in Europe (excluding Eurasia Countries) in 2021:
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Country

Cumulative Installed Capacity at the End of 2021

Germany ..........................

56.0 GW

Spain ................................

27.5 GW

France ..............................

18.7 GW

United Kingdom ..............

14.4 GW

Sweden ............................

11.9 GW

Italy..................................

11.3 GW

Poland ..............................

7.0 GW

Netherlands ......................

5.3 GW

Portugal ...........................

5.2 GW

Denmark ..........................

4.7 GW

Europe in total .................

194.2 GW

(Source: IRENA, Renewable Capacity Statistics 2022)

Development in our Markets
In addition to Germany and France, we currently operate wind parks in Ireland and Finland. At the end of 2021,
Ireland provided for a cumulative installed onshore wind energy capacity of 4.3 GW and Finland had a cumulative
installed onshore wind energy capacity of 3.2 GW.
The following table shows the newly installed onshore wind energy capacity (in GW) in 2020 and 2021 and the
cumulative installed onshore wind energy capacity (in GW) at the end of 2020 and 2021 in the markets Germany,
France, Ireland and Finland where we are currently operating:
Cumulative Installed
Capacity at the End of

Newly Installed Capacity in
Country

2020

2021

Germany ....................

1.2 GW

1.6 GW

France ........................

1.0 GW

Ireland ........................
Finland .......................

Country

2020

2021

Germany.....................

54.4 GW

56.0 GW

1.2 GW

France ........................

17.5 GW

18.7 GW

0.2 GW

0.03 GW

Ireland ........................

4.3 GW

4.3 GW

0.3 GW

0.7 GW

Finland .......................

2.5 GW

3.2 GW

(Source: IRENA, Renewable Capacity Statistics 2022)

A long-term development of the total installed onshore wind energy capacity in our current markets indicates a
constant increase. The following chart shows the development of the total installed onshore wind energy capacity
in our current markets Germany, France, Ireland and Finland for the years 2012 to 2021.

(Source for the years 2012 to 2021: IRENA, Renewable Capacity Statistics 2022)
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2.3.5

Competition and Competitive Position

We face competition from a number of international competitors in the countries in which we are active. We
consider ourselves as one of the fastest growing stand-alone IPPs in the fragmented European market in the renewable energy sector, based on the information published by our competitors and our own market assessment in
relation to the markets covered. In our assessment, our main competitors in the field of investing in and operating
renewable energy facilities are other IPPs, insurance companies (predominantly in major projects with large MW
volumes), institutional funds and professional investors (such as pension funds) focusing on long-term renewable
energy investments in Europe. We also consider utility companies and developers building up own IPP portfolios
to be among our competitors. The German market for renewable energy operators is highly fragmented. We believe
to distinguish ourselves from many competitors in particular through our experience in development and operation
of wind and Solar PV parks, the strong growth of our business and our focus on the mid-market segment with less
intense competition and the acquisition of "ready-to-build", "turnkey" and "operating" parks.
We consider our main competitors in the field of investing in and operating renewable energy assets to be other
IPP such as companies as 7C Solarparken or – in case the intended acquisition of their portfolio does not take
place – Tion Renewables AG, larger companies such as Germany's largest IPP ENCAVIS AG or Blue Elephant
Energy AG, subsidiaries of large insurance companies (predominantly with regard to larger projects) such as Allianz Global Investors GmbH, Ampega Asset Management GmbH and MEAG MUNICH ERGO Assetmanagement GmbH, institutional funds and professional investors (including infrastructure, renewable energy investment
and pension funds) such as Luxcara GmbH, SUSI Partners AG and CEE Management GmbH, and closed-end
funds such as KGAL GmbH & Co. KG and the LHI group. In the onshore wind energy sector and at least partly
in the Solar PV park sector, we also consider energy suppliers such as, inter alia, E.ON SE, EnBW Energie BadenWürttemberg AG and Energiekontor AG, municipal utilities and their alliances such as, inter alia, Stadtwerke
München GmbH, and citizen energy communities (Bürgerenergiegesellschaften) to be among our competitors. In
addition, more and more project development companies tend to expand their activities into holding and operating
renewable energy assets.

2.4 Organisational Structure
As of the date of this EU Growth Prospectus, we have 32 direct and indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of which
two exclusively serve as intermediate holding companies and 26 serve as Operating SPV. We are not dependent
upon another entity within the clearvise Group. However, it needs to be stated that we generate our revenues from
our subsidiaries. Therefore, there is an influence of each of our subsidiary's results on us.
The following graphic depicts the current group structure:
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2.5 Investments
2.5.1

Investments in 2022

We have not made any investments which are material since 30 June 2022.

2.5.2

Ongoing and Future Investments

Except for the ones described above under "2.2.8 Past, Ongoing and Future Investments", there are no significant
investments that are in progress or for which firm commitments have already been made. The contracted renewable
energy assets do not have a material significance to our business. Furthermore, there is no firm commitment for
the intended and currently negotiated transaction to acquire the Tion Portfolio as of the date of this EU Growth
Prospectus yet. The aforementioned MoU does not constitute an obligation to acquire the Tion Portfolio. In addition, we cannot provide any information on the value of the Tion Portfolio. Due to several reasons, the current
negotiations may be postponed or terminated without any result. For possible significant risks in connection with
the intended acquisition of the Tion Portfolio, please see "4. Risk Factors", and for further information on the Tion
Portfolio and its intended acquisition, please see "2.2.13 Acquisition of the Tion Portfolio".

2.6 Trend Information
Energy prices are at all-time highs. In markets such as Germany we are benefiting from high energy prices whilst
maintaining FiT eligibility. Following the gas and electricity price shock resulting from the war in Ukraine, the
selling prices for renewable energy assets also have increased further. The COVID-19 pandemic, supply chain
shortfalls, and uncertainty related to the war in Ukraine fuelled inflation, which in turn is leading to higher costs.
Following the commissioning of the Solar PV park Klettwitz-Nord with a capacity of 90 MW and other Solar PV
parks which were acquired last year in autumn, the production of our portfolio is increasing.

2.6.1

Recent Developments

Since the end of the last financial year and up to the date of this EU Growth Prospectus, the prices we achieve for
our produced power have severely risen. The trend of increasing prices started already before, but was intensified
after the war in Ukraine started. Whereas in 2020, the average wholesale price for electric power in Germany was
at about EUR 30.47 per MWh, it had already increased to EUR 96.85 per MWh in 2021. Within 2021, the average
wholesale price in Germany increased from EUR 54.96 in the first half of 2021 to EUR 138.04 in the second half.
In 2022, the German average wholesale price sharply rose to a new peak of EUR 465.18 per MWh in August 2022
(Source: Netztransparenz). Since then, wholesale prices slightly decreased again. The increase of the energy prices
in 2021 can be explained by the worldwide rise of the prices for gas, the increase of energy demand after the end
of liberty-restricting measures in the COVID-19 pandemic and the development of emission certificate prices
(Source: BNetzA). Besides the war in Ukraine and the intention to become more independent regarding the energy
supply, particularly the energy transition from fossil to regionally produced renewable energy for environmental
reasons focussed by the national (especially German) government and the European Union is having a strong
impact on the prices (see also "2.8.1 Regulatory Environment and Legal Framework in Europe - Emergency Intervention to Address High Energy Prices").
Accordingly, a price increase was noticeable in the German market for electricity produced by renewable energy
sources in the first half of the year 2022. The average price for electricity produced by Solar PV increased by
approximately 230 % from EUR 50 per MWh as of 30 June 2021 to EUR 165 per MWh as of 30 June 2022, while
the price of electricity produced by onshore wind increased by approximately 231 % from EUR 45 per MWh as
of 30 June 2021 to EUR 149 per MWh as of 30 June 2022. By 30 September 2022, the average price of electricity
produced by Solar PV and wind onshore increased to EUR 399 per MWh and EUR 461 per MWh, respectively.
In the third quarter of 2022, electricity produced by Solar PV and wind onshore reached average prices of EUR 323
per MWh and EUR 341 per MWh, respectively, increasing by approximately 264 % and 291 % compared to the
same quarter of the previous year. (Source: ÜNB, Marktwertübersicht)
As at 30 September 2022, the operating portfolio had a capacity of 303 MW, a percentage increase by 52 % compared to the capacity as at 30 September 2021. The expansion of our generation capacity led to a significant increase in electricity produced in the first nine months of 2022. During the nine months ended 30 September 2022,
our Solar PV and wind parks had generated a total of 363.4 GWh of electricity, which represented an increase of
45 % compared to the same period of the previous year when production was 253.3 GWh. The increase in electricity generation in the third quarter of 2022 compared to the third quarter of 2021 was even higher with 77 %,
which is primarily the result of the expansion of our Solar PV portfolio. A total of 115.3 GWh was generated in
the third quarter of 2022, compared to 66 GWh in the same period of 2021. The number of solar PV and wind
parks as well as their cumulative capacity as at 30 September 2022 has not changed compared to 30 June 2022
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(see section "2.2.7 Our Wind and Solar PV Portfolio").

2.6.2

Outlook

The importance of PPAs will grow further. In the medium term, the Guaranteed Tariffs of our renewable energy
assets will expire. Subsequently those plants will have to sell their energy produced on the electricity market. This
primarily affects our wind parks Cuq and Lonsheim, whose entitlement to Guaranteed Tariffs expires at the end
of 2024. We expect both parks to be suitable for a potential future repowering and have signed cooperation agreements with a developer in this respect. The developer has started the planning process for a potential repowering.
Access to PPAs on the electricity market is also essential for new plants, as, on the one hand, not all will be eligible
for Guaranteed Tariffs and, on the other hand, energy prices are at record levels today and will – according to
electricity price forecast curves – remain at high levels (although not at today's level).
On a European level, Council Regulation (EU) 2022/1854 of 06 October 2022 on an emergency intervention to
address high energy prices was implemented. It provides for a price cap of EUR 180 per MWh for electricity
produced, inter alia, by wind and Solar PV parks in the time period between 01 December 2022 and 31 March
2023. It leaves it to the Member States by which measure to implement the price cap. It also gives EU member
states the option to implement measures leading to a more extensive extraction of excess profits. According to
market rumours, the German government has plans to make use of this option. It seems to be the intention to levy
90 % of the revenues generated in excess of a certain price limit as an excess tax with the price limit being calculated on the basis of standardised production costs and an additional "safety buffer" which shall be larger for
electricity sold via the futures market than for electricity sold in the spot market. According to a formal response
dated 09 November 2022 to an oral question from a member of the German parliament, it seems that it is the
German government's intention to apply these rules for electricity produced as from 01 September 2022. However,
market rumours indicate that an application from 01 November 2022 is planned. As our calculations, including the
profits forecast presented below (see "2.7 Profit Forecasts or Estimates"), are conducted conservatively, they
should be affected only in case of an introduction with retroactive effect, affecting time periods before September
2022. As of the date of this EU Growth Prospectus, there is still no reliable and concrete information on the German
excess profits tax.

2.7 Profit Forecasts or Estimates
2.7.1

Forecast of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBIT as of and for the Financial Year
Ended 31 December 2022

The forecast of adjusted EBITDA ("Adjusted EBITDA") of the clearvise Group for the financial year ending
31 December 2022 (the "Profit Forecast") set out in this section is not a representation of facts and should therefore not be regarded as such by prospective investors. Rather, they reflect the forward-looking expectations of our
Management Board with respect to the Group's Adjusted EBITDA. Any forward-looking statements, including
the Profit Forecast, are necessarily based on a number of assumptions and estimates about future events and significant business, operational, economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are beyond our control, and upon assumptions with respect to future business decisions that are subject to change.
The Profit Forecast is based on assumptions made by the Management Board with respect to the development of
our Adjusted EBITDA. These assumptions relate in part to factors that we cannot influence. Although we believe
that these assumptions are reasonable at the time the Profit Forecast is prepared, they may subsequently prove to
have been unjustified or incorrect. If any of these assumptions proves to have been unjustified or incorrect, our
actual Adjusted EBITDA could materially deviate from the Profit Forecast. Accordingly, prospective investors
should treat this information with caution and should not place undue reliance on the Profit Forecast.

2.7.2

Definition of the Forecasted Adjusted EBITDA

We use Adjusted EBITDA as key performance indicator as we consider this indicator as a meaningful measure to
evaluate the performance of our business activities over time. We understand that this measure is broadly used by
analysts and investors in assessing our performance, sometimes in conjunction with EBIT.
Adjusted EBITDA is not recognised as earnings measures under International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union (IFRS), and the Company regards it as alternative performance measure within
the meaning of the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2016/301 and the European Securities and Markets
Authority Guidelines on alternative performance measures of 05 October 2015. Adjusted EBITDA should not be
considered as a substitute for losses or earnings before income taxes, cash flow from operating activities or any
other performance indicator as determined or defined by IFRS.
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The manner in which we measure Adjusted EBITDA may not be consistent with the manner in which other companies determine these measures, similar measures or measures with similar names. Accordingly, Adjusted
EBITDA as presented herein may not be comparable to these measures, similar measures or measures with similar
names as presented by other companies.
The following table provides a reconciliation of the Group's earnings for the period ("EAT") to the Group's Adjusted EBITDA:
Earnings for the period (EAT)
+
Income tax expenses
Financial income
+
Financial expenses
+
Depreciation and amortisation
Adjusted for the following effects:
Capital gains as a result of sale of assets
+
Capital losses as a result of sale of assets
+
Expenses not in relation to the operating business (e.g. from issuance of shares)
+
Non-period expenses
Non-period income
=
Adjusted EBITDA

2.7.3

Profit Forecast

We already published a profit forecast in the annual report for the year 2021. The profit forecast was initially
adjusted and raised in an ad hoc announcement on 08 August 2022. In the ad hoc announcement, we have announced that, based on preliminary production and sales figures for January to June 2022, we have been increasing
our sales and earnings forecast for the current 2022 financial year. On 17 October 2022, we have increased our
sales and earnings forecast for the current 2022 financial year for the third time based on the preliminary production
and sales figures for January to August 2022.
In view of many hours of sunshine in recent months and driven by significantly higher electricity prices in our
target markets, we now expect consolidated revenues for the 2022 financial year to be in the range of EUR 55 to
59 million. Accordingly, we expect adjusted Group EBITDA for 2022 to be EUR 41 to 45 million. We expect the
adjusted Group EBITDA margin to be in the region of around 75 % to 76 %. Furthermore, we forecast power
production in a range of 480 to 540 GWh for 2022.

2.7.4

Underlying Principles

The Profit Forecast was prepared in accordance with the principles of the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany
(Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer in Deutschland e.V., IDW) as set forth in the IDW Accounting Practice Statement:
Preparation of Forecasts and Estimates in Accordance with the Specific Requirements of the Regulation on Prospectuses (IDW AcPS AAB 2.003) (IDW Rechnungslegungshinweis: Erstellung von Gewinnprognosen und
-schätzungen nach den besonderen Anforderungen der Prospektverordnung (IDW RH HFA 2.003)).
Although Adjusted EBITDA is not an IFRS measure, the Profit Forecast was prepared on the basis of IFRS accounting principles. The accounting policies applied are described in the notes to our consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2021.
For reasons of commercial prudence, the sales and earnings forecast of the Company is only based on the revenues
received up to the end of the respective month (i.e. currently up to 31 August 2022) and, with regard to the future,
exclusively on the secured prices from feed-in tariffs and concluded PPAs.

2.7.5

Factors and Assumptions Underlying the Profit Forecast

The Profit Forecast is based on a number of factors. The development of these factors is based on specific assumptions, which are set out below.
Factors Beyond our Control and Related Assumptions
The Profit Forecast is subject to factors beyond our control and factors that are partially beyond our control. These
factors on us are as follows:
Unforeseen Events such as Force Majeure
We assume that no material unforeseen events will occur that could result in material or lasting constraints on the
ongoing operations of the entities of the Group and our renewable energy assets, such as the occurrence of force
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majeure events (e.g. fire, floods, storms, earthquakes, major industrial action, material macroeconomic events,
terrorist attacks, additional wars or a further pandemic).
Weather Conditions
The output of our renewable energy assets is dependent on weather conditions over which we have no influence.
Forecast figures for solar irradiation and wind conditions may prove to be inaccurate. We based the Profit Forecast
on long-term averages of solar irradiation and wind conditions as disclosed in expert studies prepared for the
specific site.
Introduction of an Excess Profits Tax
We may become subject to an excess profits tax whose introduction is currently being controversially discussed
in media and politics, e.g. in Germany. However, for the purposes of determining a Profit Forecast, as a guiding
principal we only include revenue generated already and on a forward-looking basis, Guaranteed Tariffs or, where
applicable, PPA power prices as contracted. Thus, only in case of a retroactively applied assumed introduction the
Profit Forecast will be affected. As of the date of this EU Growth Prospectus, an adoption of an excess profits tax
is just under discussion and there is no sufficient information to adequately assess the possible impact of an excess
profits tax yet.
Legislative and Other Regulatory Measures
We may become subject to more rigorous regulation by governmental authorities in the future, including retroactive regulatory interventions. For purposes of the Profit Forecast, we assumed that none of these potential changes
or retroactive regulatory interventions will materially affect renewable energy assets with expected revenue recognition in the financial year 2022.
Related Assumptions
Our assumptions regarding the development of the aforementioned factors and their impact on us are as follows:
Revenues
The clearvise Group generates revenue mainly from the sale of electricity produced by its renewable energy assets.
For the purpose of the Profit Forecast, we expect the revenue to be in the corridor of EUR 50 to 54 million for the
financial year 2022, compared to a revenue of approximately EUR 33 million in the financial year 2021. This
expected increase in revenue is based on the raised prices for energy, especially due to the war in Ukraine, and on
the expansion of our renewable energy asset portfolio in the financial year 2021 and the first half of 2022, i.e. with
90 MW Klettwitz-Nord Solar PV park starting operation in April 2022. The Profit Forecast is based on a total
capacity of approximately 303 MW as of 30 April 2022 which does not include the capacity of contracted, but not
yet operating renewable energy assets. For commercial prudence, we continued to use only secured prices from
Guaranteed Tariffs and PPA for the forecast for the second half of 2022. Delays in commissioning dates will have
an impact on the assumed results. Further possible acquisitions of renewable energy assets in 2022 will impact our
actual results but are not reflected in the Profit Forecast.
Other Income
We assume that other income will not have an impact on the Profit Forecast as the items recognised as other
income will be adjusted in order to calculate Adjusted EBITDA.
Cost of Materials
For the purpose of the Profit Forecast, we assume that the costs of materials, which mainly relate to the purchase
of electricity for the operation of our Solar PV parks and wind farms, and services may increase compared to
financial year 2021. However, this should not have a significant impact on our revenues as most are contractually
secured.
Personnel Expenses
For the purpose of the Profit Forecast, we assume that personnel expenses will increase compared to the financial
year 2021 mostly due to an increase of the staff members.
Other Expenses
For the purpose of the Profit Forecast, we assume that other expenses will increase compared to the financial year
2021 due to higher expenses for Solar PV parks and wind parks as a result of the increase of our portfolio. Furthermore, other operating expenses (e.g. landlease payments, or operation and maintenance fees) may increase
notably, in particular for contracts which include either an indexation clause or where calculation of fee is based
upon a percentage of revenues.
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2.7.6

Other Explanatory Notes

The Profit Forecast has been compiled and prepared on a basis which is both comparable with the annual financial
statements and consistent with our accounting policies.
The initial Profit Forecast was included in our annual report for the year ended 31 December 2021. The update of
the Profit Forecast with its increase was published in the ad hoc announcement of 08 August 2022.
The Profit Forecast excludes effects from extraordinary events within the meaning of IDW Accounting Practice
Statement (IDW RH HFA 2.003) such as effects from purchase price allocations, share deal effects and nonrecurring items (including any non-recurring items that may arise after the date of this Profit Forecast).
The Profit Forecast does not take into account the effects of this Offering.
The Profit Forecast is based on a bottom-up planning of our projects. Bottom-up planning means that all entities
in the clearvise Group are planned individually and aggregated into a group plan. The basis are renewable energy
assets, which means that only renewable energy assets whose acquisition has already been completed are included
in the planning. Possible acquisitions in the future are not included.
As the Profit Forecast relates to a period not yet completed and is prepared on the basis of assumptions about future
uncertain events and actions (factors), it is inherently subject to significant uncertainties. Due to these uncertainties,
it is possible that our Adjusted EBITDA may deviate significantly from the Profit Forecast.
The Profit Forecast was published on 17 October 2022 and is still valid as of the date of this EU Growth Prospectus.

2.8 Regulatory and Legal Environment
The Company's business model is heavily regulated and strongly influenced by the applicable regulatory framework of all countries the Group operates in. Government incentives and subsidies are of particular importance for
energy generation from renewable energy sources and, therefore, for the Group's financial condition.

2.8.1

Regulatory Environment and Legal Framework in Europe

In order to comply with the commitments made by the EU under the Kyoto Protocol in 1997 on the reduction of
greenhouse gas emissions and to contribute to the substantial increase in the percentage of renewable energy
sources used in power supply, the EU member states declared in 2007 the target of (i) reducing greenhouse gases
by at least 20 % compared to the year 1990, (ii) improving the EU's energy efficiencies by 20 % and (iii) increasing
the share of renewable energy in total EU energy consumption to 20 % by 2020 (so-called "20-20-20 goals"). In
2011, the European Commission issued a roadmap for a competitive low-carbon economy by 2050. The plan
suggested that by 2050 the EU should cut its emissions by 80 % compared to 1990 levels through domestic reductions. In 2014, the EU member states agreed to enhance the 20-20-20 goals to the following limits to be achieved
by 2030: (i) a binding 40 % greenhouse gas emissions reduction compared to 1990, (ii) the indicative target at the
EU level of at least 27 % for improving energy efficiency; (iii) an increase of the share of renewable energy to at
least 27 % of the EU's energy consumption (the "2030 Climate Energy Package"). The 2030 Climate Energy
Package also serves as the European Union's contribution to international climate change negotiations leading up
to the Paris Climate Conference 2015 ("COP 21"), in the course of which all parties obligated themselves to keep
the global warming well below 2°C.
With regard to renewable energy, the European Commission published its "Energy Union Framework Strategy"
in 2015 aiming to develop a fully integrated competitive internal energy market that gives both household and
business consumers secure, sustainable, competitive and affordable energy. To shape this strategy into law, the
European Commission introduced in 2016 an extensive legislative reform package on the European energy market
("Winter Package") consisting of four regulations and four directives. Generally, the Winter Package promoted
the integration of renewable energy into the market, energy efficiency, and energy security while strengthening
energy consumers' rights. It required, inter alia, for every member state to notify to the European Commission an
integrated national energy and climate plan by the end of 2019, with revised plans to be notified by 2029 and every
ten years thereafter. The 6th state of the energy union report regarding the Energy Union Framework Strategy
published in October 2021 was accompanied by an annex on energy subsidies in the EU as well as detailed progress
reports on the competitiveness of clean energy technologies, on fuel quality, on the functioning of the carbon
market, and a climate action progress report.
In December 2019, the so-called European Green Deal ("Green Deal") was presented by the European Commission to combat climate change and promote sustainable growth. The Green Deal aims, inter alia, for a supply
of clean, affordable and secure energy, as well as mobilising industries for a clean economy. The Green Deal
consists of an action plan entailing numerous legislative and policy efforts with the goal of making Europe the first
climate-neutral continent by 2050.
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Several initiatives such as the EU Hydrogen Strategy, the European Green Deal Investment Plan, the EU Strategy
for Energy System Integration and the EU Strategy on Offshore Renewable Energy have already been launched.
The EU 2030 Climate Target Plan ultimately aims at introducing a binding target of achieving carbon neutrality
by 2050 via a European Climate Law and therefore foresees a reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by at least
55 % by 2030. To implement these goals, the European Commission introduced a package of measures called Fit
for 55 ("Fit for 55") in July 2021. The package consisting of numerous regulations includes some new initiatives,
revises the EU's climate, energy and transport-related legislation and is supposed to bring the current rules in line
with the new targets. Fit for 55 aims at increasing the share of renewable energies in the EU's energy consumption
to 40 % for which EU member states will have to increase their national contributions in the integrated national
energy and climate plans, which are to be updated in 2023 and 2024. The numerous elements of Fit for 55 include
changes to the current EU Emissions Trading System ("ETS") law, gradual introduction of a carbon border adjustment mechanism ("CBAM") starting in 2023 for imports to avoid "carbon leakage" in the affected cement,
aluminium, steel and iron, fertilizers and certain power sectors, a ban of sales of new internal-combustion engine
cars, new energy efficiency targets for buildings and new energy taxation principles.
In 2020, the European Union provided an unprecedented response to the coronavirus crisis that hit Europe and the
world, the core element of which was a stimulus package worth EUR 2.018 trillion in current prices. It is referred
to as the EU's 2021-2027 Long-Term Budget or the Multiannual Financial Framework ("MFF"). The MFF is
complemented by the European Commission's "Next Generation EU" recovery package which is intended to trim
the European budget from 2021 to 2024 with a financial volume of EUR 806.9 billion in current prices raised on
the financial markets and to implement a so-called EU Marshall Plan. The programs include significant support
programs to foster demand of ecological and digital change in the EU member states as well as an increase in the
funding for a smooth transition to climate neutrality.
Following the beginning of the war in Ukraine in February 2022, the European Commission proposed a plan to
make Europe independent from Russian fossil fuels well before 2030. The program "REPower EU" aims at joint
European action for more affordable, secure and sustainable energy. REPowerEU has two main objectives: (i) to
end Europe's dependence on Russian fossil fuels as soon as possible, in principle by 2027, while reducing consumption of Russian gas by two-thirds by the end of 2022, and (ii) ensuring the long-term sustainability, costefficiency and energy supply of the EU-wide energy system through a controlled shift away from this long-standing relationship with Russia.
The short-term measures to achieve these goals include:
•

the joint procurement of gas, LNG and hydrogen through the EU Energy Platform for all participating EU
member states, as well as Ukraine, Moldova, Georgia and the Western Balkan countries;

•

new energy partnerships with reliable suppliers, including future co-operation on renewables and low-carbon
gases;

•

rapid implementation of solar and wind energy projects and use of green hydrogen to reduce gas imports;

•

approval of first EU-wide hydrogen projects;

•

EU communication on energy savings with recommendations for households and businesses;

•

filling of gas storage facilities to 80 % of their capacity by 01 November 2022; and

•

coordinated EU demand reduction plan in case of gas supply disruption.

The medium-term measures until 2027 include:
•

new national REPowerEU plans under the revised Reconstruction and Resilience Fund to support
EUR 300 billion of investments and reforms;

•

supporting decarbonisation of industry under the EUR 3 billion Innovation Fund;

•

speeding up project approvals for renewable energy in environmentally low-risk and therefore particularly
suitable areas;

•

investments in an integrated and demand-driven gas and electricity infrastructure network;

•

ambitious energy savings by raising the EU energy efficiency target for 2030 from 9 % to 13 %;

•

proposals to ensure industry's access to essential raw materials;

•

measures to increase energy efficiency in the transport sector; and

•

modern regulatory framework for hydrogen and accelerated development of the hydrogen industry.
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In order to reach the EU climate objectives, most EU member states provide governmental incentives for renewable energy facilities, such as a fixed feed-in tariff for electricity generated from renewable sources associated with
the obligation of transmission system operators to offtake and purchase the electricity. Other incentives offered by
EU member states are so-called quotas or green certificates that transmission system operators have to purchase
at the market price, low-interest loans, or tax advantages. Since such statutory support for renewable energy has
been scrutinised by the European Commission under the prohibition of state aid according to Art. 107 of the Treaty
of the Functioning of the European Union ("TFEU"), every new national law regulating state aid for renewable
energies has to be notified to the European Commission.
Emergency Intervention to address High Energy Prices
On 06 October 2022, the EU member states formally adopted the Council Regulation (EU) 2022/1854 of 06 October 2022 on an emergency intervention to address high energy prices (the "Emergency Intervention Regulation") and to generally cap the market revenues at EUR 180 per MWh for electricity generators, including intermediaries that use so-called inframarginal technologies to produce electricity, such as renewables.
The Council regulation sets a voluntary overall reduction target of 10 % of gross electricity consumption and a
mandatory reduction target of 5 % of the electricity consumption in peak hours. The term "peak hours" refers to
the hours of the day where day-ahead wholesale electricity prices, the gross electricity consumption, or the gross
consumption of electricity generated from sources other than renewable sources is expected to be the highest. EU
member states will identify 10 % of their peak hours between 01 December 2022 and 31 March 2023 during which
they will reduce the demand. However, the Emergency Intervention Regulation leaves EU member states the option to implement appropriate measures leading to a more extensive extraction of excess profits (see Risk Factor
"4.4.2 The Countries in which We operate could adopt a So-Called Excess Profits Tax or a Similar Measure, which
could Significantly affect our Revenues"). The appropriate measures include the possibility to set a higher or lower
revenue cap, use other measures that further limit market revenues, differentiate between technologies, and to
apply limits to market revenues of other actors including traders, among other things.
The Emergency Intervention Regulation stipulates that EU member states may temporarily set a price for the
supply of electricity to SMEs to further support SMEs struggling with high energy prices. It also establishes a
temporary compulsory solidarity contribution on the profits of companies in the crude petroleum, natural gas, coal
and refinery sectors to be used by the EU member states to provide financial support to households and companies
and to mitigate the effects of high retail electricity prices.
The measures are temporary and will apply from 01 December 2022 to 31 December 2023. The reduction targets
of energy consumption shall apply until 31 March 2023. The mandatory cap on market revenues shall apply until
30 June 2023.

2.8.2

Regulatory Environment and Legal Framework in Germany

Promotion of Renewable Energy Sources
Renewable energy sources will have to compensate nuclear power and coal within the next two decades as both
energy sources will be phased out. Due to the current energy crisis in connection with the war between Russia and
Ukraine, there are public and political discussions ongoing about extending the operating time of fossil energy
source power plants. While the planned phasing-out of the coal-fired power generation by 2038 currently remains
unchanged, the phasing-out of nuclear power has been partially postponed. In September 2022, the German Federal
Minister of Economics announced that two nuclear power plants should remain in operation as an emergency
reserve until April 2023, while other remaining nuclear power plants shall be phased-out by the end of 2022 as
planned. However, the goals of becoming independent of Russian commodity supplies and ensuring energy supply
security have also reached the broad public discussions. Therefore, the accelerated expansion of renewable energy
sources has become a high priority in Germany. Against this background, renewable energy will most likely increase in importance to secure Germany's energy supply.
The German Renewable Energy Sources Act (Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz, "EEG"), as last amended on
29 July 2022, sets the main statutory and regulatory framework to promote renewable energy in Germany. Prior
to the current revision of the EEG, the EEG was substantially revised in 2009, 2012, 2014, 2017 and 2021, and
further revisions are expected. Any future revisions can seriously impact clearvise Group's business model.
The EEG's policy goals are climate and environmental protection, sustainable energy supply and the support of
new technologies. The hallmarks of the EEG are the guaranteed compensation explained below as well as prioritised grid connection and priority feed-in. Pursuant to the EEG in the version of 2023 ("EEG 2023"), many provisions of which came into force already with the last amendment before 2023, Germany aims to constantly and
cost-effectively increase the share of renewable energy sources in its electricity supply to 80 % by 2030 and to
achieve carbon neutrality with regard to energy supply by 2050 in line with the EU Green Deal goals.
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To achieve these goals, the EEG foresees so-called expansion corridors (Ausbaupfade) detailing the amount of
capacity for several technologies to be added incrementally. The expansion corridor for onshore wind power targets to achieve a total installed capacity of 69 GW in 2024 and increases of up to 160 GW in 2040, while the
expansion corridor for solar power targets a total installed capacity of 88 GW in 2024 and increases of up to
400 GW in 2040. As a supplement to these expansion corridors, the EEG 2023 provides for incremental electricity
generation goals (Strommengenpfad) for each year from 2023 until 2030, ultimately aiming to produce 600 TWh
of electricity from renewable sources in 2030. The EEG foresees the end of the support schemes for renewable
energy by 2030 in connection with the phasing-out of the coal-fired power generation. After the achievement of
this goal, the further expansion of renewable energies shall be market-driven without further statutory support.
Which version of the EEG applies to a particular project depends on the commissioning date of the power plant of
the project in question. Each version of the EEG contains transitional provisions that determine the respective
commissioning dates. Some provisions that are beneficial for the plant operators usually apply retroactively where
it is explicitly stated in the EEG.
The Market Premium and Feed-in Tariff According to the EEG
The promotion of renewable energy in Germany provides for a 20-year support scheme period for electricity from
renewable energy installations and is regulated in the EEG and based on a fixed feed-in tariff. The feed-in tariff
provided for under the EEG or awarded in an auction consists of two revenue streams: (i) the sale of electricity
under a direct marketing agreement to a third-party offtaker, and (ii) a top-up market premium paid by the responsible transmission system operator (provided the market price of the electricity is below the feed-in tariff).
Market Premium
The market premium is the difference between the feed-in tariff applicable to the respective power plant and the
technology-specific feed-in tariff or so-called reference value (anzulegender Wert). Accordingly, the amount of
the market premium can vary each month (depending on the monthly average market price in the respective
month), whereas the feed-in tariff or reference value used to calculate it is fixed.
For projects receiving an award or commencing operation before 01 January 2023, the spot market price is defined
based on the average monthly spot market price for the specific energy source (Monatsmarktwert) at the electricity
exchange EPEX. For all other projects, the spot market price is calculated based on the average annual spot market
price for the specific energy source (Jahresmarktwert). The feed-in tariff and market premium payment period is
generally 20 years, beginning with the commissioning of each facility.
In Germany and in the EU there are current discussions to introduce a solidarity payment in the form of an excess
profits tax for companies that received large profits from the high market prices for energy, oil, gas and coal (see
Risk Factor "4.4.2 The Countries in which We operate could adopt a So-Called Excess Profits Tax or a Similar
Measure, which could Significantly affect our Revenues"). According to market rumours, the German government
seems to have the intention to levy 90 % of the revenues generated in excess of a certain price limit as an excess
tax with the price limit being calculated on the basis of standardised production costs and an additional "safety
buffer" which shall be larger for electricity sold via the futures market than for electricity sold in the spot market.
According to a formal response dated 09 November 2022 to an oral question from a member of the German parliament, it seems that it is the German government's intention to apply these rules for electricity produced as from
01 September 2022. However, market rumours indicate that an application from 01 November 2022 is planned.
As of the date of this EU Growth Prospectus, there is still no reliable and concrete information on the German
excess profits tax.
Direct Marketing
The EEG contains an obligation for direct marketing. Otherwise, the market premium is reduced. Typically, direct
marketing is performed by a third party under a direct marketing agreement. The direct marketing company typically pays to the power plant operator the monthly average spot market price for electricity produced in power
plants calculated and determined in accordance with statutory law. The direct marketing company provides certain
market services to the power plant operator and takes the risk of the production prognosis and costs of balancing
energy. In exchange, the power plant operator pays a fee to the direct marketing company. This fee is to be agreed
commercially and is usually deducted from the remuneration based on the monthly average market price.
Large Scale Plants: Auction System to determine the Feed-in Tariff
The amount of the feed-in tariff was initially set out in statutory law and depended on the time when a plant was
commissioned. The EEG in force since August 2014 introduced a competitive auction model to determine the
feed-in tariff individually. The auction system comprises technology-specific auctions for rooftop and ground
mounted solar, onshore wind, offshore wind, biomass and biogas power plants that exceed a certain size. Under
the EEG 2021, in order to receive a feed-in tariff, wind and solar projects exceeding a capacity of 750 kW must
receive an award in an auction according to the EEG. Under the EEG 2023, this threshold was raised to 1000 kW.
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Under the auction system, the prospective power plant operator submits a bid for the reference value (in
Cents/kWh) in auctions organised by the German Federal Network Agency (Bundesnetzagentur, "BNetzA"). The
BNetzA awards bids according to their respective bid value in ascending order, starting with the lowest bid value
until the respective auction volume (Ausschreibungsvolumen) is reached. If bids put forward the same bid value,
the award is made in ascending order, starting with the lowest bid quantity. Generally, pay-as-bid pricing is applied, meaning that the successful bidder receives the support it bid for.
To participate in an auction, the bidder must meet certain prerequisites to ensure that only serious bids are entered
and strategic bidding is pre-empted. Any bid must be supported by a bid bond. If a successful bidder does not fulfil
certain milestones within statutorily defined periods, and, in particular, if the project is not built within the statutorily defined time frame, the bid bond will be forfeited. For onshore wind projects, the deadline for the realisation
of the project has been extended by six months under the EEG 2023. The amounts of the bid bonds for wind and
solar projects differ as do various other prerequisites. A wind project needs to present a building permit to build
and operate the wind park to be able to participate in the auction. A solar project does not need to provide such a
permit. Furthermore, both rooftop and ground mounted solar parks are subject to a size restriction of 20 MW in
order to limit the use of space employed for solar projects.
Pursuant to the EEG 2023, auctions for onshore wind will be held on 01 February, 01 May, 01 August and 01 November each year. The last auction according to the EEG 2021 was held in September 2022. The annual auction
volume is expected to be 12,840 MW in 2023 and 10,000 MW in each of the years 2024–2028. If the auction
volume has not been exhausted in the previous year, it is added to the next year's auction volume. If the BNetzA
expects bids in an auction round to fall short of the respective auction volume, the auction volume may also be
reduced.
Under the EEG 2021, a certain percentage of each auction round is exclusively reserved for wind projects in the
southern part of Germany (15 % for auctions held in 2022 and 2023, and 20 % for auctions held from 2024 onwards). This so-called southern quota (Südquote) was introduced to align the high electricity consumption in the
southern part of the country with corresponding capacities for electricity generation. The southern quota raised
some concerns by the European Commission and was deleted under the EEG 2023 and replaced by other incentives
for this region. Furthermore, it is expected that the increased auction volume will also lead to more onshore wind
projects in this currently underdeveloped area with regard to onshore wind projects.
The amount of the bid is determined depending on the wind yield (Gütefaktor) at the location relative to a reference
location. Locations with a higher calculated yield than the reference location will receive a lower compensation
while locations with a lower calculated yield than the reference location receive a higher compensation than the
bid amount. The adjustment shall ensure that competition between locations of different wind qualities is possible.
After five, ten and 15 years of operation, the actual yield is compared with the originally calculated yield to establish whether the assumed increase or decrease of the compensation was adequate. A negative or positive balance
will either be charged or credited to the operating company for the past five years. Certain regions in the southern
part of Germany will be given a high wind yield under the EEG 2023.
Regarding solar parks, the EEG 2023 foresees two different auction processes for rooftop and ground mounted
solar parks. For ground mounted solar parks, bidding dates from 2023–2029 will take place on 01 March, 01 July,
and 01 December, respectively. The bidding volume is 5,850 MW in 2023, 8,100 MW in 2024, and 9,900 MW
each year from 2025 to 2029. For rooftop mounted solar plants, the bidding dates from 2023–2029 will take place
on 01 April and 01 October each year. The bidding volume is 650 MW in 2023, 900 MW in 2024, and 1,100 MW
each year from 2025 to 2029. The EEG 2023 introduced a number of incentives for solar projects. For example,
the distance corridors for Solar PV parks along motorways or railways were adjusted and thus the available areas
increased. Further area potentials can be developed through new system classes such as "Agri-PV", "Moor-PV",
"Floating PV" or "Car Park PV". In some cases, higher financial support is granted for the individual systems.
Small Scale Plants: Statutory Determination of the Value to be applied
Facilities with a capacity of less than 750 kW (1,000 kW under the EEG 2023) receive a feed-in tariff without
participation in an auction. The amount of the feed-in tariff depends on the energy source (i.e., wind or solar), the
size of the installation and the version of the EEG applicable at the time of the facility's commissioning.
As the costs for new solar plants decrease over time, the statutory compensation applicable to the newly installed
facilities decreases as well as long as the abovementioned targets for the addition of capacity are met as explained
above. Under the EEG 2021, the basic tariff amounts to 6.01 Cents per kWh for ground mounted installations.
Under the EEG 2023, however, it increases to 7 Cents per kWh.
For rooftop installations, under the EEG 2021, the basic tariff amounts to 8.56 Cents for installations up to a
capacity of 10 kW, 8.33 Cents for installations up to a capacity of 40 kW and 6.62 Cents for installations up to a
capacity of 750 kW. Under the EEG 2023, the basic tariff is 8.6 Cents per kWh for installations up to a capacity
of 10 kW, 7.5 Cents per kWh for installations up to a capacity of 40 kW and 6.2 Cents per kWh for installations
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up to a capacity of 1 MW. These tariffs are subject to significant increases of up to 5.1 Cents per kWh in case that
all energy produced by the power plant is fed into the public grid. These amendments of the tariffs are still subject
to the approval by the European Commission.
The value to be applied, i.e. the basis for the calculation of the feed-in tariff for solar plants, is subject to a 0.4 %
degression per month. The degression is adjusted quarterly based on the actual added solar capacity. In case the
added capacity is higher or lower than planned under the expansion corridor, the degression can either increase or
decrease. This degression does not mean that once a certain statutory compensation becomes applicable to a specific renewable energy facility it will decrease over time; under the version of the EEG currently applicable to the
respective facility, the statutory compensation applicable at the time of commissioning remains unchanged and
applicable. The degression therefore only matters with regard to the date of commissioning of the solar plant.
Under the EEG 2021 and the EEG 2023, onshore wind facilities are not subject to a degression of the statutory
compensation. The basic tariff for onshore wind is calculated based on the average values of the highest awarded
bids in the auction rounds from the year before the previous year and is adjusted depending on the wind yield of
the specific site. Like in the auction system, the wind yield is regularly adjusted depending on the actual yield at
the site. The statutorily determined compensation is paid for a fixed period of 20 years as of commissioning ending
on 31 December of the 20th year as of the facility's commissioning.
Innovation Auctions
The Innovations Auction Ordinance (Innovationsausschreibungsverordnung) which has been in force since
30 January 2020 introduced an alternative support regime of a fixed market premium for projects with specific
innovative elements, such as the combination of different types of renewable energy installations or a renewable
energy installation with a storage medium. Other than the market premium combined with the feed-in tariff, the
fixed market premium for a project subject to an innovation auction award is not paid as a top-up with a variable
amount based on the difference between the awarded feed-in tariff and the monthly average market price for electricity from solar energy. Instead, the fixed market premium is a fixed amount paid per kWh on top of any market
price for the respective electricity. It is granted for 20 years from commissioning.
Innovation auctions will be held on 01 May and 01 September of each year from 2023–2028. The auction volume
is 600 MW in 2023, 650 MW in 2024, 700 MW in 2025, 750 MW in 2026, 750 MW in 2027, 850 MW in 2028,
although the federal government may specify other volumes in a separate regulation.
Registration Obligation, Remote Controllability, Metering
According to the EEG and the Market Master Data Register Ordinance (Marktstammdatenverordnung,
"MaStRV"), for easier calculation, better planning and better integration of the renewable energy sources into the
electricity market, operators have to register and update data on their renewable energy facility (reference data,
inter alia, location, energy source and capacity) in the Market Master Data Register (Marktstammdatenregister)
of the BNetzA. The required information is set out in detail in the Appendix to the MaStRV. The BNetzA publishes
the data subject to data protection laws. State authorities have the right to access and use the data for the fulfilment
of their tasks. Furthermore, the operating company must fulfil certain reporting obligations for each operating year.
Furthermore, most facilities need to be remotely controllable to allow the transmission system operator to obtain
actual feed-in information and to remotely reduce the electricity which is fed into the grid in case of over-supply
and resulting grid shortages or other grid-based issues. To foster the digitalisation of the energy market, remote
controllability must be provided via smart meters providing live data on the feed-in. The EEG provides for the
cost-saving opportunity to install one metering system for multiple installations. Furthermore, the requirements
for remote controllability may be transferred to a third party, e.g., an independent smart meter operator (Messstellenbetreiber).
Under the EEG 2023, the grid connection process shall be accelerated by means of digitalisation and standard
procedures. For this purpose, transmission system operators must provide an online portal that contains all information for the connection applicant. It must be possible to submit a grid connection request via this portal. After
one month at the latest, the transmission system operator must react to a request and provide specific information
such as a schedule or a cost estimate.
Offtake Obligation and Feed-in Management/Curtailment Regime under the EEG
The transmission system operator is generally obliged to physically offtake all electricity generated by renewable
energy power plants. No contract is required and, if one is agreed, it must not include provisions to limit the
operator's rights pursuant to the EEG.
Pursuant to the so-called Redispatch 2.0 regime, the transmission system operators may temporarily reduce the
feed-in not only of conventional power plants but also, if this is more efficient, of renewable energy installations
to sustain grid stability. In the event of such feed-in management measures, the transmission system operator has
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to provide balancing quantities to the responsible balancing group manager to compensate lost feed-in. In addition,
the transmission system operator has to pay the renewable energy power plant operator financial compensation in
such a way that, taking into account the balancing compensation owed to the balancing group manager, it places
the Solar PV park operator of the installation neither better nor worse off economically than it would have been
without the measure. For power plants with an awarded feed-in tariff this means, in principle, payment of the lost
market premium (i.e. the feed-in subsidy pursuant to the EEG).
Adjustments, Reductions or Exclusion of the Support – Violation of Obligations under the EEG
The EEG 2021 foresees a number of obligations for the operating company. In certain instances, sanctions for the
violation of the EEG 2021 are (temporary) reductions of the feed-in tariff. The value to be applied and thus the
basis for calculating the compensation is reduced to zero, inter alia, in case the statutorily required information
has not been submitted to the Market Master Data Register and the feed-in data for the past year has not been
provided if electricity produced by a facility subject to an auction according to the EEG was not fed into the grid
but used for self-consumption or if the plant does not comply with requirements for remote controllability. The
compensation is limited to the average spot market price of the past month or year (depending on the calculation
method explained above) in case, inter alia, the time limit for the fallback feed-in tariff described above is exceeded or the same amount of electricity is sold multiple times. A specific reduction of the compensation by 20 %
applies in case the statutorily required information has not been submitted to the Market Master Data Register but
the feed-in data for the past year is provided. The aforementioned reductions can apply for one month, three months
or for an entire year, depending on the type of the infringement.
Under the EEG 2023, instead of reductions of the feed-in tariff, the power plant operators shall make penalty
payments to the transmission system operator, which can be offset against claims of the power plant operator
against the transmission system operator. In principle, EUR 10 per kW of installed capacity of the plant and calendar month must be paid for cases of earlier reduction of remuneration to zero or market value and EUR 2 per
kW for violations, which were subject to a 20 % reduction of remuneration.
Negative Prices
If the electricity prices on the spot market are negative for more than four consecutive hours, the feed-in tariff will
decrease to zero for the time during which the price on the spot market is negative. Therefore, the market premium
paid by the transmission system operator will be zero during such times. For the relevant month, the power plant
would receive the market premium for the remaining time and, irrespective of negative prices, the remuneration
payable by the direct marketing company under the direct marketing agreement, i.e. the monthly average market
price minus the commercially agreed fee under the direct marketing agreement.
The fixed market premium is reduced to zero for any period during which the value of the hourly contracts for the
price zone for Germany on the spot market of the electricity exchange is negative in the previous day's auction.
The relevance and frequency of negative prices can commercially impact the cash flow of clearvise Group's projects. The risk is difficult to mitigate for the operating company since the electricity price is not in the hand of the
power plant operator.
The Renewable Energy Surcharge
The costs to finance the guaranteed compensation for renewable energy were passed on to the final consumer
through the so-called renewable energy surcharge that was paid by all consumers of electricity (EEG-Umlage)
according to the EEG 2021 and its predecessors. With the EEG 2023, the German government has completely
phased out the renewable energy surcharge, and the phasing out was even moved forward and applies since July
2022. In the future, financial support for renewable energies will originate entirely from the federal budget.
Since a determination by the EU Commission in December 2013, parts of the EEG are considered to constitute
state aid. Since then, reforms and changes to the EEG are notified to the EU Commission as rules on state aid. The
approval of the EEG 2023 is still pending and is expected by the end of 2022.
Further Promotion in the Field of Renewable Energy
Apart from the regulatory environment relating to prices of electricity generated from renewable sources, there are
other arrangements to promote renewable energy. For example, the Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau ("KfW"), a
state-owned bank, backs the project financing provided by the financing bank for projects related to renewable
energy generation through various low-interest loans to refinance the financing bank.
Power Purchase Agreements
Despite the extensive legal framework for support schemes under the EEG in Germany, the demand for Power
Purchase Agreements ("PPAs") has been constantly increasing. The reasons behind the increase is the ending of
the EEG-funding after 20 years for a large number of power plants, the limit of the support schemes to a certain
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size of the power plant, but also a competitive market under which now often higher revenues may be achieved
under a PPA compared to an EEG feed-in tariff. Furthermore, many companies, especially those with high energy
demand, want to secure electricity prices for a period usually between five and twenty years.
There are many different forms and structures of PPAs. A distinction is made between physical and virtual PPAs.
In the case of physical PPAs, the buyer purchases electricity directly or indirectly from the producer at a price
agreed in advance. If the electricity consumer purchases electricity directly from a plant in the immediate vicinity,
this is referred to as an "on-site" PPA. However, it is also possible to supply the electricity from a particular plant
to the buyer only on an on-balance-sheet basis, i.e. the electricity is fed into the public grid and withdrawn by the
buyer in the agreed amount. This concept, which usually requires a service provider with its own balancing group,
is also referred to as an "off-site" PPA. If the buyer consumes the electricity himself for his company under a
physical PPA, it is referred to as a "corporate" PPA. If the buyer itself sells the electricity purchased under a PPA
to third parties, such PPA is referred to as a "utility" PPA.
Under virtual PPAs, neither direct nor indirect actual delivery of electricity from a plant of a seller takes place
towards the buyer. Instead, the electricity is fed into the grid by the producer. A certain electricity price is agreed
between the PPA parties, but the electricity is sold by the producer on the spot market at the current spot market
prices. Depending on whether the agreed PPA price deviates upwards or downwards from the spot market price,
either the producer or the electricity customer compensates for the price difference accordingly. This is therefore
a contract for difference or hedge transaction.
With both physical and virtual PPAs, there are many possibilities to determine the delivery times and quantities of
electricit, as well as to distribute and hedge the production, purchase and outage risks. Tax and financial regulatory
must also be considered for the various forms of PPAs.
PPAs have many benefits, both for the producers and Offtakers of renewable energy. Other than under the statutory
support schemes, however, they are civil law contracts between parties operating in the market. Therefore, they
are, inter alia, subject to the potential risk of the insolvency of a contractual partner.
Regulatory Framework for Construction and Operation of Renewable Energy Assets
The construction of a solar park is subject to the German Building Code (Baugesetzbuch, "BauGB") and the state
building act (Landesbauordnung) of the state (Land) where the solar facility is built. The construction of a solar
facility usually requires a building permit (Baugenehmigung) pursuant to the relevant state building act. Depending
on the site, other permits may be required, e.g., under the German Water Resources Act (Wasserhaushaltsgesetz).
The approval generally requires, inter alia, the existence of a local development plan (Bebauungsplan) or a projectrelated local development plan (vorhabenbezogener Bebauungsplan) accompanied by an implementation agreement between the municipality and the facility operator including certain implementation obligations of the operator. The length of the approval procedure varies among the authorities and states. If all prerequisites are fulfilled,
the building authority is obligated to issue the permit.
The construction of wind power facilities requires either a permit under the German Emissions Control Act (Bundesimmissionsschutzgesetz, "BImSchG") or a building permit pursuant to the applicable state building act and the
BauGB. Which kind of permit is required depends on the height of the wind turbines (heights up to 50 meters in
total only require a procedure under the state building act and the BauGB). In particular under the procedure of the
BImSchG, various other laws with regard to environmental protection have to be taken into account, and the permits granted typically also contain the duty of the operator to decommission the facility at its own cost at the end
of its operations. Prior to granting a permit, an environmental impact assessment (Umweltverträglichkeitsprüfung,
"EIA"), including the participation of the general public which may raise concerns, is required for wind parks with
20 or more wind turbines of more than 50 meters in total. If the wind park should consist of three to 20 wind
turbines, a preliminary examination of the EIA is required. Again, the length of the approval procedure depends
on the scope of the procedure and the competent authority, and in case all legal requirements are fulfilled, the
applicant has the right to obtain the approval without discretion of the granting authority.
While this is legally required only for wind power facilities, the operators of both solar power facilities and wind
power facilities will usually have to enter into a decommissioning commitment in order to obtain a permit.

2.8.3

Regulatory Environment and Legal Framework in France (Wind Sector only)

Wind parks are classified facilities for the protection of the environment ("installations classées pour la protection
de l'environnement"). For this reason, it is not necessary to obtain a building permit for the development of a wind
park project, but only an environmental permit ("autorisation environnementale"). According to the French Environmental Code, the time limit for third parties to appeal an environmental authorisation is 4 months from the
posting of the decision in the town hall premises or the publication of the decision on the Préfecture's website,
whichever occurs later.
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In practice, legal actions are frequent, in particular with regard to the inadequacy of impact studies, the impact of
wind turbines on the landscape, on fauna and flora (e.g. protected species).
However, as of 01 September 2022 and until 31 December 2027, pursuant to the French Administrative Jurisdiction Code, a specific regime applies for appeals against environmental authorisations: the possibility of appealing
the administrative court's decision before an administrative court of appeals is removed in order to reduce the time
during which projects are frozen due to an ongoing legal action (appeal before the French Conseil d'Etat, i.e., the
highest administrative court in France, will remain possible tough).
In France, litigation of environmental authorisations related to wind park projects is a real issue as some associations are specialised in opposition to wind power development and regularly challenge the legality of the environmental authorisations before the administrative courts.
This is the reason why a bill on the acceleration of renewables ("projet de loi d'accélération des énergies renouvelables") is currently being discussed in the French Parliament. The aim of such bill is to reach at least
180 GW of renewable energy in the French energy mix by 2050. However, priority is given to solar photovoltaic
and offshore wind. The bill is expected to be adopted by the French Parliament in October 2022.
According to the draft bill, the major changes contemplated by the bill are:
•

Corporate PPAs will benefit from a real legal framework.

•

The timeline for implementing renewable energy projects will be reduced. This shall be achieved by softening
the environmental authorisation procedure. It is foreseen that the formalities for preparing the public participation ("enquête publique") could take place in parallel with the production of the environmental authority's
opinion. However, these measures will be limited in time (48 months as of the enactment of the law).

•

Moreover, the applicant will be able to request information from the competent authority to better fill in the
application file. It is not specified which information may be provided to the applicant, but such information
will be given according to the state of the project.

•

Furthermore, the number of renewable energy assets approved for the use of renewable energies is also to be
increased. The thresholds related to the obligation to perform an environmental impact assessment ("étude
d'impact") should be raised. A decree is to be adopted that will define the technical criteria for a project to be
declared "of major public interest" ("raison impérative d'intérêt public majeur"). Projects that will receive
such characterisation will be more easily granted the derogation related to protected species (as one of the
conditions for benefiting from this derogation, i.e. "project of major public interest", will be acknowledged by
meeting the above mentioned technical criteria). However, the operator will still have to demonstrate that the
other conditions are met to benefit from the derogation.

•

It is planned to increase the amount of land available for the construction and operation of renewable energy
assets. For example, it should be made easier to implement projects on areas next to roads and highways as
well as on certain mountain areas.

•

However, there are no plans to reduce the number of urban planning documents that must be complied with
by renewable energy assets, but it encourages the authorities to put these documents in compliance where
necessary for the development of renewable energy assets by setting up a simpler procedure for this purpose.

•

The connection to the public electricity transmission and distribution networks will be simplified by the
French Government which will issue an order within six months as of the publication of the law.

There are two financial support schemes for wind park projects in France:
•

the mandatory purchasing of the electricity produced by the wind park operators by the French State (the
"Feed-in Tariff System", the "obligation d'achat") via the system obligation d'achat by Electricité de France
("EDF OA") or local electricity supply companies ("entreprises locales de distribution") for areas of the territory that are not served by Electricité de France SA ("EDF") (not anymore applicable to wind park projects);

•

the payment of a bonus ("complément de rémuneration") by the French State via EDF OA (only) corresponding to the difference between the market price of electricity and the target selling price (the "reference price").
In this system, the operator/producer sells directly the electricity produced by the facility on the market, and
the French State compensates the difference with the target price to ensure the viability of the projects. Such
contracts for difference ("complément de rémuneration") were introduced by the French Act on the Energy
Transition for Green Growth ("Loi relative à la transition énergétique pour la croissance verte") referred to
as the "Energy Transition Act".

The Feed-in Tariff System of the electricity produced by wind parks by the French State via EDF or local electricity
supply companies was the very first financial support scheme that has been implemented in France in the 2000s.
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This was the only available financial support scheme for wind energy before the entry into force of the Energy
Transition Act adopted in 2015. This system was definitely stopped for wind park projects in 2016.

2.8.4

Regulatory Environment and Legal Framework in Finland (Wind Sector only)

The Act on Production Subsidy for Electricity Produced from Renewable Energy Sources (1396/2010) introduced
a feed-in tariff system in Finland in 2011. Electricity producers whose power plants are approved in the system
receive a production subsidy (feed-in tariff), which varies on the basis of a three-month electricity market price or
the market price of emission allowances, for a maximum of twelve years. The feed-in tariff scheme was closed for
new wind power plants on 01 November 2017. At the time, the feed-in tariff scheme was very attractive for investors and resulted in the first Finnish wind sector boom.
In 2019, a premium system for renewable energy tenders was adopted in Finland. The system maintained by the
Energy Authority supports the production of electricity produced from renewable energy sources. Support under
the premium is paid for twelve years for those renewable energy power plant projects that were selected into the
premium system in a bidding process in 2018. New projects are no longer accepted in the premium system.
As the feed-in tariff scheme and premium system have closed for new wind power plants, there are currently no
financial support schemes in force in Finland for new wind power projects.
It is noteworthy that an auction model for leasing public water areas governed by Metsähallitus (a state-owned
enterprise) for offshore wind power production to private companies has been established. It has been estimated
that the first auction could take place in 2023 and 2024, and it could concern 3 to 4 areas suitable for offshore wind
power production.
Wind power projects require a local component master plan appointing an area for wind power production. In
some limited cases it may require a detailed plan and a local component detailed plan pursuant to the Land Use
and Building Act (132/1999, "LUBA"). Pursuant to the LUBA, building permits are also required for each wind
turbine and the sub-station. In some cases, an environmental permit pursuant to the Environmental Protection Act
(527/2014) and an environmental impact assessment pursuant to the Act on Environmental Impact Assessment
Procedure (252/2017, "Finland EIA") are also needed.
Finland EIA processes are coordinated by the regional Centres for Economic Development, Transport and the
Environment ("ELY Centre"), but land use planning, building permits and environmental permits are generally
handled by municipalities. Municipalities have differing experiences in permitting wind power projects, and as a
result, some municipalities rely heavily on the information provided by the wind power companies and their consultants, e.g. the land use plan is usually prepared by the consultant of the wind power developer. This has led to
situations where projects, which do not fully take into account all the issues and risks identified by the ELY Centre
or third parties, have been approved on the municipal level and later overturned or changed on appeals.
In the precedent case 2019:160 of the Supreme Administrative Court ("SAC"), the SAC repealed a local component master plan because the plan was not founded in sufficient studies and impact assessments on the significance
and range of the adverse effects on the movement and use of territory of wolves (canis lupus) caused by the construction and operation of the wind farm area appointed in the local component master plan. In the precedent case
2022:12, the SAC repealed a local component master plan because the effects of the construction of the wind farm
area appointed in the local component master plan would be significantly adverse for reindeer husbandry and they
could not be mitigated in the execution phase of the plan.
The Government Decree on Guide Values for the Outdoor Noise Level of Wind Turbines (1107/2015) sets guide
values for outdoor noise levels caused by the operation of a wind turbine. The Decree of the Ministry of Social
Affairs and Health on Health-related Conditions of Housing and Other Residential Buildings and Qualification
Requirements for Third-party Experts (545/2015) sets action limits for indoor noise which apply to, inter alia,
wind farms. There is no regulation on flickering in Finland, but Finnish authorities utilize Swedish guidelines.
Guide values for outdoor noise levels are generally 45 dB during the day (7 a.m.–10 p.m.) and 40 dB during the
night (10 p.m.–7 a.m.). Inside apartment and room spaces, the guide values are generally 35–45 dB during the day
(7 a.m.–10 p.m.) and 30–40 dB during the night (10 p.m.–7 a.m.). In the case of low frequency noise, the action
limits inside facilities intended for sleeping are from 74–32 dB during the night, depending on the frequency (20–
200 Hz), and 5 dB higher during the day than those during the night. Pursuant to Swedish guidelines, the guide
values for flickering are a maximum of 8 hours/year and 30 min/day.
If the aforesaid limits are exceeded by the wind farm or individual wind turbines or another reason under Section 17
of the Adjoint Properties Act (26/1920) actualises, the need for an environmental permit needs to be evaluated,
even if the operations have already started. As operations subject to an environmental permit cannot be performed
without the said permit, the part of the operation subject to an environmental permit needs to be shut down until
the permit is granted. As environmental permits may be granted for a part of the wind farm or for individual wind
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turbines, the practical effects of this are usually limited. The environmental permit decision is usually granted
within four months of filing the application, and it can be given with an immediate enforcement order. The immediate enforcement order may be repealed by administrative courts.
In Finland, permits are generally enforceable once legally final. The applicant may apply for immediate enforcement of a permit, provided that the conditions for immediate enforcement (that vary per permit) are fulfilled. If the
permits are not granted with immediate enforcement or if the administrative court decides to halt the enforcement,
the permits become enforceable after the decision of the administrative court, unless leave to appeal to the SAC is
applied for and the SAC halts the enforcement. After the decision of the SAC, the permits are legally final. As
regards land use plans, if appeals are lodged on just a part of the land use plan, the municipality may declare that
other parts of the plan have become legally final. Building permits may also be granted prior to the plan becoming
legally final, but building works may not commence under such permit until the plan is legally final.
Three different acts entered into force on 01 January 2020 which restrict real property purchases by non-EU/EEA
persons and entities. One of the acts also provides redemption rights pursuant to which previously purchased real
property can be redeemed if considered necessary for reasons of national security.
The Act on Transfers of Real Estate Requiring Special Permission (470/2019) requires entities and persons from
outside the EU or the EEA to apply for permission for the purchase of a real property to the Ministry of Defence
prior to the transfer or within two months of the confirmation of the transfer for the purchase of real property. The
permission is also required if the transferee is an entity with a seat in the EU or the EEA when a natural person or
entity from outside the EU or the EEA holds a minimum of one tenth of the aggregate number of votes carried by
the shares or exercises equivalent actual control in the company. The transferee shall apply to the Finnish Ministry
of Defence for permission for the purchase. The purchase shall be approved if it is deemed that it does not impact
the safeguarding of national defence, territorial integrity, internal security, government administration, border security, border control, maintenance of emergency stocks of critical supplies. The owner of the real estate or the
transferee may also request prior information from the Finnish Ministry of Defence as to whether a permission for
the purchase is needed. The decision may be appealed to an administrative court, as provided in the Administrative
Judicial Procedure Act (808/2019), and further to the Supreme Administrative Court, provided that it grants leave
to appeal.
Pursuant to the Act on the State's Right of Pre-Emption in Certain Areas (469/2019), the State enjoys a right of
pre-emption in a real estate transaction if the acquisition of the real estate is necessary to ensure national defence,
border control or border security or in order to monitor and safeguard territorial integrity. The right of pre-emption
can only be used in respect of properties or parts thereof located within or at a certain distance from the territorial
scopes defined in said Act, for example areas used by the Finnish Defence Forces for transport purposes. The right
of pre-emption is also subject to certain limitations. The owner of the real estate may request an ex-ante decision
from the Ministry of Defence as to whether the State intends to exercise its right of pre-emption, which can be
appealed.
Pursuant to the Act on the Right of Redemption of Immovable Property and Special Rights in Order to Protect
National Security (468/2019), a government ministry may grant a public authority or entity permission to redeem
immovable property or special rights if so required by public interest. The Act applies to the right of redemption
of immovable property and special rights for the purpose of safeguarding, inter alia, national defence, internal
security, the continued operation of the infrastructure necessary for the vital functions of society or other equivalent
public interest. Once the government ministry has commenced preparations for redemption, it may provisionally
prohibit, for a maximum of one year, such use of property or such exercise of special rights that may endanger the
purpose of the contemplated redemption. A decision on the imposition of such an interim prohibition of measures
as well as a decision made by a government ministry may be appealed.
Furthermore, municipalities may require dismantling guarantees to ensure that wind turbines are dismantled after
the operations at a wind farm end. Some municipalities also require that the entire land use plan area (the area that
is impacted by flicker and noise) is held by the project company through land lease agreements.

2.8.5

Regulatory Environment and Legal Framework in Ireland (Wind Sector only)

Regulatory and Legal Environment
The Minister for Communications, Climate Action and Environment is the member of Irish government responsible for Irish energy policy, while the Commission for Regulation of Utilities (the "CRU") is responsible for the
operation and regulation of the sector. In particular, the CRU is the body responsible for issuing licences and
supervising licenced activities, which list of activities has been expanded beyond its original scope of the generation and supply of electricity to include the transmission and distribution of electricity and the operation of interconnectors.
The Irish regulatory regime is in large part derived from the requirements of the Electricity Regulation Act, 1999
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(the "1999 Act"), which gave effect to EU Directive 96/92/EC. Much of Irish legislation and policy on energy has
been implemented or amended to give effect to EU legislation and policy, as seen recently in Ireland's climate
targets. Ireland's Climate Action Plan (the "CAP"), published in June 2019, commits to a 30 % reduction in emissions between 2021 and 2030. The CAP provides that the share of renewables in Ireland's total electricity generation must increase to 70 % by 2030, up from 37 % in 2020, and this increase should be partly achieved through
the addition of 4.2 GW of onshore wind. The policy environment in Ireland for wind farms is in large part driven
by these targets and European support for further proliferation of renewable energy.
The 1999 Act provides that the CRU is responsible for issuing licences for the generation and supply of electricity.
Prior to the 1999 Act, electricity generation in Ireland was primarily carried out by the Electricity Supply Board
(the "ESB"), a statutory body majority owned by the Irish government. Since the liberalisation of the sector with
the passage of the 1999 Act, any person may carry out the generation of electricity once in possession of a generation licence from the CRU issued pursuant to Section 14(1)(a) of the 1999 Act. The CRU also issues authorisations to construct or reconstruct generation facilities under Section 16 of the 1999 Act. Authorisations issued by
the CRU to construct or generate are issued in standard form with amendments made solely to identify the relevant
holder and facility.
The CRU also regulates the supply of electricity and the operation of the electricity transmission and distribution
systems. Licences to supply electricity may be issued by the CRU under Section 14(1)(b) of the 1999 Act (although
the CRU's regulation of supply does not extend to directing retail prices). In relation to the licensing of the transmission and distribution systems, the 1999 Act provides that a licence to operate the transmission system may only
be issued to EirGrid (the "TSO") and a licence to own the transmission system may only be issued to ESB, both
of which are provided by the CRU. Similarly, in relation to the distribution system, the ESB is licensed by the
CRU as the owner of the distribution system and ESB Networks DAC (the "DSO") is the licensed distribution
system operator.
Section 34 of the 1999 Act provides that where an application for connection to the transmission or distribution
system is made by any person, an agreement for connection must be offered to that person, subject to the terms
and conditions specified in accordance with directions given by the CRU from time to time. The CRU is therefore
responsible for regulating the connection of electricity generators to the grid and may give directions to the TSO
and the DSO on the terms and conditions of access to the transmission and distribution systems. Based on these
directions, the TSO and the DSO issue connection offers.
The most recent policy published by the CRU in relation to connection to the grid is the Enduring Connection
Policy ("ECP"). ECP-2 is the currently operative most recent iteration of this policy, the details of which were set
out in the CRU's decision published on 10 June 2020 (the "ECP-2 Decision"). ECP-2 is open to all generating,
storage and system services technologies, and prioritises large renewable energy projects. The 2020 decision dictated that there would be three annual batches of connection offers (ECP 2.1 in 2020, ECP 2.2 in 2021 and ECP 2.3
in 2022) with a target of 85 connection offers for generation, storage and other system services technology projects
in each annual batch, together with 15 community-led projects and 15 non-batch projects. Grid offers are prioritised in accordance with the following order of priority: first 25 connection offers awarded to the largest renewable
energy generators, with the remainder awarded to projects with the earliest planning permission grant date provided there are no more than 10 primarily storage and other system service technology projects in each batch. The
window for applying to ECP-2 opens for the month of September each year. It should be noted that the ECP-2
decision provides that applicants are required to have planning permission in order to apply for a grid connection
under ECP-2.
The Integrated Single Electricity Market (the "I-SEM") includes the day-ahead market, the intraday market, a
balancing market, two markets for financial instruments and a market for capacity remuneration, each of which
operate independently and on different timelines. The SEM Committee is the governing body for the I-SEM which
oversees the design and implementation of the I-SEM and makes decisions on licences and market codes relevant
to the implementation of the I-SEM. The SEM Committee is composed of members of the regulators of both
Ireland and Northern Ireland. The day-to-day operations of the I-SEM are run by the Single Electricity Market
Operator (the "SEMO"), which is owned by EirGrid.
A generator with nameplate capacity in excess of 10 MW is required to participate as a generator in the I-SEM,
while a generator below the 10 MW threshold may, but is not required to participate. Suppliers must also participate in the SEM.
Section 39 of the 1999 Act provided for the imposition of "public service obligations" on electricity licence holders, which may include such arrangements as are necessary to ensure the availability of electricity produced by
renewable generators. The public service obligation levy ("PSO Levy"), a subsidy charged to all electricity customers in Ireland, was then introduced in 2001, which is collected via a charge on all electricity consumers and
paid to electricity suppliers. The CRU is responsible for the administration of the levy.
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The PSO Levy was used to introduce three renewable energy feed-in tariff ("REFIT") support schemes, the most
recent of which, REFIT 3, closed to new applicants on 31 December 2015. REFIT support will expire after
15 years or on 31 December 2032 (whichever is earlier).
The REFIT scheme has now been replaced by the Renewable Electricity Support Scheme ("RESS"). RESS establishes an auction scheme and a two-way floating feed-in premium, such that electricity suppliers with power purchase agreements offtaking from successful projects will be entitled to support payments from the PSO Levy fund
to the extent the market reference price above zero is lower than the strike price. Suppliers will then make different
payments to the PSO Levy fund to the extent the market reference price exceeds the strike price. Operation of
RESS is therefore in contrast to the REFIT fixed subsidy, which provided a minimum price for each unit of electricity exported to the grid.
Post-2007 (under the SEM) and prior to 2017 (and the implementation of I-SEM), all generators participating in
the SEM were entitled to receive capacity payments in return for the availability of generation capacity. Since
2017, in order to receive a capacity payment, a generator must bid in a capacity auction, which bid must specify
both the amount of capacity being offered and the price sought for that capacity. Bids are arranged from the lowest
to the highest price until the capacity requirement for the relevant year is met. Capacity that has been bid in at or
less than the last bid price clears the auction and is paid this market clearing price; capacity that is bid in at more
than the market clearing price is deemed unsuccessful. If successful in auction, capacity providers (i.e. generators)
receive a contract for difference. Under such contract, the generator will receive a regular capacity payment, but
must also refund customers for any energy prices which rise above a set strike price for each capacity auction. Due
to their intermittent nature, wind farms do not typically participate in capacity auctions or enter into capacity
contracts.
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3. WORKING CAPITAL STATEMENT
In our own opinion, we do not have sufficient working capital for a period of at least twelve (12) months. Considering the obligation to repay the Equity-Bridge Loan in an amount of EUR 29.34 million (plus accrued interest)
the latest by 15 July 2023 (see "2.2.12 Material Contracts"), we would not be in a position to meet our payment
obligations that become due within the next twelve (12) months without the proceeds from this Offering or additional working capital.

3.1.1

Timing

Our existing working capital resources would be insufficient to repay the Equity-Bridge Loan on 15 July 2023.

3.1.2

Shortfall

Assuming that the banks that provided senior financing for our Solar PV and/or wind parks did not allow us to
rout the cash on the bank accounts of our Operating SPVs up to the Company via an extraordinary repayment of
share-holder loans (see action plan below), our shortfall of working capital would amount to approximately
EUR 25 million.

3.1.3

Action Plan

Assuming the net proceeds of this Offering amount to at least EUR 25 million, our working capital would be
sufficient to meet our capital requirements for a period of at least twelve (12) months.
For the repayment of the Equity-Bridge Loan, we will try to enter into arrangements with the banks that provided
senior financing for our Solar PV and/or wind parks for them to allow us to rout the cash on the bank accounts of
our Operating SPVs up to the Company via an extraordinary repayment of shareholder loans. The banks' consent
is necessary as the financing arrangements provide that cash distributions by the Operating SPVs are only admissible once the annual accounts of the respective Operating SPVs have been prepared. Due to the high energy prices,
many of our Operating SPVs benefit from a higher cash position than initially forecasted. If and to the extent this
would not lead to sufficient funds being available at Company level to repay the Equity-Bridge Loan, we intend
to either sell certain of our wind or Solar PV parks or minority shareholdings in the respective Operating SPVs or
to refinance the Equity-Bridge Loan through debt or equity financing.
We are very confident that we will be successful in obtaining sufficient working capital through the above mentioned measures.

3.1.4

Implications

Should none of the above mentioned measures to obtain additional working capital be successful, which we deem
highly unlikely, we would try to agree a standstill with our large creditors and would, if this also failed, have to
file for the commencement of insolvency proceedings.
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4. RISK FACTORS
An investment in the shares of clearvise AG, Wiesbaden, Germany ("we", "our", "us" and, together with its consolidated subsidiaries, the "Group" or "clearvise Group", and all shares of the company (the "Company") together
the "Shares", and each share a "Share"), is subject to risks. According to Article 16 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129
of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017 on the prospectus to be published when securities
are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a regulated market, and repealing Directive 2003/71/EC, as
amended, the risk factors featured in a prospectus must be limited to risks which are specific to the issuer and/or
to the securities and which are material for taking an informed investment decision. Therefore, the following risks
are only those risks that are specific to us and to the Shares and based on the Company's current assessment
material for making an informed investment decision, and consequently do not cover general risks faced by any
company operating in the markets in which we operate.
The following risk factors are categorised into subcategories based on their respective nature. Within each such
subcategory, the order of risk factors is based on the Company's current assessment with respect to the probability
of occurrence and expected magnitude of the adverse impact of such risk factors, with the two most material risk
factors (i.e., those the Company believes are most likely to have a material adverse impact) mentioned at the
beginning of each subcategory.

4.1 Risks Related to our Market and Industry
4.1.1

Long-term changes and short-term fluctuations in prevailing weather and climatic
conditions in the regions in which our renewable energy assets are located could adversely affect our profitability.

We generate our revenues from the sale of electricity produced by our Solar PV parks and wind parks which
depends on the respective local wind conditions and solar irradiation. Wind conditions and solar irradiation are
subject to change, both between the seasons and within a season. Both solar irradiation and wind conditions are
subject to periodic and sometimes unpredictable short-term changes. Future wind forecasts may be less accurate
and more difficult as volatility of wind is impacted following climate changes. As a general matter, meteorological
conditions tend to favour Solar PV parks during the second and third quarter of a calendar year in the northern
hemisphere and wind power plants in the first and fourth quarter of a calendar year, while changing weather conditions within a quarter also have an effect on such general trends. In Germany, approximately 75 % of the solar
energy generated throughout the year is produced in spring and summer (between April and September), whereas
approximately 61 % of the wind energy is generated in autumn and winter (Source: Fraunhofer ISE 2022). Although our announced objective is to achieve a balanced portfolio of Solar PV parks and wind parks in terms of
their power production, our portfolio still has a predominance of wind energy production and within the recent
calendar years our power production still tends to be slightly higher in the first half of a calendar year than in the
second half. As in our experience in the management of our portfolio, the volatility of wind energy (approximately
20–25 %) is much higher than that of solar energy (approximately 5–10 %), higher impacts on the portfolio from
weaker wind are currently possible. The weather conditions which affect the solar radiation and wind conditions
differ from region to region. Climate change is to a certain extent unpredictable and subject to ongoing changes.
In addition, there are weather conditions that could also reduce the energy that we produce with our renewable
energy assets for other reasons (e.g., extreme weather conditions that make it necessary to shut down our wind
parks, or fires in areas surrounding or renewable energy plants as recently occurred in eastern Germany this summer). Adverse weather conditions therefore have a direct adverse effect on the production of electricity by our
renewable energy assets.
There can be no assurance that long-term weather trends such as global warming or climatic changes do not lead
to an increase in the occurrence of these adverse weather conditions on a permanent basis or that their occurrence
becomes less predictable in certain regions in which we operate or even globally. The assumptions with regard to
weather conditions prevailing at the sites of our renewable energy assets underlie our purchase price calculations
and yield expectations, and, accordingly, our expectations for the energy to be produced could in such case turn
out to be overstated, which would have a detrimental effect on our revenue and profitability.
In addition, any (short-term) weather fluctuation or trend that negatively affects production of electricity by our
renewable energy assets, particularly during periods of significant production, can have a disproportionately adverse effect on our revenue and results of operations for such period. This may also lead to fluctuations in the
recognition of our revenue in our financial statements, which may make it difficult for an investor to accurately
understand our results of operations. For example, our EBITDA declined to EUR 11.4 million for the first half
year period ended 30 June 2021 from EUR 15.2 million for the first half year period ended 30 June 2020 primarily
as a result of very poor wind conditions for our wind parks, but also in Europe as a whole, during the first half year
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of 2021 as compared to very favourable weather conditions for our wind parks during the first half year of 2020.
Therefore, any long-term changes in weather trends and any short-term fluctuations in prevailing weather and
climatic conditions may have a significant impact on the production of power by our renewable energy assets and,
therefore, on our revenues.

4.1.2

We are exposed to intense competition in a market with low market entry barriers,
which may hinder our growth and adversely affect our business.

We compete for the acquisition of renewable energy assets in a usual range of 5–50 MW and rely on defying our
competitors in identifying and acquiring suitable Solar PV parks and wind park projects. We believe that the entry
barriers to our market are low because access to sufficient capital, technical know-how and commercial as well as
technical experience and expertise required for selecting, appraising, arranging project financing and operating
renewable energy assets can be obtained by investing significant funds and by hiring respective personnel. As a
result, these low market entry barriers allowed that a number of potential competitors recently entered the market
for renewable energy with relative ease and are likely to continue to do so.
We face competition from a number of internationally active companies of different company sizes. We consider
our main competitors in the field of investing in and operating renewable energy assets to be other IPPs such as
companies as 7C Solarparken or – in case the intended acquisition of their portfolio does not take place – Tion
Renewables AG, larger companies such as Germany's largest IPP ENCAVIS AG or Blue Elephant Energy AG,
subsidiaries of large insurance companies (predominantly with regard to larger projects) such as Allianz Global
Investors GmbH, Ampega Asset Management GmbH and MEAG Munich Ergo Assetmanagement GmbH, institutional funds and professional investors (including infrastructure, renewable energy investment and pension
funds) such as Luxcara GmbH, SUSI Partners AG and CEE Management GmbH, and closed-end funds such as
KGAL GmbH & Co. KG and the LHI group. In the onshore wind energy sector and at least partly in the Solar PV
park sector, we also consider energy suppliers such as, inter alia, E.ON SE, EnBW Energie Baden-Württemberg
AG and Energiekontor AG, municipal utilities and their alliances such as, inter alia, Stadtwerke München GmbH,
and citizen energy communities (Bürgerenergiegesellschaften) to be among our competitors. In addition, more
and more project development companies tend to expand their activities into holding and operating renewable
energy assets.
We cannot rule out that our current and potential competitors will have significantly greater financial, manufacturing, marketing and other resources than we do and may be able to devote greater resources. Some of our competitors may even have more extensive industry contacts and customer relationships than we have. In addition,
some of these companies may have longer operating histories, and it cannot be ruled out that they have greater
recognition in the industry than we do. Consolidation among our competitors could enhance their financial resources and geographical scope, which could strengthen their competitive position relative to ours. Furthermore,
there can be no assurance that one of our competitors may not seek to acquire us in the course of the further
consolidation of the market in which we operate.
There can be no assurance that we will be able to compete successfully in the markets in which we operate. Increased competition could result especially in a significant reduction in the number of acquisition opportunities
offering a sufficient risk/reward profile which could hinder us from implementing our growth initiative and have
a material adverse effect on our business.

4.1.3

Any changes, including retroactive changes, in the structure of country-specific tariff
schemes, including governmental incentives or subsidies for wind or solar energy, affecting our existing renewable energy assets could significantly adversely affect our profitability and the economic viability of our renewable energy assets.

As of the date of approval of this EU Growth Prospectus, our current operating portfolio consists of 37 renewable
energy assets: 19 Solar PV parks in Germany, 17 wind parks in Germany, France, Finland and Ireland, and one
biogas plant in Germany. However, the biogas plant with a capacity of ~0.8 MW is of marginal relevance considering the total portfolio's capacity of currently about 302.7 MW. As we do not intend to make any further investments in new biogas plants and there are generally no material risks that are specific to us in our biogas business
segment, we generally only refer to our wind parks and Solar PV parks in this section "4. Risk Factors" to describe
our portfolio of renewable energy assets. The success and profitability of our operating portfolio in countries we
are active today as well as in other countries in which we may be active in the future depend to a certain extent on
the structure of the country-specific tariff schemes setting the regulatory framework for energy sales. This includes
governmental incentives or subsidies (e.g., inter alia, concerning feed-in tariffs ("FiT") or contract-for-differences
("CfD", and both FiT and CfD the "Guaranteed Tariffs"), grid charges, levying of new taxes on e.g. electricity
produced or land used for renewable energy production, tightened environmental regulations (which may lead to
additional investment or curtailment obligations) and production caps or compensation floors on regulated tariffs).
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Typically governmental incentives or subsidies are regularly fixed for a period of usually 12 up to 20 years upon
commencement of the operation of a renewable energy asset.
With regard to the Solar PV park "Alsweiler II" in Germany, we have entered into a ten (10) year PPA, as the
Solar PV park has not been eligible for a FiT. After expiration of the PPA for Alsweiler II, the Solar PV park
would have to sell energy on electricity exchanges at future market price or negotiate a renewed PPA. In June
2022, we have also concluded three further financial PPAs for a transitional period until the end of 2022 for our
German wind park Weilrod and Solar PV parks Alsweiler I, Lohne I and II, whilst maintaining eligibility for the
awarded FiTs for those four parks. A financial PPA is a financial instrument. Instead of a physical delivery, a
virtual delivery of electricity takes place. It offers a price protection compared to the market price for both the IPP
and the power purchaser.
Changes in governmental regulations or laws, including retroactive changes which are not reflected in the profitability calculation at the time of acquisition, in particular with regard to factors affecting remuneration and taxes
on electricity produced that apply to our operating renewable energy assets can adversely affect our business. We
have calculated the purchase prices we paid for our renewable energy assets on the basis of the assumption that
the governmental incentives or subsidies will not change for the respective fixed period for which they are guaranteed at the start of operations. However, a number of EU member states (for example Spain, Italy and the Czech
Republic) have adopted retroactive regulatory changes in the past and also applied them to existing renewable
energy assets. In the countries in which we operate, changes with similar effects have already been implemented,
e.g., inter alia, with Germany's retrofitting obligation with regard to demand-controlled night labelling or in Ireland
and Finland with a local tax.
In consequence, initially non-calculated changes (e.g., inter alia, concerning Guaranteed Tariffs, grid charges,
levying of new taxes on electricity produced or land used for renewables energy production, tightened environmental regulations (which may lead to additional investment or curtailment obligations), and production caps
and/or compensation floors on regulated tariffs, etc.) cannot be excluded for the markets in which clearvise is or
will be operating renewable energy assets. Moreover, there cannot even be a guarantee that such changes would
include transitional provisions permitting us to secure our investments or that governments will grandfather governmental incentives or subsidies regarding the operation of renewable energy facilities, that such grandfathering
of support will be sufficient to fully balance the reduction of governmental incentives or that governmental incentives granted will not be reduced or cancelled without compensation.
But not only retroactive changes can have adverse effects on our revenues. There is a worldwide trend away from
state incentives and subsidies towards market-based models in which state tariffs only provide a minimum level
of compensation, if at all. With regard to this, the use of auctions with regard to the award of Guaranteed Tariffs
as incentive and the importance of PPAs are continuously rising. Besides the Solar PV park Alsweiler II, which
has been financed and realised without any subsidies, the wind parks Cuq and Losheim will be the first to be
affected by the expiration of their current FiT at the end of 2024 and will start to compete in the market from 2025.
For both wind parks, a repowering is in planning phase.
Such changes, especially if they have retroactive impact, could significantly adversely affect the profitability and
the economic viability of our renewable energy assets if we should not be able to acquire new ways of an economically equivalent sale of produced power. Even the expiration of currently existing governmental incentives or
subsidies for power produced by renewables and their changes for future projects can have an adverse effect on
our revenues if it should not be able to find economically advantageous means of selling the produced power.

4.1.4

Our revenues and profitability from energy sales may be materially adversely affected
if electricity prices for energy produced from conventional energy sources or other
renewable energy sources decline or if electricity prices decrease due to an increased
supply of electricity from renewable energy sources.

The demand for electricity from renewable energy sources like Solar PV and wind depends, among other things,
on the governmental plans regarding an energy transition towards more independency from oil and gas imports
and thus prevailing electricity prices and, in particular, the economic advantages and disadvantages of these forms
of energy generation compared to energy generation from conventional energy sources (such as coal, nuclear
power, oil or gas) or other renewable energy sources (such as hydrogen, tidal wave power, biomass, geothermal
and hydropower).
If prices for electricity from conventional energy sources decline (e.g. due to regulatory changes, for example,
permitting energy production methods such as fracking, the increased use of nuclear power, lower commodity
prices for oil and gas, or changes in political sentiment) or a general decline of energy prices takes place for other
reasons such as increased competition in the energy production market, electricity from renewable energy sources
in the form of wind or solar energy may become less attractive economically, which would adversely affect our
revenues. For example, certain governments such as France continue to support and invest in the extension of the
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lifespan of conventional power plants (e.g. nuclear power plants) or the construction of new conventional power
plants (particularly nuclear power plants). Against the background of the war in Ukraine, also the endeavours of
European governments to achieve more independency from oil and gas imports could lead to an extension of the
lifespan of conventional coal-fired and nuclear power plants, at least for an interim period. Any such measures in
respect of conventional energy sources which lead to lower electricity prices may materially adversely affect our
revenues.
In addition, with the continuous reduction of governmental incentives and subsidies, more and more PPAs are
being concluded and the remuneration obtained depends correspondingly on the current electricity price, which in
turn is currently heavily influenced by the development of the energy crisis as a consequence of the war in Ukraine.
An increase in new installed renewable power plants capacity which may be fostered by governmental programs
for subsidies could lead to an increase in the supply of electricity from renewable energy sources, which in turn
could result in a decline in electricity prices (supply-demand-curve). Such decrease in electricity prices could result
in the prices for electricity sourced from renewable energy assets we may acquire in the future being lower than
would otherwise be the case. In addition, a certain portion of the remuneration we are entitled to receive for the
electricity produced by some of our renewable energy assets is linked to prevailing energy prices and could also
decrease in case electricity prices decrease. This could have a material adverse effect on our revenue and profitability.
The assumptions in power price curves prepared by experts with regard to future electricity prices in periods not
covered by Guaranteed Tariffs or PPAs that underlie our purchase price calculations and yield expectations could
turn out to be overstated, which would have a detrimental effect on our revenue and profitability. Also, a decline
in carbon abatement related prices for certificates such as guarantees of origin ("GOOs") due to sinking demand
or regulatory changes may have a negative impact on our revenue and profitability.
An increase in new installed renewable power plants capacity can have a noticeable impact. An increase of hours
in which a high feed-in of renewable energy meets a low demand of electricity or an overloaded electricity grid
can even result in negative prices due to which the operator does not receive remuneration under Guaranteed
Tariffs due to legal regulations. Depending on the legal regulation of the respective country, periods of negative
prices already can have an influence on remuneration even under fixed FiT.

4.1.5

Any further reduction, elimination or changes in governmental incentives or subsidies for wind or solar energy or regulatory uncertainty in general could, even if they
do not affect our existing renewable energy assets, negatively affect our ability to
acquire renewable energy assets with an attractive yield in the future and implement
our growth initiative.

Most of the renewable energy assets that we acquired (except the Solar PV park "Alsweiler II" which was realised
without state incentives and subsidies under a PPA) benefit or will benefit from governmental incentives or subsidies. As long as the production costs for electricity from solar and wind energy in all regions in which we are
active are not lower than the production costs for electricity from other sources without governmental incentives
or subsidies, the number of acquisition opportunities and the expected return on these acquisition opportunities
depend on governmental incentives or subsidies.
Governmental incentives or subsidies for wind and solar energy have continuously been reduced or shifted to new
less economically attractive systems as auctions, and this trend is likely to continue until governmental incentives
and subsidies have disappeared. We cannot ensure that governments in countries in which we operate or will intend
to operate in the future will not decide to further reduce or cancel governmental incentives or subsidies for new
renewable energy projects or that they will not shift the share of support in favour of renewable energy sources
other than solar and wind power. Particularly in France, there is a regulation that the duration of the subsidised
FiT can be reduced in the case of overproduction of a renewable energy asset in comparison to the prior calculation.
In addition, we may not be able to replace expiring Guaranteed Tariffs in an economically attractive manner by
selling the produced electricity directly via PPAs or over electricity exchanges.
Regulatory uncertainties can also make it difficult for us to make reliable investment assumptions and generally
harm the renewable energy industry in such jurisdictions.
The introduction of regulatory changes or reductions in governmental incentives or subsidies for wind or solar
energy in countries in which we are active now or intend to be in the future could reduce the number of renewable
energy assets that are available to us that meet our yield expectations. This could have the effect that we cannot
acquire as many renewable energy assets as planned and such an effect could adversely impair our growth initiative.

4.1.6

The deterioration of macroeconomic conditions, including those caused by the war
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in Ukraine, in European markets in which we operate or intend to enter may adversely affect our business and prospects.
Our business is affected by the general level of power consumption, especially, but not exclusively, by industrial
and manufacturing production, public spending and investment levels as well as governmental subsidies and incentives, especially regarding renewable energies, in Europe and also globally. As a result, our business can be
adversely affected by downturns in European and global economies.
Factors outside our control, including but not limited to economic recessions, political tensions, armed conflicts
and war, financial crises, periods of high inflation, fluctuations in interest and exchange rates, pandemics, supply
chains distortions and changes in the fiscal and monetary policies of European governments, could lead to a decline
in demand for energy, the prices for electricity, the continuity of operations and, in turn, the profitability of energy
producers, including operators of renewable energy assets. For instance, the war in Ukraine rapidly led to distortions in the market, and the member states of the European Union ("EU") recently agreed to reduce their gas
consumption by 15 %. In particular, the agreement of the EU states could lead to a long-term reduction in energy
demand. This could, in turn, make it difficult or impossible for us to pursue our growth initiative, as we could be
unable to expand our renewable energy assets due to a lack of persons willing to purchase the electricity at levels
that make the operation of the assets profitable. Also, developments causing disturbances or disruptions regarding
supply chains (e.g. for modules, electronic components or machinery) may affect our ability to pursue our growth
initiative as planned.
With respect to European markets, the development of general adverse economic conditions, such as the war in
Ukraine, continuing influences of the COVID-19 pandemic, a possible re-emergence of the sovereign debt crisis,
increased economic and political turmoil caused by the recent so-called refugee crisis, a potential destabilization
of the EU through political and economic disagreements among its members states caused by internal or external
effects, or a collapse or deterioration of the banking sectors, among other factors, could impact our existing contractual relations with our project developers, financing banks, electricity offtakers, service providers and suppliers
and the fulfilment of obligations by us and/or them. Especially embargoes following international political tensions
can affect the supply chain for the construction of the renewable energy assets.
The increase in electricity prices improves our revenues at least in the short-term. But this price increase could
lead to adverse macroeconomic effects that could be negative for us if this leads to many end users of electricity,
companies and consumers purchasing electricity in smaller quantities.
The development of other economic and political conditions could also adversely affect our business, results of
operations, cash flows, financial position and prospects. These include, among other factors, a continuation or
further aggravation of the political and economic tensions between China and the United States, the war between
Russia and the Ukraine, especially if such conflict will spread to other European or non-European countries, tensions between Turkey and its neighbouring countries, an escalation of the conflict in Iraq, Syria and the Middle
East in general, the Korean peninsula or regarding Taiwan and their effects on global economic markets and any
deterioration in other markets in general. Many of these countries and regions play a central role in the global
energy supply, and any significant disruptions in those areas could lead to a global economic downturn with a
detrimental effect on demand for energy, including for electricity from our renewable energy assets. Especially
the conflict between China on the one hand and Taiwan and the United States of America on the other hand can
have material adverse effects on the world economy, which may lead to serious restrictions in the world trade.
This may delay the delivery of components for the construction or the maintenance of our renewable energy assets.
Therefore, a deterioration of the macroeconomic and/or political situation may adversely affect our operations and
revenues.

4.1.7

We may not be able to adequately react to technological or market developments,
which may lead to losses in revenues and detrimental effects on our growth initiative.

Even if, based on our experience, the commissioning of wind parks is possible for notably more than 20 years and
of Solar PV parks for notably more than 30 years, due to the ongoing improvement and further development of
new technologies, the market for renewable energy in Europe and globally is experiencing dynamic technological
changes. A decisive factor of our success is the timely identification of technological innovations and new trends
as well as changes in regulatory requirements. We need to be able to ensure that the Solar PV parks and wind parks
in which we intend to invest are constructed and will be operated in accordance with the latest technological
standards to ensure an attractive output of these assets. Our investment strategy furthermore needs to keep pace
with the latest technological developments and trends in the renewable energy sector in particular as to the potential
use of new renewable energy sources. Further, competitors might be able to respond more quickly to new or
changing market circumstances or technological trends.
Any failure to respond adequately to these developments or not to recognise emerging technological developments
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early enough may lead to losses in revenue and detrimental effects on our growth initiative.

4.1.8

If we are unable to maintain environmental, social and corporate governance
("ESG") standards, our reputation and corporate brand could be damaged, any future
ESG rating could be reduced or revoked and investors may turn to ESG-compliant
competitors, which has potentially an adverse effect on our business and our revenues.

Our business depends increasingly on adherence to industry-wide ESG standards and expectations regarding ESG
matters. Governmental and supranational initiatives and environmental goals are influencing market conditions in
markets related to the generation or use of energy, e.g. the EU Green Deal (climate-neutrality objective until 2050)
or the coalition agreement by the parties participating in the government of the Federal Republic of Germany
(production of energy through renewable energy plants covering 80 per cent of the power demand by 2030).
ESG criteria are a set of standards for a company's operations, and investors are increasingly applying these nonfinancial factors to screen potential investments, especially after the European Taxonomy Regulation (Regulation
(EU) No. 2020/852 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 June 2020 on the establishment of a
framework to facilitate sustainable investment, and amending Regulation (EU) 2019/2088) and several delegated
acts have been published since 2020. We believe that our adherence to industry-wide ESG standards and other
related standards creates competitive advantages for us in the market for providing renewable energy. We strive
to maintain these ESG standards as we believe that our customers and investors in the markets in which we operate
expect us to maintain these ESG standards even without any legal obligation to do so. As we grow our business
and expand into new markets, we may not, however, always be able to maintain these ESG standards in our business or to identify and adequately assess the relevant concerns of our customers, investors and the various markets
in which we operate, which could have a negative impact on our reputation and corporate brand and lead to a
reduction in, or revocation of, any future ESG rating we may have and adversely affect our business and our
revenues. We may also become subject in the future to reviews by ESG rating authorities if we were to obtain an
ESG rating, and any failure to maintain our ESG standards could separately lead to a reduction in, or revocation
of, any future ESG rating and/or result in significant additional expenses in respect of compliance and certifications
relating to our business.
As we cannot provide a formal ESG rating yet, some investors may decide against an investment in the Company,
which could reduce our possibilities for capital market financing.

4.1.9

Developers may have increasing difficulties to find suitable locations with favourable
weather conditions for renewable energy projects, which may negatively impact our
ability to acquire suitable projects.

For our further portfolio growth in line with our growth initiative clearSCALE 2025, we generally target small and
medium-sized renewable energy assets from 5 up to 50 MW. We are open to invest in parks with a larger installed
capacity as well if such a project does not constitute a bulk risk. In Europe, renewable energy assets are predominantly developed by mid-sized companies that are specialised in the development process. However, regarding
our Core Investments, we only conclude the acquisition of renewable energy assets planned by developers when
it is "ready to build" at least, "turnkey" or already "operating". "Ready to build" means that the renewable energy
asset is not built yet, but the necessary permits have been granted by the respective competent authority or authorities and the renewable energy asset project offered to us has successfully passed our assessments. Besides the
acquisition of planned projects (see above), the development of renewable energy projects may also be affected
by increasing competition. Even though we have not signed an exclusive contract with any of the project developers with whom we usually work on a more regular basis, it could become more difficult for us to acquire new
renewable energy plants in the future if the project developers do not secure suitable locations for renewable energy
plants and are therefore unable to offer them to us. Such project problems to find appropriate locations could arise
due to a number of reasons, including but not limited to regulatory provisions by building law such as distance
requirements and especially increasing environmental and species protection regulations.
This could make it more difficult to pursue our growth initiative clearSCALE 2025.

4.1.10 The construction and operation of wind and solar energy projects is highly regulated,
which may adversely affect our growth.
Wind turbines emit noise, light effects (due to shadows and reflection of sunlight from the spinning rotors), and
pieces of ice in cold weather. Solar modules emit light effects due to reflection. In addition, both wind turbines
and Solar PV parks are not fully accepted as part of the landscape, especially by residents of residential areas
nearby.
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The construction and operation of wind and Solar PV parks is regulated by the state in all our markets. Areas of
regulation concern are, for example, the permissible sound levels, the required distances from other structures or
residential buildings and the permissibility of building projects in undeveloped areas. In Germany, for example,
the Federal Immission Control Act (Bundesimmissionsschutzgesetz, BImSchG), as interpreted by technical guidelines and confirmed by the courts, generally requires that the shadow cast by wind turbines must not affect residential buildings for more than 30 hours per year, nor for more than 30 minutes per day. The environmental permits
required for the construction of wind turbines or wind parks in Germany stipulate in certain cases that the turbines
must be equipped with an automatic shutdown mechanism programmed to comply with these limits.
The high density of this regulation creates costs that can lead to a restriction in the selection of parks offered to us.
Combined with stagnating or, as we believe, increasing competition from other market participants as electricity
producers, this can reduce the potential returns from a wind park to a level that no longer meets our investment
criteria.
If we should not find parks meeting our investment criteria, this may lead to impediments in pursuing our growth
initiative.

4.2

Risks Related to our Business and Operations
4.2.1

The assessments of the location of individual renewable energy asset projects and its
possible outcome may have been incomplete or otherwise incorrect in the preparation
of the acquisition. Any such misjudgement can adversely affect our revenues.

As part of our growth initiative, we constantly seek to acquire renewable energy assets which we typically acquire
by purchasing all of the shares in the SPV holding the assets or the project rights. We invest a considerable amount
of time and financial and management resources into our acquisitions. However, we cannot guarantee that we will
identify and safeguard against all the risks or defects associated with the acquisition of new renewable energy
assets in the due diligence process on a timely basis or at all.
Before we invest in a renewable energy asset, we carry out a detailed due diligence assessment based on internal
assessments and external expert opinions. Both internal and external appraisals rely on certain assumptions for
weather conditions, capital expenditures, capital structure, financing terms, electricity price assumptions, tax assumptions, inflation development, operating and lease costs and returns. If one or more of these factors differ
significantly from our underlying assumptions, this could have a detrimental effect on the profitability of the respective facility. Since these assumptions are often made for a period of 20 to 30 (or even longer) years over the
expected life cycle of a potential project, it is difficult to predict how accurate the assumptions will be and what
effect any intervening factors may have on these assumptions.
The individual projects are exposed to different environmental influences. Therefore, the suitability of a location
for a renewable energy asset, especially regarding wind and solar resources, must be checked before the project is
acquired and built. For this purpose, expert opinions are obtained and an internal evaluation process is carried out.
During this suitability assessment, errors in assumptions and conclusions or gaps can arise that lead to an incorrect
assumption of the suitability of a location for a particular renewable energy asset or assume a higher yield than is
actually possible at that location. Thus, e.g. the excessive roughness of the environment of the French wind park
Cuq resulted in a higher maintenance effort for the chosen wind turbines, and considerably lower revenues are
generated than expected in advance. With regard to solar energy, it cannot be excluded that the actual realised
irradiation values are lower than estimated and result in lower electricity yields.
Furthermore, the success of our business depends on the durability of our renewable energy assets. There can be
no assurance, however, that our renewable energy assets will not lose their efficiency or not degrade earlier than
expected or not have a shorter lifespan than anticipated. The actual degradation and lifespan of our renewable
energy assets could differ from the respective assumptions underlying our yield expectations to our detriment, in
particular considering that even though the technology for wind turbines and solar panels is mature, the market
has only limited experience with long lifespans. Based upon market experiences, we normally assume a higher
level of efficiency and a longer lifespan than what is warranted by our suppliers. Even if a degradation or other
loss of efficiency is covered by a supplier warranty, such warranty claims may be limited by the supplier's ability
to satisfy its warranty obligations or the warranties may be insufficient to compensate our losses.
In addition, we may buy ready-to-build projects in some cases without having PPAs in place. The purchase price
for those projects is based on certain assumptions regarding the PPAs we expect to later enter into. If we are only
able to arrange PPA contracts on less favourable terms than we had assumed or not at all, this could have a detrimental effect on the profitability of the facility or even lead to a loss. In addition, there can be no assurance that
the investment and return calculations underlying our valuations are accurate, which could make the facility in
question not profitable or lead to significant losses.
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The realisation of such risk of misjudgements may adversely affect our revenues. Any loss of efficacy or degradation of the wind turbines or solar panels in our renewable energy assets could lead to a lower electricity yield or a
shorter overall lifespan for our renewable energy assets and materially adversely affect our margins and revenues.

4.2.2

We enter into technical and commercial management contracts with external service
providers to operate and maintain our renewable energy assets after they are completed. Any failure on the part of these external service providers to properly operate
and maintain our renewable energy assets could materially adversely affect our business.

We outsource the technical and commercial management of our renewable energy assets, including, among others,
continuous monitoring of the utilisation, performance and availability and regular inspections of the facilities, to
external service providers. It is very common that one single service provider acts as both technical and commercial
management company. The first contract with a company acting as technical and commercial manager after an
acquisition of a renewable energy asset is usually concluded for a term of 3 up to 10 years and the respective
company, frequently a subsidiary of the project developer, is determined at the time of its purchase. After this
initial period, the technical and commercial management of the respective renewable energy asset is put out to
tender. Here, operators known to us from our other projects who have already proven their reliability are invited
to submit bids. Generally, we select the technical and commercial management company for the following period
among these. The term of a contract with these typically is 5 years.
There can be no assurance that these external service providers have sufficient experience and expertise to properly
operate and maintain our renewable energy assets. In addition, there can be no assurance that these external service
providers will not become insolvent or comply with their contractual obligations and guarantees.
Any failure on the part of these external service providers to properly operate and maintain our renewable energy
assets could result in outages or lower electricity production and ultimately in a lower electricity yield. It also
cannot be excluded that, besides the losses due to a shutdown of a renewable energy asset, so-called retroactive
damages (Rückwirkungsschäden) may occur due to malfunctions resulting from misconduct by the technical management. Retroactive damages are damages to the grid itself or to the other means of the energy infrastructure
caused by the operation of our own plants, for example due to a defect. This can result in significant damages for
which our insurance coverage may not be sufficient. So far, we consider the risk of such damage occurring to be
low. However, with greater demands on the grid, such damage will become more likely. There can also be no
assurance that we would be able to enforce any contractual claims against these external service providers (e. g. if
they were to become insolvent or for other reasons). Further, in case of non-performance or improper performance
by the external service providers, it may be difficult for us to terminate and replace these contracts as quickly as
would be necessary to maintain adequate electricity production levels. Additionally, there is no assurance that the
contract with the successor of the service provider whose contract was terminated can be entered into under the
same terms including our costs.
Any of these developments could adversely affect our business and revenues.

4.2.3

Any failure to find, acquire and integrate suitable investment opportunities for renewable energy assets could materially adversely affect our growth initiative.

To pursue our growth initiative clearSCALE 2025 in the markets in which we are active or which we intend to
enter, we depend on our ability to find and acquire additional suitable renewable energy assets. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to find a sufficient number of such investment opportunities. The number of suitable
renewable energy projects which meet our requirements in terms of risk/reward profile, technological and regional
focus and size, and which are consistent with our profitability expectations is limited, and there typically is intense
competition for such projects which is likely to increase. Increasing costs for developing and building renewable
energy assets as, for example, currently due to the economic recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic and supply
chain bottlenecks (Source: Reuters, Global supply chain squeeze, soaring costs threaten solar energy boom) as
well as tighter environmental and species protection regulation could lead to a decrease in available renewable
energy projects that meet our profitability expectations. We could also face increased competition from other renewable energy companies with greater financial resources for potential acquisition targets located in areas with
favourable weather conditions. It may also be more difficult to locate renewable energy projects because of stricter
environmental regulations, changes in building laws (for example, increasing the required distance between a project and nearby residential buildings) or local resistance against these projects. We may also not be able to acquire
renewable energy assets because other bidders might offer higher prices or have better access to such opportunities.
Any failure to find and secure suitable investment opportunities for renewable energy assets or could materially
affect our growth initiative.
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4.2.4

If we were unable to attract and retain key management personnel and qualified employees, our ability to compete could be harmed. Due to the low staff numbers, our
success is particularly dependent on the two members of the Management Board,
from whose experience our Company benefits.

Our future growth and success depend to a large extent on the performance of the members of the Management
Board, managers, and other employees in key positions, in particular on the performance of the members of the
Management Board and other future key employees with extensive industry knowledge. It will be important for
us to hire additional experienced managers and qualified employees if we are able to expand and need those managers and qualified employees to help us grow our business. It cannot be ruled out that employees in key positions
will leave us or will no longer be available for other reasons. At the same time, we may have difficulties recruiting
new qualified personnel, and training them may involve considerable costs or may not be possible at all.
We currently have eleven employees, including three working students. The members of the Management Board
are responsible for the main tasks of our Company. With many years of experience, both members of the Management Board advise and prepare, inter alia, acquisitions and the strategy of the Company. Although they require
the approval of the Supervisory Board for certain operations, e.g. investments of EUR 25,000.00 or more, our
success is closely linked to them. This refers to the success and failure of individual decisions made by the Management Board. But, in addition, there is also the risk that we will not be able to find a replacement with comparable
experience after a possible resignation of one or both members of the Management Board. This could have a
significant adverse effect on the internal growth initiative clearSCALE 2025, and the (medium-term) goals we
have set might not be achieved, so that our future prospects could also deteriorate considerably.
The occurrence of any of the above factors could impede our ability to compete or manage further growth of our
business as it is our aim according to our internal growth initiative clearSCALE 2025. In addition, even the mere
announcement of the resignation of one or both members of the Management Board from the Company could have
a significant adverse effect on the market price of our Shares.

4.2.5

Potential constraints in the electricity grid, including the lack of sufficient technology
for storing electricity, in our key markets could adversely affect our revenue and
growth prospects.

Despite efforts to improve the electricity grid network to host more generation capacity from large-scale solar and
other renewable energy sources in many countries, transmission and distribution system operators in certain countries have said that there is limited capacity for more solar energy to be fed into the electricity grid in certain
regions of those countries. In addition, there is still a lack of storage options for generated electricity when the
demand for electricity is low.
As a general illustrative example, transmission and distribution operators in the Netherlands have warned that
energy generation from renewable sources such as solar energy are growing faster than the grid improvement plans
to host this generation capacity. This has led to scarcity of transport capacity and thus refusals of requested connections or uncertainty on the viability of connecting new projects, such as solar projects in certain provinces in
the northern part of the Netherlands. This means in general there is a risk that electricity from renewable energy
sources may, in certain cases, not be able to be fed into the electricity grid at all or only at reduced levels. In case
of disruptions, in some countries power generators will, however, be obliged to temporarily reduce or stop their
generation, and providers of electricity from renewable energy sources may not be compensated at all or only on
reduced terms where the feed-in of power into the electricity grid is constricted or reduced.
As we do not operate any renewable energy asset in the Netherlands yet, this has not currently affected our operations. However, there is a regulation in France according to which the grid operator can shut down the grid for
even several weeks, in particular for maintenance and/or extension purposes. During this time, it may not be possible to feed in produced power into the grid. The regulation does not provide for an adequate compensation for
the loss of income for produced and hypothetically fed-in power. In Germany, for example, compensation by grid
operators is limited to the FiT and does not reflect current significantly higher market prices for electricity.
A shutdown of the grid for several weeks may have material effects on our revenues. Beyond this, a scarcity of
transport capacity in any country where we operate our renewable energy assets could have an adverse effect on
our revenues and growth prospects if a growing number of future acquisition opportunities cannot rely on available
transport capacity and/or if transport capacity is only available in the form of a non-firm connection.
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4.2.6

Changes and disturbances in, as well as cyber-attacks on, the electricity grid or the
connections of our renewable energy assets to the electricity grid could prevent us
from feeding the electricity produced by our renewable energy assets into the electricity grid, which could adversely affect our revenues.

The feed-in of the electricity produced by our renewable energy assets into the available local electricity grid
depends on the existing connection to such electricity grids at the respective grid connection point. Changes or
disturbances in the electricity grid connection or the local electricity grid to which the respective facility is connected may adversely affect the amount of electricity that our renewable energy assets can feed into the electricity
grid. The same applies to cyber-attacks on the electricity grid, which are a threat, e.g. Russian hacking attacks were
suspected in disturbances at wind turbines in March this year. This risk has probably increased with the start of
the war in Ukraine and the now obvious dependence of Germany and other European countries on fossil energy.
If and to the extent that we cannot feed electricity into the grid, we cannot generate revenues from energy produced
by our renewable energy assets. This also applies – despite compensation obligations of the grid operator sometimes required under applicable renewable energy law, for example, in Germany – in the event of a potential
shutdown of our renewable energy assets because of a capacity overload of the grid. In addition, in some European
countries such as Germany, the development of the electricity grid lags behind the needs of the power system and
the connection requests from energy producers. Whilst the electricity grid is being modernised and expanded in
those countries, it sometimes goes offline for certain periods of time which leads to a loss in revenue for us. There
can be no assurance that we can successfully enforce potential damage claims against the grid operator in such
cases. Further, feed-in priority currently afforded to our renewable energy assets will be limited in the future which
could make market access more difficult.
In addition, our renewable energy assets must meet specific technical requirements imposed by the grid operator.
If a new Solar PV park or wind park does not meet these requirements despite a positive assessment by us and our
consulted experts prior to its acquisition, it is technically impossible to be connected to the local grid. In such an
event, the technical adjustments required to remedy the situation could lead to additional costs and/or delays in the
construction of new renewable energy assets even if these risks are generally transferred from us to the developers.
At least, such delays may lead to lower revenues as we cannot sell any energy in the corresponding time until the
remedy, if at all.
If we cannot feed produced electricity into the grid due to the materialisation of this risk, this could have a material
adverse effect on our revenues.

4.2.7

If the entities purchasing the power produced by our renewable energy assets under
long-term PPAs fail to make timely payments or default under these agreements, this
could materially adversely affect our revenues.

We sell the whole amount of electricity generated in our Solar PV park Alsweiler II exclusively to an international
energy supplier as private offtaker under a PPA with a fixed term of ten (10) years. The electricity prices payable
by the Offtaker which is the purchasing contractual party are fixed for the entire term of the PPA. The current
single Offtaker itself distributes power purchased under the PPA to industrial bulk purchasers and redistributors
and is obliged to purchase the wholly generated electricity by the Solar PV park Alsweiler II.
In addition, in July 2022 we entered into three further financial PPAs with another international energy supplier to
hedge high market prices for electricity for the sale of the produced power in our wind park Weilrod and the Solar
PV parks Lohne I, Lohne II and Alsweiler I. These PPAs will expire on 31 December 2022. In 2023, the FiT will
be applicable again.
While we currently generate a small portion of our revenues from the sale of electricity produced by our renewable
energy assets under a PPA, we expect to sell the electricity generated by renewable energy assets that we acquire
in the future predominantly through PPAs with private offtakers as Guaranteed Tariff systems are likely to be
gradually phased out in the coming years in all jurisdictions where we operate renewable energy assets. Under
Guaranteed Tariff systems which are a very common method for subsidizing renewable energy, the electricity
produced by a renewable energy asset and fed into the grid is compensated normally by a country, state or public
entity at a price above the market price that is fixed for a long-term period.
The obligations of an Offtaker under a PPA are typically not backed by state guarantees or other state support. The
creditworthiness of the Offtaker is therefore of crucial importance. If the PPAs were terminated or the Offtakers
experienced financial difficulties, and eventually failed to make timely payments under the PPA or became bankrupt, or could not perform their obligations under the PPA for other reasons, this could result in a significant loss
of revenue from the respective project and possibly also lead to a default and a termination of the respective PPA
by the Offtaker. If the Offtaker failed to make timely payments or defaulted under the PPA, there can be no guarantee that we would be successful in entering into a PPA with a new Offtaker on terms generating comparable
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revenue for us or at all. Even if we are able to enter into a new PPA with a new Offtaker, this would likely take
considerable time and resources, trigger significant costs and result in a significant period of time during which
we could not generate revenues.
Any occurrence of these factors could materially adversely affect the payments we achieve and in consequence
our revenues.

4.2.8

Any delays in the commencement of the operation of our renewable energy assets or
in the completion of their construction, any significant overcapacity or any disruptions or lengthy periods of downtime could result in a lower compensation for electricity fed into the grid due to degression or no compensation at all.

In some countries, Guaranteed Tariff schemes and other forms of compensation are subject to degression. A basic
degression means that once the targeted amount of newly approved total capacity is reached in a given year, only
a reduced Guaranteed Tariff or other incentive will be granted to facilities that are connected to the grid afterwards.
Accordingly, any delays with respect to the finalisation of the construction of a renewable energy asset and its
connection to the grid in cases where we acquire "ready-to-build" projects or facilities "turnkey" may lead to
reduced Guaranteed Tariffs or other incentive or even no FiT or other incentive for the electricity produced. The
reasons for such delays may be, inter alia, limitations of building periods due to natural conservation laws in
certain areas (e.g. because of breeding season particularly during spring and summer of every year), supply difficulties, or a delay in the issuance of a permit by competent authorities for the project and the cable corridor due to
changes of law or opposition of the communities living in the areas where the projects shall be realised.
Our strategy is to acquire mostly "turnkey" or "ready-to-build" renewable energy assets, with the requirement that
they have obtained all required public permits and the future grid connection of the facility is ensured. In certain
situations, we make investments even if the "ready-to-build" status of a renewable energy asset project has not yet
been reached. Although we try to reduce the risks by inclusion of penalties in EPC agreements, delay in the commencement of operations of our renewable energy assets may lead to lower revenues than expected or no revenues
at all, which could in turn have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flow and results
of operations. There can be no assurance that the losses that we suffer from a reduced Guaranteed Tariff or other
incentive or the absence of a Guaranteed Tariff or other incentive will be compensated by the seller of the project
or the facility under construction, as the purchase agreement may not provide for a purchase price adjustment if
there is a delay or the seller may not be able to perform a respective obligation.
Any such event can lead to lower revenues and profits.

4.2.9

If individual components for the construction of the renewable energy assets are no
longer available, delays can lead to a loss of revenue.

In many cases, we acquire renewable energy assets that are "ready to build". At this point, all the necessary permits
for the planned construction of a plant have already been obtained. As a matter of general practice, we usually
agree with the developers that the project risks such as the occurrence of delays or an overrun of costs are only
transferred to us at the time of turnkey handover. However, it may be that individual components of a planned
renewable energy asset are no longer available during the construction phase and can no longer be procured at the
initially expected price or at all. This may lead to rescheduling, new calculations and possibly also to the need to
obtain a new building permit. In addition to further costs, this can also result in considerable delays in completion
of the renewable energy asset and, in the worst case, the cancellation of the project both of which could have an
impact on our revenues.
Any delay due to the lack of necessary components could lead to lower revenues and lower profits.

4.2.10 We depend on third-party suppliers performing engineering, procurement and construction services for our renewable energy assets. Any failure on the part of such
third-party suppliers to provide such services in the required quality, quantity and
time could materially adversely affect our revenues.
We depend on third-party suppliers performing engineering, procurement and construction services (the "EPC
Contractors") for our renewable energy assets. In general, for our Core Investments we only conclude binding
acquisition contracts for renewable energy asset projects if they have reached a so-called "ready-to-build" status
at least or are "turnkey" or already "operating". "Ready to build" means that the renewable energy asset is not built
yet but the necessary permits have been granted by the respective competent authority or authorities and the renewable energy asset project offered to us has successfully passed our assessments. For the construction of the
renewable energy assets, we rely on EPC Contractors for engineering services, the choice of the actual materials
used to or for the assembly of the various parts of the facilities, in particular, the solar panels and inverters used in
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Solar PV parks, the foundations of wind turbines, the wind turbines and the other components of the wind parks
and the construction work. However, there can be no assurance that the EPC Contractor will perform these services
in the required quality, in the required time or at all. In particular, it is possible, that construction delays occur due
to problems in the supply chain. There may be significant product quality issues or construction deficiencies. If
defective components cannot be replaced (for technical reasons or because the components are no longer available)
or if it is too costly to replace them, the amount of electricity produced by the respective renewable energy assets
may be reduced significantly. Moreover, we may even be forced to shut down the operation of certain renewable
energy assets because of defective components or installations. Even if covered by most of our insurance policies,
which we believe to be adequate, it also cannot be excluded that, besides the losses due to a shutdown of a renewable energy asset, so-called retroactive damages may occur due to construction errors or other defects present or
created during the construction. This term refers to damages to the grid itself or to the other means of the energy
infrastructure, e.g. a substation, caused by the operation of our own plants, for example due to a defect. This can
result in significant damages for which our insurance coverage may not be sufficient. The existing insurance policies for our biogas plant and the wind park Champvoisin are the only insurance policies that do not yet cover
retroactive damages. Additionally, after an acquisition of a new renewable energy asset, it may be the case that we
are bound by contracts concluded by the selling party; it cannot be excluded that these contracts do not yet include
coverage for retroactive damages. Only after their expiration, we may cover such retroactive damages in a new
insurance policy. Even if there is sufficient coverage, it cannot be excluded that the insurer may not cover the
claim and we may therefore be faced with litigation, the outcome of which is uncertain.
In addition, the EPC Contractor may become insolvent or default on its obligations to us or perform improperly or
may not perform these obligations on time, for example, due to price increases of materials, procurement, freight
or personnel expenses required for the construction of a Solar PV park, as it was recently the case due to the
economic recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic and supply chain bottlenecks (Source: Reuters, Global supply
chain squeeze, soaring costs threaten solar energy boom).
In any of these cases, we would need to find another EPC Contractor. This may not be possible on the same terms
including but not limited to prices or at all and may lead to a delay in the construction of the renewable energy
asset or may even render the completion of the project impossible.
Therefore, the occurrence of any of these developments could materially adversely affect our revenues.

4.2.11 We depend on the development and successful implementation of IT control, risk
monitoring and management systems by all parties involved in the production and
distribution of our energy, the failure of which can materially adversely affect our
revenues. These systems are also vulnerable to damage or interruptions from cyberattacks and third-party intervention or manipulation.
We require appropriate internal organisational, accounting, risk-monitoring and risk management structures, as
well as back-up and recovery systems that enable the early detection of undesirable developments and risks to
organise and operate our renewable energy assets. In addition, every party involved in the process of generation
and distribution of our energy, i.e. the technical management company, the direct distributor, the grid operator and
the maintenance company, needs to fulfil the same requirements. All these parties can take influence on the work
of our renewable energy assets while our IT systems monitor the functioning of our renewably energy assets in
parallel. Therefore, the IT systems of all parties involved are critical to the operation of our renewable energy
assets. As wind and Solar PV parks are considered critical facilities or infrastructures ("KRITIS"), all parties
involved are subject to special security requirements, including those for IT systems. The integration of newly
acquired SPVs into the risk management structures of the Group generally takes time and involves financial and
personnel expenses.
The respective IT systems are potentially vulnerable to damage or interruption from a variety of sources or to
security threats, in particular cyber-attacks on electricity infrastructure in Germany and other European countries
and third-party intervention and manipulation. Due to the tense dependency situation of European countries, it
cannot be ruled out that, in connection with the war in Ukraine, the electricity infrastructure of Germany and other
European countries will be a target of cyber-attacks. Although precautions have been taken to manage the risks
related to system and network disruptions, an extended outage in a digital control system, data centre, engineering
and automation system or communications interlink or network utilised by our renewable energy assets, any security breaches or any similar event could lead to an extended unanticipated interruption of the operation of our
renewable energy assets, thereby leading to a temporary breakdown of essential IT infrastructure relying on the
continuous operation of our renewable energy assets.
Any such significant breakdowns or interruptions could lead to a decrease in our margins and a loss of reputation
and customer confidence.
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4.2.12 We may be liable for contaminated or polluted properties and sites and the surrounding environment used by our operating companies. Any such liability could materially
adversely affect our margins.
The properties on which our renewable energy assets are located may contain ground contamination, hazardous
substances, wartime relics and/or other residual pollution and environmental risks. This could particularly be the
case where the facility in question is located on properties that were previously used for industrial production
purposes prone to contamination (so-called "special use areas"). The assets themselves barely contain any hazardous substances, although risks cannot be ruled out.
In addition to the current and former owners of the property as well as parties that have caused the contamination,
a company using a property, i.e., an SPV operating our renewable energy assets, may be under a statutory obligation to conduct a cost-intensive assessment, remediation or removal of such ground contamination, hazardous
substances, wartime relics and/or other residual pollution, irrespective of causation. We may therefore be required
to incur such costs if such ground contamination, hazardous substances, wartime relics and/or other residual pollution are discovered on the properties where our renewable energy assets are located. Even if we are entitled to
take recourse against the polluter and/or the current and previous owners of the properties, such recourse might
not be successful, for example, if the person responsible for the contamination cannot be identified or the polluter
or owner are unable to fulfil such recourse obligations. In such event, we will be held responsible for the costs of
remediation, which could adversely affect our margins.

4.2.13 Restrictions and limitations regarding subsidies for electricity produced by renewable
energy sources may become more stringent in the future, which could make it more
difficult for us to identify suitable opportunities to invest in renewable energy assets
and materially adversely affect our growth initiative.
Governmental subsidies and incentives for renewable energy assets are subject to restrictions and may be limited
once a certain total capacity of renewable energy assets installed in a country has been reached. In Germany, for
example, both rooftop and ground mounted solar installations are subject to a size restriction of 20 MW per facility
in order to be eligible for FiT. In this context, the capacity of Solar PV parks located within two kilometres of the
facility in question that have commenced operations within the previous 24 months are included in determining
whether the facility is within the 20 MW limitation even if such other facility is operated by a third party. In
addition, there were laws in certain countries like Italy pursuant to which the subsidisation of Solar PV parks
stopped once the overall installed capacity exceeded certain threshold. Such laws may be reintroduced at any time.
In other countries, the annual tender volumes incrementally decrease from year to year, which means that the
chances of receiving an award in a tender gradually decrease over time. These requirements and limitations may
become more stringent over time.
This would make it more difficult for us to identify suitable opportunities to invest in renewable energy assets and
materially adversely affect our growth initiative.

4.2.14 We may incur unexpected costs in the dismantling of our renewable energy assets,
which could adversely affect our margins.
We are required to dismantle our renewable energy assets at the end of their life cycle or as a result of dismantling
orders in connection with the withdrawal of a permit or for other reasons, such as an early termination of leases.
The costs of dismantling, specifically for wind parks, vary significantly depending on type and location. Where
required by law, such as in Germany, we have made financial provisions in our financial statements which we
believe would cover such costs. However, there can be no guarantee that these provisions would be sufficient to
cover the actual future dismantling costs. We have not set aside provisions for the dismantling of our Solar PV
parks as we expect the remaining value of the parks at the end of their useful life to exceed the dismantling costs.
However, there can be no assurance that the dismantling costs for our Solar PV parks will not be higher than their
remaining value.
Any miscalculation of the costs of dismantling our renewable energy assets could adversely affect our margins.

4.2.15 Our plans to expand our European activities could expose us to additional risks due
to the prevailing conditions in the respective countries.
For the year ended 31 December 2021, 76.8 % of the power we produced and 71.2 % of our revenues have been
generated outside of Germany, i.e. in France, Ireland and Finland. For the first half of 2022 (as of 30 June 2022),
76.6 % of the power we produced and 46.3 % of the revenues have been generated outside of Germany. An expansion into other European countries, namely Italy, the Netherlands and/or Poland, is currently in evaluation. Our
future Core Investments in renewably energy assets are and will be limited to Europe without any restriction to
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the member states of the European Union or the European Economic Area. This may expose us to a number of
risks, including the general political, economic, social, legal, cultural and tax conditions prevailing in the individual
countries, unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, compliance with a larger number of local laws and
regulations which may contain regulations unknown to us and which may differ significantly from legal standards
in the countries we already operate within. We are not familiar with many of the practices in new countries yet
and may therefore not accurately assess the opportunities and risks of the respective markets.
The materialisation of this risk could have a material adverse effect on our business and revenue.

4.2.16 The failure to sell any of our renewable energy assets on acceptable terms could lead
to the incurrence of losses.
We acquire our renewable energy assets with the intention of holding and operating them until their lifecycle ends.
However, it cannot be excluded that we may in the future wish to sell certain of our renewable energy assets for a
number of reasons, including to overcome liquidity shortages. There can be no guarantee that we will be able to
find interested buyers at all or within an expected time frame, or that we will be able to negotiate an acceptable
purchase price or a price which at least corresponds to the asset's actual value, appropriate representations and
warranties, adjustments or other features customary for such contracts. In addition, we may be exposed to post
acquisition claims by the purchasers if defects are uncovered in our renewable energy assets for which we provided
contractual warranties to the purchaser.
The failure to sell any of our renewable energy assets on acceptable terms could lead to the incurrence of losses.

4.2.17 We may not succeed in maintaining and strengthening our reputation in the industry,
which may materially and adversely affect our ability to implement our growth initiative by acquiring additional renewable energy assets.
Our business and prospects depend on our ability to maintain and strengthen our reputation, which is essential to
create long-term relationships with project developers, EPC Contractors and electricity offtakers. Any failure to
do so may materially and adversely affect our ability to acquire additional renewable energy assets if the sellers,
mostly project developers, no longer regard us as reliable or competent partners which can execute an acquisition
quickly, with a high degree of certainty and being open-minded for innovative opportunities. There can be no
guarantee that we will not default in the future on contractual obligations vis-à-vis sellers of renewable energy
assets, EPC Contractors or electricity offtakers or that other events will not occur which cast doubt on our ability
to execute projects effectively.
The occurrence of any such events, in particular, if they received significant media coverage, could adversely
affect our reputation.

4.2.18 We may not be able to manage future growth in our business or industry effectively,
which may lead to a reduction in our margins.
As a result of the significant growth in our business, especially since 2021, and our anticipated future growth, we
need to hire and train highly skilled employees at all levels and improve our internal financial, reporting, risk
management and compliance and administrative capabilities in the near term. It cannot be ruled out that we will
not be able to recruit enough staff to cope with the growth in line with our growth initiative. We may also need to
address new administrative, financial and regulatory challenges of entering new markets. Even if we are able to
manage these tasks, we face the risk of balancing too many projects at one time and continually shifting resources
between the projects, which may result in significant inefficiencies and may cause us to miss deadlines and deliver
poor quality.
The significance of large acquisitions of renewable energy assets during our growth phase could also increase,
which could lead to a higher than usual dependency on significant acquisitions to grow our business. Any such
dependency on significant acquisitions to grow our business could expose our business to a bulk risk and the risk
that we are unable to process such large acquisitions in the course of our business. In addition, if the growth in the
renewable energy industry is similar to the growth in our business, foreign competitors may seek more aggressively
to enter our markets or enter into joint ventures with our competitors. It is also possible that national governments
could make it easier for foreign competitors to enter their local markets to foster increases in demand for renewable
energy and to ensure that political considerations for expanding the renewable energy market are met in line with
national and EU government policies.
Any lack of ability to manage our growth or business could adversely affect our development, our margins and
also, in consequence, our profits.
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4.2.19 It is possible that, in the event of repowering of the surrounded wind turbines, we will
not receive the necessary permit to relocate our solar modules in the Klettwitz North
Solar PV park to vacant land. This could have an impact on our revenues.
The entire renewable energy asset Klettwitz-Nord is a combination of wind turbines owned and operated by another company that have been in operation for a long time, which are surrounded by our Solar PV park belonging
to us which was subsequently placed this year. For our Solar PV park, there is an obligation to remove the solar
panels in the event of a possible repowering of the wind turbines in 2030 or later. In order to be allowed to place
them elsewhere, especially on vacated sites of former wind turbines, a new building permit by the competent
authority is required. It is possible that this building permit will be denied or challenged and that a new installation
of the dismantled solar panels in the near area of the Solar PV park will no longer or only at a later point in time
be possible.
This could reduce the income from the Solar PV park, which would continue to flow to us.

4.3 Risks Related to our Financial Position
4.3.1

Our further growth depends on the availability of equity capital, corporate debt and
project financing, the failure of which could harm our growth initiative and profitability.

The successful implementation of our growth initiative clearSCALE 2025, which includes the expansion of our
portfolio from currently 378 MW (operating and contracted capacity together) up to 1 GW (operating and contracted capacity together) in 2025 through the acquisition of additional renewable energy assets, requires significant capital. About 50 to 90 % of the total investment volume in renewable energy assets are generally financed
through non-recourse senior loans at the SPV level. Accordingly, an investment in a Solar PV park or wind park
also requires that we have sufficient funds to cover the additional equity capital financing required for the remaining 10 to up 50 % of the investment volume.
To continue to implement our growth initiative, we will need external funding or we will need to issue additional
equity. There can be no assurance that such funds will be available to us at acceptable terms or at all, in which case
we would be unable to acquire further renewable energy assets.
It also cannot be ruled out that – for regulatory or other reasons – banks will in the future be less willing to provide
loans or make increasing demands for such lending, such as applying higher fixed interest rates or implementing
stricter requirements with regard to financial ratios and collateral for the investments.
Any such restrictions could prevent us from implementing our growth initiative and could harm our profitability.

4.3.2

If we are not able to pay back the equity-bridged financing in July 2023, the bank
may enforce its claim and, in particular, execute against the assets of the Group.

On 23 December 2021, one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries has entered into an equity-bridged financing contract
(the "Equity-Bridge Loan") as borrower with a financing provider (the "Lender") in the total amount of
EUR 29.34 million to interim finance the acquisition of the German Solar PV park Klettwitz-Nord (the "PVA
Klettwitz-Nord") and its development and construction costs. The Company has provided a parent company guarantee with regard to the repayment of capital and payment of interest. The amount is to be repaid by 15 July 2023
at the latest in one single payment.
Moreover, under the Equity-Bridge Loan, there are a number of customary events of default that could trigger the
early termination of this contract, such as non-adherence to representations made in context with the Equity-Bridge
Loan, e.g. with regard to corporate legal issues, and a default on debt service. Should any such event of default
occur and the Lender terminate the existing Equity-Bridge Loan earlier than set forth in the contract, this would
subject us to the obligation to immediately repay the total loan amount of EUR 29.34 million together with accrued
interest and compensate the Lender for damages incurred.
The respective wholly-owned subsidiary has assigned all its claims and rights vis-á-vis the SPV that operates PVA
Klettwitz-Nord and pledged all shares in said SPV to the Lender for security purposes.
If we should not be able to pay back the Equity-Bridge Loan through liquid funds, we would try to enter into
arrangements with the banks that provided senior financing for our Solar PV and/or wind parks for them to allow
us to rout the cash on the bank accounts of our Operating SPVs up to the Company via an extraordinary repayment
of shareholder loans which would under the financing arrangements only be admissible once the annual accounts
have been prepared already during the fiscal year. Due to the high energy prices, many of our Operating SPVs
benefit from a higher cash position than initially forecasted. If and to the extent this would not lead to sufficient
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funds being available at Company level to repay the Equity-Bridge Loan, we intend to either sell certain of our
wind or Solar PV parks or minority shareholdings in the respective Operating SPVs or refinance the Equity-Bridge
Loan through debt or equity financing.
If the aforementioned measures were not successful, the respective SPV would not be able to pay back the EquityBridge Loan and the Company would have to pay back the outstanding money to the Lender under the guarantee.
This would at least mean a significant outflow of money. If the Company was not able to pay back the EquityBridge Loan, the Lender could enforce collateral and/or the Company could, in consequence, be required to downsize its portfolio by selling renewable energy assets which would lower the Company's cashflow or file for insolvency due to illiquidity (Zahlungsunfähigkeit).
This could have a materially adverse impact on our finance position and liquidity.

4.3.3

We do not have sufficient working capital to meet our liquidity requirements over the
next 12 months considering the obligation to repay the Equity-Bridge Loan and may
not be able to raise sufficient funds to finance our working capital needs.

We do not have sufficient working capital to finance our liquidity requirements from July 2023 stemming from
the obligation to repay the Equity-Bridge Loan in an amount of EUR 29.34 million (plus interest accrued). The
loan is to be repaid by 15 July 2023 at the latest in one single payment together with accrued interest. Accordingly,
we believe that if we are not able to enter into arrangements with the banks that provided senior financing for our
Solar PV and/or wind parks for them to allow us to rout the cash on the bank accounts of our Operating SPVs up
to the Company via an extraordinary repayment of shareholder loans which would under the financing arrangements only be admissible once the annual accounts have been prepared already during the fiscal year, or to attract
additional funds from external financing or from sales of one or more of our wind or Solar PV parks or minority
shareholdings in one or more Operating SPVs, we will run out of working capital in July 2023. If we were not able
to source sufficient working capital by 15 July 2023 at the latest, we would try to agree a standstill with our large
creditors and would, if this failed, have to file for the commencement of insolvency proceedings.
This could have a severe impact on our financial situation, our assets, and our existence.

4.3.4

The interest rate and the inflation rate may further increase and thus an increase of
financing and other costs could reduce the profitability of our operating assets.

The prices we are paid for electricity of our renewable energy assets either in the form of subsidised FiTs or under
PPAs are fixed for terms of up to 20 years from commissioning. In most countries we are active in the payment
mechanisms normally do not provide for any adjustments to compensate for increases in inflation.
The large majority of our investments is predominantly debt-financed via non-recourse project financing. The
project companies as special purpose vehicles ("SPV") have taken over the financing of the respective renewable
energy assets, in general without us providing collateral or participating in the financing contract. Therefore, the
money lenders cannot approach the Company to enforce their claims for repayment and interest payments, the
financing is "non-recourse". Typically, our plants that benefit from Guaranteed Tariffs are debt-financed to the
extent of about 70 %, whereas the renewable energy assets whose generated electricity is intended to be sold by
means of long-term PPAs, i.e. PPA with a term of ten years or more, are debt-financed to the extent of about 50 %.
Historically, projects with Guaranteed Tariffs have received project debt-funding of up to 90 %. While some of
our loan agreements have a fixed interest rate, others contain a floating interest rate. Even if, in general, we have
hedged the variable interest rate loans by interest rate swaps, the financing can then become more expensive. If
floating interest rates increase, the SPV's financing costs for loans increase, as does the need to provide a higher
proportion of equity or collateral. Financing with a fixed interest rate can be affected after expiry of the loan
agreement if there is still a residual amount to be financed. This may in return affect the payments the SPVs are
able to provide us. This could affect our ability to finance and result in us having no or fewer opportunities to
acquire new assets as well as limit the opportunity of future dividends.
In exception to the usual non-recourse financing construction, we have provided a parent guarantee for the SPVs
obligation under the PPAs concluded for our Solar PV parks Lohne I and Lohne II, Alsweiler I and our wind park
Weilrod. If there is an event of default by the corresponding SPV, we are financially responsible for this. This
could have an adverse impact on our earnings.
Besides the financing, other costs we incur for operating our renewable energy assets, such as costs for the commercial and/or technical management, turbine maintenance, lease of the land, insurance premiums or spare parts,
may be subject to inflationary adjustments. The costs for technical and commercial management as well as other
operative costs are usually indexed. As we cannot assure that the prices we can realise for our produced power
sells may be adjusted, it is not excluded that an increase of our operating costs may exceed the prices we achieve
for the sale of electricity. Increases of our operating costs can also appear because they are not always fixed for
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comparatively long periods which may lead to adjustments after short-terms. Especially with regard to our small
biogas plant, substrate prices can increase, as supply contracts typically cannot be fixed long-term because those
depend on harvest quality. Furthermore, an increase in power prices can notably increase the cost for the commercial and/or technical management, turbine maintenance, lease of the land regarding those contracts, where the
remuneration is expressed as a percentage of the park revenues.
If the increase in the inflation rate in the countries in which we operate leads to an increase of our operating costs
while the electricity prices for electricity that we generate stay the same or cannot be adjusted appropriately, this
could have an adverse effect on our revenues.

4.3.5

Our lending banks may terminate our loan agreements early if we breach our agreements with them or if certain financial covenants are not met, which could materially
adversely affect our financial position and liquidity.

The majority of investments in wind or Solar PV parks are financed through non-recourse project financing provided by a bank to the Operating SPV. Depending on the specifics of the project, the country and the energy sales
remuneration structure (FiT, PPA, etc.) between about 50 % and 90 % of the total investment volume of a Solar
PV or wind park can be funded by such project finance. clearvise is aiming at a leverage of up to 75 % only in
order to maintain our intended equity ratio of 25 % (whereas the equity ratio as of 30 June 2022 was 22 %). The
loans include customary market agreements (so-called covenants) on the borrower's compliance with defined financial ratios. In principle, the lender has the right to call in the loans paid immediately in the event of noncompliance with the covenants. Typical financial covenants are debt service coverage ratio, loan life coverage
ratio and debt-to-equity ratio or failure to comply with reporting obligations. If such loan agreements are terminated before their maturity date, we may be obligated to repay the outstanding amount of the loan together with
accrued interest and damages. This would result in a significant burden on the earnings, financial and asset situation of the clearvise Group. The clearvise portfolio companies have therefore concluded non-recourse project financing agreements in which the liability of the project-financing bank is limited to the assets of the respective
borrower (i.e. portfolio company). There can be no assurance that we will have sufficient funds available to make
such payment.
Our group company Eurowind AG ("Eurowind") is a holding company owning five SPVs in Germany, France
and Republic of Ireland and has entered into certain loan financing agreements to finance its wind park assets. In
this portfolio financing construct, three German SPVs (owning our wind parks Broich, Düngenheim, Repperndorf)
and one French SPV (owning our wind park Cuq) (the "Eurowind SPVs") are jointly liable and cross-collaterise
the liabilities under the financing agreement of the respective other Eurowind SPVs, subject to certain limitations
due to statutory capital maintenance requirements under German and French law. This means that if one Eurowind
SPV cannot fulfil its contractual payment obligations under its financing agreement, the respective other Eurowind
SPVs are liable to make these payments to the financing banks. In addition, and also subject to certain limitations
due to statutory capital maintenance requirements under German and French law, each of the Eurowind SPVs has
granted collateral to the financing banks which may not only be enforced in case itself defaults on its obligations
under its own financing agreement, but also in case one of the other Eurowind SPVs defaults on its obligations
under its financing agreement. In case a Eurowind SPV would have to make a payment or collateral provided by
it was enforced with regard to the liabilities of another Eurowind SPV, this could also trigger an event of default
under its own financing agreement.
In addition, each of the Eurowind SPVs is liable for and has granted collateral with regard to the liabilities of the
SPV owning our Glenough wind park (the "Glenough SPV") under its financing agreement. Accordingly, the
above mentioned consequences could also arise for the Eurowind SPVs if the Glenough SPV would not fulfil its
obligations under its financing agreement. However, this does not apply vice versa, i.e. the Glenough SPV is not
liable and has not provided collateral with regard to the liabilities of the Eurowind SPVs under their financing
agreements.
The aggregate outstanding amount of all Eurowind SPVs under financing agreements was approximately
EUR 29.5 million as of 30 June 2022. The eleven outstanding loans have to be repaid as follows:
•

three loans due 30 September 2024 with a total outstanding amount of approximately EUR 1.6 million;

•

one loan due 30 June 2025 with an outstanding amount of approximately EUR 2.3 million;

•

two loans due 30 September 2025 with a total outstanding amount of approximately EUR 14.2 million;

•

one loan due 30 December 2025 with an outstanding amount of approximately EUR 2.4 million;

•

two loans due 30 September 2026 with a total outstanding of approximately EUR 1.4 million; and

•

two loans due 30 September 2027 with a total outstanding amount between them of approximately EUR 7.7
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million.
Therefore, in case of a default under the financing agreement of one of the Eurowind SPVs or the Glenough SPV,
the adverse consequences would not be isolated with and limited to the respective SPV, but could have a knockon effect that could also negatively affect the (other) Eurowind SPVs which, in turn, could have a material adverse
effect on our financial position, revenues and profitability. The early termination of any of our project loans could
materially adversely affect our financial position and liquidity.

4.3.6

Our actual results may differ from the results that we are aiming for in our publicly
announced guidance for 2022 and the mid-term target for 2025.

To maintain a healthy growth, we have set ourselves concrete goals in several business areas for the future up to
and including the year 2025 by our growth initiative clearSCALE 2025. Our core targets include the further extension of the portfolio's diversification and growth, a switch to hybrid instruments and bonds for an increased
flexibility in financing and the establishment of an active route-to-market management with higher transparency
and the possibility for faster action. The clearSCALE targets have the following economic measures: an equity
ratio of more than 25 %, the expansion of the portfolio to 1 GW (750 MW of which operational and 250 MW
contracted), the achievement of an operating EBITDA margin of 73 % according to HGB standards and the increase of our turnover to more than EUR 60 million. Our goal for 2022, the aim to achieve a portfolio capacity of
operating renewable energy assets with 300 MW, was reached in April already.
Furthermore, we publicly announced on 17 October 2022 that, taking into account preliminary production and
sales data from January to August 2022, we have increased our sales and earnings forecast for the current 2022
financial year for the third time. For commercial prudence, we continued to use only secured prices from FiT and
PPA for the forecast for the second half of 2022. In view of the strong performance in recent months, driven by
continued favourable market conditions and significantly increased electricity prices in our target markets, we now
expect consolidated revenue for the 2022 financial year to be in the corridor of EUR 55 to EUR 59 million. In
addition, we are also raising our forecast for adjusted Group EBITDA and now expect adjusted Group EBITDA
for 2022 to be in the corridor of EUR 41 to EUR 45 million. The adjusted Group EBITDA margin would thus be
in the region of around 75 % to 76 %. Furthermore, we continue to forecast electricity production in a range of
480 to 540 GWh for 2022.
Anyway, it is possible that due to many reasons, in particular the realisation of any risk mentioned in this section
"4. Risk Factors", not all or even any targets will be achieved. Even if the target of 2022 has been achieved very
soon, this does not even necessarily entail that regarding the portfolio capacity we will achieve our target for the
end of 2023, which consists of an operating capacity of 432 MW. Further, the raise of our guidance does not mean
that we necessarily will realise the announced forecast.
This could have adverse effects on the development of the Company.

4.3.7

We are dependent on the results of operations of our subsidiaries.

We conduct a substantial part of our operations through our direct and indirect subsidiaries which own and operate
renewable energy assets. These subsidiaries are separate and distinct legal entities. To cover our operating costs,
we substantially rely on distributions that we receive from our subsidiaries and other investment interests or, as
the case may be, scheduled repayments and interest payments of loans granted to our subsidiaries. The distributions
by the subsidiaries depend, in turn, on their operating results and their ability to make timely distributions under
applicable law and eventual restrictions by project financing agreements. No assurance can be given that such
funds will be sufficient in the future to satisfy all of our payment obligations when due.
If we do not receive sufficient payments from our subsidiaries, we would likely not pay dividends to our shareholders and, in a worst-case scenario, may be obliged to file for bankruptcy.

4.4 Risks Related to Legal, Regulatory and Tax Implications
4.4.1

Any decision by the European Commission to declare the existing renewable energy
surcharge and incentive system to grant financial support for the production of electricity from renewable sources of energy a violation of the EU state aid rules could
adversely affect our revenues and growth prospects.

The existing renewable energy surcharge and incentive system to grant financial support for the production of
electricity from renewable sources as applied by various EU member states is also continuously under scrutiny by
the EC as to its compliance with the EU state aid rules. While the EC has found the German system to be generally
in line with the EU state aid rules, there can be no guarantee that such assessment will always be maintained and
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that the EC will not hold that the prevailing systems in the future violate EU state aid rules. This could lead to
reductions, limitations or cancellations of financial support for renewable energy or obligations for the beneficiaries of such systems to repay received incentives in full or in part. For example, the European Court of Justice has
held in the past that a support scheme that France has applied in the past constituted state aid. In another case, the
EC held that the main Dutch renewable energy incentive scheme constitutes state aid within the meaning of Article 107 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union and had to be notified to the European Commission
under the EU state aid rules. In addition, there is a risk that payments of the guaranteed compensation to facilities
that are considered to be in difficulties can be regarded a violation of state aid rules. Therefore, there is a risk that
if a facility is considered to be in financial difficulty under the state aid rules, further payments of guaranteed
compensation could be considered a violation of state aid rules, resulting in a potential claim for restitution of such
payments. If any of the governmental incentives or subsidies from which our renewable energy assets benefit are
found to breach EU regulations on state aid or other EU regulations, we may no longer receive governmental
incentives or subsidies and/or could be required to repay governmental incentives or subsidies received in the past
for our respective renewable energy assets.
Any decision by the European Commission to declare the existing renewable energy surcharge and incentive system to grant financial support for the production of renewable sources of energy a violation of the EU state aid
rules could adversely affect our revenues and growth prospects.

4.4.2

The countries in which we operate could adopt a so-called excess profits tax or a
similar measure, which could significantly affect our revenues.

Excess profits taxes have historically been levied mostly in wartime or immediate post-war periods. But also in
peacetime, there were occasional selective excess profits taxes, especially after large price shocks (Source: Advisory Board BMF). Some European countries, inter alia, Great Britain, Romania, Spain, Belgium and Italy, recently
introduced a taxation of so-called excess profits for companies in the energy sector. In addition, the EC recommends that member states impose a temporary tax on supernormal profits to finance measures that are taken to
cushion the price shock of increasing energy prices for households and industries (Source: EU, Joint Action). Such
tax targets excess profits that companies in the energy sector are making due to the increased commodity as a
consequence of the war in Ukraine. After a discussion on the adoption of an excess profits tax in Germany, the
German Federal Government agreed in its so-called third relief-package (Drittes Entlastungspaket) to implement
a price cap for IPPs who do not produce power from gas (so-called electric power price cap, Strompreisbremse).
If such price cap would be implemented, we would have to pay revenue that we generate by selling electricity at
a price exceeding such price cap to the tax authorities. This would reduce our revenues and harm our profitability.
In the determination of profits for tax purposes, parts of the revenues are also attributed to the Company as profit,
which are actually only a compensation for the costs incurred by the Company. The actual costs of the Company
often deviate from these factor charges attributed to the tax profit. If the revenues exceed the actual costs, one
could speak of excess profits; in the terminology of economics they would be called real economic profits, net
profits or rents. In functioning competitive markets, competition between companies ensures that excess profits
do not occur systematically in the longer term, but largely disappear on average. In the shorter term, shocks such
as the Covid-19 pandemic or frictions caused by the war in Ukraine, such as supply shortages, the disruption of
supply chains, sanction-related interruptions in trade relations or sudden changes in demand, can rapidly change
the ratio of revenues to costs. Some companies may quickly find themselves in an existentially threatening predicament while others temporarily generate extraordinary revenues; in the current debate, these surpluses are referred
to as excess profits (Source: Scientific Advisory Council BMF).
The excess profits are a political target of taxation because citizens and companies of other sectors suffer from an
increase of the prices for energy without being able to substitute the sources of energy or to reduce their consumption. Across the governments of several member states of the EU, there is a political consensus that this situation
is unfair and should be solved by the introduction of an excess profits tax. As the disclosed non-paper of the EC
shows, there are several possible ways how an excess profits tax or similar effect could be implemented resp.
achieved, in particular, the way of determining excess profits is significant for the impact of a possible excess
profits tax. Besides the specific form of such tax, its term is unclear as well. As the efforts to introduce an excess
profits tax or a similar measure exist across Europe, this is to be expected in all other countries where we operate
renewable energy assets. The countries in which we currently operate did not yet adopt an excess profits tax, but
its introduction in whatever way could have a material effect on our revenues that cannot yet be estimated.
Although our calculations are based on Guaranteed Tariffs and contractually agreed prices of PPAs which are far
lower than the current market prices for electric power, the introduction of such an excess profits tax or a similar
measure could adversely affect our financial situation, especially the amount of freely accessible cash, and could,
therefore, have an adverse impact on our access to debt capital, our possibilities to invest into new renewable
energy assets, the achievement of the goals of our growth initiative clearSCALE 2025 and the payment of dividends or at least the market price of our Shares.
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On 06 October 2022, the EU member states formally adopted the Council Regulation (EU) 2022/1854 of 06 October 2022 on an emergency intervention to address high energy prices for the time period between 01 December 2022 and 31 March 2023 and to generally cap the market revenues at EUR 180 per MWh for electricity generators, including intermediaries, that use so-called inframarginal technologies to produce electricity, such as renewables. The mandatory cap on market revenues shall apply until 30 June 2023. However, the Council Regulation
leaves EU member states the option to implement measures leading to a more extensive extraction of excess profits. (Source: European Council, 06 October 2022) According to market rumours, the German government has
plans to make use of this option. It seems to be the intention to levy 90 % of the revenues generated in excess of a
certain price limit as an excess tax with the price limit being calculated on the basis of standardised production
costs and an additional "safety buffer" which shall be larger for electricity sold via the futures market than for
electricity sold in the spot market. According to a formal response dated 09 November 2022 to an oral question
from a member of the German parliament, it seems that it is the German government's intention to apply these
rules for electricity produced as from 01 September 2022. However, market rumours indicate that an application
from 01 November 2022 is planned. As our calculations, including the profits forecast (see "2.7 Profit Forecasts
or Estimates"), are conducted conservatively, they should be affected only in case of an introduction with retroactive effect, affecting time periods before September 2022. As of the date of this EU Growth Prospectus, there is
still no reliable and concrete information on the German excess profits tax. It cannot be excluded that these
measures lead to us generating significantly lower revenues in the short term than would otherwise be the case. If
Germany, France, Ireland, or Finland made use of such option, this would have a negative impact on our revenues
and harm our profitability.
This materialisation of this risk could have adverse effects on our liquidity, the whole finance situation of the
Company and the market price of our Shares.

4.4.3

We are subject to tax laws and regulations in Germany and other European countries. Our tax burden may increase as a consequence of future tax treatment of dividend payments, non-deductibility of interest payments, current or future tax assessments or court proceedings, or based on changes in domestic or foreign tax laws and
double taxation treaties or changes in the application or interpretation thereof.

We are subject to the tax laws and regulations of Germany and other European countries, and operating entities in
different legal forms across Europe increases complexity. Our tax burden depends on various aspects of tax laws
and regulations, in particular, between Germany and the countries in which we are operating, as well as their
respective application and interpretation. To date, all our affiliates are within the EU, but double taxation treaties
become of more importance once investing outside EU. Amendments to tax laws and double taxation treaties, for
example, an increase of statutory tax rates or the limitation of double tax relief may have a retroactive effect, and
their application or interpretation by tax authorities or courts is subject to change. Furthermore, tax authorities
occasionally limit court decisions to their specific facts by way of non-application decrees. This may also increase
our tax burden.
Our ability to distribute dividends in the mid-term future will depend largely on dividend payments made by our
subsidiaries. Among other things, these intra-group distributions are subject to withholding tax (Kapitalertragsteuer) on multiple intra-group levels. No assurance can be given that the taxation of intra-group distributions will
not negatively affect our ability to pay dividends in the future.
Thin capitalisation rules in various jurisdictions restrict the tax deductibility of interest expenses and the possibility
of companies to carry forward non-deducted interest expenses to future assessment periods. As the interpretation
of these rules is not entirely clear in many jurisdictions, it cannot be ruled out that the competent tax authorities
will take a different view regarding the tax deductibility of interest expenses than our subsidiaries.
In recent years, certain new taxes and levies have been introduced with regards to the operation of renewable
energy assets, e.g. in Finland and Ireland. It cannot be ruled out that further new levies could be imposed.
The Company and certain holding company entities of the Group render services, such as the provision of loans,
to other Group entities on a regular basis in exchange for payment of market standard interest rates in accordance
with applicable laws. Tax authorities may try to challenge this transfer pricing system applied by the Group, which,
if successful, may lead to additional tax payment obligations and increased costs.
Changes in tax laws or in the interpretation of tax laws by courts or tax authorities, as well as the materialisation
of any of the risks described above could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash
flows and results of operations.
Tax authorities or tax auditors may interpret regulations differently or assess provisions as too low, which may
lead to additional payments and reduce our earnings.
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4.4.4

Most of our renewable energy assets are located on or can only be accessed through
properties owned by third parties, and any failure to secure and maintain access
rights to these renewable energy assets may materially adversely affect our results of
operations.

Most of our renewable energy assets, including structures, ancillary facilities and cable routes to the point of grid
connection, are built on properties or can only be accessed through properties owned by third parties. The facilities
are operated based on long-term lease or easement agreements and/or servitudes granted to the benefit of the SPVs
owning and operating our parks. We cannot assure that we will at all times hold all rights of use necessary for the
operation of all of our renewable energy assets or that such rights of use will not fall away due to certain legal
defects or a termination by the counterparty. The absence of such rights may lead to increased costs and losses in
revenues, either because we are required to negotiate new or additional agreements granting us such rights at
additional costs or, if this cannot be agreed to, the respective renewable energy assets might have to be partly or
completely shut down and/or relocated.
In case of an enforcement action against the real property in question, there can be no assurance that the usage
rights of the SPV will not be negatively affected or will cease to exist.
Moreover, the loss of a right to use a required property for a specific renewable energy asset could entitle the bank
providing the project financing to terminate their financing agreement with us and request early repayment of the
loan, which could force us to refinance the existing debt at that specific renewable energy asset at unfavourable
conditions or, if we cannot successfully refinance such debt, ultimately result in an enforcement action by the
lending banks against the assets of the particular facility, which are always granted as collateral to the bank. This,
in turn, could lead to the ultimate abandonment of the particular project and expose us to a loss of revenue and
significant additional financial exposure.
The materialisation of this risk could materially adversely affect the results of our operations.

4.4.5

The successful challenging or revocation of public permits, government approvals or
local development plans for renewable energy projects could materially adversely affect our revenues. Limitations to the operations of our renewable energy assets due
to conditions of a governmental permit could limit our revenues, which could materially adversely affect our business.

Project developers are required to obtain governmental approval and submit land development plans for renewable
energy projects. Under German law, for example, project developers have to obtain a construction permit to build
a facility and permission under the German Emission Control Act (Bundesimmissionsschutzgesetz) to construct a
wind facility with a height of more than 50 meters. Such permits are containing licensing requirements and orders
with respect to environment and species protection, including curtailment obligations or monitoring requirements,
e.g. related to birds or bats.
Our strategy for Core Investments is to acquire mostly "turnkey" or "ready-to-build" renewable energy assets, with
the requirement that they have obtained all required public permits and the future grid connection of the facility is
ensured. However, there can be no assurance that existing public permits and government approvals obtained by
the project developers will not be challenged and/or revoked. We cannot, for example, exclude the possibility that
developers of projects in which we have invested or in which we will invest in the future have not conducted or
failed to conduct an obligatory environmental impact analysis which could result in the revocation of existing
permits. If any such events were to occur, there is a risk that projects may not be realised as planned or already
existing facilities may have to be partially or completely demolished or taken out of business. Additionally, legal
challenges by third parties like local residents and civil associations may lead to delays in the completion of a
project, even if the public permit or government approval is ultimately confirmed and not withdrawn or limited.
For instance, in France, legal actions against environmental permits of onshore wind parks are quite frequent. In
Germany, for example, citizens' acceptance of the construction and development of wind farms in the south of the
country is on a low level. Recently, a local resident near the Solar PV park Klettwitz-Nord filed an administrative
suit to contest the building permit for our Solar PV park.
The granting of governmental permits required for the construction and operation of a renewable energy facility
is subject to the fulfilment of certain requirements by the developer and operator of the facility. A failure to meet
such formal requirements may result in a limitation in scope of the permit, a temporarily shutdown of a renewable
energy asset, an imposition of other restrictions on the facilities or, in the worst case, in the withdrawal of permits
granted, which may lead to delays or cancellation of projects under construction or a cessation of operations of
existing renewable energy assets.
Furthermore, approvals regarding the construction of renewable energy assets, in particular wind parks, often include shutdown obligations under certain circumstances. Pursuant to such obligations, wind parks may have to be
71

deactivated if certain noise emission thresholds or shadowing limits regarding neighbouring structures are exceeded, or if there is a risk of grid overload or the necessity to protect specific species, such as bats. It may also be
necessary to change the inclination of solar panels, e.g. to exclude glare effects. So far, there has not been an outage
for a long period due to an obligation to shut down a renewable energy asset. Despite the obligation of the authorities to compensate the operator for the shutdown of a renewable energy asset under certain circumstances, this
may result in significant losses for us.
In addition, authorities may subsequently amend existing permits for renewable energy assets and impose additional conditions and limitations on us, in particular, if violations of nature protection regulations or endangered
species protection matters are detected during the monitoring of the operation of the renewable energy asset. In
certain countries, e.g. France, parts of environmental impact studies have to be repeated on a regular basis. The
competent authorities may also impose the obligation to temporarily curtailment or permanently shut down a renewable energy asset, or to implement or conduct measures to eliminate the violation of laws if this is essential
for the protection of third parties or the nature.
The materialisation of this risk could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows
and results of operations.

4.4.6

Future changes to laws, ordinances and directives as well as case law and administrative measures could result in additional requirements for the construction or operation of projects at the expense of profitability.

The national and supra-national laws and regulations that regulate our business, including in particular environmental laws, are subject to permanent change and tend to become stricter over time. Other important laws such as
energy laws, e.g. the German Energy Industry Code (Energiewirtschaftsgesetz), could also change in the future,
and such changes could adversely affect our business. To comply with such amendments of the laws and regulations for the operation of our renewable energy assets, we will have to expend additional resources. For example,
but not exclusively, safety-relevant retrofits must be carried out, increased traffic safety obligations must be implemented, stricter requirements of the grid operator to ensure grid stability can lead to necessary retrofits in operational management, and the introduction of additional grid charges or infrastructure levies as well as additional
species protection-related shutdowns or throttling as a result of exceeding stricter noise immission values can affect
our operations. In addition, repeated public opposition of local communities could lead to the adoption of additional or more restrictive requirements, making it difficult and costly to obtain the necessary authorisations to build
Solar PV parks and wind parks. Such legal changes may make the expansion of projects more difficult, complicated and expensive. In the worst case, they make retrofits necessary, which may result in the continued operation
of a renewable energy asset being uneconomical.
In addition, the construction of ground mounted Solar PV parks or wind parks usually requires an amendment of
the local development plan (Bebauungsplan). In the jurisdictions in which our renewable energy assets are located,
third parties are entitled to challenge such an amendment in court, which could also result in delays of the finalisation of the project or ultimately prevent us from building such facilities.
For example, in Germany, Solar PV parks frequently may only be constructed on the basis of a project-related
local development plan (vorhabenbezogener Bebauungsplan), which requires the execution of an implementation
agreement (Durchführungsvertrag) between the public authority and the operator of the Solar PV park, containing
certain implementation obligations of the operator before the operator can commence operations. In the absence
of such agreement or the implementation obligations, the local development plan may be declared invalid and
affect the necessary building permit, which could finally lead to delays in the completion of the project or failure
of the entire project.

4.4.7

Our internal controls, procedures, compliance systems and risk management systems
may prove to be inadequate to prevent and discover previous or future breaches of
laws and regulations and generally to manage risks.

We are subject to the laws of Germany and other European countries. Members of our governing bodies, employees, authorised representatives or agents may intentionally or unintentionally violate applicable laws and internal
standards and procedures, in particular in relation to anti-corruption, money-laundering, antitrust and sanctions
compliance as well as compliance with laws and regulations regarding sales practices, products and services, environment, finance, employment and general corporate and criminal law. While we seek to maintain adequate
organisational measures and processes to ensure compliance, there can be no certainty that our internal controls,
procedures, compliance and risk management systems will be able to identify such violations, ensure that they are
reported in a timely manner, evaluate them correctly or take the appropriate countermeasures, and that they will
be adequate for an enterprise of our scale and complexity.
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Further, and considering our low staff number in connection with the implementation of our growth initiative
clearSCALE 2025, there can be no certainty that any countermeasure we implement will be appropriate to reduce
the corresponding business risks effectively, that breaches of law, regulations or internal controls have not occurred
in the past or that their discovery would not result in significant liability or reputational damage for us. Moreover,
in light of continuously evolving legal and regulatory requirements, and internal developments such as corporate
reorganisations, there can be no certainty that our risk management systems, internal controls and compliance
systems and related governance structures will adequately identify and address all relevant requirements.
Any failure to effectively prevent, identify or address violations of our legal obligations as a result of inadequate
internal controls, procedures, compliance systems and risk management systems could result in penalties and other
sanctions, liabilities, the assertion of damages claims by third parties, and reputational damage, each of which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

4.5 Risks Related to our Shareholder Structure, the Shares and the Offering
4.5.1

The market price of the Shares may deviate significantly from the Subscription Price,
and the share price or the trading volume of our Shares could fluctuate significantly,
and investors could lose all or part of their investment.

The Subscription Price for the New Shares is not be indicative of and may deviate significantly from, prices that
will prevail in the market following this Offering. Even during the Offering, the market price might fall below the
Subscription Price which might restrain existing shareholders in exercising their subscription rights.
Following completion of the Offering, the trading volume and price of the Shares may fluctuate significantly as a
result of a variety of factors, including our actual or anticipated financial performance, changes in earnings forecasts, the operating and share price performance of other companies in the industry and markets in which we
operate, our level of debt, our liquidity, newly acquired assets or services offered by us or our competitors, changes
in or failure to meet stock analysts' expectations, legislative and regulatory developments affecting our business,
supply and demand for the Shares, changes in general market conditions and other factors beyond our control such
as the current energy crisis and a feared recession. Moreover, the general volatility of share prices may create
pressure on the share price even if there might be no reason for this in our operations or earnings potential. The
market price of the Shares could fall if this risk were to materialise, in which case investors could lose some or all
of their investment. The market prices from trading of the Shares that are already included in the Open Market
(Freiverkehr) of the m:access segment of the Munich Stock Exchange (Börse München), and of other stock exchanges in Germany at the date of this prospectus, is no guarantee for the level of the price or the continuation of
a liquid market.
Changes to our and our competitors' operating results as well as changes in the general situation of the industry,
the economy as a whole and the financial markets may lead to considerable price fluctuations of our Shares. Moreover, it cannot be ruled out that a liquid trading in the Shares will cease to exist in the stock markets.
This risk could adversely affect the market price of the Shares. In addition, it cannot be ruled out that a decrease
in the price of the Shares will have a negative effect on our future refinancing efforts.

4.5.2

Our major shareholder could act contrary to the interests of the other shareholders.

Tion currently holds voting rights of 21.9 % in clearvise. In addition, we entered into a MoU with Tion, pursuant
to which the parties agree that we shall acquire the operational wind and Solar PV park portfolio of Tion by way
of a capital increase in kind besides an amount payable in cash. The MoU does not yet bind the parties to the
execution of the transaction. It is therefore possible that the transaction will not take place for detrimental due
diligence findings or whatever reason. This may also be the case if the implementation of the transaction would
be actually advantageous for us, but Tion should decide against the implementation of the transaction for other
motives. According to the MoU, it is understood that Tion will own at least 40 % and maximum 45 % of clearvise's
outstanding share capital and voting rights following the possible settlement of the acquisition of the Tion Portfolio.
As a result of the concentration of share ownership, and subject to the attendance rate of shareholders in the shareholders' meeting and in connection with the high amount of freefloat, Tion is able itself, regardless of the voting
behaviour of the other shareholders, to exert considerable influence over us and, if necessary, to influence all
matters, which require the approval of shareholders, including the election of the members of our supervisory
board (Aufsichtsrat) (the "Supervisory Board") and the authorisation of essential capital measures.
The interests of Tion may be different from our and the other shareholders' interests. Tion may use its influence to
make certain transactions more difficult or impossible, e.g. by delaying, postponing or preventing certain major
corporate actions, including a change of control in the Company, and could thus prevent mergers, consolidations,
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acquisitions or other forms of business combination that might be advantageous for other shareholders.
It cannot be ruled out that Tion or future major shareholders will pass resolutions that are contrary to the interests
of the remaining shareholders.

4.5.3

Due to the inclusion of our Shares in the Open Market, certain investor protection
provisions relating to regulated markets do not apply.

Our Shares are listed on the Open Market (Freiverkehr) of several stock exchanges in Germany. Disclosure and
reporting obligations for issuers and their shareholders are lower on the Open Market compared to the standard of
the regulated market as the German Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz) does not apply to shares
listed on the Open Market. In particular, a shareholder's obligation to notify the Company of the number of voting
rights or instruments held upon reaching or crossing certain thresholds is not applicable. Notifications regarding
holdings are limited to reaching or losing a 25 % or a majority participation in the issuer in accordance with the
German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz). Furthermore, investors obtaining control, i.e. at least 30 % of the
Company's voting rights, over the Company are not required to make a public offer to all shareholders to acquire
their shares in accordance with the German Securities Acquisition and Takeover Act (Wertpapiererwerbs- und
Übernahmegesetz), and its minimum pricing rules as long as our Shares are not admitted to trading on a regulated
market. As a consequence, compared to an issuer whose shares are listed on a regulated market, investors may
obtain less information on our shareholder structure and would not be protected in case of a change in control by
a statutory exit option and its minimum pricing rules.
This may have a material adverse effect on the price or liquidity of our Shares.

4.5.4

Future sales of a substantial number of Shares, or the perception that such sales may
occur, could lead to selling pressure, which might have a negative effect on the price
of the Shares.

Our shareholder structure is characterised by the participation of few professional investors and a large presence
of private investors with a minor participation. The liquidity in our Share is volatile. Sales of a substantial number
of Shares in the public market, or the perception that such sales might occur, could depress the market price of the
Shares. If, as the case had been, private individuals are disposing shares in the stock market without setting a limit,
the market price of our Shares could deeply decline. Investors who did not set a limit could, therefore, sell their
shares at a much lower price than they had intended when confirming the deal.
Also if, e.g., our larger shareholders 16 such as Tion (21.9 % of the voting share capital) or Union Investment
Privatfonds GmbH (5.3 % of the voting share capital) conduct a sale of a substantial number of their Shares in the
stock market or if there are market rumours about such a sale, this could impact the market price of our Shares
adversely. The MoU signed between clearvise and Tion foresees that, in conjunction with the possible acquisition
of the Tion Portfolio by clearvise, Tion will enter into a customary lock-up agreement. It cannot be excluded that
Tion may sell its Shares upon expiration of such lock-up. Additionally, directors' dealings or speculation around
such sales could negatively affect the stock price of our Shares around the lock-up end date. The sale of a substantial number of the Shares via the stock market or market rumours about such sale could lead to selling pressure
with regard to the Shares.
If there is an insufficient number of buyers for the Shares, this could lead to a steep decline in the stock exchange
price of the Shares.

4.5.5

Future offerings of equity securities by the Company could adversely affect the market price of the Shares, and future capitalisation measures could substantially dilute
the interests of our shareholders.

Future equity offerings of new shares by clearvise may have a material adverse effect on the price of the existing
Shares. In the Underwriting Agreement, we have undertaken vis-à-vis the Sole Global Coordinator not to issue
any new shares in the first six months after the settlement of the current capital increase, subject to certain exceptions, such as the envisaged acquisition of the Tion Portfolio (so-called "lock-up"). However, after expiration of
our lock-up, we may require additional capital to finance our business operations and growth. Therefore, we may
seek to raise capital through offerings of additional equity securities or securities with a right to convert into equity
(e.g. convertible bonds and option rights). An issuance of additional equity securities or securities with conversion
rights could potentially adversely affect the market price of the Shares and would dilute the economic and voting
interests of existing shareholders if made without granting subscription rights to the Company's shareholders. Even

16

Shareholding according to the Management Board's best knowledge, as per registration for voting rights in AGM 14 July 2022.
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if our shareholders were granted subscription rights, investors in certain jurisdictions may not be able to acquire
and/or exercise any subscription rights due to local laws. Because the timing and nature of any future offering
would depend on market conditions, it is not possible to predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of future
offerings.
In addition, such dilution may arise from the acquisition or investments in companies in exchange, fully or in part,
for newly issued Shares, as well as a potential exercise of stock options and the issuance to our employees in the
context of possible future stock option programs. With regard to the already publicly announced intention of a
transaction with Tion to acquire their portfolio of renewable energy assets in exchange, in part, for newly issued
Shares, such dilution is imminent in the event of the implementation of this transaction.
Furthermore, a proposal to the general shareholders' meeting to take any of the abovementioned measures, with
dilutive effects on existing shareholders, or any other announcement of such proposal, could adversely affect the
market price of the Shares. In addition, the Offering's price may imply an equity value which is higher than the
equity recognised in the statement of financial position. There is no guarantee that this higher enterprise value can
actually be realised in future sales of the Shares.
In order to avoid dilution in the context of a capital increase, shareholders generally have a subscription right to
new shares by statutory law. If this subscription right is not excluded, as in the case of the pending capital increase,
a shareholder must exercise his subscription rights within the subscription period. Subscription rights for the New
Shares will expire if they are not exercised by 07 December 2022, i.e., the end of the subscription period. If a
shareholder does not exercise its subscription rights, its percentage shareholding in clearvise will decline and its
voting rights will be diluted. This dilution will be proportional to the percentage rate by which our share capital is
increased and to the extent to which the shareholder does not participate in the capital increase. Based on
63,457,289 Shares and assuming that 11,898,240 New Shares will be issued in total, each shareholder's percentage
ownership in our share capital and its voting rights would decrease by 18.7 % per existing Share. If our shareholders elect to sell their subscription rights, the consideration they receive, if any, may not be sufficient to fully compensate them for the dilution of their percentage ownership. The New Shares will be offered to the existing shareholders at a subscription ratio of 16:3, i.e., three New Shares may be acquired at the subscription price for every
16 existing Shares.
Shareholders who do not hold 16 Shares or integral multiples thereof will not be able to exercise any or all subscription rights as shareholders are not entitled to purchase New Shares or to a cash compensation if and to the
extent that the subscription ratio leads to fractional amounts of shares.

4.5.6

Our Management Board will have broad discretion over the use of the proceeds we
receive in the Offering and might not apply the proceeds in ways that increase the
value of the investment in the New Shares.

Although the rules of procedure (Geschäftsordnung) for our Management Board are setting the guidelines for
numerous Supervisory Board approval requirements, especially for investments, discretion over the use of net
proceeds from the Offering is with the Management Board. Investors will be relying on the judgement of the
management and the statutory limitations regarding the application of these proceeds. The net proceeds might not
be applied in ways that ultimately increase the value of the investors' investment. We expect to use the net proceeds
from the Offering as equity to finance the acquisition of new renewable energy assets in accordance with our
investment strategy and investment criteria in order to pursue our growth initiative clearSCALE 2025. The remaining net proceeds, if any, are intended to be used for other pipeline projects and general corporate purposes.
Investors will not have the opportunity to influence our decisions on how to use our net proceeds from the Offering.

4.5.7

No assurance can be given that a trading market will develop for the subscription
rights and, if a market does develop, the subscription rights may be subject to greater
volatility than the Shares of the Company.

Neither we nor the Sole Global Coordinator will apply for any subscription rights trading on any stock exchange.
We and the Sole Global Coordinator will endeavour to achieve trading of the subscription rights, e.g. via a broker
in the Open Market of one of the stock exchanges where our Shares are listed. While the Company is interested in
reaching a tradability of the subscription rights in the Open Market, neither the Company nor the Sole Global
Coordinator have an influence on the establishment of a trading of the subscription rights and, following such
potential rights trading, the establishment of an active trading market in the subscription rights, or sufficient liquidity.
If the trading of the subscription rights is not possible, or an active trading market does not develop or is not
substantial, the shareholders may not be able to sell their subscription rights.
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4.5.8

If the Offering hereunder is not consummated, the subscription rights may become
worthless.

The Offering of the New Shares that is the subject of this Prospectus may be terminated under certain circumstances. These include the withdrawal by the Sole Global Coordinator from the underwriting agreement in accordance with its terms. If the Offering that is the subject of this Prospectus is terminated prior to registration of the
implementation of the capital increase with the commercial register (Handelsregister), the Offering will not take
place and the subscription rights will become worthless. Investors who purchased subscription rights could accordingly suffer a total loss. In addition, any investors engaging in short selling transactions bear the risk of being
unable to meet their obligation to deliver Shares. The agents brokering the subscription rights transactions will not
reverse such short selling transactions.
Investors who bought subscription rights or have been short selling Shares could suffer a loss including a total loss
of their investment.

4.6 Risks Related to the Tion Portfolio Transaction
4.6.1

It is possible that the acquisition of the Tion Portfolio will not take place due to several
reasons. Such a result of the negotiations may have an adverse effect on the price of
our Shares.

As publicly announced on 13 July 2022, we entered into a MoU with our major shareholder Tion on the possible
acquisition of its portfolio of wind parks and Solar PV parks with a total capacity of 159 MW and are currently in
negotiations. The proposed transaction is intended to significantly strengthen our position as a listed, high-growth
IPP in the renewable energy market. The transaction, if consummated, will be part of the clearSWITCH pillar, one
of the acquisition strategies of our growth initiative clearSCALE 2025.
It is possible that the negotiations will take longer than expected or will be called off without a result at all. This
may happen for a number of reasons and may be particularly likely if the deal finally does not make economic
sense for us. Although we do not believe that the achievement of our clearSCALE 2025 objectives is dependent
on the acquisition of the Tion Portfolio, there could be a negative impact on the price of our Shares if the negotiations were to be called off. In addition, we would have to seek other suitable acquisition opportunities.
This may lead to a significant delay for our growth if we do not find an adequate replacement in the size of the
portfolio soon or at all. In consequence, our future prospects could be assessed less attractive for an investment
than if the acquisition were to take place and, therefore, the price of our shares could fall.

4.6.2

The presentation of the negotiations' current status may not be representative for the
final Cooperation Agreement, or, the Cooperation Agreement may not be concluded
at all.

This EU Growth Prospectus contains information on the intended acquisition of the Tion Portfolio. In this respect,
the EU Growth Prospectus also provides some information on the steps of the transaction process currently being
undertaken by both parties and the current status of the negotiations.
Tion and we have reached a non-binding understanding on, inter alia, (i) the intention that the Company remains
an independent stock-exchange listed IPP pursuing a growth strategy in the renewable energy industry, (ii) Tion's
target stake in the Company upon implementation of the Transaction of about 40–45 %, (iii) the term and the
memberships of the Supervisory Board, and (iv) the formation of an executive committee of the Supervisory Board
of the Company that would be in charge of approving capital increases of the Company against contribution in
kind that, alone or in aggregate with other capital increases in kind implemented during the preceding twelve
months, would lead to the capital in the Company being increased by more than 10 %.
In this respect, this EU Growth Prospectus includes certain financial information prepared by Tion. The information on Tion contained in this EU Growth Prospectus has not been verified by the Company.
If the acquisition of the Tion Portfolio should not occur at all, or, if the Cooperation Agreement's should be concluded with a content which adversely deviates from the information presented in this EU Growth Prospectus, this
could have a materially adverse effect on our financial position, revenues and prospects.
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4.6.3

The execution of the possible Tion Portfolio acquisition could entail risks for the
Company resulting from past and current business activities of the Tion Portfolio,
and we may not be able to identify all of such risks in the due diligence process.

We may not identify all risks associated with the past and current business activities of Tion in our due diligence
process prior to the intended acquisition of the Tion Portfolio. It may be that we are not able to inspect important
documents of Tion because of a range of reasons including, but not limited to human misconduct. As a consequence of information not available to us, or failure to assess information available, the transaction may be implemented based on an incomplete or incorrect assessment which may, in turn, render the acquisition less attractive
or even unattractive. The acquisition may be associated with certain risks that may not or not fully be covered by
our corresponding contractual protections in the documentation underlying the Tion acquisition.
Potential risks are, above all but without being exhaustive, the existence of contaminated land, uneconomical renewable energy assets, loan agreements with high financing costs and other obligations or liabilities. The realisation of such unidentified risks could have an abrupt and material adverse effect on our earnings and, e.g. through
the outflow of substantial cash and the need to incur further debt, on our overall financial position and the Group's
continued existence.
Furthermore, the Tion Portfolio financing agreements, instruments or other agreements of the Tion Portfolio could
additionally contain provisions that are triggered by the Tion Portfolio transaction, in particular change of control
clauses.
If such a clause were triggered, this could lead to a significant outflow of cash and, therefore, reduced earning
produced by the other assets of our portfolio and potentially require a significant refinancing of the Tion Portfolio.

4.6.4

In case of the implementation of the Tion Portfolio transaction, we will face risks
related to foreign exchange rates.

So far, our renewable energy assets are located in the common currency zone of the Euro. Therefore, so far, we do
not face risks with regard to changing currency exchange rates. This will change if the Tion Portfolio transaction
should be implemented as it includes, besides assets in the Netherlands and Italy, renewable energy assets in Poland. Consequently, after the implementation of the Tion Portfolio transaction, we will face a limited risk with
regard to the development of the relevant currency exchange rate of Euro and Polish Zloty. The same applies in
the event that we should decide to invest in other European countries that are not member of the common currency
zone of the Euro.
This may have an adverse impact on our cashflow from the Polish renewable energy assets and, in consequence,
on our revenues in total.

4.6.5

Our strategic objectives and operational targets for the Tion Portfolio are based on
certain assumptions and estimates by our Management Board that may prove inaccurate, including the ability to benefit from the synergies, as well as future macroeconomic and market developments.

We intend to achieve a position as one of the leading IPP companies in Germany. Therefore, we have announced
its growth initiative clearSCALE 2025. Through the acquisition of the Tion Portfolio, we intend to take a material
step towards the target of operating in the year 2025 a portfolio of renewable energy assets in the amount of 1 GW
of which 750 MW are operating and 250 MW are contracted. The operating Tion Portfolio has a size of approximately 159 MW, and its integration would result in an increase of approximately 52.5 % of our current operating
portfolio (which is 303 MW). We expect to grow its portfolio by integrating a mid-sized portfolio of renewable
energy assets at once and to benefit from synergies and economies of scale by managing an enlarged portfolio of
renewable energy assets.
Our strategic objectives, synergy and other operational targets and earnings impact expectations with respect to
the acquisition of the Tion Portfolio are based on certain assumptions and estimates by our management that may
prove inaccurate, including, in particular, but not exclusively, regarding (i) the operation of the Tion Portfolio; (ii)
the realisation of economies of scale through the joint management of both portfolios; and (iii) future macroeconomic, market and regulatory developments. Should any of the assumptions of our management prove inaccurate,
this could lead to the acquisition of the Tion Portfolio falling short of our synergy forecast and other forecasts and
the expectations of market participants.
It may be the case that synergies and economies of scale may not be realised by the actual integration, or not as
expected. If our strategic objectives, operational targets and earnings impact expectations with respect to the Tion
Portfolio transaction are not met, or not met in full, or take longer to realise than expected and the transaction turns
out to be not attractive to our core earnings per share to the expected extent or within the expected timeframe or at
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all, this could adversely affect the market price of our share and possible future dividend payments. In addition, it
cannot be given any assurance that a corresponding benefit will be available to offset the costs, including transaction and integration costs, incurred by us in connection with the Tion Portfolio transaction. The integration of a
second renewable energy assets portfolio of considerable size entails considerable challenges. Therefore, the contemplated synergy effects may prove impossible to realise, in whole or in part.
This may result in higher costs as calculated prior to the transaction agreement and therefore adversely affect our
revenues, our financial situation and further potential to grow.
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5. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE SECURITIES
5.1

Information Concerning the Securities to be offered
5.1.1

Form; Currency of the Securities Issue

All of the Company's Shares are ordinary bearer shares with no-par value, each with a notional value of EUR 1.00.
Each share entitles the owner to one vote at the shareholders' meetings of the Company.
The Company's Shares, including the New Shares, are denominated in Euro.

5.1.2

ISIN/WKN/Trading Symbol

The security identification number for the New Shares are the same as for the existing Shares:
International Securities Identification Number (ISIN):

DE000A1EWXA4

German Securities Identification Number
(Wertpapierkennnummer) (WKN):

A1EWXA

Trading Symbol:

ABO

5.1.3

Legal Basis for the Creation of the New Shares

The New Shares originate from the capital increase against contribution in cash from the Company's authorised
capital 2022 with subscription rights for the existing shareholders resolved by the Company's Management Board
(Vorstand) on 21 November 2022, with approval of the Supervisory Board (Aufsichtsrat) on the same date, through
which the Company's registered share capital will be increased from EUR 63,457,289.00 to up to
EUR 75,355,529.00 through the issuance of up to 11,898,240 new ordinary bearer shares with no-par value (the
"Capital Increase"), each such share representing a notional value of EUR 1.00 in the share capital of the Company and with full dividend rights from 01 January 2022. The consummation of the Capital Increase is expected
to be entered in the Commercial Register on or around 09 December 2022, and the New Shares are expected to be
issued on or around 13 December 2022. In order to establish a plain subscription ratio, Manuel Sieth has agreed
to waive his subscription rights from nine shares.
The provisions of the AktG on capital increases by resolution of the Management Board against cash contributions,
Sections 202 et seqq. AktG, form the legal basis for the issuance of the New Shares.

5.1.4

Delivery; Book-entry Form; Certification

The New Shares will be delivered to buyers in the form of co-ownership rights in a global share certificate which
will be deposited with the collective securities depositary Clearstream Banking Aktiengesellschaft, Mergenthalerallee 61, 65760 Eschborn, Germany ("Clearstream"). The New Shares are expected to be credited to investors'
accounts on or about 13 December 2022 through the book-entry facilities of Clearstream. Investors can obtain
information about the actual delivery of the New Shares subscribed for under the Subscription Offer from their
respective custodian bank. Upon validation of the global certificate, our New Shares will automatically be tradable
in the Open Market of the stock exchanges of Munich (m:access segment) and other stock exchanges in Germany
on which our Shares are already quoted. According to the Company's articles of association (Satzung) (the "Articles of Association"), shareholders are not entitled to receive individual share certificates.

5.1.5

Rights attached to the New Shares

Dividend Rights and Liquidation Rights
The New Shares carry full dividend entitlements from 01 January 2022. In the event of the Company's liquidation,
any proceeds will be distributed to the holders of the Company's Shares in proportion to their interest in the Company's share capital.
The shareholders' share of the Company's profits is determined based on their respective interests in the Company's
share capital. For a German stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) under the laws of Germany such as the Company, the distribution of dividends for any given financial year and the amount and payment date thereof are
resolved by the Company's shareholders' meeting (Hauptversammlung) of the subsequent financial year, based
upon either a joint proposal by the Management Board and the Supervisory Board or upon the Management Board's
or the Supervisory Board's proposal. The shareholders' meeting must be generally held within the first eight months
of each financial year. However, a legislative act that was adopted by the German legislator on 27 March 2022 as
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a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and which stipulates several temporary exemptions from certain statutory rules (Gesetz zur Abmilderung der Folgen der COVID-19-Pandemie im Zivil-, Insolvenz- und Strafverfahrensrecht, the "COVID-19 Mitigation Act") provides that, in deviation of the relevant rules under the AktG,
the shareholders' meeting of a German stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) may be held within the whole financial year of the relevant entity based on a decision of the management board in conjunction with the supervisory
board's approval. This legislative act also, amongst others, allows for a shortened convocation period of such
shareholders' meeting of 21 days, certain facilitations for the digital participation or casting of votes in shareholders' meetings and the holding of fully virtual shareholders' meetings (in which shareholders have only limited rights
to request information and only limited possibilities to legally challenge resolutions of such shareholders' meeting),
each based on a decision of the management board in conjunction with the supervisory board's approval.
Dividends may only be distributed from the Company's net retained profits (Bilanzgewinn). Net retained profits
are calculated based on the Company's unconsolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with German
generally accepted accounting principles of the HGB. These accounting principles differ from IFRS in material
respects.
When determining net retained profits, the net income or loss for the financial year (Jahresüberschuss/-fehlbetrag)
must be adjusted for retained profit/loss carryforwards (Gewinn-/Verlustvorträge) from the previous financial year
and withdrawals from, or appropriations to, reserves (retained earnings). Certain reserves must be set aside by law
and deducted when calculating the net retained profits available for distribution.
The Management Board must prepare unconsolidated financial statements (balance sheet, income statement and
notes to the unconsolidated financial statements) for the previous financial year by the statutory deadline and
present these to the Supervisory Board and the auditors immediately after preparation. At the same time, the Management Board must present a proposal for the allocation of any net retained profits to the Supervisory Board
pursuant to Section 170(2) AktG. According to Section 171 AktG, the Supervisory Board must review the unconsolidated financial statements and the proposal for the allocation of the net retained profits and report to the shareholders' meeting in writing on the results of such review.
The shareholders' meeting's resolution on the allocation of any net retained profits requires a simple majority of
votes cast to be passed. Pursuant to Section 22 of the Articles of Association, the shareholders' meeting may also
resolve on a distribution in kind in addition to or in place of a distribution in cash.
The COVID-19 Mitigation Act provides in deviation from general rules that the management board may, with the
consent of the supervisory board, decide to pay an interim dividend from the retained profits to shareholders. On
28 October 2020, the German Federal Ministry of Justice and Consumer Protection published an ordinance extending the COVID-19 Mitigation Act's period of application until 31 December 2021.
Dividends resolved by the shareholders' meeting are due and payable in compliance with the rules of the respective
clearing system on the third business day following the relevant shareholders' meeting, unless a later due date is
specified in the dividend resolution or the Articles of Association. Since all of the Company's dividend entitlements
will be evidenced by one or more Global Share Certificates deposited with Clearstream, Clearstream will credit
the dividends to the shareholders' custodian banks for further crediting to their accounts. German custodian banks
are obligated to distribute these funds to their customers. Shareholders using a custodian bank located outside
Germany must inquire at their respective bank about the terms and conditions applicable in their case. To the extent
dividends can be distributed by the Company in accordance with the HGB and corresponding decisions are taken,
there are no restrictions on shareholders' rights to receive such dividends.
Each shareholder's claim to a dividend payment becomes effective when the shareholders' meeting's resolution on
the use of the annual profit becomes effective. The claim to payment of the dividend will be time-barred three
years after the end of the year in which the shareholders' meeting passed the resolution on the use of the annual
profit and the respective shareholder became aware of it, or should have become aware of it without gross negligence. If the right to payment of the dividend becomes time-barred, the Company shall have the right, but not the
obligation, to pay the dividend to the shareholder whose right has become time-barred.
Generally, withholding tax (Kapitalertragsteuer) is withheld from dividends paid.
Voting Rights
Each Share of the Company, including the New Shares, carries one vote at the Company's shareholders' meeting.
There are no restrictions on voting rights.

5.1.6

General Provisions Governing Subscription Rights

In principle, Section 186 AktG grants to all shareholders the right to subscribe for new shares to be issued in a
capital increase. The same applies to convertible bonds, bonds with warrants, profit participation rights and participating bonds. Subscription rights are freely transferable and may be traded on German stock exchanges for a
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prescribed period before the deadline for subscription expires if the Company or any bank applies for such trading.
However, shareholders do not have a right to request admission to trading for subscription rights.
The subscription rights to the New Shares will be freely transferable and are currently expected to be tradeable in
the Open Market of Munich Stock Exchange in the period from 24 November 2022 to 05 December 2022,
12.00 noon (CET). A corresponding application has been made by a broker on behalf of the Company. The Company, the Subscription Agent and the broker do not guarantee that such trading will take place in relevant numbers
or at all. Therefore it is not certain, whether shareholders will be able to sell subscription rights that have not been
exercised or acquire additional subscription rights. The general shareholders' meeting of a German stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) may, subject to a majority of at least 75 % of the share capital represented at the vote,
resolve to exclude subscription rights. It may also authorise the Management Board, subject to the approval by the
Supervisory Board, to resolve to exclude subscription rights. Exclusion of shareholders' subscription rights also
requires a report from the Management Board of the Company that justifies and demonstrates that the Company's
interest in excluding subscription rights outweighs the interest of the shareholders being granted subscription
rights.
Under Section 186 AktG, excluding shareholders' subscription rights when new shares are issued is specifically
permissible where:
•

the Company increases its share capital against cash contributions;

•

the amount of the capital increase of the issued shares under exclusion of subscription rights does not exceed
10 % of the outstanding share capital, both at the time when the authorisation takes effect and at the time when
it is authorised; and

•

the price at which the new shares are issued is not materially lower than the stock exchange price of the shares.

5.1.7

Transferability

The existing Shares and the New Shares are freely transferable in accordance with the legal requirements for
ordinary bearer shares. There are no legal restrictions on the transferability of the Shares.

5.1.8

Tax Warning

The tax legislation of the investor's country of residence and of Germany as the Company's country of incorporation may have an impact on the income received from the securities. Tax consequences may differ according to
the provisions of different tax treaties and the investor's particular circumstances. Therefore, investors are urged
to consult their own tax advisors as to tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of Shares in
the Company.

5.1.9

Notice to Distributors

Each distributor is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment with respect to the New Shares
and subscription rights and determining appropriate distribution channels. Solely for the purpose of fulfilling the
product governance requirements set forth in (i) Directive 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the
Council of 15 May 2014 on markets in financial instruments, as amended ("MiFID II"), (ii) articles 9 and 10 of
Commission Delegated Directive (EU) 2017/593 of 07 April 2016 supplementing MiFID II and (iii) local implementing measures (together, the "MiFID II Requirements"), and disclaiming any and all liability, whether arising
in tort, contract or otherwise, which a "manufacturer" (for the purposes of the MiFID II Requirements) may otherwise have with respect thereto, the subscription rights to the New Shares and the New Shares have been subject
to a product approval process. As a result of such process, it has been determined that the subscription rights and
the New Shares are (i) compatible with an end-target market of retail investors and investors who meet the criteria
of professional clients and eligible counterparties, each as defined in MiFID II, and (ii) eligible for distribution
through all distribution channels permitted by MiFID II (the "Target Market Assessment").
Notwithstanding the Target Market Assessment, the price of the subscription rights and the New Shares may decline and investors could lose all or part of their investment. The New Shares offer no guaranteed income and no
capital protection, and an investment in the subscription rights or New Shares is only suitable for investors who:
•

do not need a guaranteed income or capital protection;

•

either alone or together with an appropriate financial or other adviser, are capable of evaluating the merits and
risks of such an investment; and

•

have sufficient resources to be able to bear any losses that may result from such an investment.

The Target Market Assessment is without prejudice to the requirements of any contractual, legal or regulatory

81

selling restrictions with respect to the Offering and does not constitute (i) an assessment of suitability or appropriateness for the purposes of MiFID II or (ii) a recommendation to any investor or group of investors to invest in,
purchase or take any other action with respect to the subscription rights or the New Shares. Each distributor is
responsible for undertaking its own Target Market Assessment in respect of the subscription rights and the New
Shares and determining appropriate distribution channels.

5.1.10 Takeover and Squeeze-out Proceedings
The German Securities Acquisition and Takeover Act (Wertpapiererwerbs- und Übernahmegesetz) does not apply
to the Company, because it only applies to target companies which have issued shares or certain other securities
which are admitted to trading on an organised market. The Open Market (Freiverkehr) of the exchanges in Munich
and of other stock exchanges in Germany on which the Shares of the Company are traded is not such an organised
market. Therefore, even if a shareholder gains control of the Company by acquiring at least 30 % of the Company's
voting rights, such shareholder will neither be required to publish this fact nor to make a mandatory takeover bid
to the other shareholders.
There have been no public takeover offers in relation to the Company in the period from 01 January 2022 until the
date of this EU Growth Prospectus.

5.1.11 Squeeze-out under Stock Corporation Law
Under Section 327a et seq. AktG, which governs the so-called "squeeze-out under stock corporation law", upon
the request of a shareholder holding of 95 % of the share capital ("Principal Shareholder"), the shareholders'
meeting of a German stock corporation may resolve to transfer the shares of minority shareholders to the Principal
Shareholder against payment of adequate compensation in cash. The amount of the cash payment that must be
offered to minority shareholders has to reflect "the circumstances of the company" at the time the shareholders'
meeting passes the resolution. The amount of the cash payment is based on the full value of the company, which
is generally determined using the capitalised earnings method. The minority shareholders are entitled to file for an
appraisal proceeding (Spruchverfahren), in the course of which the appropriateness of the cash payment is reviewed.

5.1.12 Squeeze-Out under Transformation Law
In addition, under the provisions of Section 62(5) of the German Reorganisation and Transformation Act (Umwandlungsgesetz), within three months after the conclusion of a merger agreement, the shareholders' meeting of a
transferring company may pass a resolution pursuant to Section 327a(1) sentence 1 AktG, i.e., a resolution on the
transfer of the shares held by the remaining shareholders (minority interests) to the transferee company (Principal
Shareholder) in exchange for an adequate cash settlement if the Principal Shareholder holds at least 90 % of the
share capital. The result of this "squeeze-out under reorganisation law" is the exclusion of the minority shareholders in the transferring company. The entitlement to consideration is based on the provisions of Sections 327a et
seq. AktG.

5.1.13 Integration
Pursuant to Section 319(1) AktG, the Company's shareholders' meeting may vote for an integration
(Eingliederung) into another stock corporation that has its registered office in Germany, provided the prospective
parent company holds at least 95 % of the Shares of the Company. The former shareholders of the Company are
entitled to an adequate compensation, which generally must be provided in the form of shares in the parent company. In such case, Section 305(3) sentence 1 AktG stipulates that shares must be issued based on the exchange
ratio which would be considered reasonable in case of a merger between the two companies (so-called "merger
value ratio" (Verschmelzungswertrelation)). Fractional amounts may be paid out in cash.
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6. DETAILS OF THE OFFER
6.1

Subject Matter of the Offering

This Offering relates to 11,898,240 new ordinary bearer shares with no-par value (auf den Inhaber lautende
Stückaktien) of the Company, each such share representing a notional value of EUR 1.00 in the share capital of
the Company and with full dividend rights from 01 January 2022. The New Shares will be offered to the Company's shareholders for subscription by means of indirect subscription rights (mittelbares Bezugsrecht) at a ratio of
16:3 (16 existing shares entitle to subscribe for three New Shares at the Subscription Price) (the "Subscription
Offer"). The offer will be limited to the subscription period from 24 November 2022 until 07 December 2022
(both inclusively) (see "6.3 Subscription Offer"). The New Shares originate from a capital increase with subscription rights against contribution in cash from the Company's authorised capital 2022 with subscription rights for
the existing shareholders resolved by the Management Board on 21 November 2022, with approval of the Supervisory Board on the same date, through which the Company's registered share capital will be increased from
EUR 63,457,289.00 to up to EUR 75,355,529.00 through the issuance of up to 11,898,240 new ordinary bearer
shares with no-par value. The consummation of the Capital Increase is expected to be entered into the Commercial
Register at the local court (Amtsgericht) of Wiesbaden, Germany, on or around 09 December 2022, and the New
Shares are expected to be issued on or around 13 December 2022. The New Shares will be offered by the Company
as well as the Sole Global Coordinator.
The Subscription Offer will include (i) a public offering in Germany and (ii) private placements to eligible investors outside the United States of America (the "United States") in offshore transactions within the meaning of,
and in reliance on, Regulation S under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act").
Any New Shares that are not subscribed for in the Subscription Offer (together, the "Rump Shares") will be
offered by the Sole Global Coordinator for sale to eligible investors in Germany and other selected jurisdictions at
a price at least as high as the Subscription Price by way of private placements (the "Rump Placement" and,
together with the Subscription Offer, the "Offering"). The Rump Shares will only be offered outside the United
States to eligible investors in offshore transactions in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act. The ultimate decision on the allotment of the Rump Shares to institutional and qualified investors rests with the Company
after consultation with the Sole Global Coordinator.
M.M.Warburg & CO (AG & Co.) Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien, Ferdinandstraße 75, 20095 Hamburg, Germany, is acting as Sole Global Coordinator. The Offering is based on the underwriting agreement dated 21 November 2022 among the Company and the Sole Global Coordinator (the "Underwriting Agreement"). This Offering is subject to, among other things, the consummation of the Capital Increase being entered in the Commercial
Register.
The final results of the Subscription Offer will be published on the Company's website. Under certain circumstances, the Offering may be terminated. See below "6.3 Subscription Offer".

6.2

Expected Timetable for the Offering

The following is the expected timetable of the Subscription Offer, which may be extended or shortened:
22 November 2022 ..................

Approval of this EU Growth Prospectus by the BaFin
Publication of the approved EU Growth Prospectus on the Company's
website https://clearvise.de

23 November 2022 ..................

Publication of the Subscription Offer in the German Federal Gazette
(Bundesanzeiger)

24 November 2022 ...................

Commencement of the Subscription Period
"Ex-rights" trading of the Company's Shares (i.e. without the subscription
rights for New Shares)

28 November 2022…………

Credit of the subscription rights by Clearstream Banking AG to the
depositary banks of the Company's shareholders based on their holdings in
the Company's Shares as of 11.59 p.m. CET on 25 November 2022 (Record
date)

07 December 2022 ...................

End of the Subscription Period
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on or after 08 December 2022 ..

Announcement of the final results of the Subscription Offer on the
Company's website
Rump Placement of the Rump Shares
Application for entry of the consummation of the Capital Increase in the
Commercial Register

09 December 2022 ................

Entry of the consummation of the Capital Increase in the Commercial
Register

13 December 2022 ...................

Book-entry delivery of the New Shares subscribed for during the
subscription period or placed in the Rump Placements
First day of trading of the New Shares

This EU Growth Prospectus will be published on the Company's website at https://clearvise.com in the "Investor
Relations" section.

6.3

Subscription Offer

The following is an English convenience translation of the German-language Subscription Offer. The legally binding German-language Subscription Offer is expected to be published in the German Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) on 23 November 2022:
**

– Not for release, publication or distribution in or into the United States of
America, Canada, Japan and Australia –
This Subscription Offer is directed exclusively at the current shareholders of
clearvise AG, Wiesbaden.
Subscription Offer
clearvise AG
Wiesbaden

– DE000A1EWXA4 / WKN A1EWXA –
The Management Board of clearvise AG (the "Company") resolved on 21 November 2022, with the approval of
the Supervisory Board of the Company on the same day, to use the Authorised Capital 2022 pursuant to Section 4
para. 4 of the Articles of Association of the Company to increase the share capital by up to EUR 11,898,240.00
from EUR 63,457,289.00 to up to EUR 75,355,529.00 against cash contributions by issuing up to 11,898,240 new
no-par value bearer shares with a fractional amount in the share capital of EUR 1.00 each and full dividend entitlement for the financial year 2022 (the "New Shares"). The New Shares will be offered to the shareholders of the
Company at a subscription price of EUR 2.10 per New Share (the "Subscription Price") in a subscription ratio of
16:3 (the "Subscription Ratio").
In order to achieve a smooth Subscription Ratio, a shareholder has waived his subscription right from 9 shares. To
the extent that the Subscription Ratio results in arithmetical claims to fractions of New Shares, the shareholders
shall have no claim to delivery of New Shares or cash settlement with respect to the resulting fractional amounts.
The subscription right is excluded to this extent.
The shareholders are granted their statutory subscription right to the New Shares as an indirect subscription right
in such a way that M.M.Warburg & CO (AG & Co.) Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien, Ferdinandstraße 75,
20095 Hamburg, Germany ("M.M.Warburg" or the "Subscription Agent") is admitted to subscribe for and take
over the New Shares with the obligation to offer the New Shares to the shareholders of the Company or the holders
of subscription rights, as the case may be, in accordance with the exercise of their subscription rights under the
terms and conditions of this Subscription Offer and to transfer the New Shares to the shareholders after the effective exercise of the subscription rights. Shares that are not subscribed for in the Subscription Offer may be offered
for sale by M.M.Warburg to qualified investors in the Federal Republic of Germany and other selected jurisdictions
outside the United States of America (the "United States" or "US") in a private placement at a price at least as
high as the Subscription Price, as described in the section Placement of unsubscribed Shares of this Subscription
Offer.
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We ask our shareholders to exercise their subscription right to the New Shares to avoid the exclusion of the
exercise of their subscription right in the period

from 24 November 2022 to 07 December 2022 (both inclusive)
(the "Subscription Period")
during normal business hours via their custodian banks at the Subscription Agent. Only the timely exercise
can bring about an effective exercise of the subscription rights. Subscription rights that are not exercised
or not exercised effectively shall expire.
In order to exercise the subscription right, we ask our shareholders or the holders of subscription rights to instruct
their custodian bank accordingly and to observe their respective instructions.
Shareholders or holders of subscription rights who wish to exercise their subscription right must pay the Subscription Price to the Subscription Agent via their custodian bank when exercising their subscription right, at the latest
on the last day of the Subscription Period, i.e. on 07 December 2022. The date of receipt by the Subscription Agent
is decisive for meeting the deadline. For the subscription right to be exercised effectively, it is also necessary that
the shareholder's custodian bank informs the Subscription Agent of the exercise of the subscription right before
the end of the subscription period and transfers the exercised subscription rights to the Subscription Agent in due
time.
The exercise of subscription rights is binding upon receipt by the Subscription Agent and cannot be changed
subsequently.
Details of the Subscription Offer
Subscription Price
The Subscription Price is EUR 2.10 per New Share.
Subscription Ratio
The Subscription Ratio is 16:3. This means that each shareholder may acquire three New Shares at the Subscription
Price for each 16 Shares or subscription rights already held. Shareholders and holders of subscription rights may
only subscribe for whole shares.
Subscription rights
The subscription rights shall serve as evidence of entitlement to subscribe to the New Shares. Each share grants
one subscription right.
The subscription rights to the New Shares (ISIN DE000A32VPB0/WKN A32VPB) will be separated from the
shareholdings with effect from 24 November 2022. As of this date, the existing shares of the Company (ISIN
DE000A1EWXA4/WKN A1EWXA) will be tradeable "ex subscription right".
The subscription rights will be made available to the custodian banks of the shareholders on 28 November 2022
by Clearstream Banking AG, Mergenthalerallee 61, 65760 Eschborn, Germany ("Clearstream Banking"). The
determination of the number of subscription rights to which shareholders are entitled is based on their respective
holdings of shares on 25 November 2022 after the close of trading. It is the duty of the custodian banks to arrange
for the booking of the subscription rights to the entitled securities accounts of the shareholders of the Company.
Subscription rights which are not exercised effectively, i.e. in due form and time, expire. They will be booked out
without compensation by Clearstream Banking after expiration of the subscription period.
Rights trading
The subscription rights to the New Shares will be freely transferable and are currently expected to be tradeable in
the Open Market of Munich Stock Exchange in the period from 24 November 2022 to 05 December 2022,
12.00 noon (CET). A corresponding application has been made by a broker on behalf of the Company. The Company, the Subscription Agent and the broker do not guarantee that such trading will take place.
Therefore, it is not certain whether shareholders will be able to sell subscription rights that have not been exercised
or acquire additional subscription rights.
In the event of a termination of the Subscription Offer, any rights trade transactions already effected will not be
unwound.
Securitisation and delivery of the New Shares
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The New Shares will have the same identification numbers and the same characteristics and they will grant the
same rights as the existing Shares of the Company (ISIN DE000A1EWXA4/WKN A1EWXA). They will be securitised in a global certificate which will be deposited with Clearstream Banking. Pursuant to Section 4 para. 2
of the Articles of Association of the Company, the shareholders have no right to individual securitisation of their
shares.
The New Shares are expected to be transferred to the custodian banks of such shareholders validly exercising their
subscription rights on or about 13 December 2022.
Commissions
The custodian banks may charge a customary fee to shareholders or holders of subscription rights in connection
with the subscription of the New Shares. Shareholders should obtain detailed information about such fees from
their custodian bank.
Placement of unsubscribed shares
New Shares not subscribed for in the Subscription Offer may be offered by M.M.Warburg to qualified investors
in the Federal Republic of Germany and other selected jurisdictions outside the United States in offshore transactions pursuant to Regulation S under the US Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), in a private
placement at a price at least as high as the Subscription Price (the "Private Placement").
Tradability of the New Shares on the Open Market
The New Shares will be tradable on the Open Market on the same trading venues as the existing Shares of the
Company.
Important notes
For the settlement of the Subscription Offer, the Company and M.M.Warburg as Subscription Agent have entered
into an Underwriting Agreement on 21 November 2022, in which M.M.Warburg made a commitment to subscribe
for all New Shares for which holders of subscription rights have validly exercised their subscription rights or which
have been placed with qualified investors in the course of the private placement. Under the Underwriting Agreement, M.M.Warburg shall accept these New Shares with the obligation to further transfer them to the custodian
banks of the holders of subscription rights who have validly subscribed for New Shares and to the investors who
have received an allocation in the course of the private placement, in the latter case against payment of the Subscription Price or placement price.
Under certain circumstances, M.M.Warburg and the Company may terminate the Underwriting Agreement and
terminate or extend the Subscription Offer. Circumstances entitling the Underwriting Agreement to be terminated
include, but are not limited to, material adverse changes in the business situation, business prospects, consolidated
financial position, equity or operating results of the Company or the Group, material restrictions on stock exchange
trading or banking activities, the outbreak or escalation of conflicts or wars or the occurrence of acts of terrorism
or other disasters or crises that have a material adverse effect on the financial markets in the Federal Republic of
Germany, another EU member state, the United Kingdom or the United States. M.M.Warburg shall also be released
from its obligations under the Underwriting Agreement as Subscription Agent should the implementation of the
capital increase not be registered in the Commercial Register by 09 December 2022, 24.00 CET, and M.M.Warburg and the Company cannot agree on a later date.
If, prior to the registration of the implementation of the Capital Increase in the Commercial Register, M.M.Warburg or the Company terminate the Underwriting Agreement or the Subscription Offer is otherwise discontinued,
the Subscription Offer is waived and the subscription rights of the shareholders shall expire without compensation.
This shall also apply with regard to subscription rights already exercised. In this case, all subscriptions will be
cancelled. Investors who have incurred costs as a result of exercising their subscription rights would suffer a loss
in this case. There will be no reversal of any trading in subscription rights that have already taken place. Investors
who have acquired subscription rights by way of subscription rights trading would accordingly suffer a total loss
of their investment in such case. If the Underwriting Agreement is terminated after the registration of the implementation of the Capital Increase in the Commercial Register, the shareholders and holders of subscription rights
who have effectively exercised their subscription rights will receive the subscribed New Shares at the Subscription
Price. In this case, shareholders and purchasers of subscription rights can no longer revoke their subscription.
Sales restrictions
The Subscription Offer is a public offer of the New Shares under the laws of the Federal Republic of Germany.
The Subscription Offer does not constitute an offer of securities for sale in the United States. Neither the subscription rights nor the New Shares have been or will be registered under the US Securities Act or with the securities
regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States. The subscription rights and the New
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Shares may not at any time be offered, sold, exercised, pledged, transferred or delivered, directly or indirectly, in
the United States except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the US Securities Act, in each case in compliance with applicable securities laws of any state of the
United States. In order to fall within the scope of the exemption from the registration requirements of Section 4(a)(2) of the US Securities Act, envelopes containing rights exercise notices may not be postmarked in or
otherwise mailed from the United States. Acceptance of this offer outside the Federal Republic of Germany may
be subject to restrictions. Persons intending to accept this offer outside the Federal Republic of Germany are requested to inform themselves about and to observe any restrictions existing outside the Federal Republic of Germany.
Publication of the prospectus
Shareholders are furthermore advised to carefully read the Company's securities prospectus dated 22 November 2022 for the public offering of the New Shares (the "EU Growth Prospectus") before deciding on the exercise
of the subscription right and, in particular, to consider the risks described in section "4. Risk Factors" of the EU
Growth Prospectus when making their investment decision. In view of the current high volatility of share prices
and the market environment, shareholders should also inform themselves about the stock exchange price of the
Company's shares before exercising their subscription rights at the Subscription Price.
The EU Growth Prospectus was published on 22 November 2022 on the Company's website at https://clearvise.de
in the "Investor Relations" section.
Wiesbaden, November 2022
clearvise AG
The Management Board
**

6.4

Allotment of the Subscription Rights

Each outstanding Share (ISIN DE000A1EWXA4/WKN A1EWXA) entitles to one subscription right. The subscription rights (ISIN DE000A32VPB0/WKN A32VPB) attributable to the outstanding Shares of the Company
will be delivered by Clearstream Banking AG, Mergenthalerallee 61, 65760 Eschborn, to the depositary banks of
the shareholders on 28 November 2022.

6.5

Subscription Price

The Subscription Price per New Share is EUR 2.10. Shareholders willing to make use of their subscription rights
must pay the Subscription Price per New Share upon exercise of their subscription rights, at the latest, however,
on 07 December 2022, to M.M. Warburg & CO (AG & Co.) Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien, Ferdinandstraße 75, 20095 Hamburg, Germany, in its role as Subscription Agent through their respective depositary
bank.

6.6

Subscription Rights Not Exercised and Transferability

Subscription rights not exercised within the Subscription Period will expire and become worthless. No compensation will be paid for subscription rights that are not exercised. Nevertheless, the subscription rights are fully transferable.
The security identification number for the subscription rights are as follows.
International Securities Identification Number (ISIN):

DE000A32VPB0

German Securities Identification Number

A32VPB

(Wertpapierkennnummer) (WKN):
The subscription rights to the New Shares will be freely transferable and are currently expected to be tradeable in
the Open Market of Munich Stock Exchange in the period from 24 November 2022 to 05 December 2022,
12.00 noon (CET). A corresponding application has been made by a broker on behalf of the Company. The Company, the Subscription Agent and the broker do not guarantee that such trading will take place in relevant numbers
or at all. Therefore, it is not certain whether shareholders will be able to sell subscription rights that have not been
exercised or acquire additional subscription rights.
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6.7

Management/Shareholder Participation in the Offering

The members of the Company's Management Board intend to participate in the Offering by fully exercising their
subscription rights with the exception that Manuel Sieth will refrain from exercising few subscription rights in
order to prevent fractions.
In addition, there is no commitment of the Company's direct majority shareholder, Tion, neither to the Company
nor to the Sole Global Coordinator to participate in the Offering with any investment. Therefore, we cannot reliably
appraise the probability of a participation of Tion in the Offering.

6.8

Underwriting Agreement

On 21 November 2022, the Company and the Sole Global Coordinator, M.M.Warburg & CO (AG & Co.) Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien, Ferdinandstraße 75, 20095 Hamburg, Germany, entered into the Underwriting
Agreement with respect to the Subscription Offer and the Rump Placement.
Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the Sole Global Coordinator has agreed to use its best efforts to offer the
Rump Shares to investors.
The Subscription Offer will include (i) a public offering in Germany and (ii) private placements to eligible investors outside the United States in offshore transactions within the meaning of, and in reliance on, Regulation S
under the Securities Act. The Rump Shares will be offered by the Sole Global Coordinator for sale in the Rump
Placement. The Rump Shares will only be offered outside the United States to eligible investors in offshore transactions in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act.
The Underwriting Agreement also stipulates that the Company must release the Sole Global Coordinator from
certain liabilities and that the Sole Global Coordinators' obligations under the Underwriting Agreement are contingent on the fulfilment of certain conditions, including, for example, the receipt of standard legal opinions.
Under the Underwriting Agreement, the Company is obliged to pay the Sole Global Coordinator fixed basic placement commissions calculated as a percentage of the aggregate gross proceeds from the Offering.
See section "6.3 Subscription Offer" above for additional information on termination rights under the Underwriting
Agreement.

6.9

Paying Agent, Depositary Agent, Designated Sponsor

The paying agent is Bankhaus Gebr. Martin, Schlossplatz 7, 73033 Göppingen, Germany.
The depositary agent is Clearstream.
M.M.Warburg has been mandated as designated sponsor of the Shares (the "Designated Sponsor"). Pursuant to
the designated sponsor agreement entered into between the Designated Sponsor and the Company, the Designated
Sponsor will, among other things, place limited buy and sell orders for the Shares.

6.10

Tradeability of the New Shares Without Separate Admission to Trading

Upon validation of the global certificate and settlement, the New Shares will be automatically tradeable on the
Open Market (Freiverkehr) of the stock exchanges in Germany where the Shares are quoted. The New Shares have
the identical security identification numbers (WKN A1EWXA/ISIN DE000A1EWXA4). Therefore, it is neither
necessary nor possible to file for an additional admission of the New Shares to trading. The New Shares are expected to be delivered to the depositary banks on 13 December 2022 (Settlement).

6.11

Dilution

The book value of the Company, as reflected in its consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022
and calculated on the basis of total assets minus current and non-current provisions and liabilities, was EUR 72.341
million. This total is equivalent to a book value of approximately EUR 1.14 per share, calculated on the basis of
63,457,289 shares outstanding as at 30 June 2022.
Assuming that all New Shares will be subscribed at the Subscription Price, the Company would receive net proceeds of EUR 23.9 million.
If the Company had obtained the net proceeds already as at 30 June 2022, its book value at that date would have
been approximately EUR 96.2 million, or EUR 1.28 per share, based on the increased total of 75,355,529 shares
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after the placement of 11,898,240 New Shares.
Under these assumptions, the Offering would lead to a direct increase in the book value of the Company of approximately EUR 23.9 million, but to a direct dilution of EUR 0.82 per New Share, or 64.5 %, for the purchasers
of the New Shares who acquire Shares at the Subscription Price.
Current shareholders who do not exercise their subscription rights in the Offering would experience an increase in
book value of their shares in EUR 0.14 per share (book value per share upon implementation of the Offering minus
book value per share after implementation of the Offering) corresponding to an increase of 12.0 %. However, their
voting power would be diluted by 18.7 %.

6.12

Additional Selling Restrictions

The distribution of this EU Growth Prospectus and the sale of the New Shares may be restricted by law in certain
jurisdictions. No action has been or will be taken by the Company or the Sole Global Coordinator to permit a
public offering of the New Shares or the possession or distribution of this EU Growth Prospectus (or any other
offering or publicity materials or application form relating to the New Shares) other than the public offer in Germany contemplated in this EU Growth Prospectus. Neither this document nor any advertisement or any other
offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction other than Germany except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this
EU Growth Prospectus comes are required to inform themselves about and observe any such restrictions, including
those set out in the preceding paragraphs. Any failure to comply with these restrictions may constitute a violation
of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction.

6.12.1 United States of America
We do not intend to register either the Offering or any portion of the Offering in the United States or to conduct a
public offering of shares in the United States. The New Shares and the subscription rights have not been, and will
not be, registered pursuant to the provisions of the Securities Act or with the securities regulators of the individual
states of the United States and may not be offered, sold or delivered, directly or indirectly, in or into the United
States except pursuant to an exemption from the registration and reporting requirements of the United States securities laws and in compliance with all other applicable United States legal regulations. The New Shares may be
sold outside the United States in accordance with Rule 903 of Regulation S and in compliance with other United
States legal regulations, and no "direct selling efforts" as defined in Regulation S may take place.
In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of this Offering, an offer or sale of shares within the United
States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the Offering) may violate the registration requirements of the
Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with Rule 144A or pursuant to another
exemption from registration under the Securities Act.

6.12.2 United Kingdom
Sales in the United Kingdom are also subject to restrictions. This EU Growth Prospectus is only addressed and
directed to (i) investors who have professional experience in matters relating to investments falling within Article 19 para. 5 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005, as amended (the
"FSMA-Order"), (ii) investors who are high net worth entities falling within Article 49 para. 2 lit. a) through d)
of the Order, and (iii) other persons to whom it may otherwise lawfully be communicated (all such persons together
being referred to as "Relevant Persons").
In the United Kingdom, the New Shares are only available to, and any invitation, offer or agreement to subscribe,
purchase or otherwise acquire New Shares in the United Kingdom will only be engaged in with, Relevant Persons.
Any person in the United Kingdom who is not a Relevant Person should not act or rely on this EU Growth Prospectus or any of its contents.

6.12.3 European Economic Area
There will be no public offer of the New Shares in any of the member states of the EEA that are subject to Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (each, a "Relevant State"), other than the offer in Germany contemplated in this EU
Growth Prospectus, except that an offer to the public is made in such Relevant State of any New Shares, at any
time in accordance with the following exemptions under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129: (a) solely to qualified investors; (b) to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors) subject to obtaining the prior
consent of the Sole Global Coordinator for any such offer; or (c) in any other circumstances falling within Article 1
No. 4 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, provided that no such offer (as set forth in clauses (a) to (c)) of New Shares
shall result in a requirement for the publication by the Company or the Sole Global Coordinator of a prospectus
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pursuant to Article 3 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. The expression an "offer to the public" in relation to the New
Shares in any Relevant State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information
on the terms of the offer and any New Shares to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or
subscribe for any New Shares.
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7. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
7.1 Overview
The Company's governing bodies are the Management Board, the Supervisory Board and the shareholders' meeting. The powers and responsibilities of these corporate bodies are governed by the German Stock Corporation Act
(Aktiengesetz), the Articles of Association dated 14 July 2022, the rules of procedure (Geschäftsordnung) (the
"Rules of Procedure") of the Management Board dated 25 November 2021 and the Supervisory Board dated
21 June 2011. The shareholders' meeting elects the members of the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board
represents the Company in and out of court vis-à-vis the members of the Management Board. The Supervisory
Board is responsible for the appointment of members of the Management Board, the conclusion of their service
contracts and the revocation of appointments as well as for the change and termination of their service contracts.
The Management Board is responsible for managing the Company in accordance with applicable law, the Articles
of Association and its Rules of Procedure , including the schedule of responsibilities. Pursuant to the Rules of
Procedure of the Management Board, the Management Board must obtain the prior consent of the Supervisory
Board for certain transactions or measures. The Management Board represents the Company in dealings with third
parties. As set out in the Aktiengesetz, the Supervisory Board advises and oversees the Management Board's administration of the Company, but is itself generally not authorised to manage or represent the Company.
Each member of the Management Board and Supervisory Board owes a duty of loyalty, duty of legality and duty
of care to the Company. In discharging these duties, each member of these bodies must consider a broad spectrum
of interests, particularly those of the Company and its shareholders, employees and creditors. In addition, the
Management Board must also take into consideration the shareholders' rights to equal treatment and equal access
to information. If members of the Management Board or Supervisory Board breach their duties, they may be jointly
and severally liable with the other members of the Management Board or the Supervisory Board to the Company
for any damages the Company has incurred.
Simultaneous membership in the Supervisory Board and the Management Board is not permitted under the Aktiengesetz, as the Supervisory Board is tasked with supervising the management of the Company by the Management Board. In exceptional cases and for an interim period, a member of the Supervisory Board may, however,
assume a vacant seat on the Management Board. During this period, such individual may not perform any duties
pertaining to his position on the Supervisory Board. In addition, the duration of such stand-in arrangements may
not exceed one year.

7.2 Management Board
7.2.1

Overview

Pursuant to Section 5.1 of the Articles of Association, the Management Board consists of at least one member.
The Supervisory Board determines the exact number of the members of the Management Board. Pursuant to
Section 84(2) AktG and Section 5.2 of the Articles of Association, the Supervisory Board may appoint any member
of the Management Board as chairman of the Management Board and any other member as deputy chairman.
According to the Rules of Procedure of the Management Board, resolutions of the Management Board are
generally passed in meetings. In addition, resolutions may be passed independently of physical meetings via
circular resolutions (in writing, orally, per telephone, email, facsimile or other common means of communication
(particularly including video conference)).
The Management Board has a quorum if all its members have been invited and at least half of its members
(including the chairman or chief financial officer) are present at a meeting. As long as the Management Board
consists of only two members, it has only a quorum if all members of the Management Board are present.
Resolutions of the Management Board are generally passed by a simple majority of the votes cast, unless statutory
provisions, the Articles of Association or the Rules of Procedure provide otherwise. In case of a tie, the chairman
has a deciding vote.

7.2.2

Members of the Management Board

The following table sets forth the two current members of the Management Board, their respective age and
position, and the duration of their remaining term:
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Name

Age

First Appointment

Appointed Until

Responsibilities

Petra Leue-Bahns

55

01 December 2019

28 February 2026

CEO (Chairwoman)

Manuel Sieth

35

01 July 2022

30 June 2025

CFO (Finance)

Petra Leue-Bahns
Petra Leue-Bahns was born in 1966 and has been working in positions of responsibility in the renewable energy
industry since 2001, and she is familiar with all levels of the value chain. As a director of a New York based
investment banking boutique, Global Capital Finance, she built up the renewable energy business in Europe, joined
the management board of the ecolutions group in 2008 and became responsible for the international operational
business of China-based Sky Solar Holdings as Chief Operating Officer in 2012. In November 2014, she returned
to Germany and subsequently took over responsibility for financing & sales at ABO Wind AG as divisional director and member of the management board. Since 01 March 2020, she has been heading clearvise AG as CEO.
Petra Leue-Bahns does not conduct principal activity outside the clearvise Group that is relevant to the Company.
Manuel Sieth
Manuel Sieth was born in 1987 and holds a Bachelor of Arts (B.A.) from Baden-Wuerttemberg cooperative state
university and The Open University with a focus on banking and finance, where he graduated on 30 September
2011. Furthermore, he holds a Master of Science with a focus on energy economics from RWTH Aachen
University and Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster where he graduated on 01 January 2019. Manuel Sieth
has been working in various industry-relevant positions since 2011 and has profound financial expertise due to his
previous professional experience. He initially worked at Landesbank Baden-Württemberg in the area of project
financing and moved to ABO Wind AG in 2013, where he was responsible for the financing and sale of wind parks
to nationally and internationally active investors. After moving to Ampega Asset Management GmbH in 2017, he
was also responsible for various investments in the infrastructure sector in Europe including but not limited to
renewable energy projects, gas caverns, hospitals, etc. In 2020, he joined clearvise AG as head of finance and
became a member of the Management Board (CFO) in July 2022.
Manuel Sieth does not conduct principal activity outside the clearvise Group that is relevant to the Company.
The business address at which each member of the Management Board may be contacted is clearvise AG, Unter
den Eichen 7, 65195 Wiesbaden, Germany.

7.2.3

Remuneration and Other Benefits

The following table provides an overview of the payments and benefits granted by the Company to the members
of the Management Board in the financial year ended 31 December 2021. As the Management Board member
Manuel Sieth took its office as of 01 July 2022, no compensation as member of the Management Board was paid
to him in the financial year ended 31 December 2021.
Name

Petra Leue-Bahns

Fixed
remuneration

Ancillary service

Annual bonus

Total in 2021

EUR 120,000

EUR 29,150.00

EUR 45,080.00

EUR 194,230.00

The basic remuneration is a fixed remuneration component paid in twelve monthly instalments. Ancillary services
include in particular the provision of a company car, insurance premiums, travel expenses and other low-value
fringe benefits.
The variable remuneration is divided into a short term incentive ("STI") and a long term incentive ("LTI").
The current STI of Petra Leue-Bahns is based on the development of the share price and is paid regularly in March
of the year following the financial year. The calculation is based on the average price of the Shares traded on stock
exchanges in Germany on the first five trading days of the payment month (March of the year following the
financial year) multiplied by 23,000 shares.
For the term starting 01 March 2023, the STI includes an additional variable remuneration in cash or, at the
discretion of the Company, in shares. The STI is based on the volume-weighted share price quoted at XETRA for
the respective financial year. If the agreed upon targets are fulfilled to 100 %, the total value of the LTI granted to
Petra Leue-Bahns would correspond to the value of 30,000 shares. If the targets are achieved by 150 % or more,
there is a cap of 40,000 shares. No STI will be paid in case that the targets were achieved by 50 % or less. The
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same applies to Manuel Sieth already, but with the exception that the total value of the STI granted to him would
correspond to the value of 25,000 Shares in case the agreed upon targets are fulfilled to 100 % and, if the targets
are achieved by 150 % or more, there is a cap of 35,000 shares.
In 2022, the Company agreed with Petra Leue-Bahns on an additional variable remuneration in cash or, at the
discretion of the Company, in shares as LTI. The agreement on this LTI is applicable from 01 January 2021 until
the end of Leue-Bahns' term of appointment. The LTI is based on the volume-weighted Share price quoted at
XETRA and shall be paid in three instalments within 36 months after approval of the annual financial statements
for the respective financial year. If the agreed upon targets are fulfilled to 100 %, the total value of the LTI granted
to Petra Leue-Bahns would correspond to the value of 30,000 Shares. If the targets are achieved by 150 % or more,
there is a cap of 40,000 shares. No LTI will be paid in case that the targets were achieved by 50 % or less.
Since 01 July 2022, the same applies to Manuel Sieth with the exception that the total value of the LTI granted to
him would correspond to the value of 25,000 Shares in case the agreed upon targets are fulfilled to 100 % and, if
the targets are achieved by 150 % or more, there is a cap of 35,000 shares. Petra Leue-Bahns and Manuel Sieth
were not granted any prepayments or loans by the Company in the financial year ended 31 December 2021, nor
were any contingent liabilities entered into in their favour.
As of the date of this EU Growth Prospectus, the Company or its subsidiaries have not established any reserves
for pension, retirement or similar benefits for the members of the Management Board.
clearvise provides for the members of the Management Board the coverage of a directors and officers liability
insurance (so-called "D&O insurance").

7.2.4

Shareholdings of the Members of the Management Board

As of the date of this EU Growth Prospectus, Petra Leue-Bahns holds 7,857 Shares in the Company, of which all
Shares were acquired within the last two years at an average purchase price of EUR 2.53, with 357 Shares
subscribed in 2021 during a capital increase at a subscription price of EUR 2.28. Manuel Sieth holds 24,464 Shares
in the Company and no rights or options to acquire securities of the Company. The Shares held by Manuel Sieth
were bought within the last two years and for an average purchase price of EUR 2.23 per Share.

7.3 Supervisory Board
7.3.1

Overview

In accordance with Sections 95 and 96 AktG and Section 8 of the Articles of Association, the Supervisory Board
comprises five members. Pursuant to Section 100(5) AktG, the members of the Supervisory Board as a whole must
be familiar with the industry in which the Company conducts its business.
According to Section 9.1 of the Articles of Association, members of the Supervisory Board may be elected for a
maximum term lasting until the end of the shareholders' meeting which resolves on the discharge (Entlastung) of
the relevant members of the Supervisory Board for the fourth financial year after the commencement of the term
of office. The financial year in which the term of office commenced is not counted towards the aforementioned
number of four years. For members of the Supervisory Board who leave office before the end of their term, a
successor must be elected for the remaining term of the leaving member. The same applies if a re-election becomes
necessary due to a challenge of a previous election. Re-elections of members of the Supervisory Board are permissible.
The Supervisory Board must hold at least two meetings in each calendar half-year. In 2021, thirteen meetings were
held. Meetings of the Supervisory Board are generally called at least one week in advance by the chairman of the
Supervisory Board, not taking into account the day on which the invitation is sent and the day of the meeting itself.
Notice of meetings may be given in writing, by telefax or via electronic communication. In urgent cases, the
chairman may shorten this period.
The Articles of Association and the Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board provide that resolutions of the
Supervisory Board are generally passed in meetings. If all members of the Supervisory Board participate in a
resolution, or, at the order of the chairman and further provided that at least two-thirds of the members of the
Supervisory Board, but at least three members of the Supervisory Board, participate in a resolution, such resolution
of the Supervisory Board may also be passed in writing, per telephone, email, or by equivalent means. Absent
members of the Supervisory Board may also participate in the voting by submitting their votes in writing through
another member of the Supervisory Board.
The Articles of Association provide that the Supervisory Board has a quorum if all members of the Supervisory
Board have been duly invited and at least three members of the Supervisory Board participate in the vote. Any
members who abstain from voting are considered present for purposes of calculating the quorum. Unless otherwise
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provided for by mandatory law or the Articles of Association, resolutions of the Supervisory Board are passed
with a simple majority of the votes cast. If a vote by the Supervisory Board results in a tie, the chairman has two
votes in case of a new voting on the same agenda item. Resolutions of the Supervisory Board are documented by
the chairman and circulated to all members of the Supervisory Board.
A member of the Supervisory Board who has a conflict of interest must abstain from participating in the deliberation and the decision-making process with respect to the relevant matter. If any such member was nevertheless
involved in the decision-making process, then such decision may be nullified.

7.3.2

Members of the Supervisory Board

The following table sets forth the five current members of the Supervisory Board, their respective age and position,
and the duration of their remaining term:
Name

Martin Rey
(Chairman)

Age

First
Appointment

Appointed Until

65

July 2019

the end of the annual
shareholders' meeting
2025

Other Memberships in
Administrative,
Management or Supervisory
Bodies or as Partners in
Partnerships in the Previous
Five Years (Current
Memberships Unless
Otherwise Indicated)
-

managing director and
majority owner of
Babcock & Brown GmbH
(since 2021 Maroban
GmbH);

-

member of the
supervisory board and
chairman of the audit
committee of Nordex SE
since 2005;

-

member of the
supervisory board at
Kommunalkredit Austria
AG, Vienna (Austria);

-

chairman of the advisory
board at O2Power, Dehli
(Singapore and India);

-

industrial advisor for the
funds of EQT Partners,
Stockholm (Sweden);

-

member of the investment
committee for IST
Investmentstiftung für
Personalvorsorge, Zurich
(Switzerland);

-

member of the advisory
board at Qwello GmbH,
Munich; and

-

member of the advisory
board at Groenleven B.V.,
Heerenveen
(Netherlands), term ended
in 2021.
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Astrid Zielke
(Deputy chairwoman)

58

July 2020

the end of the annual
shareholders' meeting
2025

Christian Lothar Guhl

53

July 2020

the end of the annual
shareholders' meeting
2025

Oliver Kirfel

48

June 2019

the end of the annual
shareholders' meeting
2025

Dr. Hartmut Schüning

63

July 2020

the end of the annual
shareholders' meeting
2025

-

partner at the law firm
Buse Heberer Fromm
PartGmbB, Hamburg;

-

managing partner of
Gesellschaft für
Objektentwicklung mbH
& Co. KG;

-

member of the
management board of the
Claussen-Simon
Foundation; and

-

member of the
supervisory board of
Kontora
Kapitalverwaltungs
GmbH.
none

-

partner at the law firm
LPA-GGV
Feuerstein
Kirfel
Spieth
Tross
Rechtsanwälte
Steuerberater
Partnerschaft mbB (main
responsibilities: Mergers
and
Acquisitions,
Renewable Energies);

-

principle
attorney
(Prokurist) at Maroban
GmbH
(main
responsibilities:
legal
matters and employment).

-

managing director and
owner of Hamburg Solar
GmbH; and

-

member of the advisory
board of IB Vogt GmbH
since 2022
(responsibilities:
investment committee,
audit committee and
remuneration committee).

The following description provides summaries of the curricula vitae of the current members of the Supervisory
Board and indicates their principal activities outside clearvise to the extent those activities are significant with
respect to clearvise.
Martin Rey
Martin Rey is an independent lawyer and managing partner of Maroban GmbH. He served in a number of management positions at Bayerische Vereinsbank AG between 1988 and 1998, Bayerische Hypo- und Vereinsbank
AG between 1998 and 2000 and the HVB Group between 2000 and 2003, finally as a divisional management
board member. Between 2003 and 2004, he was head of Europe at Babcock & Brown Ltd. and from 2004 until
2010 head of Europe and Middle East at the Babcock & Brown Group as well as member of the board of directors
at Babcock & Brown Pty, Sydney (Australia). Since 2003, he acted as managing director of Babcock & Brown
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GmbH of which he is majority owner since 2014. In 2021, Babcock & Brown GmbH merged with Maroban GmbH,
another company of which Martin Rey was managing director and majority owner since 2011. From 2010 until
2021, Martin Rey was a board member of BayWa r.e. USA LLC, a company in the wind and solar business in the
United States. In addition, he had further board positions at several companies in Germany, Portugal and the Netherlands. He is also active as industrial advisor for the funds of EQT Partners, Stockholm (Sweden), as a member
of the investment committee for IST Investmentstiftung für Personalvorsorge, Zurich (Switzerland), and as a member of the advisory board of Qwello GmbH, Munich. Further current positions in other companies are mentioned
in the table above. Martin Rey has been a member of the Supervisory Board of clearvise since July 2019 and was
elected chairman on 07 May 2020.
Astrid Zielke
Astrid Zielke is a lawyer and partner at the law firm Buse Heberer Fromm in Hamburg. She is managing partner
of Gesellschaft für Objektentwicklung mbH & Co. KG since 1994 where she holds 50 % of the limited partner
shares, a member of the management board of the Claussen-Simon Foundation since 2011 and a member of the
supervisory board of Kontora Kapitalverwaltungs GmbH since 2015. In addition, she served for many years on
the supervisory board and executive board of WKN Windkraft Nord AG, as a member of the supervisory board of
PNE Wind AG and as chairwoman of the supervisory board of BGZ Beteiligungsgesellschaft Zukunftsenergien
AG. As a contract lawyer, she has focused on renewable energies and the real estate industry for more than 20
years. She has been a member of the Supervisory Board of clearvise and its deputy chairwoman since July 2020.
Christian Guhl
Christian Guhl is a commercial engineer and holds a diploma of the University of Kaiserslautern (now: TU Kaiserslautern). Since 2015, he is a Senior Director at the management consultancy Capgemini Invent (Market Unit
Energy & Utilities). Before, Christian Guhl worked approximately ten years (1999–2007 and 2013–2015) as independent business consultant and as manager, senior manager and principal within the Konexus Consulting Group
GmbH resp. Capgemini Invent (2007–2011 and since 2015) as well as business unit manager for energy management at Dornier Consulting GmbH (2011–2013). He has 15 years of experience in consulting the German energy
industry. His focus is on smart metering, smart grids, energy trading and procurement, in particular marketing of
flexibilities as well as the development and evaluation of business models for mobile and stationary battery storage.
He has been a member of the Supervisory Board of clearvise since July 2020.
Oliver Kirfel
Oliver Kirfel is a lawyer and partner at the Munich law firm LPA-GGV since 2009. He heads the LPA-GGV's
Energy division in Germany. He has over 15 years of experience in the renewable energy sector, with a focus on
wind onshore and photovoltaics. Together with his team, he mainly advises investors, municipal utilities and family offices on all legal issues relating to the construction, purchase/sale and operation of renewable generation
plants. Before joining LPA-GGV, Kirfel worked as lawyer in the private equity/venture capital division of CMS
Hasche Sigle in Munich from 2004 until 2006 and, afterwards, as senior legal counsel at Babcock & Brown GmbH
in Munich from 2007 until 2009. Oliver Kirfel holds 10 % of Maroban GmbH. He has been a member of the
clearvise Supervisory Board since 2019.
Dr Hartmut Schüning
Dr Hartmut Schüning holds a Ph.D. in business administration. He was a member of the management board of
various listed companies, two of which he took public as chief financial officer, for many years. He has extensive
experience as a supervisory board member of nationally and internationally active companies. From 2004 to 2009,
he was a board member of Q.Cells SE, which is active in the international photovoltaic project business, among
other things. Since 2010, he has been managing director and the sole owner of Hamburg Solar GmbH, which
advises companies with a focus on renewable energies and sustainability, invests in start-ups in this field and is
active in the project development of solar plants. He has been a member of the Supervisory Board of clearvise
since July 2020.
The business address at which each member of the Supervisory Board may be contacted is clearvise AG, Unter
den Eichen 7, 65195 Wiesbaden, Germany.

7.3.3

Supervisory Board Remuneration

The shareholders' meeting decides upon the remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board. The current
remuneration is stipulated in Section 13 of the Articles of Association.
The chairman of the Supervisory Board receives a fixed remuneration of EUR 20,000.00 per year. The deputy
chairwoman of the Supervisory Board receives a fixed remuneration of EUR 15,000.00 per year. The other members of the Supervisory Board receive a fixed remuneration of EUR 10,000.00 per year. clearvise provides the
coverage of a D&O insurance for the members of the Supervisory Board.
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The members of the Supervisory Board were not granted any prepayments or loans by the Company in the financial
year ended 31 December 2021, nor were any contingent liabilities entered into in their favour.
As of the date of this EU Growth Prospectus, the Company or its subsidiaries have not established any reserves
for pension, retirement or similar benefits for the members of the Supervisory Board.

7.3.4

Shareholdings of the Members of the Supervisory Board

As of the date of this EU Growth Prospectus, all members of the Supervisory Board hold shares in the Company.
Martin Rey holds 597,741 Shares. Astrid Zielke owns 20,892 Shares. Christian Guhl owns 4,350 Shares. Oliver
Kirfel holds 66,214 Shares. Dr Schüning owns 10,000 Shares.

7.4 Certain Information Regarding Members of the Management Board and the
Supervisory Board
In the last five years, no member of the Management Board or member of the Supervisory Board has been:
•

convicted in relation to fraudulent offenses; or

•

the subject of any official public incriminations and/or sanctions pending or imposed by statutory or legal
authorities, including designated professional bodies; or

•

disqualified from acting as a member of the administrative, management or supervisory body of an issuer or
from acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of any issuer.

There are no family relationships between the members of the Management Board and members of the Supervisory
Board, either amongst themselves or in relation to the members of the respective other body.

7.5 Total Amounts set aside or accrued to provide Pension, Retirement or Similar
Benefits
As of the date of this EU Growth Prospectus, the Company has not set aside or accrued any amounts to provide
pension, retirement or similar benefits.

97

8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (KPIS)
8.1 Historical Financial Information
The Company has prepared the following financial statements which have been incorporated in this Prospectus:
•

the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company prepared in accordance with German generally
accepted accounting principles of the HGB as of and for the financial year ended 31 December 2021;

•

the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company prepared in accordance with German generally
accepted accounting principles of the HGB as of and for the financial year ended 31 December 2020; and

•

the audited unconsolidated financial statements of the Company prepared in accordance with German generally accepted accounting principles of the HGB as of and for the financial year ended 31 December 2021

•

the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial information of the Company as of and for the sixmonth period ended 30 June 2022 and the Company's accounting records or internal reporting

The Company appointed Rödl & Partner, as the auditor of (i) the Company's unconsolidated financial statements
prepared in accordance with HGB accounting principles as of and for the financial year ended 31 December 2021
and (ii) the Company's consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with HGB accounting principles
as of and for the financial years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.
Rödl & Partner has audited and issued unqualified independent auditor's reports (uneingeschränkte
Bestätigungsvermerke des unabhängigen Abschlussprüfers) with respect to the aforementioned unconsolidated
financial statements of the Company as of and for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 and unqualified
auditor's reports (uneingeschränkte Bestätigungsvermerke) with respect to the aforementioned consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

8.1.1

Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2021

Consolidated balance sheet as of 31 December 2021
ASSETS
A. FIXED ASSETS
I. Intangible assets
Goodwill
II. Property, plant and equipment
1. Land, similar rights and buildings including buildings on
third-party land
2. Technical equipment and machinery
3. Other assets, furniture and fixtures and office equipment
4. Advance payments and assets under construction
III. Financial assets
1. Shares in related parties
2. Shareholdings
3. Shares in cooperatives

B. CURRENT ASSETS
I. Inventories
Raw materials and consumables
II. Receivables and other assets
1. Trade receivables
2. Receivables from parties with which the Company is
linked by virtue of participating interests
3. Other assets
III. Cash at bank
C. PREPAID EXPENSES

EUR

31/12/2021
EUR

Previous year
EUR

5,570,751.85

6,201,141.97

191,326,574.44

725,763.61
157,013,593.52
20,533.00
18,197.81
157,778,087.94

190,017.34
197,087,343.63

25,000.00
176,025.10
9,500.00
210,525.10
164,189,755.01

292,249.28

204,310.65

3,322,754.58
187,959,977.43
22,543.00
21,299.43

25,000.00
155,517.34
9,500.00

5,848,841.36

5,309,582.16

6,376.91
2,967,623.48

4,642.60
377,021.71
5,691,246.47
17,319,052.53
23,214,609.65
504,516.41
187,908,881.07

8,822,841.75
23,197,930.40
32,313,021.43
1,512,625.19
230,912,990.25
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EUR

A. EQUITY
I. Share capital
II. Capital reserves
III. Retained earnings
IV. Consolidated balance sheet loss
B. MEZZANINE CAPITAL
C. PROVISIONS
1. Tax provisions
2. Other provisions
D. LIABILITIES
1. Liabilities to banks
2. Trade liabilities
3. Liabilities to related parties
4. Other liabilities

31/12/2021
EUR
57,400,000.00
25,590,875.00
986,757.02
-27,779,292.58
56,198,339.44
4,876,500.00

49,000,000.00
13,270,875.00
986,757.02
-24,501,843.06
38,755,788.96
4,887,500.00

3,024,131.61

106,593.05
2,579,678.57
2,686,271.62

166,750,531.68
63,487.52
230,912,990.25

139,164,725.20
912,203.94
25,622.94
1,407,839.13
141,510,391.21
68,929.28
187,908,881.07

94,403.51
2,929,728.10

162,521,694.53
1,416,171.70
25,909.93
2,786,755.52

E. DEFERRED INCOME

Previous year
EUR

Consolidated income statement for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2021

1. Sales revenues
2. Other operating income
3. Costs of materials
Expenses for raw materials and consumables
4. Personnel costs
a) Wages and salaries
b) Expenses for social security and costs of benefits
and support
5. Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation
of fixed assets and property, plant and equipment
6. Other operating expenses
7. Revenues from other securities and loans classified as financial assets
8. Other interest and similar income
9. Amortisation of financial assets and current securities
10. Interest and similar expenses - incl. on related
parties EUR 286.99 (previous year:
EUR 284.58)
11. Income taxes
12. Profit (loss) after tax
13. Other taxes
14. Consolidated net loss / profit for the period
15. Accumulated loss carried forward
16. Consolidated balance sheet loss

2021
EUR
32,880,674.40
218,457.18
33,099,131.58

Previous year
EUR
36,447,296.58
935,724.03
37,383,020.61

(353,980.18)

(397,655.26)

(601,723.89)

(271,433.87)

(54,535.31)
(656,259.20)

(32,279.62)
(303,713.49)

(18,930,858.23)
(10,253,066.41)

(18,548,197.09)
(9,002,783.97)

95.00
20,215.43

95.00
60.39

(20,507.76)

(20,507.76)

(4,716,441.23)

(5,113,404.00)

(94,559.13)
(1,906,230.13)
(1,371,219.39)
(3,277,449.52)
(24,501,843.06)
(27,779,292.58)

(132,643.12)
3,864,271.31
(1,498,288.09)
2,365,983.22
(26,867,826.28)
(24,501,843.06)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2021
A. General information
According to its articles of association, the object of clearvise AG is the promotion and/or implementation of
renewable energy projects in Germany and abroad by acquiring, holding, managing and selling interests in special
purpose vehicles as well as in companies operating in the area of renewable energy. In addition, the object of
clearvise AG is to combine other companies under uniform management and to provide management, consulting
and other services to such companies.
The operational business, i.e. in particular the further development and optimised operation of a portfolio of power
plants generating energy from renewable sources such as wind and solar, determines the scope of business and
thus the functional and management-related tasks of the holding company. In addition to the acquisition of companies necessary to expand the portfolio, this includes operational management and controlling of interests (asset
management), optimising production and marketing of the electricity generated, and ensuring power plant availability. In the context of operational asset management, clearvise AG regularly exerts influence on the technical
and commercial management and thus on the income and cost structures of the renewable energy projects. In the
course of this, the Company continuously creates value, e.g. by implementing technical improvements in ongoing
operations, taking advantage of economies of scale, renegotiating contract terms and/or the financing of the shareholdings, etc.
clearvise AG is entered in the company register kept by the District Court in Wiesbaden under number HRB 25063.
As the ultimate parent company, clearvise AG prepares the consolidated financial statements for the largest group
of consolidated companies. As the consolidated financial statements are prepared voluntarily, the consolidated
financial statements are not published in the electronic Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger).
B. Information on the form and presentation of the balance sheet and income statement
The consolidated financial statements for the 2021 financial year of clearvise AG were prepared in accordance
with the provisions of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and the supplementary provisions of the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG).
The consolidated financial statements were generally prepared based on the assumption of the Company's ability
to continue as a going concern (Article 298 (1) HGB in conjunction with Article 252 (1) no. 2 HGB).
Where the Company had the right to elect whether to include information in the balance sheet or in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements, the Company elected to include comments in the notes.
The financial year of the Group corresponds to the calendar year.
The income statement was prepared using the nature of expense method.
The structure of the cash flow statement is based on German Accounting Standard No. 21 (GAS 21). The information on the composition of cash and cash equivalents is presented below the cash flow statement. Information
on the main investment and financing transactions affecting cash flows and business events is provided in the
combined management report.
C. Scope of consolidation
In addition to clearvise AG as the parent company, the consolidated financial statements include all subsidiaries
over which clearvise AG has a controlling influence either directly or indirectly through a majority of the voting
rights.
The consolidated financial statements of clearvise AG include:
Group company
and registered office

Eurowind Aktiengesellschaft, Wiesbaden, Germany
Eurowind Beteiligungs GmbH, Ingelheim, Germany
ABO Wind WP Broich GmbH & Co. KG, Ingelheim,
Germany
ABO Wind WP Düngenheim GmbH & Co. KG,
Ingelheim, Germany
ABO Wind WP Repperndorf GmbH & Co. KG,
Ingelheim, Germany

Interest
ownership
in %

Equity
In EUR thousand1

100.0
100.0

6,998
49

Net profit
(loss) for
the period
In EUR
thousand1
-193
2

Consolidated
since

100.0

-1,291

-52

31/12/2010

100.0

-1,219

-87

31/12/2010

100.0

-1,569

-71

31/12/2010

31/12/2010
31/12/2010

100

Group company
and registered office

ABO Invest Komplementär GmbH, Ingelheim, Germany
ABO Wind Biogas Samswegen GmbH & Co. KG,
Ingelheim, Germany
ABO Wind WP Framersheim II GmbH & Co. KG,
Ingelheim, Germany
ABO Wind WP Losheim GmbH & Co. KG, Ingelheim, Germany
ABO Wind WP Weilrod GmbH & Co. KG, Ingelheim, Germany
ALTUS Dachportfolio 01 GmbH & Co. KG, Karlsruhe, Germany
ALTUS Dachportfolio 02 GmbH & Co. KG, Karlsruhe, Germany
ALTUS Dachportfolio 03 GmbH & Co. KG, Karlsruhe, Germany
Pitsberg Solarparks GmbH & Co. KG, Karlsruhe,
Germany
Andengold Solarparks GmbH & Co. KG, Karlsruhe,
Germany
GPJ Energiepark 113 GmbH, Reußenkönge, Germany
Glenough Windfarm Limited, Dublin, Ireland
Glenough Windfarm 14 Limited, Dublin, Ireland
SNC Ferme Éolienne de Cuq-Serviès, Toulouse,
France
SARL Ferme Éolienne de la Gargasse, Toulouse,
France
SARL Ferme Éolienne d' Escamps, Toulouse, France
SARL Ferme Éolienne des Hautes Landes, Toulouse,
France
SARL Ferme Éolienne de Saint Nicolas des Biefs,
Toulouse, France
SARL Le Champvoisin, Lille, France
Haapajärvi Sauviinmäki Tuulivoima Oy, Helsinki,
Finland
Haapajärven Savinevan Tuulivoima Oy, Helsinki,
Finland
1

Interest
ownership
in %

Equity
In EUR thousand1

Net profit
(loss) for
the period
In EUR
thousand1

Consolidated
since

100.0

53

7

30/08/2011

100.0

93

127

31/12/2011

100.0

1,783

48

30/06/2012

100.0

371

248

30/06/2014

100.0

2,083

-128

31/01/2015

100.0

-135

15

31/05/2021

100.0

-142

-44

18/07/2021

100.0

-55

-1

30/06/2021

100.0

-169

48

31/03/2021

100.0

-346

-321

30/04/2021

100.0
100.0
100.0

23
3,476
1,295

-2
-337
-2

16/12/2021
31/12/2010
31/12/2012

100.0

-5,932

-415

31/12/2010

100.0
100.0

2,420
249

58
28

31/12/2011
30/06/2013

100.0

1,894

114

30/06/2014

100.0
100.0

2,659
1,072

-465
-30

30/06/2014
21/05/2021

100.0

5,272

228

18/12/2014

100.0

-14,738

-2,044

31/12/2017

Information according to the presented local annual financial statements of the respective company as of the balance sheet date

In the 2021 financial year, clearvise AG acquired the following companies, which are included in the consolidated
financial statements at 100 %. In this process, the following differences remaining from the initial consolidation
on the asset side were allocated to technical equipment and machinery, as these differences correspond to the
hidden reserves in the technical equipment and machinery according to the underlying valuation:
Andengold Solarparks GmbH & Co. KG, Karlsruhe, Germany
Technical equipment and machinery: EUR 140 thousand
Useful life: 360 months
Pitsberg Solarparks GmbH & Co. KG, Karlsruhe, Germany
Technical equipment and machinery: EUR 283 thousand
Useful life: 353 months
ALTUS Dachportfolio 01 GmbH & Co. KG, Karlsruhe, Germany
Technical equipment and machinery: EUR 149 thousand
Useful life: 349 months
ALTUS Dachportfolio 02 GmbH & Co. KG, Karlsruhe, Germany
Technical equipment and machinery: EUR 97 thousand
Useful life: 360 months
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ALTUS Dachportfolio 03 GmbH & Co. KG, Karlsruhe, Germany
Technical equipment and machinery: EUR 54 thousand
Useful life: 351 months
SARL Le Champvoisin, Lille, France
Technical equipment and machinery: EUR 5,153 thousand
Useful life: 300 months
GPJ Energiepark 113 GmbH, Reußenkönge, Germany
No differences on the assets side.
Summary of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the time of acquisition (in EUR thousand):
Total assets
Property, plant and equipment
Receivables and other assets
Cash at bank
Prepaid expenses

Total liabilities
Other provisions
Liabilities to banks
Assumption of loans from third parties
Trade liabilities
Other liabilities
Book value of net assets
Acquisition cost
Difference on the asset side/hidden reserves technical equipment and machinery

30,505
2,444
956
557
34,462

47
21,684
9,668
2,636
475
34,510
-48
5,829
5,877

The Company decided not to include Highwind Verwaltungs GmbH, Wiesbaden, in the consolidated financial
statements, as per Article 296 (2) HGB. The company is of only minor significance for the presentation of the
Group's net assets, financial position and results of operations. Therefore, in accordance with Article 313 (3) sentence 4 HGB, the Company also decided not to make disclosures pursuant to Article 313 (2) no. 4 HGB.
The general partner Eurowind Beteiligungs GmbH, Ingelheim, is a general partner in ABO Wind WP Broich
GmbH & Co. KG, ABO Wind WP Düngenheim GmbH & Co. KG and ABO Wind WP Repperndorf GmbH &
Co. KG, all with their registered offices in Ingelheim. The general partner ABO Invest Komplementär GmbH,
Ingelheim, is a general partner in ABO Wind Biogas Samswegen GmbH & Co. KG, ABO Wind WP Framersheim
II GmbH & Co. KG, ABO Wind WP Weilrod GmbH & Co. KG, all with their registered offices in Ingelheim, as
well as ALTUS DP 01 GmbH & Co. KG, ALTUS DP 02 GmbH & Co. KG, ALTUS DP 03 GmbH & Co. KG,
Pitsberg Solarparks GmbH & Co. KG, Andengold Solarparks GmbH & Co. KG, all with their registered offices
in Karlsruhe.
D. Consolidation methods
The financial statements of the subsidiaries included in the consolidation are generally prepared using uniform
group accounting principles. For the consolidated financial statements, the individual financial statements are ‒ if
necessary ‒ converted to present uniform accounting and valuation information according to the principles applicable to the parent company in accordance with Article 300 (2) HGB and Article 308 HGB.
The balance sheet date of all the companies included in the consolidated financial statements is 31 December.
As for capital consolidation, the revaluation method according to Article 301 HGB was applied to perform the
initial consolidation of subsidiaries. The initial consolidation takes place as of the month in which the company
becomes a subsidiary. During initial consolidation, the value of the interests held by the parent company is offset
against the amount of the subsidiary's equity capital attributable to these interests. Equity is recognised at the
amount corresponding to the fair value of the assets, liabilities, prepaid expenses and deferred income, and extraordinary items to be included in the consolidated financial statements as of the consolidation date. A significant
difference on the asset side remaining after the offset from initial consolidations had been reported under "Goodwill" until 2020.
From 2021 onwards, remaining differences on the asset side will be allocated to the item "Technical equipment
and machinery" and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the respective expected remaining useful life, as these
differences correspond to the hidden reserves in the technical equipment and machinery in accordance with the
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underlying valuation. A significant difference on the liabilities side is shown under the item "Difference arising
on capital consolidation" after equity. Insignificant differences are written off in the year of acquisition or derecognised through other operating income.
A subsidiary ceases to be consolidated as soon as the parent company ceases to have control over it, for example
as a result of the sale of a consolidated company. In the case of deconsolidation, in accordance with GAS 23, the
difference between the sale price and the net assets at the Group's book values attributable to the subsidiary at the
time of the disposal is recognised in other operating income if a profit arises on the deconsolidation, or in other
operating expenses if the deconsolidation results in a loss.
Differences arising from the increase and decrease in interests in subsidiaries are shown as capital transactions in
accordance with GAS 23 and are offset against the Group's equity without affecting profit or loss.
The effects of intra-group transactions are eliminated. Receivables and liabilities between the consolidated companies are offset against each other, and intra-group income is offset against the corresponding expenses.
E. Information on accounting and valuation as well as notes to the balance sheet
Fixed assets
Movements in fixed assets are presented in the schedule of fixed assets. The attached schedule of fixed assets is
an integral part of the notes to the financial statements.
Intangible assets
Under intangible assets, the difference arising on the assets side from the initial consolidation of shares in related
parties until 2020 is shown as goodwill. Goodwill is allocated to the respective special-purpose vehicles. The
difference is amortised on a scheduled basis over the respective project terms. For the wind farms acquired up until
2020 and the biogas project in the clearvise portfolio, a total term of 20 years (in Germany plus the year of commissioning) is generally assumed. For acquired existing farms, the remaining useful life is derived from the total
term less the previous months of operation. The useful lives range from 10 years and 5 months to 20 years and 8
months.
In the event of an expected permanent impairment, an unscheduled write-down is made. If the reasons for the
unscheduled write-down no longer exist, the lower value is retained in accordance with Article 253 (5) sentence 2
HGB.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is recognised at acquisition cost reduced by scheduled straight-line depreciation
charges. A useful life of 16 years is assumed for rights similar to land rights and for technical equipment and
machinery of the wind farms acquired up until 2020. From 2021 onwards, useful lives of 25 and 30 years respectively will be applied to newly acquired wind and solar farms. The reason for this are new findings about the actual
economic useful lives of the respective installations. In the consolidated financial statements, straight-line depreciation is applied uniformly. Unscheduled write-downs were not necessary.
The property, plant and equipment of the Irish wind farm Glenough Windfarm Limited decreased as a result of an
ex-post reimbursement of construction costs for a substation, received from the grid operator at the end of last
year. This substation was built and financed at the time indirectly as a joint venture by several wind farm companies
with the project being larger than would have been necessary for the wind farms. The Irish grid operator reimburses
grid connection fees when additional wind farms are connected to the substation. The share attributable to the
Glenough wind farm amounted to EUR 183 thousand.
Financial assets
Shares in related parties include the shares in Highwind Verwaltungs GmbH, Wiesbaden, which is not included in
the consolidated financial statements of clearvise AG in accordance with Article 296 (2) HGB due to its minor
significance for the presentation of the Group's net assets, financial position and results of operations. By acquiring
all limited partner shares in ABO Wind WP Losheim GmbH & Co. KG as of 30 June 2014, clearvise AG also
received the shares in its general partner, Highwind Verwaltungs GmbH. The shares are valued at acquisition cost.
Shareholdings include the share of ABO Wind WP Framersheim II GmbH & Co. KG in WP Framersheim Infrastruktur GbR, Wiesbaden, whose task is, among other things, to develop or maintain the enlarged access road to
the wind turbines from the public road network in the long term. The level of the shareholding did not change and
continues to be 15.625 % and was written down to the lower fair value as of 31 December 2021 – in line with the
scheduled wear and tear of the fixed assets of WP Framersheim Infrastruktur GbR.
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Inventories
The inventories of EUR 292 thousand (previous year: EUR 204 thousand) comprise the stored raw materials and
consumables of ABO Wind Biogas Samswegen GmbH & Co. KG. They are recognised at acquisition cost. The
acquisition cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Write-downs to the lower fair value are made if
the replacement cost is lower than the original acquisition cost.
Receivables and other assets
Receivables and other assets in the amount of EUR 8,823 thousand (previous year: EUR 5,691 thousand) are recognised at nominal value and all have a remaining term of up to one year.
Trade receivables of EUR 5,849 thousand (previous year: EUR 5,310 thousand) essentially comprise the operator
companies' receivables from the respective grid operator concerning compensation for the electricity produced and
fed into the grid in December. As a rule, the monthly feed-in compensation is transferred by the end of the following month at the latest. In exceptional cases, the transfer may also be delayed until the beginning of the following
month. At the end of the year, Germany reported trade receivables of EUR 1,631 thousand (previous year:
EUR 877 thousand), Finland EUR 1,870 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,006 thousand), France EUR 1,535 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,407 thousand) and Ireland EUR 813 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,020 thousand).
The wind farm ABO Wind WP Framersheim II GmbH & Co KG reports receivables from WP Framersheim Infrastruktur GbR, Wiesbaden, in the amount of EUR 6 thousand (previous year: EUR 5 thousand) as receivables
from parties with which the Company is linked by virtue of participating interests. Other assets of EUR 2,968
thousand (previous year: EUR 377 thousand) include mainly EUR 2,403 thousand in VAT refund claims of the
group companies from current business, receivables from insurance and tax refunds as well as from compensation
payments for grid disconnections as well as deposits paid.
Cash at bank
Cash at bank of EUR 23,198 thousand (previous year: EUR 17,319 thousand) are recognised at their nominal
values.
Prepaid expenses
Payments made before the balance sheet date were recognised as prepaid expenses if such payments represented
expenses for a particular period after the balance sheet date. Prepaid expenses increased by EUR 1,008 thousand
from EUR 505 thousand to EUR 1,513 thousand.
Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes arise from differences between the values recognised in the commercial and tax balance sheets, so
long as these differences are expected to be eliminated in future financial years.
Deferred taxes within the meaning of Article 306 HGB did not have to be created in respect of consolidation
measures.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset with each other. As of the balance sheet date, the deferred tax assets
and liabilities are netted (total difference consolidation approach), resulting in a surplus on the liabilities side. The
surplus on the liabilities side is fully offset against deferred taxes arising from tax loss carryforwards that can be
carried forward without restriction, so that no deferred taxes are reported in the balance sheet overall. In accordance
with GAS 18.21, tax loss carryforwards are taken into account regardless of when they are realised. The capitalisation of the remaining surplus on the asset side is waived by exercising the option pursuant to Article 274 (1)
sentence 2 HGB.
The calculated deferred tax assets and liabilities result from the different discounting of provisions for dismantling
obligations in accordance with Article 253 (2) HGB and Article 6 (1) no. 3a letter e EStG and from different useful
lives of property, plant and equipment.
Deferred taxes were valuated based on individual company tax rates. For the German companies, a corporate
income tax rate including solidarity surcharge of 15.825 % and a trade tax rate of 15.89 % are applied. The trade
tax results from a trade tax assessment rate of 454 %. Deferred taxes in the foreign companies are valued at the tax
rates applicable there (these range between 12.5 % and 33.3 %).
Share capital
As of the balance sheet date, the share capital of EUR 57,400,000.00 is divided into 57,400,000 no-par bearer
shares with a notional share in the share capital of EUR 1.00 per share.
The Extraordinary Meeting of Shareholders dated 8 October 2020 authorised the Management Board, subject to
the Supervisory Board's consent, to increase the share capital of the Company, either once or several times, by up
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to a total of EUR 24,500,000.00 until 7 October 2025, by issuing up to 24,500,000 new no-par bearer shares against
contribution made in cash and/or in kind, whereas the statutory subscription right of the shareholders can be excluded (Authorised capital 2020). Based on this authorisation, clearvise AG carried out capital increases of
EUR 3,500 thousand and EUR 4,900 thousand (excluding agio) in April 2021 and in June 2021, which reduced
the Authorised capital 2020 to EUR 16,100 thousand. clearvise AG does not hold any treasury shares.
Capital reserves
The capital reserves relate to amounts realised on the issue of shares in excess of the notional value of EUR 1.00.
Due to the agios paid in connection with the capital increases carried out in 2021, the capital reserves increased by
EUR 12,320 thousand to EUR 25,591 thousand.
Balance sheet result
The clearvise Group closed the 2021 financial year with a net loss for the period of EUR 3,277 thousand (previous
year: net profit for the period of EUR 2,366 thousand).
The loss carried forward of EUR 24,502 thousand together with the net loss for the period of EUR 3,277 thousand
results in a consolidated balance sheet loss of EUR 27,779 thousand.
Mezzanine capital
The Group has made use of the option provided by Article 265 (5) HGB and reports the granted profit participation
rights as a separate item between equity and liabilities. They are measured at their nominal amount.
The profit participation certificates of Eurowind Aktiengesellschaft, which are reported as mezzanine capital, were
originally issued in two tranches, each with bullet maturity, with a total issue volume of EUR 13,000 thousand in
a denomination of EUR 500 each and served to replace interim financing from UmweltBank AG, Nuremberg, to
finance the Eurowind portfolio. The profit participation certificates establish subordinated, fixed-interest creditor
rights, do not grant any shareholder rights and do not participate in the Company's losses.

Issue volume
Mezzanine
capital
Tranche 1
Tranche 2
Total

Item
10,400
15,600
26,000

EUR
thousand
5,200
7,800
13,000

31/12/2021
Item
9,753
0
9,775

31/12/2020

EUR
thousand
4,877
0
4,888

Item
9,775
0
9,805

EUR
thousand
4,888
0
4,903

Term until

Interest rate
p.a.

31/12/2021
31/12/2023

6.45 %
6.7 %

The second profit participation certificate tranche was written off after a complete repurchase in the 2016 financial
year. From time to time, clearvise AG is also offered the Tranche 1 profit participation certificates for repurchase.
In the 2021 financial year, clearvise AG acquired profit participation certificates with a nominal value of EUR 11
thousand plus accrued interest. In total, clearvise AG acquired Tranche 1 profit participation certificates with a
nominal volume of EUR 324 thousand (previous year: EUR 313 thousand). Tranche 1 was due for repayment on
31 December 2021. As the liquidity of the issuer, Eurowind Aktiengesellschaft, was not sufficient for the full
servicing on the maturity date, clearvise AG supported its subsidiary by providing corresponding liquidity. On the
part of clearvise AG, this liquidity support was serviced from the existing liquidity.
The interest accrual period started on 1 January 2010. Interest payments are made on 31 January of the following
year for the past calendar year.
Provisions
In the case of other provisions, identifiable risks and contingent liabilities are recognised at their expected settlement amount in accordance with Article 249 (1) HGB.
In accordance with Article 253 (1) HGB, tax provisions and other provisions are set up in the amount necessary
according to reasonable commercial judgement, to cover all identifiable risks and contingent liabilities as of the
balance sheet date.
As per Article 253 (2) HGB, provisions with a remaining term of more than one year are discounted at an average
market interest rate of the past seven financial years calculated and published by Deutsche Bundesbank that corresponds to their remaining terms.
Provisions for the dismantling of the wind turbines are created in instalments over the term of the respective utilisation contracts. The anticipated costs are estimated on the basis of empirical values. Compared to the previous
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year, the provisions for dismantling increased by EUR 276 thousand from EUR 1,502 thousand to EUR 1,778
thousand.
The provisions consist of the following items:
Provisions
(in EUR thousand)
Tax provisions
Other provisions
Total

31/12/2021
94
2,930
3,024

31/12/2020
106
2,580
2,686

Liabilities
The liabilities are valuated at their amount payable. The liabilities of EUR 165,816 thousand (previous year:
EUR 141,510 thousand) include the following items:
Liabilities
(in EUR thousand)
Liabilities to banks
incl. those with a remaining term of

31/12/2021

31/12/2020

162,522

139,165

up to 1 year
more than one year
incl. those of more than 5 years

23,674
138,848
74,156
1,416

18,347
120,818
46,161
912

up to 1 year
more than one year
incl. those of more than 5 years

1,416
0
0
26

912
0
0
25

up to 1 year
more than one year
incl. those of more than 5 years

26
0
0
2,787
876
0

25
0
0
1,408
348
1

up to 1 year
more than one year
incl. those of more than 5 years

2,539
248
0
166,751

1,156
252
252
141,510

up to 1 year
more than one year
incl. those of more than 5 years

27,655
139,096
74,156

20,440
121,070
46,413

Trade liabilities
incl. those with a remaining term of

Liabilities to related parties
incl. those with a remaining term of

Other liabilities
incl. tax payable
incl. liabilities due to social security
incl. those with a remaining term of

Total liabilities
incl. those with a remaining term of

The special-purpose vehicles' liabilities to banks totalling EUR 162,522 thousand (previous year: EUR 139,165
thousand) are fully secured by liens and similar rights. The assignments by way of security relate to all rights,
obligations and claims from all existing contracts and those to be concluded at a later date of all wind farm companies in Germany, France and Ireland.
The corporate loan of clearvise AG in the original amount of EUR 1,550 thousand, currently EUR 397 thousand
(previous year: EUR 556 thousand), which replaced project financing for the Irish wind farm Glenough 14 Limited
in 2014, is essentially secured by the pledge of all limited partner shares in ABO Wind WP Losheim GmbH & Co.
KG and the shares in its general partner, Highwind Verwaltungs GmbH.
Trade liabilities increased by EUR 504 thousand from EUR 912 thousand to EUR 1,416 thousand compared to
the previous year. The increase mainly results from liabilities of the wind farm company Le Champvoisin to the
turbine manufacturer in the amount of EUR 549 thousand.
Other liabilities of EUR 2,787 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,408 thousand) are recognised at nominal value.
Other liabilities consist of liabilities from taxes in the amount of EUR 876 thousand (previous year: EUR 348
thousand) and miscellaneous other liabilities. These are mainly VAT liabilities. Miscellaneous other liabilities
increased on balance by EUR 851 thousand from EUR 1,060 thousand to EUR 1,911 thousand. They mainly include interest yet to be paid on profit participation certificates for 2021 in the amount of EUR 315 thousand from
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Eurowind AG and project development costs yet to be paid in the amount of EUR 363 thousand from Andengold
Solarparks GmbH & Co. KG.
The item also includes feed-in compensation to be repaid from the company Le Champvoisin in the amount of
EUR 934 thousand, which results from the difference between the market price and the agreed fixed price.
Deferred income
Payments received before the balance sheet date were recognised as deferred income if such payments represented
income for a particular period after the balance sheet date. Deferred income in the amount of EUR 63 thousand
(previous year: EUR 69 thousand) includes a value adjustment for ABO Wind WP Framersheim II GmbH &
Co.KG, which will be reduced proportionately over the period of use.
D. Explanatory notes to the income statement
Sales revenues
Sales revenues of EUR 32,881 thousand (previous year: EUR 36,447 thousand) include the feed-in compensation
of the grid operators. As in the previous year, the clearvise Group did not generate any sales revenues from renting
or leasing or from the provision of services.
The sales revenues are structured as follows:
Sales revenues (in EUR thousand)
Germany
Overseas

2021

incl. Finland
incl. France
incl. Ireland
Total

2020
9,461
23,420
7,126
9,545
6,749
32,881

9,617
26,830
8,040
10,287
8,503
36,447

Interest and similar expenses
In the 2021 financial year, interest and similar expenses decreased by EUR 397 thousand from EUR 5,113 thousand to EUR 4,716 thousand. This includes EUR 58 thousand (previous year: EUR 67 thousand) resulting from
the discounting of the provision for dismantling.
Income and expenses whose amount or significance was extraordinary
No income or expenses whose amount or significance was extraordinary that are material to the assessment of the
Group's net assets, financial position and results of operations were incurred in the 2020 financial year.
Income and expenses relating to another financial year
The item "other operating income" includes income relating to another financial year (income relating to other
periods) in the amount of EUR 75 thousand (previous year: EUR 382 thousand). This mainly includes income
from the reversal of provisions of EUR 7 thousand (previous year: EUR 0 thousand), subsequent payments of
EUR 47 thousand (previous year: EUR 304 thousand) constituting sales revenues for previous years to the Irish
wind farm Glenough as well as damages due to lack of technical availability from previous years paid to the wind
farm Repperndorf in the amount of EUR 14 thousand (previous year: EUR 0 thousand).
The item "other operating expenses" includes expenses relating to another financial year (expenses relating to other
periods) in the amount of EUR 27 thousand (previous year: EUR 83 thousand).
G. Other information
Contingent liabilities
The Company does not report any contingent liabilities to third parties, i.e. liabilities arising from issuing and
transfer of bills, guaranties, bill and cheque guaranties, warranty agreements as well as contingent liabilities arising
from establishing securities for third-party liabilities.
Derivative financial instruments
The clearvise Group is exposed to market interest rate fluctuations due to variable interest loans. Interest rate swaps
were concluded for individual risks.
At the beginning of the financing, part of the subsidiaries had been granted variable interest loans from the project
financing banks, as these did or do not grant any fixed interest loans for structural reasons. Similarly, in October
2013, KfW loans with fixed interest rates at the time were refinanced and converted into more favourable variable
interest loans.
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With regard to the residual loan amounts refinanced in 2014 to finance the Eurowind portfolio, a fixed interest rate
of between 2.13 % p. a. and 2.17 % p. a. (plus bank margin of 1.05 % and 1.6 % respectively) was thus secured.
In addition, due to the low interest rates, forward interest rate swaps were concluded for the loan tranches of the
French wind farm Cuq and the Irish wind farm Glenough, in the case of which fixed interest rates and interest rate
hedges had been limited until September 2019. For the period from 2019, it was thus possible to secure a fixed
interest rate of 1.73 % p.a. or 1.81 % p.a. (plus bank margin of 1.05 % or 1.6 %, respectively) for a loan volume
with a residual debt of EUR 30,120 thousand at the end of 2019. For the German wind farms Broich, Düngenheim
and Repperndorf, a follow-up swap was concluded in each case on 30 September 2019 with a term until the end
of the financing term on 30 September 2024. The improved swap conditions reduced interest rates from an average
of 3.183 % to an average of 1.536 %.
Liabilities to banks were combined as an underlying transaction with the interest rate swap as a hedge to form a
valuation unit within the meaning of Article 254 HGB. The interest rate risk resulting from the underlying transaction due to market interest rate fluctuations is hedged. The interest rate of the underlying transaction is based on
the 3- month or 6-month EURIBOR. It is a micro-hedge. The interest liabilities resulting from the underlying
transaction are offset by interest receivables in the same amount from the interest rate swap, whereas the interest
rates, maturities and nominal amounts or measurement bases of the underlying transaction and hedge match each
other. Due to the existence of the same material conditions and parameters of underlying transactions and hedges,
it can be assumed that the hedged interest rate risks compensate each other.
The clearvise Group entered into the following interest rate hedges:
Loan amount at the
time of the conclusion of the swap in
EUR
ABO Wind WP Broich GmbH & Co.
KG
ABO Wind WP Düngenheim GmbH
& Co. KG
ABO Wind WP Repperndorf GmbH
& Co. KG
SNC Ferme Èolienne de Cuq-Serviès

Glenough Windfarm Limited

SARL Ferme Éolienne de la Gargasse
ABO Wind WP Weilrod GmbH &
Co. KG
Haapajärven Savinevan Tuulivoima
Oy
Total

Loan term
until

Loan book value
as of 31/12/2021
in EUR

Swap term
until

800,967

2024

214,095

2024

1,559,277

2024

425,245

2024

1,940,500
2,224,753

2024
2024

606,721
612,575

2024
2024

2,720,790
3,527,048
3,673,000
8,309,931
4,239,7231
21,896,000
3,584,900
2,169,8001
2,169,8002
21,540,0002
10,300,000

2024
2024
2025

881,703
902,792
1,841,000

2025
2025

2,713,394
6,059,500

2025
2025
2025
2027

1,320,740
1,320,740
15,990,000
5,053,686

2024
2024
2025
until 2019
2025
2025
until 2019
2025
2025
2025
2027

5,150,000

2031

3,218,750

2024

1,815,000
91,211,966

2027

1,140,000
42,300,941

2027

1

Forward swap concluded after expiry of the previous interest rate hedge. The residual loan amount stated refers to the time at the beginning
of the forward SWAP (2019).
2
Forward swap concluded after expiry of the fixed-interest period agreed to date. The residual loan amount stated refers to the time at the
beginning of the forward SWAP (2019).

Due to the currently prevailing historically low market interest rate level, the interest rate swaps show negative
market values totalling EUR 588 thousand. This is an arithmetical loss resulting from the interest rate hedge that
would only be realised if the interest rate swaps were terminated as of now. No such measure is either planned or
required, or permitted under the project financing agreements. This opportunity loss would also have occurred if
the clearvise Group had agreed to a contractual fixed interest rate instead of an interest rate swap.
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Other financial obligations
As of the balance sheet date, the Group had the following significant financial obligations that were not recognised
in the balance sheet:
Financial obligations (in EUR thousand)

falling due in the
following year

Obligations arising from service contracts
− Maintenance
− Plant management
− Other
Obligations from leases
Obligations from supply contracts
Obligations from leasing contracts

4,476
869
256
1,384
324
14

falling due in 2 to 5
years

falling due in more
than 5 years

18,218
3,458
137
5,389
1,514
6

16,080
3,278
0
11,675
899
0

H. Information as per Article 314 (1) nos. 4 and 9 HGB
Except for clearvise AG, the companies included in the consolidated financial statements do not have any employees of their own. clearvise AG employed 4 employees on average in the 2021 financial year (previous year: 1.5).
At the end of 2021, clearvise AG had four employees in addition to the Management Board.
The consolidated financial statements of the parent company as of 31 December 2021 were audited by Rödl &
Partner GmbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Cologne, Germany. The auditor received a total fee of EUR 43 thousand (net) for auditing services (previous year: EUR 43 thousand (net)). The
entire amount covers the audit services.
I. Report on post-balance sheet events
Diversification to include the solar PV asset class is progressing according to plan.
As part of the clearSCALE 2025 growth initiative, clearvise plans to achieve a 50 % share of production from
solar PV by 2025. By acquiring the Klettwitz-Nord PV farm with an installed generation capacity of 90 MWp, the
Company moved closer to achieving this goal. The PV farm was commissioned as scheduled on 29/04/2022. A
significant portion of the equity required for the acquisition was provided through interim equity financing.
Proof-of-Concept clearSWITCH
In January, clearvise AG signed an acquisition agreement for the acquisition of an existing Bavarian wind farm
with an installed capacity of 7.2 MW. The PV farm has been in operation since 2015 and most recently underwent
extensive technical optimisation and restructuring. The acquisition was carried out proportionately via a capital
increase through in-kind contributions.
Capital increase against cash contributions in February 2022
With the approval of the Supervisory Board, clearvise AG successfully carried out a capital increase via cash
contributions from the Authorised capital 2021 on 1 February 2022 to finance the expansion of the portfolio. A
total of 5,740,000 new shares were placed with institutional investors in a private placement. The placement price
was set at EUR 2.00. The shares were oversubscribed in this transaction. With the capital increase, the share capital
of the Company was increased by EUR 5,740,000.00 from the previous EUR 57,400,000.00 to
EUR 63,140,000.00 against cash contributions, excluding the subscription rights of the existing shareholders.
Capital increase via in-kind contributions in March 2022
On 01 March 2022, clearvise AG carried out a capital increase via in-kind contributions with the approval of the
Supervisory Board for the pro rata financing of the existing wind farm in Korbersdorf/Bavaria as part of the
clearSWITCH acquisition model. With the capital increase, the share capital of the Company was increased by
EUR 317,289.00 from the previous EUR 63,140,000.00 to EUR 63,457,289.00 against in-kind contributions.
Repayment of the profit participation certificate tranche
The mezzanine capital of EUR 5,200 thousand that existed at the level of Eurowind AG was repaid on time on 31
January 2022 plus interest of EUR 335 thousand. For this purpose, clearvise AG provided Eurowind AG with a
shareholder loan in the amount of EUR 5,549 thousand. The difference between the repayment amount and the
loan provided in the amount of EUR 14 thousand results from the trustee and paying agent fee for Umweltbank
AG.
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J. Appropriation of results
clearvise AG, as the parent company of the clearvise Group, closed the 2021 financial year with a net loss for the
period of EUR 1,168,745.41 (previous year: net loss for the period of EUR 307,116.63). The Management proposes carrying the result over onto the new account.
K. Governing bodies of the parent company and total remuneration
Management Board
The members of the Management Board in the reporting year were:
−

Petra Leue-Bahns, Sole Management Board Member, Kriftel

Ms Leue-Bahns took up her position on the Board on 01 March 2020.
The remuneration of the Management Board of clearvise AG is governed exhaustively by the management board
contracts.
Petra Leue-Bahns' remuneration package consists of a fixed basic annual remuneration and a variable remuneration
related to the financial year (annual bonus).
Basic annual remuneration and fringe benefits
The basic remuneration is a fixed remuneration component paid in twelve monthly instalments. Remuneration in
kind and fringe benefits include in particular the provision of a company car, insurance premiums, travel expenses
and other low-value fringe benefits.
Variable remuneration
The annual bonus is based on the development of the share price and is paid regularly in March of the year following the financial year. The calculation is based on the average price of the clearvise AG shares traded on stock
exchanges in Germany on the first five trading days of the payout month multiplied by 23,000.
Total remuneration of the Management Board of clearvise AG
(in EUR)
Petra Leue-Bahns

Fixed remuneration
120,000.00

Fringe benefit

Annual bonus

29,150.00

45,080.00

Total
194,230.00

No advances or loans were granted to the Management Board Members; likewise, no contingent liabilities were
entered into for their benefit.
Names of the Members of the Supervisory Board in the 2021 financial year
The following persons were appointed as Members of the Supervisory Board of clearvise AG in the reporting year:
Name

Function

Martin Rey
Astrid Zielke
Christian Guhl
Oliver Kirfel

Chairman
Deputy Chairwoman
Supervisory Board Member
Supervisory Board Member

Period in
the reporting year
01/01 - 31/12
01/01 - 31/12
01/01 - 31/12
01/01 - 31/12

Dr. Hartmut Schüning

Supervisory Board Member

01/01 - 31/12

Profession
Attorney at Law
Attorney at Law
Senior Director Capgemini Invent
Attorney at Law
Founder and Management Board Member at H.S. Hamburg Solar GmbH

The term of office of the Supervisory Board elected on 2 July 2021 (including the substitute members) ends with
the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting that resolves on granting the members of the Supervisory Board
discharge for the 2024 financial year.
The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board of clearvise AG is regulated conclusively by the
provisions of the Articles of Association and consists of a fixed remuneration for each full year of acting as the
member. Supervisory Board Members who have only served on the Supervisory Board for part of the financial
year receive pro rata remuneration. clearvise AG reimburses the Supervisory Board Members for their expenses
incurred in connection with their Supervisory Board activities as well as any value-added tax payable on the remuneration. In addition, clearvise AG assumes any insurance premiums insofar as the Company takes out a D&O
insurance for Board Members and the insurance cover also extends to the Members of the Supervisory Board.
There are no further obligations to pay benefits in cash or in kind (e.g. profit-sharing, subscription rights and other
incentive-based or share-based remuneration, expense reimbursements, insurance compensation, commissions and
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fringe benefits of any kind), arising from direct or indirect pension, annuity or similar commitments or in the event
of termination of the function of serving as a Member of the Supervisory Board. The Annual General Meeting of
2 July 2020 last resolved to amend the fixed remuneration of the Supervisory Board by way of an amendment to
the Articles of Association, which was entered in the company register on 24 November 2020. The Chairman of
the Supervisory Board receives a fixed remuneration of EUR 20,000.00, the Deputy Chairman EUR 15,000.00.
The other Members of the Supervisory Board are entitled to a fixed remuneration of EUR 10,000.00.
No advances or loans were granted to the Supervisory Board Members; likewise, no contingent liabilities were
entered into for their benefit.
There are no obligations towards any former members of the Supervisory Board or their surviving dependents.
Total remuneration of the Supervisory Board of clearvise AG in EUR:
Martin Rey
Astrid Zielke
Oliver Kirfel
Christian Guhl
Dr. Hartmut Schuning
Total

20,000.00
15,000.00
10,000.00
10,000.00
10,000.00
65,000.00

Wiesbaden, 1 June 2022

___________________
(Petra Leue-Bahns)
Management Board Member
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Appendix to notes to the consolidated financial statements

Movements in consolidated fixed assets in the financial year 2021
Carried forward
01/01/2021
EUR
I. Intangible
assets
Goodwill
II. Property,
plant and
equipment
1. Land, similar
rights and
buildings including buildings on thirdparty land
2. Technical
equipment and
machinery
3. Other assets,
furniture and
fixtures and office equipment
4. Advance payments and assets under construction
III. Financial
assets
1. Shares in related parties
2. Shareholdings
3. Shares in cooperatives

Change in
the scope of
consolidation
EUR

Acquisition and production costs
Additions
Disposals

EUR

EUR

Reposting

As of
31/12/2021

EUR

EUR

13,361,412.40
13,361,412.40

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

13,361,412.40
13,361,412.40

891,741.61

4,984.00

0.00

0.00

2,648,400.98

3,545,126.59

283,964,540.53

13,292,170.40

1,219,966.28

-182,652.01

34,854,241.54

333,148,266.76

28,922.44

0.00

8,741.78

0.00

0.00

37,664.22

18,197.81
284,903,402.39

23,085,140.15
36,382,294.55

14,594,132.51
15,822,840.57

-173,528.52
-356,180.53

-37,502,642.52
0.00

21,299.43
336,752,357.00

25,000.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

25,000.00

328,125.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

328,125.00

9,500.00
362,625.00

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

9,500.00
362,625.00

298,627,439.79

36,382,294.55

15,822,840.57

-356,180.53

0.00

350,476,394.40
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Carried forward
01/01/2021

Change
in the
scope of
consolidation
EUR
EUR

I. Intangible
assets
Goodwill

7,160,270.43
7,160,270.43

II. Property,
plant and
equipment
1. Land, similar rights and
buildings including buildings on thirdparty land
165,978.00
2. Technical
equipment and
machinery
126,950,947.01
3. Other assets,
furniture and
fixtures and office equipment
8,389.44
4. Advance
payments and
assets under
construction
0.00
127,125,314.45
III. Financial
assets
1. Shares in related parties
0.00
2. Shareholdings
152,099.90
3. Shares in cooperatives
0.00
152,099.90
134,437,684.78

Amortisation
Additions Disposals

EUR

As of
31/12/2021

Book values
31/12/2021
31/12/2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

0.00
0.00

630,390.12
630,390.12

0.00
0.00

7,790,660.55
7,790,660.55

5,570,751.85
5,570,751.85

6,201,141.97
6,201,141.97

0.00

56,394.01

0.00

222,372.01

3,322,754.58

725,763.61

0.00 18,237,342.32

0.00 145,188,289.33 187,959,977.43 157,013,593.52

0.00

0.00

6,731.78

15,121.22

22,543.00

20,533.00

0.00
0.00
0.00 18,300,468.11

0.00
0.00
21,299.43
18,197.81
0.00 145,425,782.56 191,326,574.44 157,778,087.94

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

25,000.00

25,000.00

0.00

20,507.76

0.00

172,607.66

155,517.34

176,025.10

0.00
0.00

0.00
20,507.76

0.00
0.00

0.00
172,607.66

9,500.00
190,017.34

9,500.00
210,525.10

0.00 18,951,365.99

0.00 153,389,050.77 197,087,343.63 164,189,755.01
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Consolidated cash flow statement for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2021

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.
25.
26.
27.

Net result for the period
Depreciation of fixed assets
Increase in provisions
Other income not affecting the cash flow
Profit from disposal of fixed assets
Increase/decrease in inventories, trade receivables and other assets not at-/+
tributable to investing or financing activities
Increase/decrease in trade liabilities and other liabilities not attributable to
+/investing or financing activities
+
Interest expense
Interest income
+
Income tax expense
Income tax paid
=
Cash flow from operating activities
+
Cash receipts from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Cash payments for investments in property, plant and equipment
Cash payments for acquisition of consolidated companies (incl. shareholder loans) and other business units
+
Received interest
=
Cash flows from investing activities
Cash payments for repayment of shareholder loans
+
Cash receipts from the shares issued
+
Cash receipts from the bonds issued and (financial) loans taken out
Cash payments for bond redemption and repayment of (financial) loans
Disbursements to shareholders
Interest paid
=
Cash flows from financing activities
Changes in cash and cash equivalents affecting the cash flow
+
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
=
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period
Structure of the cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period
- Cash funds
+
+
-

2021
EUR thousand
-3,277
18,951
251
-7
356

2020
EUR thousand
2,366
18,569
380
0
0

-252

-1,106

-2,168
4,716
-20
95
-146
18,499
0
-15,823

524
5,113
0
133
-76
25,903
365
-262

-14,542
20
-30,345
0
20,720
20,431
-18,746
0
-4,680
17,725
5,879
17,319
23,198

0
0
103
0
0
479
-17,818
-980
-5,046
-23,365
2,641
14,678
17,319

23,198
23,198

17,319
17,319
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2021
Consolidated
equity

Equity of the parent company
Reserves
Retained
earnings
EUR

Total

Consolidated
loss

Total

EUR

Capital reserve
EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

49,000,000.00
8,400,000.00

13,270,875.00
0.00

986,757.02
0.00

14,257,632.02
0.00

-24,501,843.06
0.00

38,755,788.96
8,400,000.00

0.00
0.00

12,320,000.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

12,320,000.00
0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

-3,277,449.52

-3,277,449.52

57,400,000.00

25,590,875.00

986,757.02

14,257,632.02

-27,779,292.58

56,198,339.44

Share capital

As of 1 January
2021
Capital increase
Allocations to reserves
Distribution
Consolidated net
profit for the period
As of 31 December 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To clearvise AG, Wiesbaden
Audit opinions
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of clearvise AG, Wiesbaden, and its subsidiaries (the
Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of 31 December 2021, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the financial
year from 1 January to 31 December 2021, as well as the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
the presentation of the accounting and valuation policies. In addition, we have audited the combined management
report of clearvise AG, Wiesbaden, for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2021.
In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,
−

the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the requirements of
German commercial law and give a true and fair view of the net assets and financial position of the Group as
of 31 December 2021 and of its results of operations for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December
2021 in compliance with German Legally Required Accounting Principles; and

−

the accompanying combined management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s
position. In all material respects, the combined management report is consistent with the consolidated financial
statements, complies with German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks
of future development.

Pursuant to § 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial Code], we declare that our audit
has not led to any reservations relating to the legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of the
combined management report.
Basis for the Audit Opinions
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the combined management report in accordance with § 317 HGB and in compliance with the German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW).
Our responsibilities under those requirements and principles are further described in the "Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Combined Management Report" section of
our auditor’s report. We are independent of the group entities in accordance with the requirements of German
commercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions on the consolidated financial statements and the combined management report.
Responsibility of the Legal Representative and the Supervisory Board for the Consolidated Financial Statements
and the Combined Management Report
The legal representative is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that comply, in
all material respects, with the requirements of German commercial law and that the consolidated financial statements, in compliance with German Legally Required Accounting Principles, give a true and fair view of the net
assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group. In addition, the legal representative is responsible
for such internal control as s/he, in accordance with German Legally Required Accounting Principles, has determined necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the legal representative is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. S/he also has the responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern. In addition, s/he is responsible for financial reporting based on the going concern basis of accounting provided no actual or legal circumstances conflict therewith.
Furthermore, the legal representative is responsible for the preparation of the combined management report that,
as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and is, in all material respects, consistent with
the consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal requirements, and appropriately presents the
opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, the legal representative is responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as s/he has considered necessary to enable the preparation of a combined management report that is in accordance with the applicable German legal requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the combined management report.
The supervisory board is responsible for monitoring the Group's accounting process relating to the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements and the combined management report.
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Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Combined Management
Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the combined management report
as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and, in all material respects, is consistent with the
consolidated financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development, as well as to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the combined
management report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with § 317 HGB and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits
promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements and this combined management report.
We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
−

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and of the combined management report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal controls.

−

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial statements and
of arrangements and measures relevant to the audit of the combined management report in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an audit
opinion on the effectiveness of these systems.

−

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the legal representative and the reasonableness of
estimates made by the legal representative and related disclosures.

−

Conclude on the appropriateness of the legal representative’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements and in the combined management report or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our respective audit opinions. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
be able to continue as a going concern.

−

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements present the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial
position and results of operations of the Group in compliance with German Legally Required Accounting
Principles.

−

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the combined management report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinions.

−

Evaluate the consistency of the combined management report with the consolidated financial statements, its
conformity with [German] law, and the view of the Group’s position it provides.

−

Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the legal representative in the combined
management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular, the significant assumptions used by the legal representative as a basis for the prospective information, and evaluate
the proper derivation of the prospective information from these assumptions. We do not express a separate
audit opinion on the prospective information and on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial
unavoidable risk that future events will differ materially from the prospective information.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
Cologne, 1 June 2022
Rödl & Partner GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Heinrichs
Wirtschaftsprüfer
[German Public Auditor]

Palmersheim
Wirtschaftsprüfer
[German Public Auditor]
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8.1.2

Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2020

Consolidated balance sheet as of 31 December 2020
ASSETS
A. FIXED ASSETS
I. Intangible assets
Goodwill
II. Property, plant and equipment
1. Land, similar rights and buildings including
buildings on third-party land
2. Technical equipment and machinery
3. Other assets, furniture and fixtures and office
equipment
4. Advance payments and assets under construction
III. Financial assets
1. Shares in related parties
2. Shareholdings
3. Shares in cooperatives

B. CURRENT ASSETS
I. Inventories
Raw materials and consumables
II. Receivables and other assets
1. Trade receivables
2. Receivables from parties with which the Company is linked by virtue of participating interests
3. Other assets

EUR

6,201,141.97

20,533.00
18,197.81
157,778,087.94

14,670.00
13,392.49
176,038,642.72

210,525.10
164,189,755.01

25,000.00
196,532.86
9,500.00
231,032.86
183,101,207.79

204,310.65

163,617.82

25,000.00
176,025.10
9,500.00

5,309,582.16

4,478,096.04

4,642.60
377,021.71

1,700.97
138,906.78
4,618,703.79
14,678,356.49
19,460,678.10
511,766.30
203,073,652.19

5,691,246.47
17,319,052.53
23,214,609.65
504,516.41
187,908,881.07

EUR

A. EQUITY
I. Share capital
II. Capital reserves
III. Retained earnings
IV. Consolidated balance sheet loss

D. LIABILITIES
1. Liabilities to banks
2. Trade liabilities
3. Liabilities to related parties
4. Other liabilities
E. DEFERRED INCOME

6,831,532.21

742,222.61
175,268,357.62

C. PREPAID EXPENSES

B. MEZZANINE CAPITAL
C. PROVISIONS
1. Tax provisions
2. Other provisions

Previous year
EUR

725,763.61
157,013,593.52

III. Cash at bank

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

31/12/2020
EUR

31/12/2020
EUR

Previous year
EUR

49,000,000.00
13,270,875.00
986,757.02
-24,501,843.06
38,755,788.96
4,887,500.00

49,000,000.00
13,270,875.00
458,560.71
-25,359,629.97
37,369,805.74
4,902,500.00

2,686,271.62

233,004.57
2,151,449.45
2,384,454.02

141,510,391.21
68,929.28
187,908,881.07

156,488,610.76
997,060.22
25,338.36
831,512.05
158,342,521.39
74,371.04
203,073,652.19

106,593.05
2,579,678.57

139,164,725. 20
912,203.94
25,622.94
1,407,839.13
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Consolidated income statement for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2020

1. Sales revenues
2. Other operating income
3. Costs of materials
Expenses for raw materials and consumables
4. Personnel costs
a) Wages and salaries
b) Expenses for social security and costs of benefits
and support
5. Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation
of fixed assets and property, plant and equipment
6. Other operating expenses
7. Revenues from other securities and loans classified as financial assets
8. Other interest and similar income
9. Amortisation of financial assets and current securities
10. Interest and similar expenses
- incl. on related parties
EUR 284.58 (previous year: EUR 281.43)
11. Income taxes
12. Profit (loss) after tax
13. Other taxes
14. Consolidated net profit (loss) for the period
15. Accumulated loss carried forward
16. Consolidated balance sheet loss

2020
EUR
36,447,296.58
935,724.03
37,383,020.61

Previous year
EUR
33,081,136.66
1,568,819.31
34,649,955.97

(397,655.26)

(275,500.24)

(271,433.87)

(192,241.18)

(32,279.62)
(303,713.49)

(28,836.93)
(221,078.11)

(18,548,197.09)
(9,002,783.97)

(19,251,859.06)
(8,121,399.84)

95.00
60.39

190.00
2,651.26

(20,507.76)

(20,507.76)

(5,113,404.00)

(5,785,116.86)

(132,643.12)
3,864,271.31
(1,498,288.09)
2,365,983.22
(26,867,826.28)
(24,501,843.06)

(253,479.95)
723,855.41
(1,124,875.59)
(401,020.18)
(24,958,609.79)
(25,359,629.97)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2020
A. General information
According to its articles of association, the object of clearvise AG is the promotion and/or implementation of
renewable energy projects in Germany and abroad by acquiring, holding, managing and selling interests in specialpurpose vehicles as well as in companies operating in the area of renewable energy. In addition, the object of
clearvise AG is to combine other companies under uniform management and to provide management, consulting
and other services to such companies.
The operational business, i.e. in particular the further development and optimised operation of a portfolio of power
plants generating energy from renewable sources such as wind and solar, determines the scope of business and
thus the functional and management-related tasks of the holding company. In addition to the acquisition of companies necessary to expand the portfolio, this includes operational management and controlling of interests (asset
management), optimising production and marketing of the electricity generated, and ensuring power plant availability. In the context of operational asset management, clearvise AG regularly exerts influence on the technical
and commercial management and thus on the income and cost structures of the renewable energy projects. In the
course of this, the Company continuously creates value, e.g. by implementing technical improvements in ongoing
operations, taking advantage of economies of scale, renegotiating contract terms and/or the financing of the shareholdings, etc.
clearvise AG is entered in the company register kept by the District Court in Wiesbaden under number HRB 25063.
By virtue of the resolution adopted by the Annual General Meeting on 8 October 2020, the Company's name was
changed from ABO Invest AG to clearvise AG. This emphasises the Company's independence from the project
developer ABO Wind AG, and in particular the Company's future-oriented focus as an Independent Power Producer and its sustainable contribution to the European energy transition through the long-term operation of renewable energy generation plants.
As the ultimate parent company, clearvise AG prepares the consolidated financial statements for the largest group
of consolidated companies. As the consolidated financial statements are prepared voluntarily, the consolidated
financial statements are not published in the electronic Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger).
B. Information on the form and presentation of the balance sheet and income statement
The consolidated financial statements for the 2020 financial year of clearvise AG were prepared in accordance
with the provisions of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and the supplementary provisions of the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG).
The consolidated financial statements were generally prepared based on the assumption of the Company's ability
to continue as a going concern (Article 298 (1) HGB in conjunction with Article 252 (1) no. 2 HGB).
Where the Company had the right to elect whether to include information in the balance sheet or in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements, the Company elected to include comments in the notes.
The financial year of the Group corresponds to the calendar year.
The income statement was prepared using the nature of expense method.
The structure of the cash flow statement is based on German Accounting Standard No. 21 (GAS 21). The information on the composition of cash and cash equivalents is presented below the cash flow statement. Information
on the main investment and financing transactions affecting cash flows and business events is provided in the
combined management report.
C. Scope of consolidation
In addition to clearvise AG as the parent company, the consolidated financial statements include all subsidiaries
over which clearvise AG has a controlling influence either directly or indirectly through a majority of the voting
rights.
The scope of consolidation did not change in the past financial year.
The Company decided not to include Highwind Verwaltungs GmbH, Wiesbaden, in the consolidated financial
statements, as per Article 296 (2) HGB. The company is of only minor significance for the presentation of the
Group's net assets, financial position and results of operations. Therefore, in accordance with Article 313 (3) sentence 4 HGB, the Company decided not to make disclosures pursuant to Article 313 (2) no. 4 HGB.
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The consolidated financial statements of clearvise AG include:
Group company
and registered office

Eurowind Aktiengesellschaft, Wiesbaden, Germany
Eurowind Beteiligungs GmbH, Ingelheim, Germany
ABO Wind WP Broich GmbH & Co. KG, Ingelheim,
Germany
ABO Wind WP Düngenheim GmbH & Co. KG,
Ingelheim, Germany
ABO Wind WP Repperndorf GmbH & Co. KG,
Ingelheim, Germany
ABO Invest Komplementär GmbH, Ingelheim, Germany
ABO Wind Biogas Samswegen GmbH & Co. KG,
Ingelheim, Germany
ABO Wind WP Framersheim II GmbH & Co. KG,
Ingelheim, Germany
ABO Wind WP Losheim GmbH & Co. KG, Ingelheim, Germany
ABO Wind WP Weilrod GmbH & Co. KG, Ingelheim, Germany
Glenough Windfarm Limited, Dublin, Ireland
Glenough Windfarm 14 Limited, Dublin, Ireland
SNC Ferme Éolienne de Cuq-Serviès, Toulouse,
France
SARL Ferme Éolienne de la Gargasse, Toulouse,
France
SARL Ferme Éolienne d' Escamps, Toulouse, France
SARL Ferme Éolienne des Hautes Landes, Toulouse,
France
SARL Ferme Éolienne de Saint Nicolas des Biefs,
Toulouse, France
Haapajärvi Sauviinmäki Tuulivoima Oy, Helsinki,
Finland
Haapajärven Savinevan Tuulivoima Oy, Helsinki,
Finland
1

Interest
ownership in %

Equity
In EUR thousand1

Consolidated
since

7,191
47

Net profit (loss)
for the period
In EUR thousand1
-222
2

100.0
100.0
100.0

-1,239

-42

31/12/2010

100.0

-1,132

50

31/12/2010

100.0

-1,499

3

31/12/2010

100.0

46

2

30/08/2011

100.0

-34

209

31/12/2011

100.0

1,735

124

30/06/2012

100.0

123

137

30/06/2014

100.0
100.0
100.0

2,210
3,381
1,297

286
1,383
80

31/01/2015
31/12/2010
31/12/2012

100.0

-5,517

-299

31/12/2010

100.0
100.0

2,363
221

383
145

31/12/2011
30/06/2013

100.0

1,780

330

30/06/2014

100.0

3,125

234

30/06/2014

100.0

5,044

423

18/12/2014

100.0

-12,694

-2,427

31/12/2017

31/12/2010
31/12/2010

Information according to the presented local annual financial statements of the respective company as of the balance sheet date

The general partner Eurowind Beteiligungs GmbH, Ingelheim, is a general partner in ABO Wind WP Broich
GmbH & Co. KG, ABO Wind WP Düngenheim GmbH & Co. KG and ABO Wind WP Repperndorf GmbH &
Co. KG, all with their registered offices in Ingelheim. The general partner ABO Invest Komplementär GmbH,
Ingelheim, is a general partner in ABO Wind Biogas Samswegen GmbH & Co. KG, ABO Wind WP Framersheim
II GmbH & Co. KG and ABO Wind WP Weilrod GmbH & Co. KG, all with their registered offices in Ingelheim.
D. Consolidation methods
The financial statements of the subsidiaries included in the consolidation are generally prepared using uniform
group accounting principles. For the consolidated financial statements, the individual financial statements are ‒ if
necessary ‒ converted to present uniform accounting and valuation information according to the principles applicable to the parent company in accordance with Article 300 (2) HGB and Article 308 HGB.
The balance sheet date of all the companies included in the consolidated financial statements is 31 December.
As for capital consolidation, the revaluation method according to Article 301 HGB was applied to perform the
initial consolidation of subsidiaries. The initial consolidation takes place as of the month in which the company
becomes a subsidiary. During initial consolidation, the value of the interests held by the parent company is offset
against the amount of the subsidiary's equity capital attributable to these interests. Equity is recognised at the
amount corresponding to the fair value of the assets, liabilities, prepaid expenses and deferred income, and extraordinary items to be included in the consolidated financial statements as of the consolidation date. A significant
amount difference remaining after the offset is reported as goodwill if it arises on the assets side, or under the item
"Difference arising on capital consolidation" after equity if it arises on the liabilities side. Insignificant differences
are written off in the year of acquisition or derecognised through other operating income.
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A subsidiary ceases to be consolidated as soon as the parent company ceases to have control over it, for example
as a result of the sale of a consolidated company. In the case of deconsolidation, in accordance with GAS 23, the
difference between the sale price and the net assets at the Group's book values attributable to the subsidiary at the
time of the disposal is recognised in other operating income if a profit arises on the deconsolidation, or in other
operating expenses if the deconsolidation results in a loss.
Differences arising from the increase and decrease in interests in subsidiaries are shown as capital transactions in
accordance with GAS 23 and are offset against the Group's equity without affecting profit or loss.
The effects of intra-group transactions are eliminated. Receivables and liabilities between the consolidated companies are offset against each other, and intra-group income is offset against the corresponding expenses.
E. Information on accounting and valuation as well as notes to the balance sheet
Fixed assets
Movements in fixed assets are presented in the schedule of fixed assets. The attached schedule of fixed assets is
an integral part of the notes to the financial statements.
Intangible assets
Under intangible assets, the difference arising on the assets side from the initial consolidation of shares in the
related parties is shown as goodwill. Goodwill is allocated to the respective special-purpose vehicles. The difference is amortised on a scheduled basis over the respective project terms. For the wind farms and the biogas project
in the clearvise portfolio, a total term of 20 years (in Germany plus the year of commissioning) is generally assumed. For acquired existing farms, the remaining useful life is derived from the total term less the previous
months of operation. The useful lives range from 10 years and 5 months to 20 years and 8 months.
In the event of an expected permanent impairment, an unscheduled write-down is made. If the reasons for the
unscheduled write-down no longer exist, the lower value is retained in accordance with Article 253 (5) sentence 2
HGB.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is recognised at acquisition cost reduced by scheduled straight-line depreciation
charges. A useful life of 16 years is assumed for rights similar to land rights and for technical equipment and
machinery of the wind farms. In the consolidated financial statements, straight-line depreciation is applied uniformly. Unscheduled write-downs were not necessary.
The property, plant and equipment of the Irish wind farm Glenough Windfarm Limited decreased as a result of an
ex post reimbursement of construction costs for a substation, received from the grid operator at the end of last year.
This substation was built and financed at the time indirectly as a joint venture by several wind farm companies
with the project being larger than would have been necessary for the wind farms. The Irish grid operator reimburses
grid connection fees when additional wind farms are connected to the substation. The share attributable to the
Glenough wind farm amounted to EUR 365 thousand.
Financial assets
Shares in related parties include the shares in Highwind Verwaltungs GmbH, Wiesbaden, which is not included in
the consolidated financial statements of clearvise AG in accordance with Article 296 (2) HGB due to its minor
significance for the presentation of the Group's net assets, financial position and results of operations. By acquiring
all limited partner shares in ABO Wind WP Losheim GmbH & Co. KG as of 30 June 2014, clearvise AG also
received the shares in its general partner, Highwind Verwaltungs GmbH. The shares are valued at acquisition cost.
Shareholdings include the share of ABO Wind WP Framersheim II GmbH & Co. KG in WP Framersheim Infrastruktur GbR, Wiesbaden, whose task is, among other things, to develop or maintain the enlarged access road to
the wind turbines from the public road network in the long term. The level of the shareholding did not change and
continues to be 15.625 % and was written down to the lower fair value as of 31 December 2020 – in line with the
scheduled wear and tear of the fixed assets of WP Framersheim Infrastruktur GbR.
Inventories
The inventories of EUR 204 thousand (previous year: EUR 164 thousand) comprise the stored raw materials and
consumables of ABO Wind Biogas Samswegen GmbH & Co. KG. They are recognised at acquisition cost. The
acquisition cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Write-downs to the lower fair value are made if
the replacement cost is lower than the original acquisition cost.
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Receivables and other assets
Receivables and other assets in the amount of EUR 5,691 thousand (previous year: EUR 4,619 thousand) are recognised at nominal value and all have a remaining term of up to one year.
Trade receivables of EUR 5,310 thousand (previous year: EUR 4,478 thousand) essentially comprise the operator
companies' receivables from the respective grid operator concerning compensation for the electricity produced and
fed into the grid in December. As a rule, the monthly feed-in compensation is transferred by the end of the following month at the latest. In exceptional cases, the transfer may also be delayed until the beginning of the following
month. At the end of the year, Germany reported trade receivables of EUR 877 thousand (previous year:
EUR 1,055 thousand), Finland EUR 2,006 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,345 thousand), France EUR 1,407
thousand (previous year: EUR 1,314 thousand) and Ireland EUR 1,020 thousand (previous year: EUR 764 thousand).
The wind farm ABO Wind WP Framersheim II GmbH & Co.KG reports receivables from WP Framersheim Infrastruktur GbR, Wiesbaden, in the amount of EUR 5 thousand (previous year: EUR 2 thousand) as receivables
from parties with which the Company is linked by virtue of participating interests.
Other assets of EUR 377 thousand (previous year: EUR 139 thousand) include VAT refund claims of the group
companies from current business, receivables from insurance and tax refunds as well as from compensation payments for grid disconnections, receivables arising from recharged electricity expenses as well as deposits paid.
Cash at bank
Cash at bank of EUR 17,319 thousand (previous year: EUR 14,678 thousand) are recognised at their nominal
values.
Prepaid expenses
Payments made before the balance sheet date were recognised as prepaid expenses if such payments represented
expenses for a particular period after the balance sheet date. Prepaid expenses decreased by EUR 7 thousand from
EUR 512 thousand to EUR 505 thousand.
Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes arise from differences between the values recognised in the commercial and tax balance sheets, so
long as these differences are expected to be eliminated in future financial years.
Deferred taxes within the meaning of Article 306 HGB did not have to be created in respect of consolidation
measures.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset with each other. As of the balance sheet date, the deferred tax assets
and liabilities are netted (total difference consolidation approach), resulting in a surplus on the liabilities side. The
surplus on the liabilities side is fully offset against deferred taxes arising from tax loss carryforwards that can be
carried forward without restriction, so that no deferred taxes are reported in the balance sheet overall. In accordance
with GAS 18.21, tax loss carryforwards are taken into account regardless of when they are realised. The capitalisation of the remaining surplus on the asset side is waived by exercising the option pursuant to Article 274 (1)
sentence 2 HGB.
The calculated deferred tax assets and liabilities result from the different discounting of provisions for dismantling
obligations in accordance with Article 253 (2) HGB and Article 6 (1) no. 3a letter e EStG and from different useful
lives of property, plant and equipment.
Deferred taxes were valuated based on individual company tax rates. For the German companies, a corporate
income tax rate including solidarity surcharge of 15.825 % and a trade tax rate of 15.89 % are applied. The trade
tax results from a trade tax assessment rate of 454 %. Deferred taxes in the foreign companies are valued at the tax
rates applicable there (these range between 12.5 % and 33.3 %).
Share capital
As of the balance sheet date, the share capital of EUR 49,000 thousand is divided into 49,000,000 no-par bearer
shares with a notional share in the share capital of EUR 1.00 per share.
The General Meeting of Shareholders dated 16 July 2015 authorised the Management Board, subject to the Supervisory Board's consent, to increase the share capital of the Company, either once or several times, by up to
EUR 20,000 thousand until 15 July 2020, by issuing up to 20,000,000 new no-par bearer shares against contribution made in cash and/or in kind (Authorised capital 2015). Based on this authorisation, clearvise AG carried out
a capital increase of EUR 3,000 thousand (excluding agio) in February 2017 and EUR 1,500 thousand (excluding
agio) in October, which reduced the Authorised capital 2015 to EUR 15,500 thousand. The Authorised capital
2015 expired on 15 July 2020.
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The Extraordinary Meeting of Shareholders dated 8 October 2020 authorised the Management Board, subject to
the Supervisory Board's consent, to increase the share capital of the Company, either once or several times, by up
to a total of EUR 24,500,000.00 thousand until 7 October 2025, by issuing up to 24,500,000 new no-par bearer
shares against contribution made in cash and/or in kind, whereas the statutory subscription right of the shareholders
can be excluded (Authorised capital 2020). clearvise AG did not carry out any capital increases in the 2020 financial year.
clearvise AG does not hold any treasury shares.
Capital reserves
The capital reserves relate to amounts realised on the issue of shares in excess of the notional value of EUR 1.00.
As in the previous year, it amounted to EUR 13,271 thousand.
Consolidated profit
The clearvise Group closed the 2020 financial year with a net profit for the period of EUR 2,366 thousand (previous year: net loss for the period of EUR 401 thousand).
The consolidated net loss of the previous year in the amount of EUR 25,360 thousand less the dividend distribution
of EUR 980 thousand made in 2020 and the allocation of EUR 528 thousand to other retained earnings results in
the loss carried forward for the 2020 financial year in the amount of EUR 26,868 thousand.
The loss carried forward of EUR 26,868 thousand together with the net profit for the period of EUR 2,366 thousand
results in a consolidated loss of EUR 24,502 thousand.
Mezzanine capital
The Group has made use of the option provided by Article 265 (5) HGB and reports the granted profit participation
rights as a separate item between equity and liabilities. They are measured at their nominal amount.
The profit participation certificates of Eurowind Aktiengesellschaft, which are reported as mezzanine capital, were
originally issued in two tranches, each with bullet maturity, with a total issue volume of EUR 13,000 thousand in
a denomination of EUR 500 each and served to replace interim financing from UmweltBank AG, Nuremberg, to
finance the Eurowind portfolio. The profit participation certificates establish subordinated, fixed-interest creditor
rights, do not grant any shareholder rights and do not participate in the Company's losses.
Issue volume
Mezzanine
capital
Tranche 1
Tranche 2
Total

Item
10,400
15,600
26,000

EUR
thousand
5,200
7,800
13,000

31/12/2020
Item
9,775
0
9,775

31/12/2019

EUR
thousand
4,888
0
4,888

Item
9,805
0
9,805

EUR
thousand
4,903
0
4,903

Term until

Interest rate
p.a.

31/12/2021
31/12/2023

6.45 %
6.7 %

The second profit participation certificate tranche was written off after a complete repurchase in the 2016 financial
year. From time to time, clearvise AG is also offered the Tranche 1 profit participation certificates for repurchase.
In the 2020 financial year, clearvise AG acquired profit participation certificates with a nominal value of EUR 15
thousand plus accrued interest. In total, clearvise AG acquired Tranche 1 profit participation certificates with a
nominal volume of EUR 313 thousand (previous year: EUR 298 thousand). Tranche 1 is due for repayment on 31
December 2021. As the liquidity of the issuer, Eurowind Aktiengesellschaft, is not expected to be sufficient for
the full servicing on the maturity date, clearvise AG intends to support its subsidiary by providing corresponding
liquidity. On the part of clearvise AG, it can be assumed that this liquidity support can be serviced from the existing
liquidity and/or via possible further cash inflows from corporate actions.
The interest accrual period started on 1 January 2010. Interest payments are made on 31 January of the following
year for the past calendar year.
Provisions
In the case of other provisions, identifiable risks and contingent liabilities are recognised at their expected settlement amount in accordance with Article 249 (1) HGB.
In accordance with Article 253 (1) HGB, tax provisions and other provisions are set up in the amount necessary
according to reasonable commercial judgement, to cover all identifiable risks and contingent liabilities as of the
balance sheet date.
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As per Article 253 (2) HGB, provisions with a remaining term of more than one year are discounted at an average
market interest rate of the past seven financial years calculated and published by Deutsche Bundesbank that corresponds to their remaining terms.
Provisions for the dismantling of the wind turbines are created in instalments over the term of the respective utilisation contracts. The anticipated costs are estimated on the basis of empirical values. Compared to the previous
year, the provisions for dismantling increased by EUR 262 thousand from EUR 1,240 thousand to EUR 1,502
thousand.
The provisions consist of the following items:
Provisions
(in EUR thousand)
Tax provisions
Other provisions
Total

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

107
2,580
2,686

233
2,151
2,384

Liabilities
The liabilities are valuated at their amount payable. The liabilities of EUR 141,510 thousand (previous year:
EUR 158,343 thousand) include the following items:
Liabilities
(in EUR thousand)
Liabilities to banks
incl. those with a remaining term of

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

139,165

156,489

up to 1 year
more than one year
incl. those of more than 5 years

18,347
120,818
46,161
912

17,533
138,956
63,912
997

up to 1 year
more than one year
incl. those of more than 5 years

912
0
0
25

997
0
0
25

up to 1 year
more than one year
incl. those of more than 5 years

25
0
0
1,408
348
1

25
0
0
832
158
0

up to 1 year
more than one year
incl. those of more than 5 years

1,156
252
252
141,510

580
252
252
158,343

up to 1 year
more than one year
incl. those of more than 5 years

20,440
121,070
46,413

19,135
139,208
64,164

Trade liabilities
incl. those with a remaining term of

Liabilities to related parties
incl. those with a remaining term of

Other liabilities
incl. tax payable
incl. liabilities due to social security
incl. those with a remaining term of

Total liabilities
incl. those with a remaining term of

The special-purpose vehicles' liabilities to banks totaling EUR 138,609 thousand (previous year: EUR 155,773
thousand) are fully secured by liens and similar rights. The assignments by way of security relate to all rights,
obligations and claims from all existing contracts and those to be concluded at a later date of all wind farm companies in Germany, France and Ireland.
The corporate loan of clearvise AG in the original amount of EUR 1,550 thousand, currently EUR 556 thousand
(previous year: EUR 715 thousand), which replaced project financing for the Irish wind farm Glenough 14 Limited
in 2014, is essentially secured by the pledge of all limited partner shares in ABO Wind WP Losheim GmbH & Co.
KG and the shares in its general partner, Highwind Verwaltungs GmbH.
Trade liabilities decreased by EUR 85 thousand from EUR 997 thousand to EUR 912 thousand compared to the
previous year. This decrease includes, among other things, the decrease in trade liabilities of the wind farm company Haapajärven Savinevan Tuulivoima Oy, which decreased on balance by EUR 164 thousand from EUR 357
thousand to EUR 193 thousand. This decrease results from the payment of liabilities of EUR 260 thousand to the
turbine manufacturer.
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Other liabilities of EUR 1,408 thousand (previous year: EUR 832 thousand) are recognised at nominal value.
Other liabilities consist of liabilities from taxes in the amount of EUR 348 thousand (previous year: EUR 158
thousand) and miscellaneous other liabilities. These are mainly VAT liabilities. Miscellaneous other liabilities
increased on balance by EUR 386 thousand from EUR 673 thousand to EUR 1,059 thousand. This increase was
significantly influenced by the increase in liabilities of the Irish wind farm Glenough Windfarm Limited in the
amount of EUR 465 thousand arising from the reimbursement of construction costs for a substation. The grid
operator had transferred to the wind farm not only its share but also the shares due to the other wind farms participating in the joint venture. These were forwarded accordingly in the first quarter of 2021.
Deferred income
Payments received before the balance sheet date were recognised as deferred income if such payments represented
income for a particular period after the balance sheet date. Deferred income in the amount of EUR 69 thousand
(previous year: EUR 74 thousand) includes a value adjustment for ABO Wind WP Framersheim II GmbH &
Co.KG, which will be reduced proportionately over the period of use.
D. Explanatory notes to the income statement
Sales revenues
Sales revenues of EUR 36,447 thousand (previous year: EUR 33,081 thousand) include the feed-in compensation
of the grid operators. As in the previous year, the clearvise Group did not generate any sales revenues from renting
or leasing or from the provision of services.
The sales revenues are structured as follows:
Sales revenues (in EUR thousand)
Germany
Overseas
incl. Finland
incl. France
incl. Ireland
Total

2020

2019
9,617
26,830
8,040
10,287
8,503
36,447

8,846
24,235
7,189
9,514
7,532
33,081

Interest and similar expenses
In the 2020 financial year, interest and similar expenses decreased by EUR 672 thousand from EUR 5,785 thousand to EUR 5,113 thousand. This includes EUR 67 thousand (previous year: EUR 62 thousand) resulting from
the discounting of the provision for dismantling.
Income and expenses whose amount or significance was extraordinary
No income or expenses whose amount or significance was extraordinary that are material to the assessment of the
Group's net assets, financial position and results of operations were incurred in the 2020 financial year.
Income and expenses relating to another financial year
The item "other operating income" includes income relating to another financial year (income relating to other
periods). This includes income from insurance, reversal of provisions and other. In the 2020 financial year, other
operating income relating to other periods amounted to EUR 617 thousand (previous year: EUR 172 thousand).
This mainly includes two compensation payments from the turbine manufacturer in relation to the ice detection
system, made to the Finnish wind farm Haapajärven Savinevan Tuulivoima Oy in the amount of EUR 232 thousand as well as subsequent payments of EUR 304 thousand constituting sales revenues for previous years to the
Irish wind farm Glenough.
The item "other operating expenses" includes expenses relating to another financial year (expenses relating to other
periods) in the amount of EUR 83 thousand (previous year: EUR 32 thousand).
G. Other information
Contingent liabilities
The Company does not report any contingent liabilities to third parties, i.e. liabilities arising from issuing and
transfer of bills, guaranties, bill and cheque guaranties, warranty agreements as well as contingent liabilities arising
from establishing securities for third-party liabilities.
Derivative financial instruments
The clearvise Group is exposed to market interest rate fluctuations due to variable interest loans. Interest rate swaps
were concluded for individual risks.
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At the beginning of the financing, part of the subsidiaries had been granted variable interest loans from the project
financing banks, as these did or do not grant any fixed interest loans for structural reasons. Similarly, in October
2013, KfW loans with fixed interest rates at the time were refinanced and converted into more favourable variable
interest loans.
With regard to the residual loan amounts refinanced in 2014 to finance the Eurowind portfolio, a fixed interest rate
of between 2.13 % p. a. and 2.17 % p. a. (plus bank margin of 1.05 % and 1.6 % respectively) was thus secured.
In addition, due to the low interest rates, forward interest rate swaps were concluded for the loan tranches of the
French wind farm Cuq and the Irish wind farm Glenough, in the case of which fixed interest rates and interest rate
hedges had been limited until September 2019. For the period from 2019, it was thus possible to secure a fixed
interest rate of 1.73 % p.a. or 1.81 % p.a. (plus bank margin of 1.05 % or 1.6 %, respectively) for a loan volume
with a residual debt of EUR 30,120 thousand at the end of 2019. For the German wind farms Broich, Düngenheim
and Repperndorf, a follow-up swap was concluded in each case on 30 September 2019 with a term until the end
of the financing term on 30 September 2024. The improved swap conditions reduced interest rates from an average
of 3.183 % to an average of 1.536 %.
With regard to the financing of the Finnish wind farm Haapajärven Savinevan Tuulivoima Oy, in addition to the
KfW loan tranches with a total financing volume of EUR 50,000 thousand, in the case of which a fixed interest
rate was agreed, a smaller SWAP-secured tranche with a volume of EUR 1,815 thousand was taken out from a
commercial bank. A fixed interest rate of 0.83 % (plus bank margin of 2.00 %) was secured for this tranche until
the end of the loan term.
Liabilities to banks were combined as an underlying transaction with the interest rate swap as a hedge to form a
valuation unit within the meaning of Article 254 HGB. The interest rate risk resulting from the underlying transaction due to market interest rate fluctuations is hedged. The interest rate of the underlying transaction is based on
the 3-month or 6-month EURIBOR. It is a micro-hedge. The interest liabilities resulting from the underlying transaction are offset by interest receivables in the same amount from the interest rate swap, whereas the interest rates,
maturities and nominal amounts or measurement bases of the underlying transaction and hedge match each other.
Due to the existence of the same material conditions and parameters of underlying transactions and hedges, it can
be assumed that the hedged interest rate risks compensate each other.
The clearvise Group entered into the following interest rate hedges:

ABO Wind WP Broich GmbH & Co. KG
ABO Wind WP Düngenheim GmbH &
Co. KG
ABO Wind WP Repperndorf GmbH &
Co. KG
SNC Ferme Èolienne de Cuq-Serviès

Glenough Windfarm Limited

SARL Ferme Éolienne de la Gargasse
ABO Wind WP Weilrod GmbH & Co.
KG
Haapajärven Savinevan Tuulivoima Oy
Total

Loan
amount at
the time of
the conclusion of the
swap in
EUR
800,967
1,559,277

Loan term
until

Loan book value as of
31/12/2020 in EUR

Swap term
until

2024
2024

266,643
566,999

2024
2024

1,940,500
2,224,753

2024
2024

752,604
808,975

2024
2024

2,720,790
3,527,048
3,673,000
8,309,931
4,239,7231
21,896,000
3,584,900
2,169,8001
2,169,8002
21,540,0002
10,300,000

2024
2024
2025

1,105,308
1,202,350
2,154,900

2025
2025

3,391,762
8,335,499

2025
2025
2025
2027

1,698,100
1,698,100
18,210,000
5,758,970

2024
2024
2025
until 2019
2025
2025
until 2019
2025
2025
2025
2027

5,150,000
1,815,000
91,211,966

2031
2027

3,540,625
1,460,000
50,950,836

2024
2027

1

Forward swap concluded after expiry of the previous interest rate hedge. The residual loan amount stated refers to the time at the beginning
of the forward SWAP (2019).
2

Forward swap concluded after expiry of the fixed-interest period agreed to date The residual loan amount stated refers to the time at the
beginning of the forward swap (2019).
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Due to the currently prevailing historically low market interest rate level, the interest rate swaps show negative
market values totalling EUR 3,667 thousand. This is an arithmetical loss resulting from the interest rate hedge that
would only be realised if the interest rate swaps were terminated as of now. No such measure is either planned or
required, or permitted under the project financing agreements. This opportunity loss would also have occurred if
the clearvise Group had agreed to a contractual fixed interest rate instead of an interest rate swap.
Other financial obligations
As of the balance sheet date, the Group had the following significant financial obligations that were not recognised
in the balance sheet:
Financial obligations (in EUR thousand)

falling due in the
following year

Obligations arising from service contracts
− Maintenance
− Plant management
− Other
Obligations from leases
Obligations from supply contracts
Obligations from leasing contracts

4,132
929
14
1,153
318
14

falling due in 2 to 5
years

falling due in more
than 5 years

17,256
3,468
0
4,701
1,496
6

17,867
3,712
0
7,806
1,227
0

H. Information as per Article 314 (1) nos. 4 and 9 HGB
Except for clearvise AG, the companies included in the consolidated financial statements do not have any employees of their own. clearvise AG employed 1.5 employees on average in the 2020 financial year (previous year: 2.0).
At the end of 2020, clearvise AG had three employees.
The consolidated financial statements of the parent company as of 31 December 2020 were audited by Rödl &
Partner GmbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Cologne, Germany. The auditor received a total fee of EUR 43 thousand (net) for auditing services (previous year: EUR 43 thousand (net)). The
entire amount covers the audit services.
I. Report on post-balance sheet events
Between the balance sheet date of 31 December 2020 and the date of preparing the annual and consolidated financial statements 2020, the general situation of clearvise AG did not change significantly. The following events of
particular importance that are significant for the further course of business as well as the net assets, financial
position and results of operations of clearvise AG occurred and could lead to a changed assessment of the situation:
Implementation of the announced expansion of the portfolio
−

Diversification to include the solar PV asset class
As part of a portfolio transaction involving the acquisition of 16 German solar farm projects with a planned
generation capacity of more than 80 MWp by the end of 2022, the first acquisition agreements for four German
solar farms (two existing farms, as well as two projects to be commissioned in the third quarter of 2021) with
a total generation capacity of 30.25 MWp were signed in March and April 2021.

−

Acquisition of a French wind farm
In April 2021, clearvise AG signed an acquisition agreement for the acquisition of a French wind farm under
construction with an installed capacity of 12 MW (4x Nordex N117). The wind farm is planned to be commissioned in the third quarter of 2021.

Capital increases
In April 2021, for the first time in its history, the Company carried out a capital increase with subscription rights
against cash contributions and successfully placed a total of 3,500,000 new no-par bearer shares at a subscription
price of EUR 2.28 per new share. By virtue of the resolution of the Management Board on 22 April 2021, the share
capital was increased from EUR 49,000 thousand to EUR 52,500 thousand with the approval of the Supervisory
Board. The new shares grant rights to participate in profits effective 1 January 2020. The gross issuing proceeds
amounted to approximately EUR 8,000 thousand, and approximately 62 % of the shareholders exercised their subscription rights. Demand exceeded supply by more than 3.5 times.
To finance further growth, clearvise carried out a capital increase on 1 June 2021 via a cash contribution with the
approval of the Supervisory Board, excluding subscription rights. As part of a private placement among institutional investors, the share capital of the Company was increased by EUR 4,900,000.00 from EUR 52,500,000.00
to EUR 57,400,000.00 at a subscription price of EUR 2.60 per new share. Also in this capital increase, the shares
were oversubscribed.
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J. Appropriation of results
clearvise AG, as the parent company of the clearvise Group, closed the 2020 financial year with a net loss for the
period of EUR 307,116.63 (previous year: net profit for the period of EUR 599,836.12).
In the 2020 financial year, a dividend of EUR 980,000.00 was paid from the previous year's balance sheet total of
EUR 1,508,196.31 and the remaining amount of EUR 528,196.31 was allocated to other retained earnings.
K. Governing bodies of the parent company and total remuneration
Management Board
The members of the Management Board in the reporting year were:
−

Petra Leue-Bahns, Sole Management Board Member, Kriftel (appointed as of 1 December 2019, Sole Management Board Member as of 1 July 2020)

−

Dr. Jochen Ahn, Member of the Management Board at ABO Wind AG, Wiesbaden (limited term until 30 June
2020)

Petra Leue-Bahns took up her position on the Board on 01 March 2020.
The remuneration of the two Members of the Management Board of clearvise AG is governed exhaustively by the
management board contracts.
The salary of Dr. Jochen Ahn consists of a fixed salary of EUR 20,000.00 per full calendar year and is paid in one
instalment at the end of March for any current calendar year.
Petra Leue-Bahns' remuneration package consists of a fixed basic annual remuneration and a variable remuneration
related to the financial year (annual bonus).
Basic annual remuneration and fringe benefits
The basic remuneration is a fixed remuneration component paid in twelve monthly instalments. Remuneration in
kind and fringe benefits include in particular the provision of a company car, insurance premiums, travel expenses
and other low-value fringe benefits.
Variable remuneration
The annual bonus is based on the development of the share price and is paid regularly in March of the year following the financial year. The calculation is based on the average price of the clearvise AG shares traded on stock
exchanges in Germany on the first five trading days of the payout month multiplied by 23,000. In addition, Petra
Leue-Bahns received a one-time bonus of EUR 1,500.00, free of tax and social security contributions, in relation
to the Covid 19 pandemic.
Total remuneration of the Management Board of clearvise AG
(in EUR)
Dr. Jochen Ahn
Petra Leue-Bahns
Total

Fixed remuneration
10,000.00
100,000.00
110,000.00

Fringe benefit

Annual bonus

5,862.50
5,862.50

63,140.00
63,140.00

Total
10,000.00
169,002.50
179,002.50

No advances or loans were granted to the Management Board Members; likewise, no contingent liabilities were
entered into for their benefit.
Names of the Members of the Supervisory Board in the 2020 financial year
Supervisory Board Members Jörg Lukowsky and Dr. Thomas Wagner each resigned from the Supervisory Board
with immediate effect on 4 May 2020.
The term of office of the Supervisory Board Members Jörg Schattner, Oliver Kirfel and Martin Rey, as well as
Christof Schneider and Karin Bär, who were in office at that time, also ended with the end of the Annual General
Meeting on 2 July 2020 in accordance with the Articles of Association. Therefore, a new Supervisory Board was
elected on a tenure basis at this Annual General Meeting.
The following persons were appointed as Members of the Supervisory Board of clearvise AG in the reporting year:
Name

Function

Jörg Lukowsky
Dr. Ing. Thomas
Wagner

Chairman
Deputy Chairman

Period in
the reporting year
01/01 - 04/05
01/01 - 04/05

Profession
Attorney at Law
Management Board Member at Intego
GmbH

130

Name

Oliver Kirfel

Supervisory Board Member
Chairman
Supervisory Board Member

Period in
the reporting year
01/01 - 06/05
07/05 - 02/07
01/01 - 02/07

Jörg Schattner

Supervisory Board Member

01/01 - 02/07

Christof Schneider

Member (substitute)

05/05 - 02/07

Karin Bear

Member (substitute)

05/05 - 02/07

Martin Rey

Function

After tenure-based re-election at the AGM 2020:
Martin Rey
Chairman
Astrid Zielke
Deputy Chairwoman
Christian Guhl
Supervisory Board Member
Oliver Kirfel
Supervisory Board Member

02/07 - 31/12
02/07 - 31/12
02/07 - 31/12
02/07 - 31/12

Dr. Hartmut Schuning

02/07 - 31/12

Supervisory Board Member

Profession
Attorney at Law
Attorney at Law
Management Board Member at Palatina
Wohnbau GmbH
Head of Caritas-Jugendhilfe [Caritas
Youth Welfare Department]
Management Board Member at Bär Projekt Finance GmbH
Attorney at Law
Attorney at Law
Senior Director Capgemini Invent
Attorney at Law
Founder and Management Board Member at H.S. Hamburg Solar GmbH

The term of office of the Supervisory Board elected on 2 July 2021 (including the substitute members) ends with
the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting that resolves on granting the members of the Supervisory Board
discharge for the 2024 financial year.
The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board of clearvise AG is regulated conclusively by the
provisions of the Articles of Association and consists of a fixed remuneration for each full year of acting as the
member. Supervisory Board Members who have only served on the Supervisory Board for part of the financial
year receive pro rata remuneration. clearvise AG reimburses the Supervisory Board Members for their expenses
incurred in connection with their Supervisory Board activities as well as any value-added tax payable on the remuneration. In addition, clearvise AG assumes any insurance premiums insofar as the Company takes out a D&O
insurance for Board Members and the insurance cover also extends to the Members of the Supervisory Board.
There are no further obligations to pay benefits in cash or in kind (e.g. profit-sharing, subscription rights and other
incentive-based or share-based remuneration, expense reimbursements, insurance compensation, commissions and
fringe benefits of any kind), arising from direct or indirect pension, annuity or similar commitments or in the event
of termination of the function of serving as a Member of the Supervisory Board. The Annual General Meeting of
2 July 2020 last resolved to amend the fixed remuneration of the Supervisory Board by way of an amendment to
the Articles of Association, which was entered in the company register on 24 November 2020. The Chairman of
the Supervisory Board receives a fixed remuneration of EUR 20,000.00, the Deputy Chairman EUR 15,000.00.
The other Members of the Supervisory Board are entitled to a fixed remuneration of EUR 10,000.00.
No advances or loans were granted to the Supervisory Board Members; likewise, no contingent liabilities were
entered into for their benefit.
There are no obligations towards any former members of the Supervisory Board or their surviving dependents.
Total remuneration of the Supervisory Board of clearvise AG in EUR:
Martin Rey
Astrid Zielke
Oliver Kirfel
Christian Guhl
Dr. Hartmut Schüning
Jorg Lukowsky
Dr. Ing. Thomas Wagner
Jörg Schattner
Christof Schneider
Karin Bear
Total

18,060.27
5,325.98
8,514.85
4,219.18
4,431.88
9,754.09
3,251.37
4,010.96
1,293.15
1,293.15
60,154.88

Wiesbaden, 2 June 2021
___________________
(Petra Leue-Bahns)
Management Board Member
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Appendix to notes to the consolidated financial statements
Movements in consolidated fixed assets in the financial year 2020

Carried forward
01/01/2020

Additions

Disposals

Reposting

As of
31/12/2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

I. Intangible assets
Goodwill

13,361,412.40

0.00

0.00

0.00

13,361,412.40

13,361,412.40

0.00

0.00

0.00

13,361,412.40

1. Land, similar rights and buildings
including buildings on third-party
land

891,741.61

0.00

0.00

0.00

891,741.61

2. Technical equipment and machinery

284,322,008.27

785.32 383,662.00

25,408.94

283,964,540.53

3. Other assets, furniture and fixtures
and office equipment

19,938.04

9,914.49

930.09

0.00

28,922.44

4. Advance payments and assets under construction

13,392.49

30,214.26

0.00

-25,408.94

18,197.81

40,914.07 384,592.09

0.00

284,903,402.39

II. Property, plant and equipment

285,247,080.41
III. Financial assets
1. Shares in related parties
2. Shareholdings
3. Shares in cooperatives

25,000.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

25,000.00

328,125.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

328,125.00

9,500.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

9,500.00

362,625.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

362,625.00

40,914.07 384,592.09

0.00

298,627,439.79

298,971,117.81

Book values
Carried forward
01/01/2020

Additions

Disposals

As of
31/12/2020

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

6,529,880.19

630,390.24

0.00

7,160,270.43

6,201,141.79

6,831,532.97

6,529,880.19

630,390.24

0.00

7,160,270.43

6,201,141.79

6,831,532.97

149,519.00

16,459.00

0.00

165,978.00

725,763.61

742,222.61

109,053,650.65

17,897,296.36

0.00

126,950,947.01

157,013,593.52

175,268,357.62
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5,268.04

4,051.49

930.09

8,389.44

20,533.00

14,670.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

18,197.81

13,392.49

109,208,437.69

17,917,806.85

930.09

127,125,314.45

157,778,087.94

176,038,642.72

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

25,000.00

25,000.00

131,592.14

20,507.76

0.00

152,099.90

176,025.10

196,532.86

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

9,500.00

9,500.00

131,592.14

20,507.76

0.00

152,099.90

210,525.10

231,032.86

115,869,910.02

18,568,704.85

930.09

134,437,684.78

164,189,755.01

183,101,207.79
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Consolidated cash flow statement for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2020

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.
25.
26.
27.

Net result for the period
Depreciation of fixed assets
Increase in provisions
Other income not affecting the cash flow
Profit from disposal of fixed assets
Increase/decrease in inventories, trade receivables and other assets not attributable to investing or financing activities
+/Increase/decrease in trade liabilities and other liabilities not attributable to
investing or financing activities
+
Interest expense
+
Income tax expense
Income tax payments
=
Cash flow from operating activities
+
Cash receipts from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Cash payments for investments in property, plant and equipment
Cash payments for investments in financial assets
+
Cash receipts from disposal of consolidated companies and other business
units
Cash payments for acquisition of consolidated companies (incl. shareholder loans) and other business units
+
Received interest
=
Cash flows from investing activities
Cash payments for repayment of shareholder loans
+
Cash receipts from the bonds issued and (financial) loans taken out
Cash payments for bond redemption and repayment of (financial) loans
Disbursements to shareholders
Interest paid
=
Cash flows from financing activities
Changes in cash and cash equivalents affecting the cash flow
+
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
=
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period
Structure of the cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period
- Cash funds
- Liabilities to banks falling due at any time
+
+
-/+

2020
EUR
thousand
2,366
18,569
380
0
0

2019
EUR
thousand
-401
19,272
169
-60
-1,070

-1,106

163

524
5,113
133
-76
25,903
365
-262
0

-961
5,782
253
-206
22,941
0
-99
0

0

1,070

0
0
103
0
479
-17,818
-980
-5,046
-23,365
2,641
14,678
17,319

0
3
974
-18
1,479
-18,961
-490
-5,766
-23,756
159
14,519
14,678

17,319
0
17,319

14,678
0
14,678

Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2020
Consolidated
equity

Equity of the parent company
Reserves
Retained
earnings
EUR

Total

Consolidated
loss

Total

EUR

Capital reserve
EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

49,000,000.00

13,270,875.00

458,560.71

13,729,435.71

-25,359,629.97

37,369,805.74

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

528,196.31
0.00

528,196.31
0.00

-528,196.31
-980,000.00

-980,000.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

2,365,983.22

2,365,983.22

49,000,000.00

13,270,875.00

986,757.02

14,257,632.02

-24,501,843.06

38,755,788.96

Share capital

As of 1 January
2020
Allocations to reserves
Distribution
Consolidated net
profit for the period
As of 31 December 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To clearvise AG (formerly: ABO Invest AG), Wiesbaden
Audit opinions
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of clearvise AG (formerly: ABO Invest AG), Wiesbaden,
and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of 31 December 2020, the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2020, as well as the notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including the presentation of the accounting and valuation policies. In addition, we have
audited the combined management report of clearvise AG (formerly: ABO Invest AG), Wiesbaden, for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2020.
In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,
−

the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the requirements of
German commercial law and give a true and fair view of the net assets and financial position of the Group as
of 31 December 2020 and of its results of operations for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December
2020 in compliance with German Legally Required Accounting Principles; and

−

the accompanying combined management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s
position. In all material respects, the combined management report is consistent with the consolidated financial
statements, complies with German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks
of future development.

Pursuant to § 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial Code], we declare that our audit
has not led to any reservations relating to the legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of the
combined management report.
Basis for the Audit Opinions
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the combined management report in accordance with § 317 HGB and in compliance with the German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW).
Our responsibilities under those requirements and principles are further described in the "Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Combined Management Report" section of
our auditor’s report. We are independent of the group entities in accordance with the requirements of German
commercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions on the consolidated financial statements and the combined management report.
Responsibility of the Legal Representative and the Supervisory Board for the Consolidated Financial Statements
and the Combined Management Report
The legal representative is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that comply, in
all material respects, with the requirements of German commercial law and that the consolidated financial statements, in compliance with German Legally Required Accounting Principles, give a true and fair view of the net
assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group. In addition, the legal representative is responsible
for such internal control as s/he, in accordance with German Legally Required Accounting Principles, has determined necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the legal representative is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. S/he also has the responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern. In addition, s/he is responsible for financial reporting based on the going concern basis of accounting provided no actual or legal circumstances conflict therewith.
Furthermore, the legal representative is responsible for the preparation of the combined management report that,
as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and is, in all material respects, consistent with
the consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal requirements, and appropriately presents the
opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, the legal representative is responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as s/he has considered necessary to enable the preparation of a combined management report that is in accordance with the applicable German legal requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the combined management report.
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The supervisory board is responsible for monitoring the Group's accounting process relating to the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements and the combined management report.
Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Combined Management
Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the combined management report
as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and, in all material respects, is consistent with the
consolidated financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development, as well as to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the combined
management report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with § 317 HGB and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits
promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements and this combined management report.
We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
−

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and of the combined management report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal controls.

−

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial statements and
of arrangements and measures relevant to the audit of the combined management report in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an audit
opinion on the effectiveness of these systems.

−

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the legal representative and the reasonableness of
estimates made by the legal representative and related disclosures.

−

Conclude on the appropriateness of the legal representative’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements and in the combined management report or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our respective audit opinions. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
be able to continue as a going concern.

−

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements present the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial
position and results of operations of the Group in compliance with German Legally Required Accounting
Principles.

−

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the combined management report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinions.

−

Evaluate the consistency of the combined management report with the consolidated financial statements, its
conformity with [German] law, and the view of the Group’s position it provides.

−

Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the legal representative in the combined
management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular, the significant assumptions used by the legal representative as a basis for the prospective information, and evaluate
the proper derivation of the prospective information from these assumptions. We do not express a separate
audit opinion on the prospective information and on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial
unavoidable risk that future events will differ materially from the prospective information.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
Cologne, 2 June 2021
Rödl & Partner GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Heinrichs
Wirtschaftsprüfer
[German Public Auditor]

Palmersheim
Wirtschaftsprüfer
[German Public Auditor]
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8.1.3

Financial Statements as of 31 December 2021 of clearvise AG, Wiesbaden

Balance sheet as of 31 December 2021
ASSETS
EUR
A. FIXED ASSETS
I. Property, plant and equipment
Other assets, furniture and fixtures
and office equipment
II. Financial assets
1. Shares in related parties
2. Loans granted to related parties
3. Shares in cooperatives
4. Non-current securities

B. CURRENT ASSETS
I. Receivables and other assets
1. Receivables from related parties
2. Other assets

31/12/2021
EUR

Previous year
EUR

9,827.00

7,804.00
7,804.00

71,039,745.50
71,049,572.50

36,623,982.92
19,132,559.77
9,500.00
312,500.00
56,078,542.69
56,086,346.69

4,081,537.37
10,713,199.23
14,794,736.60
72,539.70

3,331,728.58
53,353.34
3,385,081.92
6,909,379.53
10,294,461.45
52,872.25

85,916,848.80

66,433,680.39

9,827.00

42,477,436.31
28,229,309.19
9,500.00
323,500.00

3,899,762.24
181,775.13

II. Cash at bank
C. PREPAID EXPENSES

EQUITYANDLIABILITIES
EUR
A. EQUITY
I. Share capital
II. Capital reserves
III.Retained earnings
IV. Balance sheet loss
B. PROVISIONS
1. Tax provisions
2. Other provisions
C. LIABILITIES
1. Liabilities to banks
2. Trade liabilities
3. Liabilities to related parties
4. Other liabilities
- incl. tax payable: EUR 17,407.84
(previous year: EUR 196,566.17)

31/12/2021
EUR

Previous year
EUR

57,400,000.00
25,590,875.00
1,044,619.73
(1,475,862.04)
82,559,632.69

49,000,000.00
13,270,875.00
1,044,619.73
(307,116.63)
63,008,378.10

278,380.00

666.53
109,300.00
109,966.53

0.00
278,380.00

397,435.89
133,041.15
2,282,951.23
265,407.84

556,410.25
76,583.86
2,221,040.54
461,301.11

3,078,836.11

3,315,335.76

85,916,848.80

66,433,680.39
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Income statement for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2021
2021
EUR
1.
2.
3.

Sales revenues
Other operating income
Personnel costs

Previous year
EUR

292,734.54
19,642.35

61,867.22
14,265.84

(601,723.89)
(54,535.31)
(656,259.20)

(266,433.87)
(32,279.62)
(298,713.49)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Other operating expenses
Revenues from other securities or loans classified as financial assets
incl. from related parties: EUR 829,807.40 (previous year: EUR
786,343.99)
7. Other interest and similar income
incl. from related parties: EUR 82,210.41
(previous year: EUR 80,985.37)
8
Interest and similar expenses
incl. to related parties: EUR 25,673.03
(previous year: EUR 36,968.64)
9. Income taxes
10. Profit (loss) after tax
11. Other taxes

(4,338.78)
(1,697,357.05)
829,902.40

(1,774.28)
(863,002.04)
786,438.99

102,380.61

80,985.37

(58,040.27)

(69,296.00)

2,609.99
(1,168,725.41)
(20.00)

(17,888.24)
(307,116.63)
0.00

12. Net loss for the period
13. Accumulated loss carried forward
14. Balance sheet loss

(1,168,745.41)
(307,116.63)
(1,475,862.04)

(307,116.63)
0.00
(307,116.63)

a)
b)
4.

Wages and salaries
Social security and costs of retirement benefits and other support

Amortisation

5.
6.
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Notes to the annual financial statements of clearvise AG for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December
2021
A. GENERAL INFORMATION
According to its articles of association, the object of clearvise AG is the promotion and/or implementation of
renewable energy projects in Germany and abroad by acquiring, holding, managing and selling interests in specialpurpose vehicles as well as in companies operating in the area of renewable energy. In addition, the object of
clearvise AG is to combine other companies under uniform management and to provide management, consulting
and other services to such companies.
The operational business, i.e. in particular the further development and optimised operation of a portfolio of power
plants generating energy from renewable sources such as wind and solar, determines the scope of business and
thus the functional and management-related tasks of the holding company. In addition to the acquisition of companies necessary to expand the portfolio, this includes operational management and controlling of interests (asset
management), optimising production and marketing of the electricity generated, and ensuring power plant availability. In the context of operational asset management, clearvise AG regularly exerts influence on the technical
and commercial management and thus on the income and cost structures of the renewable energy projects. In the
course of this, the Company continuously creates value, e.g. by implementing technical improvements in ongoing
operations, taking advantage of economies of scale, renegotiating contract terms and/or the financing of the shareholdings, etc.
clearvise AG is entered in the company register kept by the District Court in Wiesbaden under number HRB 25063.
clearvise AG is a micro company within the meaning of Article 267a (1) HGB in conjunction with Article 267 (4)
HGB.

B. DISCLOSURES ON THE FORM AND PRESENTATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET
The annual financial statements of clearvise AG were prepared in accordance with the provisions of the German
Commercial Code (HGB) and the supplementary provisions of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG).
Where the Company had the right to elect whether to include information in the balance sheet or in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements, the Company elected to include comments in the notes.
The financial year of the Company corresponds to the calendar year.
The income statement was prepared using the nature of expense method.
In preparing the notes to the annual financial statements, partial use was made of the provisions on relief applicable
to small companies pursuant to Article 274a HGB and Article 288 (1) HGB.

C. ACCOUNTING AND VALUATION POLICIES
In the following, we provide an overview of the valuations and the accounting and valuation options exercised,
insofar as this is material for the assessment of the annual financial statements. The annual financial statements
were prepared in accordance with German Legally Required Accounting Principles, taking into account the recognition and valuation provisions applicable to all merchants as per Articles 246 to 256 HGB and the special recognition and valuation provisions applicable to incorporated companies (Articles 270 to 274 HGB), as well as provisions specific to the legal form in accordance with the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). The valuation
was carried out as far as possible in accordance with the tax provisions. The balance sheet structure was expanded
to include the item ‘Shares in cooperatives’.
Property, plant and equipment is recognised at acquisition cost and, if subject to wear and tear, reduced by
scheduled depreciation using the straight-line method in accordance with Article 7 (1) of the German Income Tax
Act (EStG). Low-value assets are written off in full in the year of acquisition in accordance with Article 6 (2)
EStG.
Financial assets are recognised at acquisition cost. In accordance with the principle of the lower of cost or market
pursuant to Article 253 (3) sentence 3 HGB, unscheduled write-downs are made on financial assets if their value
is expected to be permanently impaired, in order to recognise them at the lower value to be attributed to them on
the balance sheet date.
Receivables from related parties are recognised at nominal value, taking into account accrued interest income.
Other assets are recognised at nominal values.
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Liquid funds are recognised at their nominal value.
Payments made before the balance sheet date are recognised as prepaid expenses if such payments represent
expenses for a particular period after the balance sheet date.
The share capital of the Company is recognised at its nominal value.
The capital reserves relate to amounts realised on the issue of shares in excess of the notional value of EUR 1.00
per share.
In the case of provisions, identifiable risks and contingent liabilities are recognised at their expected settlement
amount. Provisions for contingent liabilities are made in accordance with Article 249 (1) HGB. In accordance with
Article 253 (1) HGB provisions are set up in the amount necessary according to reasonable commercial judgment,
to cover all identifiable risks and contingent liabilities as of the balance sheet date. The Company did not report
any provisions with a remaining term of more than one year.
The liabilities are valuated at their amount payable.
Revenues and expenses for the financial year are recognised on an accrual basis.

D. NOTES AND EXPLANATIONS TO THE BALANCE SHEET
(1)

Individual items of fixed assets

The development of fixed assets and depreciation for the financial year are shown in the schedule of gross fixed
assets. The attached schedule of gross fixed assets is an integral part of the notes to the annual financial statements.
(2)

Receivables and other assets

Receivables and other assets with a remaining term of (Previous-year figures are presented in parentheses)

Receivables from related parties
Other assets
Total

up to one
year
EUR
thousand
2,502.3
(1,994.9)
168.6

more than
one year
EUR
thousand
1,397.5
(1,336.8)
13.2

Total
EUR
thousand
3,899.8
(3,331.7)
181.8

(40.3)
2,670.9
(2,035.2)

(13.1)
1,410.7
(1,349.9)

(53.4)
4,081.6
(3,385.1)

Receivables from related parties include current receivables from day-to-day operations amounting to EUR
192,658.35 and short-term liquidity loans to subsidiaries of clearvise AG amounting to EUR 2,309,636.53 as well
as a medium-term loan granted to Eurowind Aktiengesellschaft amounting to EUR 1,397,467.36.
Other assets mainly include VAT receivables of EUR 79,986.17, capitalised receivables for corporate income tax
refunds for 2020 and 2021 in the amount of EUR 19,410.93 and EUR 30,371.32 respectively, and a security deposit
for office space in the amount of EUR 13,173.30.
(3)

Share capital

As of the balance sheet date, the share capital of EUR 57,400,000.00 (previous year EUR 49,000,000.00) is divided
into 57,400,000 no-par bearer shares with a notional share in the share capital of EUR 1.00 per share.
The Extraordinary Meeting of Shareholders dated 8 October 2020 authorised the Management Board, subject to
the Supervisory Board's consent, to increase the share capital of the Company, either once or several times, by up
to a total of EUR 24,500,000.00 until 7 October 2025, by issuing up to 24,500,000 new no-par bearer shares against
contribution made in cash and/or in kind, whereas the statutory subscription right of the shareholders can be excluded (Authorised capital 2020). Based on this authorisation, clearvise AG carried out capital increases of EUR
3,500,000.00 and EUR 4,900,000.00 (excluding agio) in April 2021 and in June 2021, which reduced the Authorised capital 2020 to EUR 16,100,000.00.
clearvise AG does not hold any treasury shares.
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(4)

Capital reserves

The capital reserves relate to amounts realised on the issue of shares in excess of the notional value of EUR 1.00.
Due to the agios paid in connection with the capital increases carried out in 2021, the capital reserves increased by
EUR 12,320,000.00 to EUR 25,590,875.00.
(5)

Balance sheet result

clearvise AG closed the 2021 financial year with a net loss for the period of EUR 1,168,745.41 (previous year net
loss for the period of EUR 307,116.63). Adding the loss carried forward of EUR 307,116.63, the balance sheet
loss is EUR 1,475,862.04 as of 31 December 2021.
(6)

Provisions

Provisions are composed of the following items:
(in EUR thousand)
Tax provisions
Other provisions
Total

2021
0.0
278.4
278.4

2020
0.7
109.3
110.0

The increase in other provisions mainly results from the initial recognition of a provision for employee bonuses.
(7)

Liabilities

Liabilities to banks include a corporate loan in the original amount of EUR 1,550,000.00. The debt service for the
corporate loan was paid as scheduled; the remaining debt as of the end of the 2021 financial year amounts to EUR
397,435.89 (previous year EUR 556,410.25). This loan is essentially secured by the pledging of all limited partner
shares in ABO Wind WP Losheim GmbH & Co. KG and the shares in Highwind Verwaltungs GmbH. clearvise
AG did not make any drawdowns from any credit lines in the past financial year.
Liabilities to related parties include short-term liquidity distributions from project companies to clearvise AG in
the amount of EUR 2,282,951.23. Where project companies are not yet ready to pay out dividends or do not
generate withdrawable profits yet or do not repay equity-replacing subordinated loans, they transfer free liquidity
to the parent company on the basis of liquidity loans.
Other liabilities mainly include the subordinated loan of EUR 248,000.00 issued as part of the acquisition of the
shareholding in the Weilrod wind farm.
Liabilities of EUR 3,078.8 thousand (previous year: EUR 3,315.3 thousand) are composed as follows:
(Previous-year figures are presented in parentheses)

Liabilities to banks
Trade liabilities
Liabilities to related parties
Other liabilities

Total

Total
EUR
thousand
397.4
(556.4)
133.0
(76.6)
2,283.0
(2,221.0)
265.4
(461.3)

up to
one year
EUR
thousand
159.0
(159.0)
133.0
(76.6)
2,283.0
(2,221.0)
17.4
(209.4)

more than
one year
EUR
thousand
238.4
(397.4)
0.0
(0.0)
0.0
(0.0)
248.0
(251.9)

incl. those of
more than five
years
EUR thousand
0.0
(0.0)
0.0
(0.0)
0.0
(0.0)
248.0
(251.9)

incl. those
secured
EUR
thousand
397.4
(556.4)
0.0
(0.0)
0.0
(0.0)
0.0
(0.0)

3,078.8
(3,315.3)

2,592.4
(2,666.0)

486.4
(649.3)

248.0
(251.9)

397.4
(556.4)

F. OTHER INFORMATION
(1)

Governing bodies of the Company and total remuneration

Management Board
The member of the Management Board in the reporting year was:
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Petra Leue-Bahns, Kauffrau, Kriftel
Ms Leue-Bahns took up her position on the Board on 01 March 2020.
The remuneration of the Management Board of clearvise AG is governed exhaustively by the management board
contracts.
Petra Leue-Bahns' remuneration package consists of a fixed basic annual remuneration and a variable remuneration
related to the financial year (annual bonus).
Basic annual remuneration and fringe benefits
The basic remuneration is a fixed remuneration component paid in twelve monthly instalments. Remuneration in
kind and fringe benefits include in particular the provision of a company car, insurance premiums, travel expenses
and other low-value fringe benefits.
Variable remuneration
The annual bonus is based on the development of the share price and is paid regularly in March of the year following the financial year. The calculation is based on the average price of the clearvise AG shares traded on stock
exchanges in Germany on the first five trading days of the payout month multiplied by 23,000.
Total remuneration of the Management Board of clearvise AG
(in EUR)

Fixed remuneration

Fringe benefit

Annual bonus

Total

120,000.00

29,150.00

45,080.00

194,230.00

Petra Leue-Bahns

No advances or loans were granted to the Management Board Members; likewise, no contingent liabilities were
entered into for their benefit.
Supervisory Board
The following persons were appointed as Members of the Supervisory Board of clearvise AG in the reporting
year:
Name

Function

Period in the re-

Profession

porting year
Martin Rey

Chairman

01/01 - 31/12

Attorney at Law

Astrid Zielke

Deputy Chairwoman

01/01 - 31/12

Attorney at Law

Christian Guhl

Supervisory Board Member

01/01 - 31/12

Senior Director Capgemini Invent

Oliver Kirfel

Supervisory Board Member

01/01 - 31/12

Attorney at Law

Dr. Hartmut

Supervisory Board Member

01/01 - 31.12

Founder and Management Board

Schüning

Member at H.S. Hamburg Solar
GmbH

The term of office of the Supervisory Board elected on 2 July 2020 (including the substitute members) ends with
the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting that resolves on granting the members of the Supervisory Board
discharge for the 2024 financial year.
The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board of clearvise AG is regulated conclusively by the
provisions of the Articles of Association and consists of a fixed remuneration for each full year of acting as the
member. Supervisory Board Members who have only served on the Supervisory Board for part of the financial
year receive pro rata remuneration. clearvise AG reimburses the Supervisory Board Members for their expenses
incurred in connection with their Supervisory Board activities as well as any value-added tax payable on the remuneration. In addition, clearvise AG assumes any insurance premiums insofar as the Company takes out a D&O
insurance for Board Members and the insurance cover also extends to the Members of the Supervisory Board.
There are no further obligations to pay benefits in cash or in kind (e.g. profit-sharing, subscription rights and other
incentive-based or share-based remuneration, expense reimbursements, insurance compensation, commissions and
fringe benefits of any kind), arising from direct or indirect pension, annuity or similar commitments or in the event
of termination of the function of serving as a Member of the Supervisory Board. The Extraordinary Meeting of
Shareholders of 8 October 2020 last resolved to amend the fixed remuneration of the Supervisory Board by way
of an amendment to the Articles of Association, which was entered in the company register on 24 November 2020.
It was amended as follows. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board receives a fixed remuneration of EUR
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20,000.00, the Deputy Chairman EUR 15,000.00. The other Members of the Supervisory Board are entitled to a
fixed remuneration of EUR 10,000.00.
No advances or loans were granted to the Supervisory Board Members; likewise, no contingent liabilities were
entered into for their benefit.
There are no obligations towards any former members of the Supervisory Board or their surviving dependants.
Total remuneration of the Supervisory Board of clearvise AG in EUR:
Martin Rey

20,000.00

Astrid Zielke

15,000.00

Oliver Kirfel

10,000.00

Christian Guhl

10,000.00

Dr. Hartmut Schüning

10,000.00

Total

65,000.00

(2)

Contingent liabilities from off-balance sheet liabilities

On the balance sheet date, clearvise AG reported EUR 75,000.00 in contract performance guarantees designed to
secure dismantling claims of the lessors against ABO Wind WP Losheim GmbH & Co. KG.
(3)

Financial obligations

clearvise AG has not entered into any material financial obligations arising from long-term contracts.
(4)

Shareholdings

The Company holds shares of more than 20 % in the following companies as of 31 December 2021 (the previous
year is shown in parentheses):

Name

Registered
office

Interest
ownership
quota

ABO Invest Komplementär
GmbH

Ingelheim

100 %

Eurowind Aktiengesellschaft

Wiesbaden

100 %

Highwind Verwaltungs GmbH

Wiesbaden

100 %

Ingelheim

100 %

Ingelheim

100 %

Ingelheim

100 %

Ingelheim

100 %

Karlsruhe

100 %

Karlsruhe

100 %

Karlsruhe

100 %

Karlsruhe

100 %

Karlsruhe

100 %

Reußenköge

100 %

ABO Wind Biogas Samswegen
GmbH & Co. KG
ABO Wind WP Framersheim II
GmbH & Co. KG
ABO Wind WP Losheim GmbH
& Co. KG
ABO Wind WP Weilrod
GmbH & Co. KG
ALTUS Dachportfolio 01 GmbH
& Co. KG
ALTUS Dachportfolio 02 GmbH
& Co. KG
ALTUS Dachportfolio 03 GmbH
& Co. KG
Pitsberg Solarparks GmbH & Co.
KG
Andengold Solarparks GmbH &
Co. KG
GPJ Energiepark 113 GmbH

Equity
31/12/2021
EUR thousand
53
(47)
6,998
(7,191)
25
(25)
93
(-34)
1,783
(1,735)
371
(123)
2,083
(2,210)
-135
(0)
-142
(0)
-55
(0)
-169
(0)
-346
(0)
23
(0)

Annual
result
2021
EUR
thousand
7
(2)
-193
(-222)
0
(-1)
127
(209)
48
(124)
248
(137)
-128
(286)
15
(0)
-44
(0)
-1
(0)
48
(0)
-321
(0)
-2
(0)
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Name

Glenough Windfarm 14 Limited
SARL Ferme Éolienne d’Escamps
SARL Ferme Éolienne de la Gargasse
SARL Ferme Éolienne des Hautes
Landes
SARL Ferme Éolienne de Saint
Nicolas des Biefs
SARL Le Champvoisin
Haapajärvi Sauviinmäki Tuulivoima Oy

(5)

Registered
office

Interest
ownership
quota

Dublin,
Ireland
Toulouse,
France
Souilly,
France
Toulouse,
France
Toulouse,
France
Lille,
France
Helsinki,
Finland

100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %

Equity
31/12/2021
EUR thousand
1,295
(1,297)
249
(221)
2,420
(2,363)
1,894
(1,780)
2,659
(3,125)
1,072
(0)
5,272
(5,044)

Annual
result
2021
EUR
thousand
-2
(80)
28
(145)
58
(383)
114
(330)
-465
(234)
-30
(0)
228
(423)

Consolidated financial statements

As the ultimate parent company, clearvise AG, Wiesbaden prepares the consolidated financial statements for the
largest group of consolidated companies. As the consolidated financial statements are prepared voluntarily, the
consolidated financial statements are not published in the electronic Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger).
(6)

Appropriation of results

clearvise AG closed the 2021 financial year with a net loss for the period of EUR 1,168,745.41. The Management
Board proposes carrying the net loss for the period over onto the new account.
(7)

Employees

clearvise AG employed 4 employees on average in the 2021 financial year (previous year: 1.5). At the end of 2021,
clearvise AG had four employees in addition to the Management Board.

G. REPORT ON POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
Between the balance sheet date of 31 December 2021 and the date of preparing the annual and consolidated financial statements 2021, the general situation of clearvise AG did not change significantly. The following events of
particular importance that are significant for the further course of business as well as the net assets, financial
position and results of operations of clearvise AG occurred and could lead to a changed assessment of the situation:
Implementation of the announced expansion of the portfolio
Diversification to include the solar PV asset class is progressing according to plan
As part of the clearSCALE 2025 growth initiative, clearvise plans to achieve a 50 % share of production from
solar PV by 2025. By acquiring the Klettwitz-Nord PV farm with an installed generation capacity of 90 MWp, the
Company moved closer to achieving this goal. The PV farm was commissioned as scheduled on 29/04/2022. A
significant portion of the equity required for the acquisition was provided through interim equity financing.
Proof-of-Concept clearSWITCH
In January, clearvise AG signed an acquisition agreement for the acquisition of an existing Bavarian wind farm
with an installed capacity of 7.2 MW. The PV farm has been in operation since 2015 and most recently underwent
extensive technical optimisation and restructuring. The acquisition was carried out proportionately via a capital
increase through in-kind contributions.
Capital increases
Capital increase against cash contributions in February 2022
With the approval of the Supervisory Board, clearvise AG successfully carried out a capital increase via cash
contributions from the authorised capital 2021 on 1 February 2022 to finance the expansion of the portfolio. A
total of 5,740,000 new shares were placed with institutional investors in a private placement. The placement price
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was set at EUR 2.00. The shares were oversubscribed in this transaction. With the capital increase, the share capital
of the Company was increased by EUR 5,740,000.00 from the previous EUR 57,400,000.00 to EUR 63,140,000.00
against cash contributions, excluding the subscription rights of the existing shareholders.
Capital increase via in-kind contributions in March 2022
On 01 March 2022, clearvise AG carried out a capital increase via in-kind contributions with the approval of the
Supervisory Board for the pro rata financing of the existing wind farm in Korbersdorf/Bavaria as part of the
clearSWITCH acquisition model. With the capital increase, the share capital of the Company was increased by
EUR 317,289.00 from the previous EUR 63,140,000.00 to EUR 63,457,289.00 against in-kind contributions.
Repayment of the profit participation certificate tranche
The mezzanine capital of EUR 5,200 thousand that existed at the level of Eurowind AG was repaid on time on
31 January 2022 plus interest of EUR 335 thousand. For this purpose, clearvise AG provided Eurowind AG with
a shareholder loan in the amount of EUR 5,549 thousand. The difference between the repayment amount and the
loan provided in the amount of EUR 14 thousand results from the trustee and paying agent fee for Umweltbank
AG.

Wiesbaden, 1 June 2022

__________________________
(Petra Leue-Bahns)
- Management Board Member
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To clearvise AG, Wiesbaden
Audit opinions
We have audited the annual financial statements of clearvise AG, Wiesbaden, which comprise the balance sheet
as of 31 December 2021, the income statement for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2021, as well
as the notes to the annual financial statements, including the presentation of the accounting and valuation policies.
In addition, we have audited the combined management report of clearvise AG, Wiesbaden, for the financial year
from 1 January to 31 December 2021.
In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,
•

the accompanying annual financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the requirements of German commercial law relating to incorporated companies and give a true and fair view of the net assets and
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2021 and of its results of operations for the financial
year from 1 January to 31 December 2021 in compliance with German Legally Required Accounting Principles; and

•

the accompanying combined management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Company. In
all material respects, the combined management report is consistent with the annual financial statements,
complies with German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future
development.

Pursuant to § 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial Code], we declare that our audit
has not led to any reservations relating to the legal compliance of the annual financial statements and of the combined management report.
Basis for the Audit Opinions
We conducted our audit of the annual financial statements and of the combined management report in accordance
with § 317 HGB and in compliance with the German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits
promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities under those provisions and principles are further described in the "Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Annual Financial Statements and of the Combined Management Report" section of our auditor’s report. We
are independent of the Company in accordance with the requirements of German commercial and professional
law, and we have fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions on the financial statements and the combined management report.
Responsibility of the Legal Representative and the Supervisory Board for the Annual Financial Statements and the
Combined Management Report
The legal representative is responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements that comply, in all
material respects, with the requirements of German commercial law relating to incorporated companies and that
the annual financial statements, in compliance with German Legally Required Accounting Principles, give a true
and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Company. In addition, the legal
representative is responsible for such internal control as s/he, in accordance with German Legally Required Accounting Principles, has determined necessary to enable the preparation of annual financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the annual financial statements, the legal representative is responsible for assessing the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. S/he also has the responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern. In addition, s/he is responsible for financial reporting based on the going concern basis of accounting provided no actual or legal circumstances conflict therewith.
Furthermore, the legal representative is responsible for the preparation of the combined management report that,
as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Company's position and is, in all material respects, consistent with
the annual financial statements, complies with German legal requirements, and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, the legal representative is responsible for such arrangements
and measures (systems) as s/he has considered necessary to enable the preparation of a combined management
report that is in accordance with the applicable German legal requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient
appropriate evidence for the assertions in the combined management report.
The supervisory board is responsible for monitoring the Company's accounting process relating to the preparation
of the annual financial statements and the combined management report.
Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Annual Financial Statements and of the Combined Management
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Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the combined management report as
a whole provides an appropriate view of the Company's position, and, in all material respects, is consistent with
the annual financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of the future development, as well as to issue an
auditor's report that includes our audit opinions on the annual financial statements and the combined management
report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with § 317 HGB and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits
promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual financial statements
and this combined management report.
We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements and of the combined
management report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
controls.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the annual financial statements and of
arrangements and measures relevant to the audit of the combined management report in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an audit opinion
on the effectiveness of these systems.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the legal representative and the reasonableness of
estimates made by the legal representative and related disclosures.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of the legal representative's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the annual financial statements and in the combined management report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our respective audit opinions. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to
be able to continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the annual financial statements present the underlying transactions and events in a manner that the annual financial statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results
of operations of the Company in compliance with German Legally Required Accounting Principles.

•

Evaluate the consistency of the combined management report with the annual financial statements, its conformity with [German] law, and the view of the Company's position it provides.

•

Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the legal representative in the combined
management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular, the significant assumptions used by the legal representative as a basis for the prospective information, and evaluate
the proper derivation of the prospective information from these assumptions. We do not express a separate
audit opinion on the prospective information and on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial
unavoidable risk that future events will differ materially from the prospective information.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Cologne, 1 June 2022

Rödl & Partner GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Heinrichs

Palmersheim

Wirtschaftsprüfer
[German Public Auditor]

Wirtschaftsprüfer
[German Public Auditor]
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8.1.4

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements as of 30 June 2022

Consolidated balance sheet as of 31 December 2021
ASSETS

30/6/2022
TEUR

31/12/2021
TEUR

A. FIXED ASSETS
I. Intangible assets
Goodwill
II. Property, plant and equipment
1. Land, similar rights and buildings including buildings on third-party land
2. Technical equipment and machinery
3. Other assets, furniture and fixtures and office equipment
4. Advance payments and assets under construction
Total

5,256

5,571

3,261
266,287
27
23
269,597

3,323
187,960
23
21
191,327

III. Financial assets
1. Shares in related parties
2. Shareholdings
3. Shares in cooperatives
Total
Total fixed assets

25
145
10
180
275,033

25
156
10
190
197,087

196

292

6,451

5,849

0
998
7,449

6
2,968
8,823

36,830
44,476
6,015
325,523

23,198
32,313
1,513
230,913

B. CURRENT ASSETS
I. Inventories
Raw materials and consumables
II. Receivables and other assets
1. Trade receivables
2. Receivables from parties with which the Company is linked by virtue of participating interests
3. Other assets
Total
III. Cash at bank
Total current assets
C. PREPAID EXPENSES

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
A. EQUITY
I. Share capital
II. Capital reserves
III. Retained earnings
IV. Consolidated balance sheet loss
Total equity
B. MEZZANINE CAPITAL
Participation Capital
C. PROVISIONS
1. Tax provisions
2. Other provisions
Total provisions
D. LIABILITIES
1. Liabilities to banks
2. Trade liabilities
3. Liabilities to related parties
4. Liabilities to parties with which the Company is linked by virtue of participating interests
5. Other liabilities
Total liabilities
E. DEFERRED INCOME

30/6/2022
TEUR

31/12/2021
TEUR

63,457
31,664
987
-23,767
72,341

57,400
25,591
987
-27,779
56,198

0

4,877

1,199
3,428
4,627

94
2,930
3,024

208,070
8,371
26

162,522
1,416
26

2
32,026
248,495
61
325,523

0
2,787
166,751
63
230,913
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Consolidated income statement for the financial year from 1 January to 30 June 2022

1. Sales revenues
2. Other operating income
3. Costs of materials
4. Personnel costs
5. Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of fixed assets and
property, plant and equipment
6. Other operating expenses
7. Revenues from other securities and loans classified as financial assets
8. Other interest and similar income
9. Amortisation of financial assets and current securities
10. Interest and similar expenses
11. Income taxes
12. Profit (loss) after tax
13. Other taxes
14. Consolidated net loss / profit for the period
15. Accumulated loss carried forward
16. Consolidated balance sheet loss

2022H1
TEUR
26,545
214
-148
-288

2021H1
TEUR
15,998
157
-141
-197

-10,608
-6,170
0
1
-10
-3,626
-1,149
4,760
-747
4,013
-27,779
-23,767

-9,205
-5,037
0
0
-10
-2,390
-56
-880
-684
-1,564
-24,502
-26,066

Consolidated cash flow statement for the financial year from 1 January to 30 June 2022

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

+
+
-/+
+
-/+
-/+
+/-

10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.

+/=
+

16.

-

17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.
25.
26.
27.
28.
29.

+
=
+
+
=
+
=

Net result for the period
Income tax paid
Income tax expense
Depreciation of fixed assets
Profit from disposal of fixed assets
Interest expense
Interest income
Other income/expense not affecting the cash flow
Increase/decrease in inventories, trade receivables and other assets not attributable to investing or financing activities
Increase/decrease in trade liabilities and other liabilities not attributable to
investing or financing activities
Increase/decrease in other provisions
Cash flow from operating activities
Cash payments for acquisition of intangible assets
Development expenses
Cash payments for investments in property, plant and equipment
Cash receipts from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Cash payments for acquisition of consolidated companies (incl. shareholder loans) and other business units
Received interest
Cash flow from investing activities
Cash receipts from the shares issued
Cash receipts from the bonds issued and (financial) loans taken out
Cash payments for repayment of lease liabilities
Cash payments for bond redemption and repayment of (financial) loans
Interest paid
Cash payments for repayment of shareholder loans
Disbursements to shareholders
Cash flows from financing activities
Changes in cash and cash equivalents affecting the cash flow
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

2022H1
TEUR
4,013
-45
1,149
10,618
0
3,626
-1
-35

2021H1
TEUR
-1,564
-46
56
9,215
0
2,390
0
-5

3,801

1,262

-6,391
417
17,153
0
0
-21,643
0

4,575
-76
15,807
0
0
-2,742
0

-28,093
1
-49,735
11,480
52,817
0
-14,952
-3,130
0
0
46,215
13,632
23,198
36,830

-11,018
0
-13,760
20,720
3,009
0
-8,855
-2,331
0
0
12,542
14,588
17,319
31,907
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Movements in consolidated fixed assets from 1 January to 30 June 2022
Acquisition and production costs
Additions Disposals Reposting

Carried forward
01/01/2022
TEUR
I. Intangible assets
Goodwill
II. Property, plant and equipment
1. Land, similar rights and buildings including buildings on third-party land
2. Technical equipment and machinery
3. Other assets, furniture and fixtures
and office equipment
4. Advance payments and assets under
construction

I. Intangible assets
Goodwill

TEUR

TEUR

EUR

13,361

-

-

-

31,361

3,545
333,148

17,478

-

71,075

3,545
421,701

38

10

-

-

48

21

71,076

-

-71,075

23

25
328
10
350,476

88,564

-

-

25
328
10
439,040

III. Financial assets
1. Shares in related parties
2. Shareholdings
3. Shares in cooperatives
Total

Carried
forward
01/01/2022
TEUR

TEUR

As of 30/6/2022

Amortisation
Additions Disposals

TEUR

As of 30/6/2022

TEUR

Book values
30/6/2022 31/12/2021

TEUR

TEUR

TEUR

7,791

315

-

8,106

5,256

5,571

222

71

-9

284

3,261

3,323

145,188

10,226

-

155,414

266,287

187,960

15

6

-

21

27

23

0

-

-

0

23

21

0
173

10

-

0
183

25
145

25
156

0
153,389

10,618

-

0
164,007

10
275,033

10
197,087

II. Property, plant and equipment
1. Land, similar rights and buildings
including buildings on third-party land
2. Technical equipment and machinery
3. Other assets, furniture and fixtures
and office equipment
4. Advance payments and assets under
construction
III. Financial assets
1. Shares in related parties
2. Shareholdings
3. Shares in cooperatives
Total

Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the financial year from 1 January to 30 June 2022
Consolidated
equity

Equity of the parent company
Share capital
TEUR
As of 1 January
2022
Consolidated net
profit for the period
Capital increase
As of 30 June 2022

Capital
reserve
TEUR

57,400

25,591

6,057
63,457

6,073
31,664

Reserves
Retained
earnings
TEUR

Total

Consolidated
loss

Total

TEUR

TEUR

TEUR

987

26,578

987

6,073
32,651

-27,779

56,198

4,013

4,013
12,130
72,341

-23,766
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8.2 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

Production in MWh
Adjusted EBITDA1
Adjusted EBITDA-Margin in %

As of and for the six-month
period ended 30 June
2022
2021
(in EUR thousands)
(unaudited)
248.1
187.0
20,608
11,465
78 %
72 %

As of and for the financial year ended
31 December
2021
2020
(in EUR thousands)
(audited)
366.5
426.3
22,574
27,295
69 %
75 %

1 Adjusted by nonperiod expenses/income and other expenses that are not related to the operating business

8.3 Significant Change in the Issuer's Financial Position
There has been no significant change to the financial position of the clearvise Group since 30 June 2022, the end
of the last financial period for which unaudited interim financial statements have been published.

8.4 Dividend Policy
We did not pay any dividends for the financial years 2020 and 2021 and currently do not expect to pay any dividend
for the financial year 2022, either. We currently do not intend to pay dividends in the short-term, as the cash should
be primarily used to fund Core Investments to reach our portfolio growth targets. The Management Board together
with the Supervisory Board might decide to distribute a dividend on an annual basis in the medium term. Any
future decision to pay dividends will be made in accordance with applicable laws and will depend upon, inter alia,
our results of operations, financial condition, market developments, contractual restrictions and capital requirements at the relevant time. Our future ability to pay dividends may be limited by the terms of any existing and
future debt or preferred securities.
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9. SHAREHOLDER AND SECURITY HOLDER INFORMATION
9.1 Current Major Shareholders; Notifiable/Controlling Interest; Voting Rights
Tion, holding 21.9 % of the Company's Shares (based on the knowledge of the Company according to Tion's ad
hoc announcement on 18 July 2022), and Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, Germany,
holding 5.3 % of the Company' Shares (as far as the Company is aware in accordance with the registration for the
annual shareholders' meeting on 14 July 2022), are the only two shareholders directly holding an interest in the
Company's Shares in excess of 5 %. According to the publicly available information given on Tion's website
(https://www.Tion-renewables.com/de/), its majority shareholder is Pelion Green Future Alpha GmbH, Grünwald,
Germany ("Pelion"), with a shareholding of 63.1 % in the shares of Tion. Pelion, in turn, is controlled by Felicis
Delta GmbH, Munich, Germany, and by Alexander Samwer, Munich, Germany, who also controls Felicis Delta
GmbH. These legal and natural persons directly or indirectly control Pelion.
All Shares grant one vote in the shareholders' meeting of the Company. Accordingly, no major shareholder has
different voting rights.
The Articles of Association do not provide for specific measures to ensure that any control over the Company is
not abused. However, minority protection rules under the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz) apply.
The German Securities Acquisition and Takeover Act (Wertpapiererwerbs- und Übernahmegesetz) does not apply
to the Company as long as its Shares are not admitted to trading on an organised market. Currently, the Company's
shares are included on the Open Market (Freiverkehr) of the stock exchanges in Munich and of other stock exchanges in Germany.

9.2 Legal and Arbitration Proceedings
As of the date of this EU Growth Prospectus, and as far as we are aware, there are currently no arbitration proceedings in progress (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the issuer is
aware), during a period covering at least the previous 12 months which may have, or have had in the recent past
significant effects on the issuer and/or Group's financial position or profitability.
There are two current legal proceedings in progress:
There have been legal proceedings concerning our wind park Weilrod since 2015. The Feldberginitiative e.V. filed
a lawsuit against the State of Hesse and requested that the approval of the wind park Weilrod be revoked (Drittanfechtungsklage). The Administrative Court of Frankfurt am Main (Verwaltungsgericht Frankfurt am Main)
dismissed the case at the beginning of 2017 due to a lack of legal entitlement to file an action (Klagebefugnis).
The application for permission to appeal filed by the plaintiff at the end of 2017 was granted by the State Administrative Court of Hesse (Verwaltungsgerichtshof Hessen). As at the date of the publication of this EU Growth
Prospectus, a hearing has not been set due to the court's workload.
An appeal (Drittwiderspruch) against the construction of the solar PV park Klettwitz-Nord was rejected in an
administrative decision (Widerspruchsbescheid) dated 29 June 2022. The appellants (Widerspruchsführer), two
local residents, claimed a violation of the principle of mutual consideration under building law (baurechtliches
Rücksichtnahmegebot). In its decision, the appeal authority (Widerspruchsbehörde) stated that the appeal had been
forfeited (verwirkt). The appellants filed an action for contestation (Drittanfechtungsklage) against the decision at
the competent administrative court (Verwaltungsgericht). The residents filed an administrative suit to contest the
building permit for our solar PV park Klettwitz-Nord. This administrative suit is still pending.
As far as we are aware, there are no further administrative procedures in progress (including any such proceedings
which are pending or threatened of which the issuer is aware), during a period covering at least the previous 12
months which may have, or have had in the recent past significant effects on the issuer and/or Group's financial
position or profitability.

9.3 Management Board and Supervisory Board: Conflicts of Interests
There are no conflicts of interest or potential conflicts of interest between the members of the Management Board
and Supervisory Board with respect to their duties to the Company on the one hand and their private interests,
membership in governing bodies of companies or other obligations on the other.

9.4 Certain Relationships and Related-Party Transactions
This section of the EU Growth Prospectus sets out details of transactions with related parties that the Company
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has entered into during the financial years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021 and the subsequent
period of time until the date of this EU Growth Prospectus (the "Relevant Period"). Business relationships between consolidated companies of the clearvise Group are not included.

9.4.1

Relationships and Transactions with Related Parties

Related parties are regarded as those persons and entities that control us or that are controlled or subject to significant influence by clearvise (see section "9.1 Current Major Shareholders; Notifiable/Controlling Interest; Voting
Rights"). Other related parties (entities) include any entities that clearvise controls but that are not consolidated
because there are no material business dealings with them and they are not material for clearvise on aggregate.
As mentioned earlier, we intend to acquire the Tion Portfolio. Tion is our major shareholder with currently 21.9 %
of the Shares. Therefore, we entered into a MoU with Tion, but so far, there is no obligation to acquire the Tion
Portfolio. The transaction is described in detail in section "2.2.13 Acquisition of the Tion Portfolio". As a valuation
of the transaction is not yet possible, an amount or the percentage to which related-party transactions form part of
the turnover of the issuer cannot be determined yet.

9.4.2

Relationships with Members of the Management Board and Supervisory Board

The benefits granted to the members of the Management Board and the members of the Supervisory Board are
described in section "7.2.3 Remuneration and Other Benefits" and in section "7.3.3 Supervisory Board Remuneration".

9.5 Description of Share Capital and Related Information
9.5.1

Current Share Capital; Shares

As of the date of this EU Growth Prospectus, the share capital of the Company amounts to EUR 63,457,289.00
and is divided into 63,457,289 ordinary bearer shares with no-par value (auf den Inhaber lautende Stückaktien),
each such share with a notional value of EUR 1.00 in the Company's share capital. The share capital has been fully
paid up. The Company's Shares were created pursuant to the laws of Germany. All currently existing ordinary
bearer shares with no-par value of the Company are held by the existing shareholders.

9.5.2

Authorised Capital 2022

As of the date of this EU Growth Prospectus, the Articles of Association provide for the following authorised
capital:
Pursuant to the resolution of the Company's ordinary general shareholders' meeting dated 14 July 2022 amending
the Articles of Association, the Management Board is authorised to increase the share capital of the Company until
13 July 2027 with the consent of the Supervisory Board once or repeatedly by up to EUR 31,728,644.00 by issuing
up to 31,728,644 new bearer shares with no-par value against contributions in cash and/or in kind (the "Authorised
Capital 2022"). The Authorised Capital 2022 is stipulated in Section 4(4) of the Articles of Association. The
shareholders are in principle entitled to subscription rights.
The new shares of the Company may be taken over by one or more credit institutions or companies pursuant to
Section 186(5) AktG with the obligation to offer them to the shareholders for subscription. The Management
Board, however, is authorised to exclude the subscription right of the shareholders with the consent of the
Supervisory Board for one or more capital increases in the context of the Authorised Capital 2022, in particular:
(i)

to the extent necessary, to compensate fractional amounts;

(ii)

if the new shares are issued against contributions in kind, in particular in the context of mergers or in the
case of the acquisition of companies, parts of companies or shares in companies or other assets or claims
to assets or claims to the acquisition of other assets including claims against the Company or against
companies dependent of the Company within the meaning of Section 17 AktG;

(iii)

if a capital increase against contributions in cash does not exceed 10 % of the Company's share capital
neither at the time the Authorised Capital 2022 entering into effect or, if this amount is lower, at the time
of the utilisation of the Authorised Capital 2022, and the issue price of the new shares does not significantly
fall below the stock market price (Section 186(3) sentence 4 AktG). In the event of the utilisation of this
authorisation to increase the Company's share capital under exclusion of subscription rights pursuant to
Section 186(3) sentence 4 AktG, it is required to take into account any exclusion of subscription rights on
the basis of other authorisations in direct, analogous or mutatis mutandis application of Section 186(3)
sentence 4 AktG. The maximum limit of the authorised capital of EUR 31,728,644.00 by issuing
31,728,644 new shares, which was reduced by a capital increase based on this authorisation, may be
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increased again. Such subsequently increase of the authorised capital requires a new resolution of the
shareholders' general meeting authorising the exclusion of shareholders' subscription rights to the extent
that the new authorised capital authorisation extends. However, this is limited to a maximum of up to 10 %
of the share capital. The re-increase shall take effect when this resolution becomes effective.
The Management Board is authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to determine the further details
of the capital increase and its implementation; this also includes the determination of the dividend entitlement of
the new shares, which may be determined in derogation of Section 60(2) of AktG, including for a financial year
that has already ended, if at the time of issue of the new shares a resolution by the Company's ordinary general
shareholders' meeting on the appropriation of profits for this financial year has not yet been passed. The Supervisory Board is authorised to amend the wording of the Articles of Association in accordance with the respective
utilisation of the Authorised Capital 2022.

9.5.3

Articles of Association, Statutes, Charter or Bylaws having an Effect on a Change in
Control of the Issuer

The Management Board requires the approval of the Supervisory Board for some legal transactions in accordance
with Section 12 of the Articles of Association, in addition to legal transactions requiring the approval of the Supervisory Board by virtue of statutory regulations. The following actions requiring approval by the Supervisory
could delay, defer or prevent a change in control of the Company:
•

decision-making on medium- and long-term business policy;

•

entering into contracts binding the Company for more than two years, provided that the value of the contract
exceeds EUR 100,000.00; or

•

entering into profit and loss transfer and domination agreements.

The Rules of Procedure of the Board of Management dated 25 November 2021 stipulate that, inter alia, other
transactions that are likely to fundamentally change the net assets, financial position and/or results of operations,
investment decisions with a total amount of more than EUR 25,000.00 or the risk position of the Company or that
are outside the ordinary course of business of the Company also require the approval of the Supervisory Board.
Except for the aforementioned provisions, there are no other provisions from the Articles of Association, statutes,
charter or bylaws of the Company that may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control
of the Company.

9.5.4

Material Contracts of the Last Year Immediately Preceding Publication of the EU
Growth Prospectus

For the MoU entered into by the Company with regard to the potential acquisition of the Tion Portfolio, please see
"2.2.12 Material Contracts" and "2.2.13 Acquisition of the Tion Portfolio".
For the Equity-Bridge Loan, please see "2.2.12 Material Contracts".
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10.DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION
For the period during which this EU Growth Prospectus remains valid, the following documents will be available
for inspection on the Company's website at https://clearvise.de under the "Investor Relations" section:
•

the Articles of Association;

•

the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial information as of and for the six-month period ended
30 June 2022 of the Company prepared in accordance with German generally accepted accounting principles
of the HGB;

•

the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company prepared in accordance with German generally
accepted accounting principles of the HGB as of and for the financial year ended 31 December 2021;

•

the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company prepared in accordance with German generally
accepted accounting principles of the HGB as of and for the financial year ended 31 December 2020; and

•

the audited unconsolidated financial statements of the Company prepared in accordance with German generally accepted accounting principles of the HGB as of and for the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

Information on the Company's website https://clearvise.de and information accessible via this website is neither
part of, nor incorporated by reference into, this EU Growth Prospectus.

157

11. GLOSSARY
1999 Act............................

means the Electricity Regulation Act, 1999, in Ireland.

20-20-20 goals ..................

means the agreement by EU member states to (i) reduce greenhouse gases by at least
20 % compared to the year 1990, (ii) improve the EU's energy efficiencies by 20 %
and (iii) increase the share of renewable energy in total EU energy consumption to
20 % by 2020.

2030 Climate Energy
Package ............................

means the agreement by EU member states to enhance the 20-20-20 goals to the following limits to be achieved by 2030: (i) a binding 40 % greenhouse gas emissions
reduction compared to 1990, (ii) the indicative target at the EU level of at least 27 %
for improving energy efficiency, (iii) an increase of the share of renewable energy to
at least 27 % of the EU's energy consumption.

Adjusted EBITDA ...........

means the adjusted EBITDA.

Advisory Board BMF ......

means the Advisory Board to the Federal Ministry of Finance.

AktG .................................

means the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz).

Appraiser .........................

means a valuation of the respective portfolios on equal assumptions by a jointly appointed appraiser for the purpose of determining fair valuation ratios, the value of the
Tion Portfolio on the one hand and the value of the shares in the Company for the
payment of the equity component on the other hand.

Assets Under Management ..................................

means the assets under management of clearvise AG.

Authorised Capital 2022 .

means the Management Board's autorisation to increase the share capital of the Company until 13 July 2027 with the consent of the Supervisory Board once or repeatedly
by up to EUR 31,728,644.00 by issuing up to 31,728,644 new shares with no-par value
against contributions in cash or in kind pursuant to the resolution of the Company's
ordinary general shareholders' meeting dated 14 July 2022 amending the Articles of
Association.

BaFin ................................

means the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht).

BauGB ..............................

means the German Building Code (Baugesetzbuch).

BGB ..................................

means the German Civil Code (Bürgerliches Gesetzbuch).

BImSchG ..........................

means the German Federal Immission Protection Act (Bundes-Immisionsschutzgesetz).

BMWK .............................

means the Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Climate Action.

BNetzA .............................

means the Bundesnetzagentur, Federal Network Agency of Germany.

CAP ..................................

Ireland's Climate Action Plan.

Capital Increase...............

means the capital increase against contribution in cash from the Company's Authorised
Capital 2022, resolved by the Company's Management Board (Vorstand) on 21 November 2022, with the approval of the Supervisory Board (Aufsichtsrat) of the same
date, increasing the Company's registered share capital from EUR 63,457,289.00 to
EUR 75,355,529.00 through the issue of 11,898,240 new ordinary bearer shares with
no-par value.

CBAM ..............................

means the carbon border adjustment mechanism.

CfD ...................................

means a contract for difference – a (variable) grant over the difference between the
market price and the tariff awarded.

G-1

clearHOLD ......................

means clearHOLD 1 GmbH & Co. KG.

clearPARTNERS .............

means clearvise partnering with project developers.

clearSCALE 2025 ............

means clearvise's internal growth initiative.

Clearstream .....................

means Clearstream Banking Aktiengesellschaft, Mergenthalerallee 61, 65760 Eschborn, Germany.

clearSWITCH ..................

means clearvise acquiring parks via contribution in kind against new shares.

clearVALUE ....................

means clearvise purchasing parks for cash.

clearvise ............................

means clearvise AG, Wiesbaden, Germany.

clearvise Group ...............

means clearvise AG, Wiesbaden, Germany, together with its consolidated subsidiaries.

Commercial Register ......

means the commercial register at a local court (Amtsgericht) in Germany.

Company ..........................

means clearvise AG, Wiesbaden, Germany.

Cooperation Agreement..

means a cooperation agreement (Kooperationsvereinbarung), stipulating a framework
for relevant aspects of the Tion Transaction.

COP 21 .............................

means the Paris Climate Conference 2015.

Core Investments.............

means the core direct investments of clearvise AG that take place in European countries in solar PV and wind parks with a capacity of ideally between 5 MW and 50 MW.

COVID-19 Mitigation
Act ....................................

means a legislative act that was adopted by the German legislator on 27 March 2022
as a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and which stipulates several temporary
exemptions from certain statutory rules (Gesetz zur Abmilderung der Folgen der
COVID-19-Pandemie im Zivil-, Insolvenz- und Strafverfahrensrecht).

CRU ..................................

means the Irish Commission for Regulation of Utilities.

Designated Sponsor .........

means M.M.Warburg, Hamburg, Germany.

DSO ..................................

means the Irish ESB Networks DAC.

EAT ..................................

means the Group's earnings for the period.

EC .....................................

means the European Commission.

EC, Joint Action ..............

means the publication of the EC: REPowerEU: Joint European Action for more affordable, secure and sustainable energy.

EC, REPowerEU .............

means the publication by the EC, REPowerEU: A plan to rapidly reduce dependence
on Russian fossil fuels and fast forward the green transition.

ECP ..................................

means the Irish Enduring Connection Policy.

ECP-2 Decision ................

means the CRU's decision published on 10 June 2020 which is the currently operative
most recent iteration of the ECP.

EDF ..................................

means Electricité de France SA.

EEA ..................................

means the European Economic Area.
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EEG ..................................

means the German Renewable Energy Sources Act (Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz).

EEG 2021 .........................

means the German Renewable Energy Sources Act (Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz) in
the version of 2021.

EEG 2023 .........................

means EEG in the version of 2023.

EDF OA............................

means the system obligation d'achat by Electricité de France.

EIA ...................................

means environmental impact assessment (Umweltverträglichkeitsprüfung).

ELY Centre......................

means regional Centres for Economic Development, Transport and the Environment
in Finland.

Emergency Intervention
Regulation ........................

means Council Regulation (EU) 2022/1854 of 06 October 2022 on an emergency intervention to address high energy prices.

EPC Contractors .............

means third-party suppliers performing engineering, procurement and construction services.

Equity-Bridge Loan ........

means the Equity-Bridge Loan in an amount of EUR 29.34 million (of which the nominal amount of EUR 29.34 million were outstanding as at 30 June 2022) which is due
for repayment by July 2023 for the interim financing of the equity for the solar PV park
Klettwitz-Nord.

ESB ...................................

means the Irish Electricity Supply Board.

ESG ..................................

means environmental, social and corporate governance standards.

ETS ...................................

means the EU Emissions Trading System.

EU .....................................

means the European Union.

EU Growth Prospectus ...

means this EU Growth Prospectus which relates to the Offering of shares of clearvise
AG, Wiesbaden, Germany.

EUR .................................

means the Euro, the single European currency adopted by certain participating member
states of the European Union, including Germany.

Eurasia Countries ...........

means Armenia, Azerbaijan, Georgia, Russian Federation and Turkey.

Eurowind .........................

means Eurowind AG.

Eurowind SPV .................

means any SPV within the portfolio financing construct of three German SPVs (owning our wind parks Broich, Düngenheim, Repperndorf) and one French SPV (owning
our wind park Cuq) that are jointly liable and cross-collaterise the liabilities under the
financing agreement of the respective other Eurowind SPVs, subject to certain limitations due to statutory capital maintenance requirements under German and French law.

Feed-in Tariff System .....

means the mandatory purchasing of the electricity produced by the wind park operators
by the French State via EDF OA or local electricity supply companies for areas of the
territory that are not served by EDF.

Final Investment
Decision Resolution .........

means a detailed resolution memorandum, prepared by clearvise once all of the project
and market specific information has been analysed and satisfactory due diligence reports have been provided by the mandated external experts.

Finland EIA .....................

means the Act on Environmental Impact Assessment Procedure (252/2017).

FiT ....................................

means feed-in tariff.
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Fit for 55...........................

means a package of measures introduced by the European Commission in July 2021.

Fraunhofer ISE ...............

means the Fraunhofer Institute for Solar Energy Systems ISE.

FSMA ...............................

means the United Kingdom Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.

German GAAP ................

means the generally accepted accounting principles of the German Commercial Code
(Handelsgesetzbuch).

Germany ..........................

means the Federal Republic of Germany.

Glenough SPV…………

means the SPV owning our Glenough wind park.

GOOs................................

means guarantees of origin.

Green Deal .......................

means the European Green Deal that was presented by the European Commission to
combat climate change and promote sustainable growth.

Guaranteed Tariffs .........

means a combination of contract for difference and feed-in tariffs.

HGB..................................

means the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch).

IFRS .................................

means the International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European
Union.

IPP ....................................

means independent power producer.

IRENA ..............................

means the International Renewable Energy Agency.

I-SEM ...............................

means the Irish Integrated Single Electricity Market.

ISIN ..................................

means the International Securities Identification Number.

Joint Valuation Framework..................................

means a market-standard valuation framework.

KfW ..................................

means the Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau.

KRITIS.............................

means critical facilities or infrastructures.

LEI....................................

means the Legal Entity Identifier.

Lender ..............................

means the financing provider with whom one of clearvise's subsidiaries has entered
into the Equity-Bridge Loan.

LUBA ...............................

means the Land Use and Building Act (132/1999).

M.M.Warburg .................

means M.M.Warburg & CO (AG & Co.) Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien, Ferdinandstraße 75, 20095 Hamburg, Germany.

Management Board.........

means the members of the Management Board (Vorstand) of the Company: Petra LeueBahns (chief executive officer) and Manuel Sieth (chief financial officer).

MaStRV ...........................

means the Market Master Data Register Ordinance (Marktstammdatenverordnung).

MFF ..................................

means the Multiannual Financial Framework.

MiFID II ...........................

means the Directive 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of
15 May 2014 on markets in financial instruments, as amended.
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MiFID II Requirements ..

means the product governance requirements contained within MiFID II, Articles 9 and
10 of Commission Delegated Directive (EU) 2017/593 of 7 April 2016 supplementing
MiFID II and local implementing measures.

MoU ..................................

means the non-binding memorandum of understanding clearvise entered into with Tion
regarding the potential full acquisition of Tion's Portfolio on 13 July 2022.

NBO ..................................

means a non-binding offer.

New Shares ......................

means 11,898,240 new ordinary bearer shares with no-par value (auf den Inhaber
lautende Stückaktien) from a capital increase against contributions in cash and with
indirect subscription rights (mittelbares Bezugsrecht) for the Company's shareholders
at a Subscription Price of EUR 2.10 per New Share, resolved upon by the Management
Board of the Company on 21 November 2022, with the approval of the Supervisory
Board of the Company on the same date, each such share representing a notional value
of EUR 1.00 and with full dividend rights from 01 January 2022.

Offering ............................

means the Subscription Offer together with the Rump Placement.

Operating SPV.................

means a company that owns and operates a wind or solar asset or, as the case may be,
sometimes also a bundle of smaller projects.

Opportunity Pocket.........

means an additional business outside the scope of clearvise's Core Investments on an
opportunistic basis.

Owner's Engineers ..........

means independent third-party engineering experts.

Pelion ................................

means Pelion Green Future Alpha GmbH, Grünwald, Germany.

Pipeline .............................

means clearvise's further pipeline of >230 MW besides its operating portfolio of
303 MW, calculated as in the table "Expected additions to Operating Capacity" presented in "2.2.7 Our Wind and Solar PV Portfolio".

PPA ...................................

means power purchase agreement.

Principal Shareholder .....

means a shareholder holding in the amount of 95 % of the share capital.

Profit Forecast .................

means the forecast of adjusted EBITDA of the clearvise Group for the financial year
ending 31 December 2022.

Prospectus Regulation ....

means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council of
14 June 2017 on the prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a regulated market, and repealing Directive 2003/71/EC.

PSO Levy………………..

means the public service obligation levy, a subsidy charged to all electricity customers
in Ireland.

PVA Klettwitz-Nord .......

means the solar PV park Klettwitz-Nord in Eastern Germany, Energiepark Lausitz
GmbH & Co. KG.

REFIT ..............................

means the Irish renewable energy feed-in tariff.

Relevant Period ...............

means the period from the financial years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December
2021 and the subsequent period of time until the date of this EU Growth Prospectus.

Relevant State ..................

means an EEA member state which is subject to the Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 and
the United Kingdom.

REN21 ..............................

means the Renewable Energy Policy Network for the 21st Century.
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RESS.................................

means the Renewable Electricity Support Scheme in Ireland.

Rödl & Partner ................

means Rödl & Partner GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Äußere Sulzbacher Straße 100, 90491 Nürnberg, Germany.

Rump Placement .............

means the private placement of the Rump Shares which will be offered for sale to
eligible investors in Germany and other selected jurisdictions at a price at least as high
as the Subscription Price.

Rump Shares ...................

means any New Shares that are not subscribed for in the Subscription Offer.

SAC ..................................

means the Supreme Administrative Court in Finland.

Securities Act ...................

means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

SEM ..................................

means the Irish Single Electricity Market.

SEMO ...............................

means the Single Electricity Market Operator in Ireland.

Share.................................

means a share in the Company.

SMEs ................................

means small and medium enterprises.

Solar PV ...........................

means solar photovoltaic.

Sole Global Coordinator .

means M.M.Warburg & CO (AG & Co.) Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien, Ferdinandstraße 75, 20095 Hamburg, Germany.

SONI .................................

means the System Operator Northern Ireland.

SPA ...................................

means share purchase agreement.

SPV ...................................

means special purpose vehicles.

Subscription Offer...........

means the offering of 11,898,240 new ordinary bearer shares with no-par value (auf
den Inhaber lautende Stückaktien) of the Company, each such share representing a
notional value of EUR 1.00 in the share capital of the Company and with full dividend
rights from 01 January 2022 and offered to the Company's shareholders for subscription by means of indirect subscription rights (mittelbares Bezugsrecht) at a ratio of
16:3 (16 existing shares entitle to subscribe for three New Shares at the Subscription
Price).

Subscription Period.........

means the period starting on 24 November 2022 and ending on 07 December 2022
during which the Offering of New Shares in Germany takes place.

Subscription Ratio...........

means the ratio of 16:3 which means that a shareholder holding 16 existing Shares is
entitled to acquire three New Shares at the Subscription Price.

Subscription Price ...........

means the price per New Share under the Subscription Offer.

Supervisory Board ..........

means the Supervisory Board of the Company (Aufsichtsrat).

Target Market Assessment ..................................

means the process in which it has been determined that the subscription rights and the
New Shares are (i) compatible with an end-target market of retail investors and investors who meet the criteria of professional clients and eligible counterparties, each as
defined in MiFID II, and (ii) eligible for distribution through all distribution channels
permitted by MiFID II.

Tariff System ...................

means the promotion of renewable energy by granting certain feed-in tariffs as an
above-market payment from the grid operator to the producer of electricity generated
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from renewable sources.
TFEU ................................

means the Treaty of the Functioning of the European Union.

Tion ..................................

means Tion Renewables AG, Grünwald, Germany.

Tion Portfolio...................

means Tion's portfolio of solar PV and onshore wind parks in Germany, Italy, the
Netherlands and Poland with a total capacity of 159 MW all operational (as at 30 June
2022 excluding four solar PV parks in the Czech Republic that Tion sold on 08 July
2022).

Tion Transaction .............

means the transaction described in the MoU.

TSO ..................................

means the 1999 Act in Ireland providing that a licence to operate the transmission system may only be issued to EirGrid.

ÜNB ..................................

Übertragungsnetzbetreiber consisting of 50Hertz Transmission GmbH, Amprion
GmbH, TransnetBW GmbH and TenneT TSO GmbH.

Underwriting Agreement

means the Underwriting Agreement dated 21 November 2022 between the Company
and the Sole Global Coordinator.

United States ...................

means the United States of America.

Winter Package…………

means the legislative reform package on the European energy market, consisting of
four regulations and four directives.

WKN.................................

means the German Securities Code (Wertpapierkennnummer).
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